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ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD 

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 
1998, c.l5 (Schedule B) (as amended) (the "OEB Act"); 

AND IN THE MATTER OF an application by Natural Resource 
Gas Limited for an Order or Orders pursuant to section 36 of the 
OEB Act approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other 
charges for the sale, transmission and distribution of natural gas as 
of October 1, 2014. 
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Natural Resource Gas Limited ("NRG"), an Ontario corporation, carries on the business 

of distributing and selling natural gas in southern Ontario. 

NRG hereby applies to the Ontario Energy Board (the "Board") for an Order or Orders 

made pursuant to section 36 of the OEB Act approving or fixing just and reasonable rates 

and other charges for the distribution and sale of natural gas for a period of two years, 

commencing October 1, 2014. 

For the purpose of subsection 36(3) of the OEB Act, NRG seeks the Board's approval of: 

(a) distribution rates based on a continuation of NRG' s current Incentive Regulation 

("IR") Plan for NRG's next two fiscal years from October 1, 2014 through 

September 30,2016 (the "2015 Fiscal Year" and "2016 Fiscal Year"); 

(b) NRG's existing transportation rate (for use of NRG's distribution system by 

producers selling gas to Union Gas Limited) of $0.95 per mcf and an 
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administrative charge of $250 per month for every month a producer uses the 

NRG distribution system; 

NRG's Rules and Regulations and its Schedule of Service Charges in the form as 

approved in EB-2010-0018; 

a deferral accouot to record costs associated with NRG implementing a new DSM 

program commencing January 1, 2015; 

a requirement that Integrated Grain Processor Co-operative Inc./IGPC Ethanol 

Inc. ("IGPC") provide NRG with: (i) updated financial statements; (ii) 

information as to the status and likely renewal of IGPC's operating grants; (iii) 

information about IGPC's business plans if the operating grants are not extended 

or renewed beyond 2016; (iv) information about IGPC's natural gas requirements 

(volume and term) upon expiration of the current Gas Delivery Contract in April 

2015; and (v) updated security for undepreciated capital costs beyond November 

2015; 

NRG's current rates on an interim basis as of October 1, 2014; and, 

such further and other relief as NRG may request and the Board may grant. 

NRG further applies to the Board, pursuant to the provisions of the OEB Act and the 

Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure, for such final, interim or other Orders and 

directions as may be appropriate in relation to the Application and the proper conduct of 

this proceeding. 
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This Application will be supported by written, and if necessary, oral evidence. The 

written evidence will be pre-filed (and may be amended from time to time as 

circumstances may require). 

NRG requests that this proceeding be disposed of by way of a written hearing. 

The persons affected by this Application are the present and future customers ofNRG. It 

is impractical to set out in this Application the names and addresses of such parties 

because they are too numerous. 

NRG requests that a copy of every document filed with the Board in this proceeding be 

served on the Applicant and the Applicant's counsel, as follows: 

Laurie O'Meara 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 
c/o P.O. Box 3117, Terminal A 
London, ON M6A 4J4 

Tel: (519) 433-8126, ext. 216 
Fax: (519) 433-6132 
Email: lomeara@cpirentals.com 

-and-

Brian Lippold 
General Manager 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 
39 Beech Street East 
Aylmer, ON N5H 3J6 

Tel: (519) 773-5321, ext. 205 
Fax: (519) 773-5335 
Email: brian@nrgas.on.ca 

-and-
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I Richard J. King 
2 Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt 
3 Box 50, I First Canadian Place 
4 Toronto, ON M5X 1B8 

5 Tel: (416) 862-6626 
6 Fax: ( 416) 862-6666 
7 Email: rking@osler.com 

8 -and-

9 Patrick Welsh 
I 0 Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt 
II Box 50, I First Canadian Place 
12 Toronto, ON M5X 1B8 

13 Tel: (416) 862-5951 
14 Fax: (416) 862-6666 
15 Email: pwelsh@osler.com 

16 DATED at Toronto, Ontario this 22"d day of August, 2014. 
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17 NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

18 
19 By its counsel, Osler, 
20 Per: Richard J. King 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

NATURAL GAS SERVICE 

RULES & REGULATIONS 

Effective August 1, 1995 
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1. INITIATION OF SERVICE 

1.1 APPLICATIONS 

The Company may, at its discretion, accept applications for gas service on existing service laterals or 
new service laterals. Each applicant must complete an Application for Gas Service in the form 
attached as Schedule lA. Any business or company making application must also complete a Credit 
Application in the form attached as Schedule lB. The applicant must complete both sides of the 
blue copy and will receive the yellow copy for their records after approval. 

The only exception to the above shall be in the case of contract rate customers. Contract rate 
customers are required to execute a contract for a specified term of not Jess than one year. 

The Company will charge a $30.00 transfer/connection charge, plus applicable taxes, on all 
approved applications, which will be charged on the first gas billing. 

1.2 SECURITY DEPOSITS (as per EB 2008-0413) 

General: 
After an application for Gas Service is completed, the Credit Department will run a credit check and 
determine if a security deposit is required (outlined further below).The Security Deposit must be 
paid before connection can occur. 

Determination of Security Deposit (All Residential & Commercial Customers ) 
The security deposit is determined based on the average monthly consumption of gas during the 
last 12 consecutive months, within the past two years, at the specific address in which the gas 
service is installed or will be installed. Note this is for new customers or for customers who no 
longer have a good payment history (defined below). 

The maximum amount of a security deposit NRG may require a consumer to pay shall be 
calculated as follows: 

Billing cycle factor 2.5 X average annual consumption over past 12 consecutive months 
or consumers estimated consumption, or a reasonable estimate made by NRG. 

Security deposits will uot be required: 
• If a consumer is residential or general service, and a satisfactory credit check has been 

conducted, at the time of application. A beacon score of 680 + and a credit utilization of 
Jess than 50% will be required. 

• If a consumer can provide a Jetter from another gas/ electricity distributor in Canada 
confirming good payment history. 
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• A good payment history (definition below): 1 year residential! 5 years general service/ 7 
years for other 

• Definitions: "general service consumer" means a consumer that is not a residential 
consumer and that annually consumes no more than 1 00,000m3 of gas. 

• The time period that makes up a good payment history is the most recent period of time, 
and must have occurred in the past 24 months 

Unconditional "Letters of Credit" from a customer's banker in an appropriate amount or a 
personal guarantee from the owners may be accepted in lieu of cash security on commercial 
and industrial accounts. 

Definition of Good Payment History: 
• If a consumer has received more than one disconnection notice from NRG, or another gas 

vendor in the past 12 months 

• If a consumer has more than one NSF cheque: returned by reason of insufficient funds. 

• If a consumer has more than one NSF cheque from a pre- authorized payment plan 

• If a consumer has had at least one visit, from NRG, to the consumer's premises, for 
purpose of payment of an overdue amount, or to shut off or limit the gas supply to the 
consumer's premises for non-payment. 

Security Deposit Refunds 
• Annual reviews are conducted on all accounts to determine if consumer is entitled to a 

refund, or an adjustment is required. 

• Requests for a refund of security deposits can be made after 1 year of service (residential) 
I 5 years (General accounts) 7 years (Other accounts) must be made in writing to our 
Credit department. 

• Security deposit will not be refunded if the customer does not have a good payment 
history (as defmed above). 

• Security deposit will either be given by a cheque or a credit to the customer. 

Interest on Security Deposits 
Interest accrued on security deposits will be credited to the customers' account on an annual 
basis. The interest rate shall be the Prime Business Rate published on the Bank of Canada 
Website less 2 %updated quarterly. 

For any quarter that the PBR is 2 percent or less the interest rate will be 0. 
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Security Deposits and Cancellation of Service 
When a customer discontinues service, a Cancellation Service form is filled out. After the final 
billing period has been processed, and the account is settled in full, the Security Deposit will be 
refunded to the customer. 

If the customer's account is not settled in full prior to requesting the refund, the Security deposit will 
be applied to unpaid balance and any remaining Security Deposit will be refunded to the customer. 

Transfer of Security Deposits 
If a customer should move to another location that is serviced by Natural Resource Gas Limited the 
Security Deposit is reviewed, and adjuSted according to the for Security Deposits requirements 
A Security Deposit may increase or decrease depending on the consumption of the new loeation, and 
past history of the consumer's account. 

Third Party Security Deposits 

As per The Ontario Energy Board amendments to the gas distribution access rule (GDAR IN 
EB) 2008-0413 APPENDIX B MAYS/2009 

Where all or part of a security deposit has been paid by a third party on behalf of a consumer, 
NRG shall return the amount of the security deposit paid by the third party, including interest 
where applicable, to the third party. This obligation shall apply where and to the extent that: 

(a) The third party paid all or part (as applicable) of the security deposit directly, to NRG; 

(b) The third party has requested, at the time the security deposit was paid or within a 
reasonable time thereafter, that NRG return all or part (as applicable) of the security deposit 
to them rather than to the consumer; and . 

(c) There, is not then any amount overdue for payment by the consumer, that, NRG is 
permitted by this Rule to off set using the security deposit. 

1.3 MAIN EXTENSIONS 
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The Company will make extensions of its mains to some applicants when, in the sole discretion of 
the Company, the main extension is economically feasible. 

When the extension is not economically feasible, the applicant will be required to pay an "Aid to 
Construction" in an amount determined by the Company to make the project economically feasible. 

1.4 SERVICE LATERAL INSTALLATIONS 

Service laterals will only be installed provided that: 

(i) an application (contract) has been properly completed and approved, 
(ii) any deposit required has been collected, 
(iii) any main extension can be justified in accordance with the Company's line extension 

practice, and 
(iv) any charges for service lateral installation in accordance with the following have 

been paid 

All Customers- A gas service lateral extending from the property line to the meter location selected 
by the Company will be installed for a fee of$ I 00.00 for the first 20 meters plus an additional 
charge of$ 10.00 per meter thereafter. 

Meter Set Locations are determined as follows: 

a) For residential customers, meters may be located on the front or on either side of the 
dwelling in which it serves. If the meter is located along one of the sides of the dwelling, 
the distance from the front comer to the meter location cannot exceed 10 feet. 

b) All meter set locations must comply with the Technical Standards and Safety Act and 
Codes and Standards Adopted by Regulation. 

c) When the distance from the property line to a dwelling or building requiring the gas 
service exceeds 100 meters, it may be required that the meter be located near the 
property line. In these cases, a cost estimate must be done to detennine the outlet cost of 
underground piping from the meter set to the building. 

1.5 CUSTOMER PIPING 
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Applicants for service shall, at their own expense, equip their premises with all piping and 
attachments from the meter to the appliances or equipment served. It is the customer's responsibility 
to maintain the piping and equipment beyond the outlet side of the meter. Such piping and 
attachments shall be installed and maintained in accordance with the rules of the Company and the 
Technical Standards and Safety Act and Codes and Standards Adopted by Regulation. 

Meters will not be connected with customer's piping when that piping and/or appliances or heating 
equipment attached thereto are !mown by the Company to be defective or not in accordance with 
applicable rules and regulations, ordinances or codes. The Company reserves the right to 
discontinue service at any time it finds the piping, venting, appliances or other gas-fired equipment 
on customer's premises defective or in an unsafe condition. 

The customer is expected to immediately notify the Company of any leakage or escape of gas on his 
premises. 

1.6 INSPECTION OF NEW AND EXISTING INSTALLATIONS 

All inspections shall conform to the "Ontario Energy Acf' and the "Technical Standards and Safety 
Act and Codes and Standards Adopted by Regulation" and amendments in force at the time of 
inspection. 

All new installations of supply piping and gas appliances on premises served with gas for the first 
time require inspection to ensure that they are in accordance with legislative requirements. 

A general inspection will be made of gas appliances and installations: 

(a) whenever a meter is initially installed, 
(b) whenever a meter is changed, 
(c) whenever a meter is physically reset on an inactive service or account, or 
(d) in accordance with the requirements of the Ontario Energy Act 

A modified inspection will be made of vented gas appliances: 

(a) whenever a previously inactive account is reactivated, 
(b) when a meter is turned on after credit lock offs, seasonal tum offs or routine repairs 

to mains or services, or 
(c) when vented equipment is lit up after component replacement 

2. MAINTENANCE OF SERVICE 
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2.1 MAINTENANCE 

The Company and its authorized representatives shall have the right to enter upon the premises of 
the customer at all reasonable times, upon reasonable notice, to read, inspect, test, repair, replace or 
remove meter and regulator equipment. 

2.2 TESTING METERS 

Meters will be tested at the Company's option or at the request of the customer or when required by 
legislative requirements. When a meter is tested at the customer's request, the Company will collect 
from the customer any cost involved in the removal, testing, Government inspection and meter 
replacement where it is determined that the meter was within acceptable tolerances. 

2.3 SERVICE DEPARTMENT CHARGES 

The Company provides regular service during the normal working hours, and emergency service 24 
hours per day. 

(i) Charge tor Service to Customer Owned Appliances 

Repairs will be performed on a time and material basis in accordance with the 
Company's prevailing parts and labour prices, except when covered by Company or 
manufacturer's warranties. 

(ii) Charge tor Service to Companv Owned Appliances 

The Company agrees to supply such maintenance as in the judgement of the 
Company is required for the proper use of the appliance at no charge to the customer. 

(iii) The Company does not charge for leak complaints, insufficient gas supply, and 
inspection of appliances in accordance with Government Regulations. Repairs 
required to remedy gas leaks and insufficient supply of gas from causes downstream 
of the meter will be charged on a time and material basis. 

2.4 CUSTOMER SERVICE WORK 

The following are the rates currently in effect by the company. These rates are subject to 



amendment from time to time. 

Regular Hours 

Minimum charge (up to 60 minutes) 

After Hours 

each additional half hour 
(or part thereof) 

Minimum charge (up to 60 minutes) 

each additional half hour 
(or part thereof) 

$67.00 

$30.00 

$110.90 

$58.10 

Disconnection- Non Pavment or Discontinuance of Service (i.e. seasonal) 

Flat Fee $78.00 

Customer Transfer/Connection Charge 

Flat Fee $30.00 

Applicable taxes will also be added to the above charges. 
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3. RENTAL EQUIPMENT 

3.1 MONTHLY RENTALS 

The Company rents water heaters. Water softeners are also rented on a rent to own basis. The rates 
for water heaters are as indicated below: 

Conventional Models 
40US Gallon 
SOUS Gallon 
60US Gallon 

Power Vented or Direct · 
40US Gallon 
SOUS Gallon 
60US Gallon 
50/65 US Gallon 
50 DV US Gallon 
Tankless Water Heater 

$ 10.75 monthly 
$ 12.50 monthly 
$ 15.00 monthly 

$19.00 monthly 
$21.00 monthly 
$22.00 monthly 
$23.00 monthly 
$21.00 monthly 
$34.50 monthly 

The rental for water heaters other than those listed above will be calculated by the General Manager. 

3.2 INSTALLATION COSTS 

The customer bears the initial installation cost of all equipment. Such installation done by NRG is 
generally done on a quoted basis. NRG may, from time to time, offer installation assistance through 
its marketing and promotion efforts. The cost of installing replacement units still under warranty is 
borne by the Company. 

3.3 RENTAL AGREEMENT 

Prior to installation of a rental water heater, or removal from inventory for rental, a Rental 
Agreement form must be completed by the customer in the form attached as Schedule 2. The blue 
copy remains in the office, the yellow copy is returned to the customer after insertion of the 
installation and contract dates, and serial and Company numbers. 

A Rental Agreement must also be completed by an applicant who is moving into a property where a 
rental water heater exists. The form can be fully completed at the time of application, and the yellow 
copy may be given to the customer at that time for his records. 
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4. BILLINGS & COLLECTIONS 

4.1 BILLINGS & COLLECTIONS 

Bills will be issued and payable monthly and must be paid at or mailed to the office of the Company, 
an established collection agency of the Company, or at any chartered bank authorized by the 
Company. 

Bills for gas service furnished by the Company are due when rendered. For customers paying their 
bill after sixteen days from the billing date, a late payment charge will apply (see section 4.2). 

Bills will be mailed to the customer at the last known address as shown on the Company records, 
unless the customer has directed the Company to send the bill to another address. 

Gas consumed will be based on meter readings, or estimates with an estimated bill issued for interim 
months, and will be computed on the applicable rate schedule approved by the Ontario Energy 
Board. Any necessary adjustments due to estimated bills will be made on the next regular billing. 

A claim for an error in billing should be made by the customer as soon as discovered. If in the 
opinion of the Company the claim is valid, the Company will make a proper adjustment to the bill. 

Where billing errors have resulted in overbilling, the customer will be credited with the amount 
erroneously paid for a period not exceeding six years . 

Where billing errors have resulted in under-billing, the customer shall be charged with the amount 
erroneously not billed for a period not exceeding: 

(a) two years, in the case of an individual residential customer who was not responsible for 
the error, and 

(b) six years, in other cases. 

The timing for billings and notices etc., will be as follows. The days represent the days after the end 
of a billing cycle (e.g. if a normal billing cycle ended on the 14th of the month, day one would 
commence on the 15th). 

Day 1 to 3 Reading, billing and mailing of invoices 

Day 13 to 15 Bills due 

Day30 Final Disconnection Notices are mailed for past due accounts. 
See comments in section 5.1 Disconnection & Reconnection- non­
payment. 



Day45 Credit department determines if customer is to be disconnected. 
See section 5 Disconnection & Reconnection of Service. 

4.2 DELAYEDPAYMENT 
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Payments made after sixteen days after the billing date will be considered late and those accounts 
will have their balances increased by 1.5% of the amount unpaid after sixteen days. Payments made 
at any chartered bank will be considered paid on the date payment is made to the bank. Any 
amounts unpaid for subsequent months will be increased by a further 1.5% for each billing cycle that 
the balance remains unpaid. The minimum increase will be $1.00. 

4.3 PAYMENTBYMAIL 

When payments are made by mail, bills will be considered to have been paid one day prior to the 
postmark date. 

4.4 BUDGET BILLING PLAN 

The budget plan for payment of gas bills is designed to equalize the monthly payments for gas 
service of residential customers using gas for heating purposes and is available to any heating 
customer who can establish satisfactory credit with the Company. 

New residential heating customers and existing heating customers with satisfactory credit and no 
balance outstanding may be enrolled in the plan at their request Customers may withdraw from the 
plan at any time upon notification to the Company. 

The Company will estimate the aggregate amount of the customer's bill for gas service for a normal 
year's operation from June to April. Such estimated amount will then be divided by eleven, rounded 
up to the next $5.00 or $10.00 amount, and shall be the monthly budget instalment the customer will 
pay in lieu of the regular monthly billing 

Bills for the month of May will be computed for settlement of the account either by the customer 
paying the excess of actual charges incurred over the sum of budget payments made, or by the 
Company crediting to the customer any credit balance then existing. This budget to actual 
difference will be added or subtracted, as the case may be, to the actual gas charges incurred on bills 
for the month of May. 

Any estimate furnished by the Company in connection with such payment plan shall not be 
construed as a guarantee or assurance that the total actual charges will not exceed the estimates. The 
Company may at any time submit a revised estimate to the customer and require that the customer 
pay the revised monthly budget instalment as a condition to the continuation of the budget payment 
plan for that customer. 

Such estimates shall apply only to the premises then occupied by the customer. If the customer 
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vacates such premises, the budget payment plan with respect to those premises, and for that 
customer, shall immediately terminate and any amount payable by the customer shall be paid or any 
amount due to the customer by the Company shall be refunded. 

Non-payment of budget will result in the customer receiving a disconnection notice and possibly 
removed from the budget plan. The account will be reconciled on the following billing cycle, and the 
customer will be responsible to bring the account up to-date. 

4.5 GROUP BILLINGS 

Combinations of reading from several meters may be done at the Company's sole discretion. 

Group billing will be permitted only in special situations at the discretion of the Company. 

5. DISCONNECTION & RECONNECTION OF SERVICE 

5.1 DISCONNECTION & RECONNECTION- NON PAYMENT 

Disconnection notices are mailed on Day 34 after the end of billing cycle. The customer is given 
until Day 45 to pay balance due before they are disconnected. In addition, Credit Departinent will 
call all customers 2 days before disconnection date if payment has not been received. If customer 
can still not pay by due date or no effort to work out a repayment plan can be made the customer will 
be disconnected. 

DISCONNECTION OF SERVICE FOR NON PAYMENT 

• If it has been determined that a customer will not pay and the account must be locked for 
non payment. 

• A lock form is prepared and authorized by the Credit Department and Approved by the 
· General Manager. 

• A copy of the Lockout form is given to service to set the call to lock the account. 

• Customers receive a hand delivered notice at time of locking the meter explaining the 
disconnection of service 

If a customer should be disconnected for non-payment and then reconnected, the 
following charges will be added to the account 

Disconnection charge 78.00 
Reconnection charge 78.00 

plus Applicable taxes 
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Payment of the reconnection charge must be made before reconnection can occur and an increase 
in security deposit or a security deposit may be required before reconnection of service is made. 
Amount is determined as outlined in section 1.2. 

Non-Payment of Accounts 

Definition of Accounts =past work orders, accounts locked for non-payment and customers that 
have moved and have a balance outstanding. 

If the customer is unresponsive, or refuses to pay further collection action may take place, which 
is outlined below: 

• If a customer refuses to pay on the account or does:not follow a payment schedule legal 
action will commence. 

• Customers will be notified that a claim has been issued for small Claims court. 

• Court Documents will be filed, and Court procedures used to collect money owing 

• Any court costs, incurred by Natural Resource Gas Limited, for the collection of money 
will be added to the customer's debt, as allowed by Small Claims Court. 

• Will be forwarded to the Credit Bureau of St. Thomas for collections and the debt will be 
reported to Equifax on the customers credit file. 

5.2 DISCONTINUANCE FOR CAUSE OTHER THAN NON-PAYMENT 

Service may be discontinued by the Company at any time to prevent fraudulent use or to protect its 
property. 

The Company further reserves the right upon discovery of any condition of the customer's appliance 
or piping which is, in the opinion of the Company, immediately hazardous to life and property, to 
discontinue gas service until such time as the hazardous conditions shall be remedied. 
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5.3 DISCONTINUANCE ON CUSTOMER'S ORDER 

The agreement between the customer and the Company created by the acceptance of the customer's 
request for gas service, where no contract for a main extension or term of service is involved, shall 
continue in full force and effect until terminated by the customer (except as provided under Sections 
5.1 and 5.2) giving sufficient notice to a Company business office relative to the intent to 
discontinue service. The customer shall be liable for all gas supplied to the premises and safe 
custody of the Company's property until service is discontinued in accordance with the customer's 
instructions. When a customer requests disconnection of service within 90 days of connection, a 
disconnection charge of $78.00 plus applicable taxes will be applied to the final billing. 

5.4 TEMPORARY DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICE 

Customers who temporarily discontinue service during any twelve consecutive months without 
payment of a monthly fixed charge for the months, in which the gas is temporarily disconnected, 
shall pay for disconnection and reconnection. 



Natural Resource Gas Limited 
Application for Gas Service 

- ·-·-... 1.11111111 PO Box 307, 39 BHcl1 SL E. 

Service DeP8rtmanl 
Aylmer: 519-773-6321 

Fax: 519· n3-5335 

Aylmer, Ont. N5H 251 _______________________ ro ____ __ 

IM/E --------~-------------------------------------------------------<the ·c~moma~ 

apply to Natural Resource Gas Um~ed {"the Companyj for gas servlca at ---------------------

----------------------------------------------------------------------~(fua'p~mi~S1 

according to the following terms and condHions: 

1. The Customer agrees to pay accounts when due. 

2. Customer agrees that a meter connection will ba established Immediately after the Installation of the service line and will ba 
subject to the monthly fixed charge from that date. 

3. Customers Intending to vacate premises supplied~ gas or to discontinue the use of gas shall giye notice to the Company 
at 39 Beach Street E., Aylmer, Ontario or other such address as customer may ba·advlsed, fifteen (15) days bafore fue 
Cuslomer Intends to discontinue service aoo'.in defauH of providing such notice, the Customer will remain liable for all gail 
which passes through the meter until such notice Is given. In the evant accounts for natural gas, rentals or other ~rvlcae 
are not paid In accordance with this agreement and collection procadures a~ made by the Company and/or Hs agent, 
Customers will be liable for collection costs incurred by tile Company and/or Its agent. __ X 

4. H tile Customer discontinues service within ninety (90) days of application for gas service, there will be a charge for removal 
plus GST, or such charge as Ia currently in affect by the Company which will be added to the final billing and/or deducted 
from the original deposit 

5. The Company may discontinue service and disconnect and remove the meter for ~pair, Jack of supply and/or non·paymarrl 
of bills (including late penally charges) when due. The original daposlt will ba refunded upon full payment of any outstand­
Ing amount. 

6. Gas will ba supplied to a meter Installed by the Company. H that meier should fall to register the quantity of gas consumed 
or If access to read the meter cannot ba made, the account of the Customer will ba estimated by the Company. 

7. Customer agrees to give immediate notice at the office of the Company of any escape of gas. In case of a leak, the stop. 
cock at the meter must be Immediately closed and no light taken near the escape until after free and full ventilation. 

8. Except In the case of an emergency, the Company and/or Its authorized agent shall at all reasonable hours, have access to 
the premises for the purposes of examining, regulating or repairing the gas apparatus installed, ascertaining fue quantity of 
gas consumed or supplied and/or to discontinue or remove the meter. In the case of an emergency, the Company and/or Hs 
authorized agents shall have access to the premises at any hour. 

9. The Company shall not be liable for any damages or losses resulting from any failure to supply. The Customer agrees with 
the Company that the Company will not be held liable by the Customer for any loss, damage, Injury or delay to any parson 
or to any properly resulting from the transportation, storing or any use of the gas supplied to the premises Including any 
damage or loss from explosion or fire. Further the Customer agrees to indemnify and save harmless tha Company from and 
against all claims and demands arising out of the transportation, storing or use of the gas supplied to the Customer's prem­
Ises Including any toss or damage from explosion or fire made by any person and from and against all damages, losses, 
costs, charges and expanses which the Company may sustain or incur and ba liable for as a consequence of any such claim 
or demand. 

t 0. The Cuslomer acknowledges that there will be a late charge on the past due amount (minimum $1.00) If the bill is not paid 
within sixteen (16) days of rendering and there will be a monthly fixed charge of $ . __ X 
Both of the charges era subject to revision and approval by the Ontario Energy Board. 

11. The Customer acknowledges fuat there will ba a. transfer/connection charge of $30 plus GST, or as may ba ordered by the __ X 
Ontario Energy Board, which will be charged on the first billing. · 

SIGNATURE OF APPLICANT--------------------------------------------------------

DEPOSIT RECEIVED:$------------------ DEPOSIT RECEIVED BY:-------------------------­

-REMISES OWNED BY:--------------------------------------------------------------

SEE REVERSE FOR CREDIT APPLICATION 
COMPANV COPY - BLUE: CUSTOMER COPY - CANARY 



APPLICATION FOR GAS SERVICE 
Date of Application: ___________ Date Service Req'd: ______ _ 20 __ 

D Residential D Commercial D Industrial D Seasonal 

Last Name First Name lnttlal I Date o~ B_lr!h Martial Status oName No. of 
MMIDD/YY 

Married D Dependents 

Single D 

Service Address Home Phone# 

. ~ ....... Drivers Uc. No • 

1 Name of '(If 1 Social Ins. No. 

~• ""'u1gt Name uouou" 1 How long 'Phone# 

cName How long 'Phone# 

Previous , How long 

Previous Employer Name & Address , How Long 

Previous Employer Name & Address Posttlon 1 How long 

Bank Credit Cards 
Name Name Name 

Branch Branch Branch 
' (Not Living with , . "" Address j Phone# 

1 other I Relationship Address 1 Phone# 

Some of the information contained In this application constitutes "personal Information" and Is thereby covered under Federal 
privacy legislation. NRG obtains this Information in order to bill for the products identified In this agreement, repairs and service 
to the equipment and for collections of arrears of amounts owing under this agreement. NRG does not share this information with 
third parties with the exception of consultan1s, professional advisors and regulatory bodies. All of these parties are bound by their 
own privacy obligations which restricts further dissemination of such information. 

The undersigned agree(s) that a personal investigation may be conducted or a credit report obtained 
in respect of this contract 

Signature of Applicant ________________________________ _ 

Notes 

41~-------------------------------------



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED -RENTAL AGREEMENT 

NRG, please supply the following goods to: Owner Tenant Builder Telephone Numher 

0 0 0 
""- City Postal Code Contract Date 

Installation Address (if other than above) City Postal Code Bill as Rental Only 

ADDmONS 
Gas to Gas Builder Other Fuel to Gas Other 

D D D 0 
REPLACEMENTS Upgrade Leaker Limed Up Other (specify) 

GASTOGAS D D D 0 
Demolitions Rental to Sale G:os to Gas Gas to Other Fuel Other 

DELETIONS D 0 0 D 0 

Natural Resource Gas (hereinafter caUed NRG) le:oses to the Customer and the Customer reots from NRG the following: 

Equipment Res. 0 Water Heater Description of Equipment Monthly Rental TAX Yes No 

Comm. D Size $ 
GST 0 0 

Ind. D PST 0 0 
Other Equipment Description of Equipment Monthly Rental 

GSTO PST 0 $ 

Model Number (Cnmmerdd A ~rlallkl.u~pmca.r OnJr> Original Date Year Month Day Min." Bills 
of Installation 20 

• Qty 

Stock Number Make Mfg.Code Serial Number Account 

"(hereinafter called the Appliance) from the date hereof, for a monthly rental of $ __ (plus applicable sales taxes), which monthly rental amount 
shall be subject to increase: by NRG on at least thirty (30) days prior written notice and subject to the Conditions on the reverse side bereof." 

Natural Resource Gas (hereinafter called NRG) leases to the Customer and the CUstomer rents from NRG the foUowlng: 

Equipment Res. D Water Heater Description of Equipment other than Water Heater Monthly Rental TAX Yes No 

Comm. D Size $ 
GST 0 0 

Ind. 0 PST 0 0 
Removal Date • Year Month Day OdginallnstaUation Date - Year Month Day Storeroom Original Contract " 

20 20 I Qty 
Stock Number Make Mfg Code Serial Number Act:ount Number 

0 Scrapped 0 In Inventory 

All CONDffiONS OF RENTAL AGREEMENT ON REVERSE SIDE 

Executed in duplicate this __ day of 20 __ 

Customer Signature Sales Department Signature 

ANRG not responsible for any damages resulting from tank leakage. 
•• ~ CONCOt to the •pply ot RrVke -.odlsutalbl:loa of tiM: cqu1pJDcnt in tbc ~ pn:mSR~, cnmal br me IIDd llft'ce 10 the: c:ondltloaliaet lottb. bad~~. Any equlpmcat ol tbe Owner's 

I'UilOftlll by NJtG Jn 8CCOC'daoce with tb4 a.thoriudoa. tbaD be ldl. by N'KG lo. tbc uU p~ Mil NaG •ball hive DO fiD1hcr rapolllibWry whh rapca to .-. 

Owner's Signature Owner's Address 

-



CONDTinONSOF~AG~ 

1. The CUSTOMER agttCS to penni! and keep theAppllance at the above address or at such other address as NRG may agree to in writ­

ing. The CUSTOMER agrees to protect the Appliance from any ll<n or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever and the CUSTOMER 

agrees not to sublet or assign hls interest her<:undcr or part With possession of the Appllance without the Written consent of NRG. 

The CUSTOMER shall supply adequately sl7.cd and properly charged water conditioning equipment, as spccl.fied by NRG. In the event 

the CUSTOMER falls to supply and maintain adequ•tely slzc:d equipment, the CUSTOMER shall reinthursc NRG for an costs incurred 

as a result of such fallur<:. The CUSTOMER further agr<:es to keep the Appllance insUr<:d for the full insurable value thereof. EXCilPT 

AS SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED HEREIN THE APPIJANCE SIIAIL BE OPERATED AT THE RISK OF THE CUSTOMER AND CUSTOMER 

AGREES TO INDEMNIPY AND SAVE HARMLESS NRG FROM ANY AND All CLAIMS AND DAMAGES HOWSOEVER CAUSED ARISING 

Our OF THE USE OR THE INSTAllATION OFTHEAPPIJANCB. 

2. Ownership of the Appllance shall at all times remain In NRG. 

3. NRG shall maintain and repair the Appllance at Its own exp= provided that the CUSTOMER Will indemnify NRG from any such 

costs or expenses arising a!i a result of damage to or destruction of the Appliance from any cause, reasonable wear and tear excepted. 

4. If the CUSTOMER discontinues using gas supplied by NRG or falls to perform or observe any of the conditions herein, NRG may 

forthwith terminate this agreement and without any previous notice or demand or process of law enter the premises wherein the 
Appliance Is situated to repossess the same.lf the Appliance ls removed by NRG as afon:..td, NRG sbaH not be liable for any damages 

n:sultlng from such removal. If the CUSI'OMER ddi10lts within twelve months from the Installation date, then In addition to any other 

rights NRG may have, the n:ntal for the remaining months shall, at NRG's option, be due and payable lnunedlately. 

5. It Is agreed by the CUSTOMER and NRG that theAppllance shall remain personalty. 

6. Time 1s of the essence. 

7. The terms of this Agreement constitute the entire Agreement between the parties and, except the monthly rental amount which is 

subject to Increase by NRG, no modification to this Agreement sball be made except In writing signed by both parties. 

8. Some of the information contained in this application constitutes "personal information" and is thereby covered under Federal 

privacy legislation. NRG obtains this information In order to bill for the rental of the products identified In this agreement, n:palrs and 

service to the equipment and for collections of arrears of amounts owing under this agreement. NRG does not share this Information 
with third parties with the exception of consultants, professional advisors and regullltory bodies. All of these parties ate bound by 

their own privacy obligations which restricts further dissemination of such Information. 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 

P.O. Box 307, 39 Beech Street East 
Aylmer, ON N5H 251 

Phone: 519-773-5321 



SCHEDULE3 Page 17 

SERVICE POLICY 

Regular Hours Calls 

See section 2.4 for rates to be charged. 

All service calls to be done on a time and material basis except for the following: 

I. New equipment sold by NRG, no charge for the first year except for parts that are not 
guaranteed for one year. 

2. No charge for service of any kind on any call due to failure of Company equipment. 

3. After hours calls (see section 2.4 for rates). 

4. All charges to be collected at time of call, unless otherwise authorized 



SCHEDULE4 

1. Returned Cheques 

Account Closed 
Cannot Trace 
Funds Not Cleared 

NITSCELLANEOUSCHARGES 

More Than One Signature Required 
No Chequing Privileges 
Not Sufficient Funds 
Present Again 
Refer to Dmwer 
Signature Required 
Signature Irregular 
Body & Figures Differ 

2. Lawyer's Letters 

Reply to request for account information 
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$ 20.00/each +taxes 

$ 20.00 +taxes 



1 NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

2 SCHEDULE OF SERVICE CHARGES 

3 Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal 

4 2006 2007 2008 2009 
5 Rental Water Heaters 
6 (Monthly Rental Rates) 
7 30 gallon $6.85-7.00 $6.85-7.00 $6.85-7.00 $6.85-7.00 

8 40 gallon $7.25-9.70 $7.25-9.70 $7.25·9.70 $7.25·9.70 

9 40 gallon PV $12.80-15.50 $12.8D-15.50 $12.80-15.50 $12.80-15.50 
10 50 gallon $8.40-12.00 $8.40-12.00 $8.40-12.00 $8.40-12.00 

11 50 gallon PV $13.90-17.00 $13.9D-17.00 $13.90-17.00 $13.90-17.00 
12 60 gallon $9.50-12.25 $9.50-12.25 $9.50-12.25 $9.50-12.25 

13 60gallon PV $15.30-22.00 $15.30-22.00 $15.30-22.00 $15.30-22.00 
14 Tankless n/a n/a n/a $34.50 

15 
16 Connect/Transfer Charge $30.00 $30.00 $30.00 $30.00 

17 Reply to Lawyer's Letter $20.00 $20.00 $20.00 $20.00 
18 Disconnection Charge $78.00 $78.00 $78.00 $78.00 

19 Reconnectlon Charge $78.00. $78.00 $78.00 $78.00 

- 20 NSF Charge $20.00 $20.00 $20.00 $20.00 
21 Contract Work On a Quoted Basis 
22 Merchandise Parts Marked UP 30- 50% 
23 
24 Customer Service Work- Regular Hours 
25 Minimum Charge -up to 30 minutes $46.20 $48.50 $48.50 $48.50 
26 Minimum Charge -up to 60 minutes $63.80 $67.00 $67.00 $67.00 
27 Each additional half hour or part thereof $28.60 $30.00 $30.00 $30.00 
28 Each additional hour or part thereof n/a n/a n/a n/a 
29 
30 Customer Service Work- After Hours 
31 Minimum Charge -up to 30 minutes $81.95 $86.05 $86.05 $86.05 

32 Minimum Charge -up to 60 minutes $105.60 $110.90 $110.90 $110.90 
33 Each additional half hour or part thereof $52.80 $58.10 $58.10 $58.10 
34 Each additional hour or part thereof n/a n/a n/a n/a 

EB-2014-__ 
Exhibit A 

Tab2 
Schedule 2 

Bridge Test Year 
2010 2011 

$8.85-9.55 $8.85-10.55 
$9.25-10.75 $9.25-11.75 
$14.80-19.00 $14.80-20.00 
$11.00-12.50 $11.00-13.50 
$16.50-21.00 $16.50-22.00 
$11.50-15.00 $11.50-16.00 
$17.50-22.00 $17.50-23.00 
$34.50 $34.50-35.50 

$30.00 $30.00 
$20.00 $20.00 
$78.00 $78.00 
$78.00 $78.00 
$20.00 $20.00 

n/a n/a 
$67.00 $90.00 
$30.00 n/a 

n/a $90.00 

n/a n/a 
$110.90 $115.00 
$58.10 n/a 

n/a $95.00 
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CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

Adding value. Finding balance. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Natural Resource Gas Limited 

P: 519-432-5534 
F: 519-432-6544 

300-633 COLBORNE ST. 

LONDON, ONTM~IO N6B 2.V3 

www.nptca.com 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Natural Resource Gas Limited, which comprise the 
balance sheet as at September 30, 2013 and the statements of income, deficit and cash flow for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management dete1mines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perfonn the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified 
audit opinion. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

The Company has issued and outstanding Class C shares with a redemption value of $13,461,418. Canadian 
accounting standards for private enterprises require that the company present and classify shares that are retractable 
at the option of the shareholder as a liability on the balance sheet unless the shares were issued under certain income 
tax planning arrangements. The Company has presented these shares as part of Shareholders' equity. If the shares 
were classified as liabilities, then the total liabilities as at September 30,2013 would increase by $13,461,418 and 
share capital would decrease by $13,461,418. 

(continues) 

NPT LLP 



Qualified Opinion 

In our opinion, except that the Class C shares of the Company have been presented as part of Shareholders' equity 
rather than as a liability, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at September 30, 2013 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for then ended in accordance 
with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises. 

London, Canada 
January 17,2014 

2 

NPTLLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Licensed Public Accountants 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheet 

September 30, 2013 

ASSETS 

CURRENT 
Cash 
Accounts receivable (Notes 8, I2, I3) 
Inventory (Note 4) 
Income taxes recoverable 
Taxes other than income taxes recoverable 
PreQaid exQenses 

Property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 

Franchises and consents (Note 6) 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

CURRENT 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Notes 8, II) 
Income taxes payable 
Customer deposits 
Taxes other than income taxes payable 
Deferred revenue 
Future income taxes 
Tenn notes 2ayable (Note 9) 

Future income taxes 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Share capital (Note IO) 
Deficit 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 

-------------Director 

-------------Director 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2013 2012 

1,298,408 $ 123,362 
817,898 1,347,291 
102,929 129,551 

11,010 
27,306 
47,045 80,385 

2,293,586 1,691,599 

12,901,554 13,221,322 

357,424 28,246 

15 552 564 $ 14,941,167 

1,984,122 $ 1,559,228 
198,247 
136,555 144,762 

12,779 
71,416 63,477 

241,000 395,000 
6,063,799 6,409,603 

8,695,139 8,584,849 

200 000 162,000 

8 895139 8,746,849 

13,461,439 13,461,439 
(6,804,014) (7,267,121) 

6657 425 6,194,318 

15 552 564 $ 14,941,167 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
Statement of Deficit 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

DEFICIT - BEGINNING OF YEAR 

Net income for the ~ear 

DEFICIT - END OF YEAR 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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$ 

$ 

2013 2012 

(7 ,267 ,121) $ (7 ,971 ,936) 

463,107 704,815 

(6:804:014) $ ~7,267,121) 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Income 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

Gas commodity revenue 
Gas commodity cost 

Gross margin on commodity 

Distribution revenue 
Distribution costs 

Gross margin on distribution 

Other sales 
Labour and materials costs related to other sales 
Amortization related to other sales 

Gross margin on other sales 

Other revenue 

TOTAL GROSS MARGIN 

OPERATING EXPENSES(Schedule I) 

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 

INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 

INCOME TAXES 
Current 
Future 

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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$ 

$ 

2013 2012 

4,336,729 $ 3,991,342 
(4J28,466) (3,984,035) 

8,263 7,307 

5,982,779 5,450,436 
(934,936) (861,691) 

5,047,843 4,588,745 

941,232 971,847 
(135,143) (196,769) 
(178,462) (179,622) 

627,627 595,456 

134108 219,408 

5,817,841 5,410,916 

5,185,734 4,551,101 

632107 859,815 

632,107 859,815 

285,000 97,000 
(116 000) 58,000 

169 000 155,000 

4632107 $ 704,815 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Cash Flow 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income for the year 
Items not affecting cash: 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 
Amortization of franchises and consents 
Future income taxes 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Accounts receivable 
Other current assets 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Income taxes payable I recoverable 
Taxes other than income taxes payable/recoverable 
Defen·ed revenue 
Customer de~osits 

Cash flow from OQeraling activities 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Additions to property, plant and equipment 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
Purchase of intangible assets 

Cash flow used b:t investing activities 

FINANCING ACTIVITY 
ReE:ayments of tenn notes Qayable 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 

Cash - beginning of year 

CASH - END OF YEAR 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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$ 

$ 

2013 2012 

463,107 $ 704,815 

1,048,961 1,030,616 
44,091 39,399 

(116,000) 58,000 

1440 159 1,832,830 

(60,162) 38,784 
589,555 (304,486) 

26,622 (12,007) 
33,340 14,812 

424,897 (596,387) 
209,257 (102,070) 
(40,085) 239,816 

7,939 (77,522) 
(8,207) (4,136) 

1,183,156 (803,196) 

2,623,315 1,029,634 

(736,724) (941,751) 
7,529 13,183 

(373,270) 

(1,102,465) (928,568) 

(345,804) (345,804) 

1,175,046 (244,738) 

123,362 368,100 

1298,408 $ 123,362 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

I. NATURE OF BUSINESS 

The Company operates as a rate regulated, natural gas distribution utility and operates within a limited area of 
Southwestern Ontario under franchise agreements that are approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB). 

The utility operations are subject to regulations under The Ontario Energy Board Act and The Energy Act 
(Ontario). Revenue rate schedules are approved periodically by the OEB and are designed to permit a fair and 
reasonable relurn to the Company on the utility investment. Realization of the allowed rate of return is subject 
to actual operating conditions experienced during the year. 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private 
enterprises (ASPE). ASPE are part of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 

Such accounting principles may differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated 
entities. These differences occur when the regulatory agencies render their decisions on the Company's rate 
applications and generally involve the timing of revenue and expense recognition to ensure that the Company 
has achieved a proper matching of revenues and expenses, and as a result the Company records assets and 
liabilities that would not have been recorded under ASPE for non-regulated entities. 

In addition to defining certain accounting requirements, the regulatory agencies have jurisdiction over a number 
of other matters, which include the rates to be charged for the distribution of gas and approval and recovery of 
costs for major construction and operations. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Revenue recognition 

The Company recognizes revenues when gas has been delivered or services have been performed. Gas 
distribution revenues are recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and estimates of customer usage since 
the last meter reading to the end of the reporting period. 

A significant portion of the Company's operations are subject to regulation and accordingly there are 
circumstances where the revenues recognized do not match the amounts billed. Revenue is recognized in a 
manner consistent with the underlying rate setting mechanism as mandated by the OEB. This may give rise to 
regulatory deferral accounts on the balance sheet (included in accounts receivable or accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities) pending disposition by a decision of the OEB. 

Rental revenue is recognized as income in the month earned. Revenue on other sales not subject to rate 
regulations are recognized when goods have been delivered or services have been performed. 

Cash 

Cash consists of cash on hand and bank account balances, with adjustments for outstanding cheques or deposits 
at year-end. 

(continues) 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Inventory 

Inventory consists of rental products and materials used for the service of existing gas pipelines and the 
addition of new gas pipelines. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being 
determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Net realizable value is defined as replacement cost. 

Franchises and consents 

Costs associated with acquiring municipal franchises and other consents are capitalized when incurred, if the 
franchise application is successful. These costs are amortized on a straight line basis over the term of the 
franchise. 

These assets are tested for an impairment in value when events or circumstances indicate that an asset might be 
impaired. The assets are tested for impairment by comparing their carrying value to estimates of their fair value. 
Fair value is based on estimates of discounted future cash flows or other valuation methods. When the fair 
value is determined to be less than carrying value, the resulting impairment is reported in the income statement. 

Deferred charges 

Certain costs, required or permitted by the OEB, have been deferred for recovery from future revenues. The 
period of recovery for these deferrals has been or will be determined by decisions of the OEB, and will 
determine the classification of these charges in the financial statements. 

Properly, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, including associated labour and overhead costs. 
Expenditures which substantially increase the useful life of existing pipeline installations and additions to the 
pipeline are capitalized. Such expenditures include material, labour and overhead. Maintenance and repairs 
which do not extend the useful life of pipeline installations are charged to income. 

Pursuant to the regulations of the OEB on the disposal of property, plant, and equipment that is subject to rate 
regulation, the company transfers the original cost of the retired assets, plus any related removal costs and net 
of any proceeds on disposition, to accumulated amortization. Proceeds from disposition are credited to 
accumulated amortization. This effectively credits gains, or charges losses on disposition to accumulated 
amortization. 

For disposals of major property, plant and equipment and for those assets not subject to rate regulation, gains or 
losses are included in current earnings. 

The company has reviewed its long-lived assets and determined there exists no asset retirement obligation as of 
September 30, 2013. 

(continues) 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Amortization 

Pursuant to the periodic review and approval by the OEB of amortization rates, amortization is calculated on 
the total gross cost of each asset category at the end of the year, rather than on an asset specific basis. Property, 
plant and equipment are amortized at the following rates and methods listed below: 

Buildings 
Machinery and equipment 
Automotive equipment 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Furniture and fixlures 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

2% 
6% to 9% 

17% 
33% 
20% 

7% 
3% to4% 
3% to 5% 

straight-line method 
declining balance method 
straight-line method 
declining balance method 
declining balance method 
straight-line method 
straight-line method 
straight-line method 

Pursuant to the approval of the OEB, the company changes its amortization rates for the various categories of 
property, plant and equipment as well as for franchises and consents based upon OEB Rate Case filings. The 
last change was made at the start of the fiscal 2005 year, and the rates were reaffirmed as part of the 2011 Cost 
of Service Rate filing. Any such changes in estimate are applied on a prospective basis. 

Future income taxes 

Income taxes are reported using the future income taxes method, as follows: current income tax expense is the 
estimated income taxes payable for the current year after any refunds or the use of losses incurred in previous 
years, and future income taxes reflect: 

• the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for accounting purposes 
and the amounts used for tax purposes; 

• the benefit of unutilized tax losses that will more likely than not be realized and carried forward to 
future years to reduce income taxes. 

Future income taxes are estimated using the rates enacted by tax law and those substantively enacted for the 
years in which future income taxes assets are likely to be realized, or future income tax liabilities settled. The 
effect of a change in tax rates on future income tax assets and liabilities is included in earnings in the period 
when the change is substantively enacted. 

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs 

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs are recorded using prices approved by the OEB in the 
determination of customers sales rates. Differences between the OEB approved reference prices and those 
costs actually incurred are deferred in accounts receivable or accounts payable for consideration in future rate 
adjustments or disposition subject to the approval of the OEB. In a non-regulated environment periodic 
variances between gas commodity sales rates and costs or gas transportation costs would be reported through 
the income statement annually without the use of deferral accounts. 

(continues) 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

4. 

Financial instruments policy 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods, financial assets 
with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses reported in income. 
All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and tested for impairment at each reporting date. 

Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial instruments are expensed when incurred. 
However, financial instruments that will not be subsequently measured at fair value are adjusted by the 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to their original issuance or assumption. 

Measurement uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian ASPE requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the period. Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any adjustments necessary are reported in 
earnings in the period in which they become known. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

INVENTORY 

2013 2012 

Materials for use in pipeline maintenance $ 81,993 $ 104,006 
Rental Eroducts 20,936 25,545 

$ 102 929 $ 129,551 

During the year, inventories in the amount of $57,584 (2012- $99,354) were recognized as an expense. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

5. 

6. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
2013 2012 

Cost Accumulated Net book Net book 
amortization value value 

Land $ 71,700 $ $ 71,700 $ 71,700 
Buildings 684,089 197,915 486,174 499,603 
Machinery and equipment 3,083,913 1,593,531 1,490,382 1,532,611 
Automotive equipment 434,629 369,971 64,658 82,423 
Computer equipment 403,425 346,962 56,463 59,015 
Furniture and fixtures 82,205 60,448 21,757 24,360 
Meters and regulators 3,769,910 2,190,898 1,579,012 1,468,199 
PiQeline installations 16,143,973 7,012,565 9,131,408 9,483,411 

$ 24,673,844 $ 11,772,290 $ 12 901554 $ 13,221,322 

The Company has completed construction of a 28.5 kilometre natural gas pipeline between London and Aylmer 
to service a new customer. The Company entered into a Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement with the customer, 
whereby the company and the customer share in the construction cost of the pipeline under defined terms and 
conditions. 

As of September 30, 2013 a final cost reconciliation has not yet been agreed upon between the two parties. 
While the net cost to the Company of the pipeline constructed cannot be detennined with complete accuracy 
until a cost reconciliation is agreed upon, it is management's opinion that the amount capitalized at September 
30, 2013 is a reasonable estimate of the final cost given current information available. 

FRANCHISES AND CONSENTS 
2013 2012 

Franchises and consents $ 524,363 $ 151,094 
Accumulated amortization (166,939) [122,848) 

$ 357 424 $ 28,246 

7. OPERATING LINE OF CREDIT 

The Company has credit facilities in the amount of $3,000,000 which it obtained in conjunction with the term 
note, consisting of: 

a) Operating line of credit in the amount of $1,000,000 with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate on any 
advances, and 

b) Non-revolving line of credit in the amount of $2,000,000 to be used for financing capital expenditures 
with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate plus 0.25% on any advances. 

The continuation of the above credit facilities is subject to annual review by the Bank. These credit facilities 
are secured by the security agreement in place as disclosed in note 8. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Included in accounts receivable are amounts receivable from related companies of $14,849 (2012- $1,347). 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts payable to related companies of $73,076 
(2012- $84,756). 

During the year, management fees of $457,020 (2012- $457,020) were paid to a related company. 

During the year, the Company purchased gas in the amount of $856,836 (20 12 - $897 ,006) from a related 
company. 

During the prior year, the Company sold a natural gas well to a related company for $25,000. 

During the year, maintenance charges of $6,000 (2012 - $6,000) were charged to a related company. 

During the year, the Company paid capital costs of $nil (2012 - $332,754) for the construction of various 
plastic mains to a related company. 

During the year, the Company paid special management fees for regulatory activities of $75,000 (2012- $nil) 
to a related company. 

During the year, the Company agreed to provide credit facilities to a related party up to a maximum of 
$2,000,000 with interest charged at I% per annum on the outstanding balance. The credit facility was utilized 
during the year, however no balance is outstanding on the facility at September 30, 2013. Interest earned on 
advances made under the credit facility amount to $13,719. 

Related companies are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by trusts, where the beneficiaries of the 
trusts are common to both trusts, but the trustee or group of trustees which exercise control over any of the 
related parties are different than the group of trustees of the trust which controls Natural Resource Gas Limited. 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is 
the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

9. TERMNOTESPAYABLE 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, maturing on June 30,2014, 
interest at bank prime plus 0.25%, repayable in monthly payments 
of $12,386, due on demand. 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, maturing on April 17, 
2014, interest at bank prime, repayable in monthly payments of 
$16,431 plus interest, due on demand. 

2013 2012 

$ 2,613,396 $ 2,762,028 

3,450,403 3,647,575 

$ 6 063 799 $ 6,409,603 

The company has pledged the following as security against the term notes payable, the operating line of credit, 
and the revolving line of credit (note 6): 

a) General assignment of book debts 

b) General Security Agreement over all of the present and future personal property and undertaking of the 
company 

c) Security under Section 427 of the Bank Act with appropriate insurance coverage assigned to the Bank 

d) Postponement of dividends and share redemption payments by the Class C shareholders 

e) Demand Debenture for $15,000,000 secured by a first fixed and floating charge over all assets 
including, but not limited to, the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and all Municipal 
Franchise Agreements, with replacement cost fire insurance coverage, loss if any, payable to the Bank as 
mortgagee. 

The term notes payable, the operating line of credit, and the revolving line of credit include the following 
covenants that the company must meet: 

1. maintain a debt service coverage ratio of 1.25:1 or better; and 

2. maintain a ratio of debt to tangible net worth of 3.0 or less; and 

3. annual capital expenditures of $1.3 million or less; and 

At September 30,2013, the company was in compliance with these covenants. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

10. SHARECAPITAL 

Authorized: 
Unlimited 

Unlimited 

Unlimited 

Unlimited 

Unlimited 

Issued: 
50,000 

10 
134,614 

10 

Unlimited Class A shares, non-voting, redeemable and retractable at the paid up amount, with 
non-cumulative dividends 
Unlimited Class B shares, participating, non-voting, with non-cumulative dividends ranking 
pari passu with common shares on dissolution 
Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, with preferential 7% non-cumulative dividends 
redeemable and retractable at $100 per share 
Unlimited Class Z shares voting, redeemable and retraclable at $1 per share, with no 
dividend entitlement 
Unlimited number of common shares 

2013 2012 

Class A shares $ 1 $ 
Class B shares 10 

I 
10 

Class C shares 13,461,418 13,461,418 
Class Z shares 10 10 

$ 13 461439 $ 13,461,439 

II. GAS IMBALANCES 

The Company, in the normal course of its operations experiences imbalances in the quantity of gas purchased 
and the quantities of gas consumed and provides the gas balancing services to customers. The company records 
the net liability (or net asset) associated with gas imbalance volumes. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $570,711 (2012 - $750,486) related to gas 'imbalances. 
Natural gas volumes owed from the Company are valued at the natural gas reference price as approved by the 
OEB as of the balance sheet dates. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

12. REGULATORY MATTERS 

The Company's distribution rates are approved by the OEB. The Company's commodity rates are approved by 
the OEB and adjusted on a quarterly basis based on commodity price forecasts. The difference between the 
approved and the actual cost of gas incurred in the current period is deferred for future recovery subject to 
approval by the OEB. 

One of the Company's franchise agreements with a municipality expired during the prior year. During the year, 
the OEB issued a Decision and Order which approved a new franchise agreement with the municipality for a 
period of 20 years, retroactive to the expiry date of the previous agreement. Additionally, certain of the other 
franchise agreements with various other municipalities expired during the year. The OEB issued interim orders 
which extended the franchise terms under the old agreement until such time as a new franchise agreement was 
entered into. Management expects that the new franchise agreements will be substantially similar to the Model 
Franchise Agreement from the OEB. 

The Company has a matter before the OEB relating to the allowable natural gas price it can recover from 
natural gas purchased from a related party. The OEB is currently seeking additional information prior to 
making a ruling on this matter. 

Accounting principles differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated entities. 
These differences occur when the regulatory agencies render their decisions on the Company's rate applications 
and generally involve the timing of revenue and expense recognition to ensure that the Company has achieved a 
proper matching of revenues and expenses, and as a result the Company records assets and liabilities that would 
not have been recorded under ASPE for non-regulated entities. The following balances are a direct result of 
rate regulatory matters: 

Included in accounts payable is $370,537 (2012- $589,555 included in accounts receivable) resulting from 
the regulated ratemaking process that may not be recorded under ASPE in the absence of rate regulation. 

In the absence of rate-regulation, some of the above balances would be recognized in the income statement 
of the organization. As a result, net income from operations would be increased by $286,452 (20 12 -
decreased by $247,528). 

In the absence of rate-regulation, the Company's current future income tax liability would be lower by 
$241,000 (2012- $395,000) as a result of the elimination of the regulatory amounts included in accounts 
payable and accounts receivable. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis provides 
information about the Company's risk exposure and concentration. There have been no significant changes to 
the nature or concentration of these risks from the prior year, unless otherwise stated. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation. The Company is exposed to credit risk from customers. In order to reduce 
its credit risk, the Company reviews a new customer's credit history before extending credit and conducts 
regular reviews of its existing customers' credit performance. The Company has the ability to take security 
deposits if there are payment issues, and charge interest and penalties on any late payments. The Company has 
a significant number of customers which minimizes concentration of credit risk. 

An allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific 
accounts, historical trends and other information. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $137,484 at 
September 30, 2013 (2012- $1 09.784). 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting its cash needs on a regular basis and seeking 
additional information based on those forecasts. The Company's objective is to generate sufficient cash from 
its operations to meet its financial obligations. The Company also maintains available credit facilities as 
described in note 7 to support the liquidity requirements of the business. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other 
price risk. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk to the company's earnings that arise from fluctuations of foreign exchange rates. The 
company is not exposed to currency risk as it does not hold financial instruments denominated in a foreign 
currency. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its 
term notes payable and lines of credit as they bear interest at a fluctuating bank prime rate related interest rate. 
Additionally, the Company earns interest or is charged interest on its regulatory amounts receivable or amounts 
payable at the interest rate prescribed by the OEB, which is subject to adjustment on a quarterly basis. 

Included in other revenue is interest income of $42,642 (2012- $69,368) earned on regulatory balances and 
charged on late payments. 

(continues) 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Other price risk 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether 
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors 
affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Company is exposed to other price risk 
through its natural gas prices. 

The Company has entered into several material contracts for the supply of natural gas. The Company employs 
established policies and procedures in order to manage the risk associated with the market fluctuations of 
natural gas prices. The Company, through the rate regulations imposed by the OEB, is effectively allowed to 
fully recover its costs, reasonably incurred, and as such the ratepayers, and not the Company, are ultimately 
exposed to the risk of these market fluctuations. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Schedule of Operating Expenses 

Year Ended September 30, 2013 

Salaries and benefits 
Amortization of property, plant and equipment 
Gas commodity costs 
Property taxes 
Management fees (Note 8) 
Ontario Energy Board hearings and regulatory charges 
Insurance 
Office 
Interest on term notes payable 
Repairs and maintenance 
Professional fees 
Vehicle 
Advertising 
Interest expense 
Amortization of franchises and consents 
Bad debts 
Utilities 

Equipment expenses capitalized to pipeline installations 
Amortization cae:italized to E:ie:eline installations 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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$ 

$ 

(Schedule 1) 

2013 2012 

1,352,119 $ 1,365,221 
870,498 850,993 
508,585 
471,816 506,474 
457,020 457,020 
400,906 246,479 
274,243 285,902 
196,578 202,929 
193,994 203,096 
150,576 148,730 
77,148 75,292 
61,378 68,809 
59,451 69,136 
53,092 54,631 
44,091 39,399 
29,689 200 
11043 9,832 

5,212,227 4,584,143 
(16,471) (22,006) 
(10,022) (11,036) 

5185 734 $ 4,551,101 
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Natural Resource Gas Limited, which comprise the 
balance sheets as at September 30, 2012, September 30, 2011 and October I, 2010, and the statements of income, 
deficit and cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our qualified audit opinion. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

The Company has issued and outstanding Class C shares with a redemption value of $13,461,418. Canadian 
accounting standards for private enterprises require that the company present and classify shares that are retractable 
at the option of the shareholder as a liability on the balance sheet unless the shares were issued under certain income 
tax planning arrangements. The Company has presented these shares as part of Shareholders' equity. If the shares 
were classified as liabilities, then the total liabilities as at September 30, 2012, September 30, 2011 and October I, 
2011 would increase by $13,461,418 and share capital would decrease by $13,461,418. 

(continues) 
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Qualified Opinion 

In our opinion, except that the Class C shares of the Company have been presented as part of Shareholders' equity 
rather than as a liability, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at September 30, 2012, September 30, 2011 and October I, 2010 and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for private enterprises. 

London, Canada 
January 29,2013 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheets 

September 30, 2012 and 2011 and October 1, 2010 

September 30 September 30 October 1 

2012 2011 2010 

ASSETS 

CURRENT 
Cash $ 123,362 $ 368,100 $ 483,631 
Temporary investments 2,579,300 
Accounts receivable (Notes 7, II, I2) 1,347,291 1,081,589 989,426 
Inventory (Note 3) 129,551 117,544 105,260 
Prepaid expenses 80,385 95,197 136,252 
Income taxes recoverable 11,010 29,509 
Taxes other than income taxes recoverable 227,037 72,580 
Due from related comQany 350,000 

1691599 1,889,467 4,745,958 

Property, plant and equipment (Note 4) 13,221,322 13,323,363 13,518,088 

Franchises and consents (Note 5) 28,246 67,645 163,326 

Deferred char es 

13 249 568 13,391,008 !3,681,414 

$ 14 941167 $ 15,280,475 $ 18,427,372 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheets 

September 30, 2012 and 2011 and October 1, 2010 

September 30 September 30 October 1 
2012 2011 2010 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

CURRENT 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

(Notes 7, 10) $ 1,559,228 $ 2,155,608 $ 2,001,469 
Income taxes payable 91,060 
Taxes other than income taxes payable 12,779 
Deferred revenue 63,477 140,999 191,310 
Future income taxes 395,000 278,000 303,000 
Customer deposits 144,762 148,898 168,627 
Term notes Ea~ab1e (Note 8) 6,409,603 6,755,407 10,231,214 

8,584,849 9,569,972 12,895,620 

Future income taxes 162 000 221,000 286,000 

8746849 9,790,972 13,181,620 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Share capital (Note 9) 13,461,439 13,461,439 13,461,439 
Deficit (7,267,121) (7,971,936) (8,215,687) 

6194 318 5,489,503 5,245,752 

$ 14 941167 $ 15,280,475 $ 18,427,372 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 

____________ Director 

____________ Director 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statements of Deficit 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

DEFICIT - BEGINNING OF YEAR 

Net income for the year 

DEFICIT - END OF YEAR 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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2012 2011 

$ (7,971/)36) $ (8,215,687) 

704,815 243,751 

$ (7,267,121) $ (7,971,936) 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statements of Income 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

2012 2011 

Gas commodity revenue $ 3,991,342 $ 5,206,339 
Gas commodit~ cost (3,984,035) (5,181,544) 

Gross margin on commodity 7,307 24,795 

Distribution revenue 5,450,436 5,690,354 
Distribution costs (861,691) (893,942) 

Gross margin on distribution 4,588,745 4,796,412 

Other sales 971,847 1,000,015 
Labour and materials costs related to other sales (196,769) (224,657) 
Amortization related to other sales (179,622) (176,022) 

Gross margin on other sales 595,456 599,336 

Other revenue 219 408 149,056 

TOTAL GROSS MARGIN 5,410,916 5,569,599 

OPERATING EXPENSES( Schedule I) 4,551,101 4,453,069 

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 859 815 l,ll6,530 

Natural gas exQioration exQenses (837,780) 

INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 859,815 278,750 

INCOME TAXES 
Current 97,000 125,000 
Future 58,000 (90,000) 

155 000 35,000 

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR $ 704 815 $ 243,750 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

2012 2011 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income for the year $ 704,815 $ 243,751 
Items not affecting cash: 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 1,030,616 1,014,753 
Amortization of franchises and consents 39,399 97,130 
Future income taxes 58,000 (90,000) 

1832 830 1,265,634 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Accounts receivable (265,702) (92,163) 
Inventory (12,007) (12,284) 
Prepaid expenses 14,812 41,055 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (596,387) 154,141 
Income taxes payable I recoverable (102,070) 120,569 
Taxes other than income taxes payable/recoverable 239,816 (154,457) 
Deferred revenue (77,522) (50,311) 
Customer deEosits (4,136) (19,729) 

(803,196) (13,179) 

Cash flow from OEerating activities 1,029,634 I ,252,455 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Additions to property, plant and equipment (941,751) (820,029) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 13,183 
Additions to franchises and consents (1,449) 
Repayment from related company 350,000 
Proceeds on disEosal of tem[!Ofa!:Y investments 2,579,300 

Cash flow from {used by~ investing activities (928,568) 2,107,822 

FINANCING ACTIVITY 
ReQayments of term notes 2a:yable (345,804) (3,475,808) 

DECREASE IN CASH (244,738) (115,531) 

Cash - beginning of :z::ear 368,100 483,631 

CASH - END OF YEAR $ 123 362 $ 368,100 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

I. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private 
enterprises (ASPE). ASPE are part of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Regulation 

The Company operates as a rate regulated, natural gas distribution utility and operates within a limited area of 
Southwestern Ontario under franchise agreements that are approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB). 

The utility operations are subject to regulations under The Ontario Energy Board Act and The Energy Act 
(Ontario). Revenue rate schedules are approved periodically by the OEB and are designed to permit a fair and 
reasonable return to the Company on the utility investment. Realization of the allowed rate of return is subject 
to actual operating conditions experienced during the year. 

The Company follows Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises. Such accounting principles may 
differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated entities. These differences occur 
when the regulatory agencies render their decisions on the Company's rate applications and generally involve 
the timing of revenue and expense recognition to ensure that the Company has achieved a proper matching of 
revenues and expenses, and as a result the Company records assets and liabilities that would not have been 
recorded under ASPE for non-regulated entities. 

In addition to defining certain accounting requirements, the regulatory agencies have jurisdiction over a 
number of other matters, which include the rates to be charged for the distribution of gas and approval and 
recovery of costs for major construction and operations. 

Revenue recognition 

The Company recognizes revenues when gas has been delivered or services have been performed. Gas 
distribution revenues are recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and estimates of customer usage since 
the last meter reading to the end of the reporting period. 

A significant portion of the Company's operations are subject to regulation and accordingly there are 
circumstances where the revenues recognized do not match the amounts billed. Revenue is recognized in a 
manner consistent with the underlying rate setting mechanism as mandated by the OEB. This may give rise to 
regulatory deferral accounts on the balance sheet (included in accounts receivable or accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities) pending disposition by a decision of the OEB. 

Revenue on other sales not subject to rate regulations are recognized when goods have been delivered or 
services have been performed. 

Cash 

Cash consists of cash on hand and bank account balances, with adjustments for outstanding cheques or 
deposits at year-end. 

(continues) 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Temporary investments 

Temporary investments consist of a bank issued Guaranteed Investment Certificate, and is valued at amortized 
cost. 

Inventory 

Inventory consists of rental products and materials used for the service of existing gas pipelines and the 
addition of new gas pipelines. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being 
determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Net realizable value is defined as replacement cost. 

Franchises and consents 

Costs associated with acquiring municipal franchises and other consents are capitalized when incurred, if the 
franchise application is successful. These costs are amortized on a straight line basis over the term of the 
franchise ranging from 20 to 30 years. 

These assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset might 
be impaired. The assets are tested for impairment by comparing their carrying value to estimates of their fair 
value based on estimates of discounted future cash flows or other valuation methods. When the fair value is 
determined to be less than carrying value, the resulting impairment is reported in the income statement. 

Deferred charges 

Certain costs, required or permitted by the OEB, have been deferred for recovery from future revenues. The 
period of recovery for these deferrals has been or will be determined by decisions of the OEB, and will 
determine the classification of these charges in the financial statements. 

(continues) 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, including associated labour and overhead costs. 
Expenditures which substantially increase the useful life of existing pipeline installations and additions to the 
pipeline are capitalized. Such expenditures include material, labour and overhead. Maintenance and repairs 
which do not extend the useful life of pipeline installations are charged to income. 

Pursuant to the regulations of the OEB on the disposal of property, plant, and equipment, excluding major 
disposals, the company transfers the original cost of the retired assets, plus any related removal costs and net 
of any proceeds on disposition, to accumulated amortization. Proceeds from disposition are credited to 
accumulated amortization. This effectively credits gains, or charges losses on disposition to accumulated 
amortization. For major disposals, gains or losses are included in current earnings. 

For natural gas wells, the successful efforts method is used to account for oil and gas exploration and 
development costs. Under this method, acquisition costs of oil and gas properties and costs of drilling and 
equipping development wells are capitalized. Costs of drilling exploratory wells are initially capitalized and, if 
subsequently determined to be unsuccessful, are charged to exploration and development expense. All other 
exploration costs, including geographical and geophysical costs and annual lease rentals, are charged to 
exploration and development expense when incurred. Producing properties and significant unproven 
properties are assessed annually, or more frequently as economic events dictate, for potential impairment. Any 
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of the asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair 
value. 

The company has reviewed its long-lived assets and determined there exists no asset retirement obligation as 
of September 30, 2012. 

Amortization 

Pursuant to the periodic review and approval by the OEB of amortization rates, amortization is calculated on 
the total gross cost of each asset category at the end of the year, rather than on an asset specific basis. All 
categories are amortized using the straight-line method, except for computer equipment and computer software 
which are amortized using the declining-balance method, at the following annual rates for the property, plant 
and equipment categories listed below: 

Buildings 
Machinery and equipment 
Automotive equipment 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Furniture and fixtures 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

2% 
6% to 9% 

17% 
33% 
20% 

7% 
3% to4% 

3% to 13% 

Pursuant to the approval of the OEB, the company changes its amortization rates for the various categories of 
property, plant and equipment as well as for franchises and consents based upon OEB Rate Case filings. The 
last change was made at the start of the fiscal 2005 year, and the rates were reaffim1ed as part of the 2011 Cost 
of Service Rate filing. Any such changes in estimate are applied on a prospective basis. 

(continues) 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30,2012 and 2011 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Future income taxes 

Income taxes are reported using the future income taxes method, as follows: current income tax expense is the 
estimated income taxes payable for the current year after any refunds or the use of losses incurred in previous 
years, and future income taxes reflect: 

• the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for accounting 
purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes; 

• the benefit of unutilized tax losses that will more likely than not be realized and carried forward to 
future years to reduce income taxes. 

Future income taxes are estimated using the rates enacted by tax law and those substantively enacted for the 
years in which future income taxes assets are likely to be realized, or future income tax liabilities settled. The 
effect of a change in tax rates on future income tax assets and liabilities is included in earnings in the period 
when the change is substantively enacted. 

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs 

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs are recorded using prices approved by the OEB in the 
determination of customers sales rates. Differences between the OEB approved reference prices and those 
costs actually incurred are deferred in accounts receivable or accounts payable for consideration in future rate 
adjustments or disposition subject to the approval of the OEB, usually within a maximum timeframe of the 
next fiscal year. In a non-regulated environment periodic variances between gas commodity sales rates and 
costs or gas transportation costs would be reported through the income statement annually without the use of 
deferral accounts. 

Financial instruments policy 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods, financial 
assets with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses reported in 
income. All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and tested for impairment at each 
reporting date. 

Transaction costs on the acqmsttton, sale, or issue of financial instruments are expensed when incurred. 
However, financial instruments that will not be subsequently measured at fair value are adjusted by the 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to their original issuance or assumption. 

Measurement uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian ASPE requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the period. Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any adjustments necessary are reported in 
earnings in the period in which they become known. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

(continues) 

II 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3. 

Changes in accounting policies -Accounting standards for private enterprises 

With regard to the Company's transition from former Canadian GAAP to Canadian ASPE, the Company has 
made the following elections available under Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook 
Section 1500 of Canadian ASPE: 

Financial instruments 

The Company has applied Handbook Section 3856, "Financial instruments", to the opening balance sheet for 
the first year presented in the financial statements for the year of adoption of ASPE. Any difference between 
the recognition and measurement of financial instruments at that date, in accordance with Handbook Section 
3856, and the prior year's closing balance sheet is recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings at 
the date of transition to ASPE. 

Related party transactions 

Handbook Section 3840, "Related party transactions", specifies that certain related party transactions shall be 
measured at the carrying amount and some at the exchange amount. However, under Handbook Section 1500 
of Canadian ASPE, the Company is not required to restate assets or liabilities related to transactions with 
related parties when the related party transaction occurred prior to the date of transition to ASPE. The 
Company has used this election. 

INVENTORY 

2012 2011 

Materials for use in pipeline maintenance $ 104,006 $ 94,283 
Rental 2roducts 25,545 23,261 

$ 129 551 $ 117,544 

During the year, inventories in the amount of $99,354 (2011 - $147,650) were recognized as an expense. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

5. 

Land 
Buildings 
Machinery and equipment 
Automotive equipment 
Computer equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

Land 
Buildings 
Machinery and equipment 
Automotive equipment 
Computer equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Cost 

71,700 
682,331 

3,056,493 
448,597 
388,949 
79,260 

3,549,926 
15,889,298 

24,166,554 

Cost 

71,700 
682,331 

3,002,508 
514,994 
381,357 

69,176 
3,434,157 

15,340,022 

23,496,245 

2012 
Accumulated Net book 
amortization value 

$ $ 71,700 
182,728 499,603 

1,523,882 1,532,611 
366,174 82,423 
329,934 59,015 

54,900 24,360 
2,081,727 1,468,199 
6,405,887 9,483,411 

$ 10,945,232 $ 13 221322 

2011 
Accumulated Net book 
amortization value 

$ $ 71,700 
167,580 514,751 

1,469,910 1,532,598 
411,351 103,643 
312,556 68,801 
49,550 19,626 

1,952,570 1,481,587 
5,809,365 9,530,657 

$ 10,172,882 $ 13,323,363 

The company has completed construction of a 28.5 kilometre natural gas pipeline between London and 
Aylmer to service a new customer. The company entered into a Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement with the 
customer, whereby the company and the customer share in the construction cost of the pipeline under defined 
terms and conditions. 

As of September 30, 2012, a final cost reconciliation has not yet been agreed upon between the two parties. 
While the net cost to the company of the pipeline constructed cannot be determined with complete accuracy 
until a cost reconciliation is agreed upon, it is management's opinion that the amount capitalized at September 
30, 2012 is a reasonable estimate of the final cost given current information available. 

FRANCHISES AND CONSENTS 
2012 2011 

Franchises and consents $ 151,094 $ 420,704 
Accumulated amortization (122,848) (353,059) 

$ 28246 $ 67,645 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

6. OPERATING LINE OF CREDIT 

The Company has credit facilities in the amount of $3,000,000 which it obtained in conjunction with the term 
note, consisting of: 

a) Operating line of credit in the amount of $1,000,000 with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate on any 
advances, and 

b) Non-revolving line of credit in the amount of $2,000,000 to be used for financing capital expenditures 
with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate plus 0.25% on any advances. 

The continuation of the above credit facilities is subject to annual review by the Bank. These credit facilities 
are secured by the security agreement in place as disclosed in note 8. 

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Included in accounts receivable are amounts receivable from related companies of $1,347 (2011 - $1, 130). 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts payable to related companies of $84,756 
(20 II - $124,836). 

During the year, management fees of $457,020 (2011 - $457,020) were paid to a related company. 

During the year, the Company purchased gas in the amount of $897,006 (2011 - $573,743) from a related 
company. 

During the year, the Company sold a natural gas well to a related company for $25,000 (20 II - $nil) 

During the year, the Company paid drilling costs and project management fees of $nil (201 I - $411,460) for 
the drilling of an exploration gas well to related companies. 

During the year, maintenance charges of $6,000 (2011 - $6,000) were charged to a related company. 

During the year, the Company paid capital costs of $332,754 (2011 - $383,794) for the construction of various 
plastic mains to a related company. 

During the year, the Company agreed to provide credit facilities to a related party up to a maximum of 
$2,000,000 with interest charged at 3% per annum on the outstanding balance. The credit facility was utilzed 
during the year, however no balance is outstanding on the facility at September 30,2012. 

Related companies are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by trusts, where the beneficiaries of the 
trusts are common to both trusts, but the trustee or group of trustees which exercise control over any of the 
related parties are different than the group of trustees of the trust which controls Natural Resource Gas 
Limited. 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is 
the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

8. TERMNOTESPAYABLE 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, interest at bank prime plus 
0.25%, repayable in monthly payments of $12,386, due on demand. 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, interest at bank prime, 
repayable in monthly payments of $16,431 plus interest, due on 
demand. 

Principal repayment terms are approximately: 

2013 
2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
Thereafter 

2012 

$ 2,762,028 

3 647 575 

$ 6 409 603 

$ 345,804 
345,804 
345,804 
345,804 
345,804 

4,680,583 

$ 6,409.603 

2011 

$ 2,910,660 

3,844,747 

$ 6,755,407 

The company has pledged the following as security against the term notes payable, the operating line of credit, 
and the revolving line of credit (note 6): 

a) General assignment of book debts 

b) General Security Agreement over all of the present and future personal property and undertaking of the 
company 

c) Security under Section 427 of the Bank Act with appropriate insurance coverage assigned to the Bank 

d) Postponement of dividends and share redemption payments by the Class C shareholders 

e) Demand Debenture for $15,000,000 secured by a first fixed and floating charge over all assets 
including, but not limited to, the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and all Municipal 
Franchise Agreements, with replacement cost fire insurance coverage, loss if any, payable to the Bank 
as mortgagee. 

The term notes payable, the operating line of credit, and the revolving line of credit include the following 
covenants that the company must meet: 

I. maintain a debt service coverage ratio of 1.25: 1 or better; and 

2. maintain a ratio of debt to tangible net worth of 3.0 or less; and 

3. annual capital expenditures of $1.3 million or less; and 

At September 30,2012, the company was in compliance with these covenants. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30,2012 and 2011 

9. SHARE CAPITAL 

Authorized: 
Unlimited Unlimited Class A shares, non-voting, redeemable and retractable at the paid up amount, 

with non-cumulative dividends 
Unlimited Unlimited Class B shares, participating, non-voting, with non-cumulative dividends ranking 

pari passu with common shares on dissolution 
Unlimited 

Unlimited 

Unlimited 

Issued: 
50,000 

10 
134,614 

10 

Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, with preferential 7% non-cumulative dividends 
redeemable and retractable at $100 per share 
Unlimited Class Z shares voting, redeemable and retractable at $1 per share, with no 
dividend entitlement 
Unlimited number of common shares 

2012 2011 

Class A shares $ 1 $ 
Class B shares 10 

1 
10 

Class C shares 13,461,418 13,461,418 
Class Z shares 10 10 

$ 13 461439 $ 13,461,439 

10. GAS IMBALANCES 

The Company, in the normal course of its operations experiences imbalances in the quantity of gas purchased 
and the quantities of gas sold and provides the gas balancing services to customers. The company records the 
net liability (or net asset) associated with gas imbalance volumes. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $750,486 (2011 - $883,800) related to gas imbalances. 
Natural gas volumes owed from the Company are valued at the natural gas reference price as approved by the 
OEB as of the balance sheet dates. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

11. REGULATORY MATTERS 

The Company has rates that are approved by the OEB. During a prior year, the company submitted an 
application for rates for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of natural gas. As part of this 
application, the company sought a five year incentive rate mechanism as well. During the prior year, the OEB 
issued a Decision and Order on this matter, which established the rates which would be in effect retroactively 
to October l, 2010 and continuing on until October 1, 2013. 

During the year, the company filed an application for its 2012 incentive rate mechanism which would be 
effective October l, 2012. The matter is currently before the OEB. 

Rates for the sale of gas commodity are adjusted quarterly to reflect updated commodity price forecasts. The 
difference between the approved and the actual cost of gas incurred in the current period is deferred for future 
recovery subject to approval by the OEB. These differences are directly flowed through to customers and, 
therefore, no rate of return is earned on the deferred balances. The OEB's approval for recovery of these gas 
purchase costs primarily considers the prudence of costs incurred. 

One of the Company's franchise agreements with a municipality expired during the year. Subsequent to 
year-end, the OEB issued a Decision and Order which approved a new franchise agreement with the 
municipality for a period of 20 years, retroactive to the expiry date of the previous agreement. Additionally, 
certain of the other franchise agreements with various other municipalities expired subsequent to year-end. 
The OEB issued interim orders which extended the franchise terms under the old agreement until such time as 
a new franchise agreement was entered into. Management expects that the new franchise agreements will be 
substantially similar to the Model Franchise Agreement from the OEB. 

Finally, the Company has a matter before the OEB relating to the allowable natural gas price it can recover 
from natural gas purchased from a related party. The OEB is currently 'seeking additional information prior to 
making a ruling on this matter. In the opinion of Management, the Company will be successful in recovering 
the full natural gas price through future natural gas rates. Therefore, the difference between the actual price 
charged by the related party and the amount currently being allowed by the OEB is included in accounts 
receivable. 

Included in accounts receivable is $589,555 (2011- $285,969) resulting from the regulated ratemaking process 
that may not be recorded under ASPE in the absence of rate regulation. The Company estimates that $242,912 
of this amount will be recovered I settled in the upcoming year, with the remaining amount to be recovered I 
settled over the next two to five years. 

In the absence of rate-regulation, some of the above balances would be recognized in the income statement of 
the organization. As a result, net income from operations would be decreased by $247,528 (2011- $129,340). 

In the absence of rate-regulation, the Company's current future income tax liability would be lower by 
$395,000 (20 11- $278,000) as a result of the elimination of the regulatory amounts included in accounts 
receivable. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis provides 
information about the Company's risk exposure and concentration. There have been no significant changes to 
the nature or concentration of these risks from the prior year, unless otherwise stated. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation. The Company is exposed to credit risk from customers. In order to reduce 
its credit risk, the Company reviews a new customer's credit history before extending credit and conducts 
regular reviews of its existing customers' credit performance. The Company has the ability to take security 
deposits if there are payment issues, and charge interest and penalties on any late payments. The Company has 
a significant number of customers which minimizes concentration of credit risk. 

An allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific 
accounts, historical trends and other information. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $109,784 at 
September 30, 2012 (2011- $103,700). 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting its cash needs on a regular basis and seeking 
additional information based on those forecasts. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other 
price risk. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk to the company's earnings that arise from fluctuations of foreign exchange rates. The 
company is not exposed to currency risk. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through 
its term notes payable and lines of credit as they bear interest at a fluctuating bank prime rate related interest 
rate. Additionally, the Company earns interest or is charged interest on its regulatory amounts receivable or 
amounts payable at the interest rate prescribed by the OEB, which is subject to adjustment on a quarterly basis. 

Included in other revenue is interest income of $69,368 (2011 - $40,550) earned on regulatory balances and 
charged on late payments. 

(continues) 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Years Ended September 30,2012 and 2011 

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Other price risk 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). whether 
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors 
affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Company is exposed to other price risk 
through its natural gas prices. 

The Company has entered into several material contracts for the supply of natural gas. The Company employs 
established policies and procedures in order to manage the risk associated with the market fluctuations of 
natural gas prices. The Company, through the rate regulations imposed by the OEB, is effectively allowed to 
fully recover its costs, reasonably incurred, and as such the ratepayers, and not the Company, are ultimately 
exposed to the risk of these market fluctuations. 

13. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS FOR PRIVATE ENTERPRISES 

Effective October I, 2011, the Company adopted the requirements of the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (CICA) Handbook - Accounting, electing to adopt the new accounting framework: ASPE. These 
are the Company's first financial statements prepared in accordance with ASPE which has been applied 
retrospectively. The accounting policies set out in the significant accounting policies note have been applied 
in preparing the financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2012, the comparative information for 
the year ended September 30, 2011 and in the preparation of the opening ASPE balance sheet at October I, 
2010 (the Company's date of transition). 

The Company issued financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2011 using generally accepted 
accounting principles prescribed by CICA Handbook - Accounting. The adoption of ASPE has no impact on 
previously reported assets, liabilities and equity of the Company, and accordingly, no adjustments have been 
recorded in the comparative balance sheet, income statement, statement of retained earnings and the cash flow 
statement. Certain of the Company's disclosures included in these financial statements reflect the new 
disclosure requirements of ASPE. 

14. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

Some of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Schedule of Operating Expenses 

Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

Salaries and benefits 
Amortization of property, plant and equipment 
Property taxes 
Management fees (Note 7) 
Insurance 
Ontario Energy Board hearings and regulatory charges 
Interest on term notes payable 
Office 
Repairs and maintenance 
Professional fees 
Advertising 
Vehicle 
Interest expense 
Amortization of franchises and consents 
Utilities 
Bad debts 
Gas commodity costs not 3QQroved by OEB 

Equipment expenses capitalized to pipeline installations 
Amortization caQitalized to QiQeline installations 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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$ 

$ 

(Schedule 1) 

2012 2011 

1,365,221 $ I ,010,296 
850,993 838,730 
506,474 415,184 
457,020 457,020 
285,902 277,066 
246,479 278,576 
203,096 392,161 
202,929 182,957 
148,730 128,476 
75,292 78,814 
69,136 47,234 
68,809 53,463 
54,631 77,938 
39,399 97,130 

9,832 11,199 
200 32,400 

97,000 

4,584,143 4,475,644 
(22,006) (14,426) 
(11,036) (8,150) 

4 551101 $ 4,453,068 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 

EB-2014-::----:--.,.-­
Exhibit A 

Tab3 
Schedule 3 



+ P: 519·432-5534 
F: 519M432~6544 

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

300-633 COLBORNE ST. 

LONDON, ONTARIO N6B 2V3 

Adding value. finding balance. www.nptca.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Directors of Natural Resource Gas Limited 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Natural Resource Gas Limited, which comprise the 
balance sheet as at September 30, 2011 and the statements of income, deficit and cash flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Managemem's Responsibility for the Filzancial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

(continues) 

NPT LLP 

~"MOO 
~ ... ~·~•i«• .... ,_ .. , ..... _,.. . ...,, .... 



Basis .for Qualified Opinion 

The company has issued and outstanding Class C shares with a redemption value of $13,461,418. Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles require that the company present and classify shares that are retractable at 
the option of the shareholder as a liability on the balance sheet. The company has presented these shares as part of 
Shareholders' equity. If the shares were classified as liabilities, then the total liabilities would increase by 
$13,461,418 and share capital would decrease by $13,461,418. 

Qualified Opinion 

In our opinion, except that the Class C shares of the company have been presented as part of Shareholders' equity 
rather than as a liability, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the company as at September 30, 2011 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

London, Canada 
January 10,2012 

NPTLLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Licensed Public Accountants 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheet 

As at September 30 

2011 2010 

Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash $ 368,100 $ 483,631 
Temporary investments 2,579,300 
Accounts receivable (note 5) 1,308,625 1,062,006 
Inventory 117,544 105,260 
Prepaid expenses 92,877 106,658 
Income taxes recoverable 29,509 
Due from related company (note 5) 350,000 

1,887,146 4,716,364 

Property, plant, and equipment (note 1) 13,323,363 13,518,088 

Other assets: 
Franchises and consents (note 2) 67,645 163,326 
Deferred finance costs (note 3) 2,320 10,579 
Deferred charges 19,015 

69,965 192,920 

$ 15,280,474 $ 18,427,372 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheet 

As at September 30 

2011 2010 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (notes 5 and 10) $ 2,155,609 $ 2,001,470 
Income taxes payable 91,060 
Deferred revenue 140,999 191,310 
Future income taxes payable 278,000 303,000 
Customer deposits 148,898 168,627 
Term notes payable (note 6) 6,755,407 10,231,214 

9,569,973 12,895,621 

Future income taxes payable 221,000 286,000 

9,790,973 13,181,621 

Shareholders' equity: 
Share capital (note 8) 13,461,439 13,461,439 
Deficit (7,971,938) (8,215,688) 

5,489,501 5,245,751 

$ 15,280,474 $ 18,427,372 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Deficit 

Year ended September 30 

Balance, beginning of year 

Net income for the year 

Balance, end of year 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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$ 

$ 

2011 

(8,215,688) $ 

243,750 

(7,971,938) $ 

2010 

(8,764,981) 

549,293 

(8,2!5,688) 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Income 

Year ended September 30 

2011 2010 

Gas commodity revenue $ 5,206,339 $ 5,755,731 
Gas commodity cost 5,181,544 5,719,610 

Gross margin on commodity 24,795 36,121 

Distribution revenue 5,690,354 5,335,825 
Distribution costs 893,942 1,057,081 

Gross margin on distribution 4,796,412 4,278,744 

Other sales 1,000,014 1,105,755 
Other costs 400,678 535,536 

Gross margin on other sales 599,336 570,219 

Other revenue 149,056 143,128 

Total gross margin 5,569,599 5,028,212 

Expenses (note 5) 4,453,069 4,270,764 

Income from operations 1,116,530 757,448 

Natural gas exploration expenses (note 5) (837,780) (18,!55) 

Income before provision for income taxes 278,750 739,293 

Provision for income taxes: 
Current 125,000 36,000 
Future (90,000) 154,000 

35,000 190,000 

Net income for the year $ 243,750 $ 549,293 

Included in expenses are the following: 
Amortization of deferred financing costs $ 8,259 $ 10,719 
Amortization of deferred charges $ 19,015 $ 42,650 
Amortization of franchises and consents $ 97,130 $ 96,647 
Amortization of property, plant and equipment $ 1,014,754 $ 1,026,624 
Interest on term notes payable $ 392,161 $ 565,888 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended September 30 

2011 2010 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income for the year $ 243,750 $ 549,293 

Items not affecting working capital: 
Amortization 1,139,158 1,176,640 
Decline in value of natural gas well 18,155 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (8,280) 
Future income taxes (90,000) 154,000 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Accounts receivable (246,618) (276,241) 
Inventory (12,284) 38,197 
Prepaid expenses 13,781 (18,998) 
Income taxes recoverable (note 12) 29,509 (29,509) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 154,139 229,288 
Income taxes payable (note 12) 91,060 (31 ,532) 
Deferred revenue (50,311) 191,310 
Customer deposits (19,729) (241,224) 

1,252,455 1,751,099 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Additions to property, plant, and equipment (820,029) (519,531) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8,800 
Additions to franchises and consents (1,449) (6,197) 
Repayment from (advances to) related company 350,000 (350,000) 

(471,478) (866,928) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Repayments of term notes payable (3,475,808) (638,963) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year (2,694,831) 245,208 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 3,062,931 2,817,723 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 368,100 $ 3,062,931 

Represented by: 
Cash $ 368,100 $ 483,631 
Temporary investments 2,579,300 

$ 368,100 $ 3,062,931 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

September 30, 20 II 

Summary of significant accounting policies: 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles, the more significant of which are summarized below. 

Regulation: 

The utility operations of the company is a rate regulated, natural gas distribution utility and 
operates within a limited area of Southwestern Ontario under franchise agreements that are 
approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB). 

The utility operations are subject to regulations under The Ontario Energy Board Act and The 
Energy Act (Ontario). Revenue rate schedules are approved periodically by the OEB and are 
designed to permit a fair and reasonable return to the Company on the utility investment. 
Realization of the allowed rate of return is subject to actual operating conditions experienced 
during the year. 

The Company follows Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Such accounting 
principles may differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated 
entities. These differences occur when the regulatory agencies render their decisions on the 
Company's rate applications and generally involve the timing of revenue and expense 
recognition to ensure that the Company has achieved a proper matching of revenues and 
expenses, and as a result the Company records assets and liabilities that would not have been 
recorded under GAAP for non-regulated entities. 

In addition to defining certain accounting requirements, the regulatory agencies have 
jurisdiction over a number of other matters, which include the rates to be charged for the 
distribution of gas and approval and recovery of costs for major construction and operations. 

Temporary investments: 

Temporary investments consist of a bank issued Guaranteed Investment Certificate, and is 
valued at cost which equals fair market value. 

Inventory: 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost being determined on a 
first-in, first-out basis. Net realizable value is defined as replacement cost. 

Deferred charges: 

Certain costs, required or permitted by the OEB, have been deferred for recovery from future 
revenues. The period of recovery for these deferrals has been or will be determined by 
decisions of the OEB, and will determine the classification of these charges in the financial 
statements. 

Franchises and consents: 

Costs associated with acquiring municipal franchises and other consents are capitalized when 
incurred, if the franchise application is successful. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements -continued 

September 30, 2011 

Property, plant, and equipment: 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, including associated labour and overhead 
costs. Expenditures which substantially increase the useful life of existing pipeline installations 
and additions to the pipeline are capitalized. Such expenditures include material, labour and 
overhead. Maintenance and repairs which do not extend the useful life of pipeline installations 
are charged to income. 

Pursuant to the regulations of the OEB on the disposal of property, plant, and equipment, 
excluding major disposals, the company transfers the original cost of the retired assets, plus any 
related removal costs and net of any proceeds on disposition, to accumulated amortization. 
Proceeds from disposition are credited to accumulated amortization. This effectively credits 
gains, or charges losses on disposition to accumulated amortization. For major disposals, gains 
or losses are included in current earnings. 

For natural gas wells, the successful efforts method is used to account for oil and gas 
exploration and development costs. Under this method, acquisition costs of oil and gas 
properties and costs of drilling and equipping development wells are capitalized. Costs of 
drilling exploratory wells are initially capitalized and, if subsequently detennined to be 
unsuccessful, are charged to exploration and development expense. All other exploration costs, 
including geographical and geophysical costs and annual lease rentals, are charged to 
exploration and development expense when incuiTed. Producing properties and significant 
unproven properties are assessed annually, or more frequently as economic events dictate, for 
potential impairment. Any impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of the asset is 
not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. 

The company has reviewed its long-lived assets and determined there exists no asset retirement 
obligation as of September 30, 20 II. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2011 

Amortization: 

Pursuant to the periodic review and approval by the OEB of amortization rates, amortization is 
calculated on the total gross cost of each asset category at the end of the year, rather than on an 
asset specific basis. All categories are amortized using the straight-line method, except for 
computer equipment and computer software which are amortized using the declining-balance 
method, at the following annual rates for the property, plant and equipment categories listed 
below: 

Automotive equipment 17 % 
Buildings 2 % 
Computer equipment 33 % 
Computer software 20 % 
Furniture and fixtures 7 % 
Machinery and equipment 6 %to 9% 
Meters and regulators 3 %to 4% 
Pipeline installations 3 %to 13% 

Amortization of deferred finance costs (related to the issue of debt) is calculated at the annual 
rate of 20% using the straight-line method over the life of the related debt issuance. 

Amortization of franchises and consents is calculated using the straight-line method over the 
term of the applicable franchise and consent. 

Pursuant to the approval of the OEB, the company changes its amortization rates for the various 
categories of property, plant and equipment as well as for franchises and consents based upon 
OEB Rate Case filings. The last change was made at the start of the fiscal 2005 year, and the 
rates were reaffirmed as part of the 2011 Cost of Service Rate filing. Any such changes in 
estimate are applied on a prospective basis. 

Income taxes: 

The liability method of tax allocation is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, 
future tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial 
reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and measured using the substantially enacted tax 
rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. 

Revenue recognition: 

The Company recognizes revenues when gas has been delivered or services have been 
performed. Gas distribution revenues are recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and 
estimates of customer usage since the last meter reading to the end of the reporting period. 

A significant portion of the Company's operations are subject to regulation and accordingly 
there are circumstances where the revenues recognized do not match the amounts billed. 
Revenue is recognized in a manner consistent with the underlying rate setting mechanism as 
mandated by the OEB. This may give rise to regulatory deferral accounts on the balance sheet 
pending disposition by a decision of the OEB. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements- continued 

September 30, 2011 

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs: 

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs are recorded using prices approved by the 
OEB in the determination of customers sales rates. Differences between the OEB approved 
reference prices and those costs actually incurred are deferred in accounts receivable or accounts 
payable for consideration in future rate adjustments or disposition subject to the approval of the 
OEB, usually within a maximum timeframe of the next fiscal year. In a non-regulated 
environment periodic variances between gas commodity sales rates and costs or gas 
transportation costs would be reported through the income statement annually without the use of 
deferral accounts. 

Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reporled amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the 
reported period. These estimates are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become 
necessary, they arc reported in earnings in the period in which they become known. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2011 

1. 

2. 

Property, plant, and equipment: 

2011 2010 

Accumulated Net Book Net Book 
Cost Amortization Value Value 

Land $ 71,700 $ $ 71,700 $ 71,700 
Buildings 682,331 167,580 514,751 529,898 
Furniture and fixtures 69,176 49,550 19,626 24,296 
Machinery and 

equipment 3,002,508 1,469,910 1,532,598 I ,557,265 
Computer equipment 167,588 155,675 11,913 17,015 
Computer software 213,769 156,881 56,888 54,051 
Automotive equipment 514,994 411,351 103,643 123,561 
Meters and regulators 3,434,157 1,952,570 1,481,587 1,566,507 
Pipeline installations 15,340,022 5,809,365 9,530,657 9,573,795 

$ 23,496,245 $ 10,172,882 $ 13,323,363 $ 13,5 I 8,088 

The company has completed construction of a 28.5 kilometre natural gas pipeline between London 
and Aylmer to service a new customer. The company entered into a Pipeline Cost Recovery 
Agreement with the customer, whereby the company and the customer share in the construction cost 
of the pipeline under defined terms and conditions. 

As of September 30, 2011, a final cost reconciliation has not yet been agreed upon between the two 
parties. While the net cost to the company of the pipeline constructed cannot be determined with 
complete accuracy until a cost reconciliation is agreed upon, it is management's opinion that the 
amount capitalized at September 30, 2011 is a reasonable estimate of the final cost given current 
information available. 

Franchises and consents: 

2011 2010 

Franchises and consents $ 420,704 $ 419,254 
Less: accumulated amortization 353,059 255,928 

$ 67,645 $ 163,326 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2011 

3. Deferred finance costs: 

4, 

2011 2010 

Deferred finance costs $ 5,800 $ 53,593 
Less: accumulated amortization 3,480 43,014 

$ 2,320 $ 10,579 

Operating line of credit: 

The company has credit facilities in the amount of $3,000,000 which it obtained in conjunction with 
the term note, consisting of: 

a) Operating line of credit in the amount of $1,000,000 with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate 
on any advances, and 

b) Non-revolving line of credit in the amount of $2,000,000 to be used for fmancing capital 
expenditures with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate plus 0.25% on any advances. 

The continuation of the above credit facilities is subject to annual review by the Bank. These credit 
facilities are secured by the security agreement in place as disclosed in note 6. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements -continued 

September 30, 2011 

5. Related party transactions: 

Due from related company consists of the following: 

Demand promissory note receivable, bearing interest 
at 3.5% payable monthly 

2011 2010 

$ - $ 350,000 

Included in accounts receivable are amounts receivable from related companies of $1,130 as at 
September 30,2011 (2010- $1,183). 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts payable to related companies of 
$124,836 as at September 30,2011 (2010- $29,101). 

During the year, management fees of $457,020 (2010- $457,020) were paid to a related company. 

During the year, the company purchased gas in the amount of $573,743 (2010- $706,114) from a 
related company. 

During the year, the company paid drilling costs and project management fees of $411,460 (2010-
$nil) for the drilling of an exploration gas well to related companies. 

During the year, maintenance charges of $6,000 (2010 - $12,000) were charged to a related 
company. 

Related companies are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by trusts, where the 
beneficiaries of the trusts are common to both trusts, but the trustee or group of trustees which 
exercise control over any of the related parties are different than the group of trustees of the trust 
which controls Natural Resource Gas Limited. 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, 
which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2011 

6. Term notes payable: 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, interest at 
bank prime plus 0.25%, repayable in monthly 
payments of $12,386, due April2012 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, 7.52% 
interest, repayable in blended monthly 
installments of $48,201, refinanced during the 
year 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, interest at 
bank prime, repayable in monthly payments of 
$16,431 plus interest, due March 2012 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, interest at 
bank prime, repayable in monthly payments of 
$43,333 plus interest, refinanced during the year 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2011 2010 

2,910,660 $ 

- $ 6,027,881 

3,844,747 

4,203,333 

6,755,407 $ 10,231,214 

The company has pledged the following as security against the term notes payable, the operating 
line of credit, and the revolving line of credit (note 4): 

a) General assignment of book debts 
b) General Security Agreement over all of the present and future personal property and 

undertaking of the company 
c) Security under Section 427 of the Bank Act with appropriate insurance coverage assigned 

to the Bank 
d) Postponement of dividends and share redemption payments by the Class C shareholders 
e) Demand Debenture for $15,000,000 secured by a first fixed and floating charge over all 

assets including, but not limited to, the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity 
and all Municipal Franchise Agreements, with replacement cost fire insurance coverage, 
loss if any, payable to the Bank as mortgagee. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements -continued 

September 30, 2011 

7. Capital management: 

The Company defines capital as debt and shareholders' equity. As at September 30, 2011, the 
company had debt consisting of: term notes payable. 

The company's objectives in managing capital are to: 
a) Ensure financial capacity to meet current obligations is maintained and continue as a going 

concern; 
b) Ensure financial capacity to maintain and expand the distribution pipeline infrastructure of 

the utility as determined necessary by the company; and 
c) Ensure financial capacity to execute strategic plan is maintained. 

In order to manage capital, the company regularly identifies and assesses risks that threaten the 
ability to meet the company's capital management objectives, and determines the appropriate 
strategy to mitigate these risks. 

The Company is subject to externally imposed capital requirements related to the term note payable 
(note 6). Specifically, the company must meet the following conditions: 
a) maintain a ratio of EBITDA (Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization) to interest expense plus scheduled principal repayments on term notes 
payable within the year of 1.25: I or better; 

b) maintain a ratio of current assets to current liabilities (excluding term note payable) of 1:'1 
or better; 

c) maintain a ratio of total debt to tangible net worth of less than 3: 1; and 
d) ensure annual capital expenditures are less than $1,300,000. 

At September 30, 2011, the company was in compliance with the above conditions a), c) and d) and 
had obtained a written waiver from the bank for fisca12011 for condition b). 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2011 

8. Share capital: 

Authorized: 
Unlimited Class A shares, non-voting, redeemable 

and retractable at the paid up amount, with non­
cumulative dividends 

Unlimited Class B shares, participating, non-voting, 
with non-cumulative dividends ranking pari passu 
with common shares on dissolution 

Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, with 
preferential 7% non-cumulative dividends 
redeemable and retractable at $100 per share 

Unlimited Class Z shares voting, redeemable and 
retractable at $1 per share, with no dividend 
entitlement 

Unlimited number of common shares 

Issued and outstanding: 

Retractable shares: 
50,000 Class A shares 
I 0 Class B shares 
134,614.18 Class C shares 
10 Class Z shares 

9. Gas imbalances: 

2011 2010 

$ 1 $ 1 
10 10 

13,461,418 13,461,418 
10 10 

$ 13,461,439 $ 13,461,439 

The Company, in the normal course of its operations experiences imbalances in the quantity of gas 
purchased and the quantities of gas sold and provides the gas balancing services to customers. The 
company records the net liability (or net asset) associated with gas imbalance volumes. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $883,800 (2010 - $909,253) related to gas 
imbalances. Natural gas volumes owed from the Company are valued at the natural gas reference 
price as approved by the OEB as of the balance sheet dates. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2011 

10. Regulatory matters: 

The Company has rates that are approved by the OEB. The ftscal year 2007 was a one year Cost of 
Service Rate filing. The company received the OEB decision dated September 28, 2006 and the 
rate order was effective September 28, 2006. The company did not make a submission for the fiscal 
years 2008 through 20 I 0 which left rates unchanged since 2007. 

During the prior year, the company submitted an application for rates for the sale, distribution, 
transmission and storage of natural gas. As part of this application, the company is seeking a five 
year incentive rate mechanism as well. During the year, the OEB issued a Decision and Order on 
this matter, which established the rates which would be in effect as of October I, 2010 and 
implemented on March I, 20 II. 

Rates for the sale of gas commodity are adjusted quarterly to reflect updated commodity price 
forecasts. The difference between the approved and the actual cost of gas incurred in the current 
period is deferred for future recovery subject to approval by the OEB. These differences are 
directly flowed through to customers and, therefore, no rate of return is earned on the deferred 
balances. The OEB's approval for recovery of these gas purchase costs primarily considers the 
prudence of costs incurred. 

11. Financial instruments and risk: 

The carrying values of the company's financial current assets and liabilities, including cash, 
accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their values due to 
their short-term maturity. 

The fair value of the term notes payable approximates carrying value at September 30, 2011, as the 
interest rates charged are market-based variable rates. 

Natural gas prices: 

The Company has entered into several material contracts for the supply of natural gas. The 
Company employs established policies and procedures in order to manage the risk associated with 
the market fluctuations of natural gas prices. The Company, through the rate regulations imposed 
by the OEB, is effectively allowed to fully recover its costs, reasonably incurred, and as such the 
ratepayers, and not the Company, are ultimately exposed to the risk of these market fluctuations. 

Interest rate risk: 

The term notes payable and the lines of credit (when utilized) bear interest at a fluctuating bank 
prime related interest rate and, as such, the company is exposed to interest rate risk. 

Credit risk: 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a trade customer will fail to pay its account. The company 
is exposed to credit risk from its customers. However, the company has a large number of diverse 
customers, which minimizes concentration of credit risk. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements -continued 

September 30, 2011 

12. Additional cash flow statement infonnation: 

Interest paid 
Income taxes paid 
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$ 
$ 

2011 

392,161 $ 
25,586 $ 

2010 

565,888 
82,564 



ADDITIONAL COMMENTS OF AUDITORS 

The accompanying schedule of expenses is presented as supplementary information only. In this respect, it does not 
form part of the financial statements of Natural Resource Gas Limited for the year ended September 30, 2011 and 
hence is excluded from the opinion expressed in our auditors' report dated January l 0, 2012 to the Directors on such 
financial statements. The information in this schedule has been subject to audit procedures only to the extent 
necessary to express an opinion on the financial statements of the company and, in our opinion, are fairly presented 
in all respects material to those financial statements. 

London, Canada 
January 10, 2012 

NPTLLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Licensed Public Accountants 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Unaudited Schedule of Expenses 

Year ended September 30 

Advertising 
Automotive and maintenance 
Bad debts 
Bank charges and other interest 
Capital tax 
Consulting fees 
Donations and community sponsorships 
Dues and fees 
Employee benefits 
Gas commodity costs not approved by OEB 
Insurance 
Legal and audit 
Management fees - related company 
Miscellaneous 
Office 
Ontario Energy Board hearings and regulatory charges 
Promotional rebates 
Property taxes 
Salaries and wages 
Telephone 
Travel and promotion 
Utilities 
Amortization - Automotive equipment 

Buildings 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Deferred finance costs and charges 
Franchises and consents 
Furniture and Fixtures 
Machinery and equipment 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

Equipment expenses capitalized to pipeline installations 
Interest expense 
Amortization capitalized to pipeline installations 
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$ 

$ 

2011 2010 

10,360 $ 1,587 
181,939 148,371 

32,400 
430,606 612,648 

21,180 
37,675 68,220 
14,912 16,888 
29,416 25,700 

122,813 120,712 
97,000 

277,066 226,872 
41,139 80,718 

457,020 457,020 
8,009 11,939 

113,974 121,179 
278,576 26,900 

18,634 15,955 
415,184 404,345 
887,482 864,821 

39,565 48,736 
3,328 1,952 

11,199 13,543 
85,489 74,604 
15,148 15,148 

6,054 8,501 
14,172 13,515 
27,275 53,369 
97,130 96,647 

4,669 4,669 
9,709 53,878 

124,945 123,488 
578,546 560,884 

4,471,434 4,293,989 

(14,426) (16,953) 
4,211 1,527 

(8,150) (7,799) 

4,453,069 $ 4,270,764 
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AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Directors of Natural Resource Gas Limited 

We have audited the balance sheet of Natural Resource Gas Limited as at September 30, 2010 and the statements of 
income, deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

The company has issued and outstanding Class C shares with a redemption value of $13,461,418. Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles require that the company present and classify shares that are retractable at 
the option of the shareholder as a liability on the balance sheet. The company has presented these shares as part of 
Shareholders' equity. If the shares were classified as liabilities, then the total liabilities would increase by 
$13,461,418 and share capital would decrease by $13,461,418. 

In our opinion, except that the Class C shares of the company have been presented as part of Shareholders' equity 
rather than as a liability, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the company as at September 30, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

London, Canada 
December 3, 2010 

NPTLLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Licensed Public Accountants 

t'lPT L.LP 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheet 

As at September 30 

2010 2009 

Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash $ 483,631 $ 66,593 
Temporary investments (note 2) 2,579,300 2,751,130 
Accounts receivable (note 7) 1,062,006 785,770 
Inventory 105,260 143,457 
Prepaid expenses 106,658 87,660 
Income taxes recoverable 29,509 
Due from related company (note 7) 350,000 

4,716,364 3,834,610 

Property, plant, and equipment (note 3) 13,518,088 14,043,851 

Other assets: 
Franchises and consents (note 4) 163,326 253,775 
Deferred finance costs (note 5) 10,579 18,978 
Deferred charges (note 6) 19,015 63,986 

192,920 336,739 

$ 18,427,372 $ 18,215,200 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheet 

As at September 30 

2010 2009 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 7 and 12) $ 2,001,470 $ 1,772,182 
Income taxes payable 31,532 
Deferred revenue 191,310 
Future income taxes payable 303,000 84,000 
Customer deposits 168,627 409,851 
Term notes payable (note 9) 10,231,214 10,870,177 

12,895,621 13,167,742 

Future income taxes payable 286,000 351,000 

13,181,621 13,518,742 

Shareholders' equity: 
Share capital (note II) 13,461,439 13,461,439 
Deficit (8,215,688) (8,764,981) 

5,245,751 4,696,458 

$ 18,427,372 $ 18,215,200 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Deficit 

Year ended September 30 

Balance, beginning of year , as previously reported 

Prior period adjustment (note I) 

Balance, beginning of year, as restated 

Net income for the year 

Balance, end of year 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

- 4-

$ 

$ 

$ 

2010 2009 

(8,764,981) $ (8,810,028) 

332,000 

(8,764,981) $ (9,142,028) 

549,293 377,047 

(8,215,688) $ (8,764,981) 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Income 

Year ended September 30 

2010 2009 

Gas commodity revenue $ 5,755,731 $ 7,226,938 
Gas commodity cost 5,719,610 7,193,028 

Gross margin on commodity 36,121 33,910 

Distribution revenue 5,335,825 5,357,493 
Distribution costs 1,057,081 970,246 

Gross margin on distribution 4,278,744 4,387,247 

Other sales 1,105,755 955,610 
Other costs 535,536 486,167 

Gross margin on other sales 570,219 469,443 

Other revenue 143,128 132,556 

Total gross margin 5,028,212 5,023,156 

Expenses 4,270,764 4,315,497 

Income from operations 757,448 707,659 

Decline in value of natural gas well (18,155) (177,612) 

Income before provision for income taxes 739,293 530,047 

Provision for income taxes: 
Current 36,000 50,000 
Future 154,000 103,000 

190,000 153,000 

Net income for the year $ 549,293 $ 377,047 

Included in expenses are the following: 
Amortization of deferred financing costs $ 10,719 $ 10,718 
Amortization of deferred charges $ 42,650 $ 42,650 
Amortization of franchises and consents $ 96,647 $ 65,474 
Amortization of property, plant and equipment $ 1,026,624 $ 913,222 
Interest on term notes payable $ 565,888 $ 603,854 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended September 30 

2010 2009 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income for the year $ 549,293 $ 377,047 

Items not affecting working capital: 
Amortization 1,176,640 1,032,064 
Decline in value of natural gas well 18,155 177,612 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (8,280) 
Future income taxes 154,000 103,000 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Accounts receivable (276,241) 826,977 
Inventory 38,197 (53,601) 
Prepaid expenses (18,998) (32,701) 
Income taxes recoverable (note 15) (29,509) 60,377 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 229,288 (I ,241,351) 
Income taxes payable (note 15) (31,532) 31,532 
Deferred revenue 191,310 (120,193) 
Customer deposits (241,224) (347,214) 

1,751,099 813,549 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Additions to property, plant, and equipment (519,531) (I ,054,078) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8,800 
Additions to franchises and consents (6,197) (221,990) 
Additions to deferred charges (5,800) 
Advances to related company (net) (350,000) (302,758) 

(866,928) (1,584,626) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Proceeds on issuance of term note payable 5,200,000 
Advances from (repayments of) line of credit (806,763) 
Repayments of term notes payable (638,963) (587,015) 

(638,963) 3,806,222 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 245,208 3,035,145 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,817,723 (217,422) 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 3,062,931 $ 2,817,723 

Represented by: 
Cash $ 483,631 $ 66,593 
Temporary investments 2,579,300 2,751,130 

$ 3,062,931 $ 2,817,723 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

September 30, 20 I 0 

Summary of significant accounting policies: 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles, the more significant of which are summarized below. 

Regulation: 

The utility operations of the company is a rate regulated, natural gas distribution utility and 
operates within a limited area of Southwestern Ontario under franchise agreements that are 
approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB). 

The utility operations are subject to regulations under The Ontario Energy Board Act and The 
Energy Act (Ontario). Revenue rate schedules are approved periodically by the OEB and are 
designed to permit a fair and reasonable return to the Company on the utility investment. 
Realization of the allowed rate of return is subject to actual operating conditions experienced 
during the year. 

The Company follows Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Such accounting 
principles may differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated 
entities. These differences occur when the regulatory agencies render their decisions on the 
Company's rate applications and general1y involve the timing of revenue and expense 
recognition to ensure that the Company has achieved a proper matching of revenues and 
expenses, and as a result the Company records assets and 1iabilities that would not have been 
recorded under GAAP for non-regulated entities. 

In addition to defining certain accounting requirements, the regulatory agencies have 
jurisdiction over a number of other matters, which include the rates to be charged for the 
distribution of gas and approval and recovery of costs for major construction and operations. 

Temporary investments: 

Temporary investments consist of a bank issued Guaranteed Investment Certificate, and is 
valued at cost which equals fair market value. 

Inventory: 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost being determined on a 
first-in, first-out basis. Net realizable value is defined as replacement cost. 

Deferred charges: 

Certain costs, required or permitted by the OEB, have been deferred for recovery from future 
revenues. The period of recovery for these deferrals has been or will be determined by 
decisions of the OEB, and will determine the classification of these charges in the financial 
statements. 

Franchises and consents: 

Costs associated with acquiring municipal franchises and other consents are capitalized when 
incurred, if the franchise application is successful. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 20 I 0 

Property, plant, and equipment: 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, including associated labour and overhead 
costs. Expenditures which substantially increase the useful life of existing pipeline installations 
and additions to the pipeline are capitalized. Such expenditures include material, labour and 
overhead. Maintenance and repairs which do not extend the useful life of pipeline installations 
are charged to income. 

Pursuant to the regulations of the OEB on the disposal of property, plant, and equipment, 
excluding major disposals, the company transfers the original cost of the retired assets, plus any 
related removal costs and net of any proceeds on disposition, to accumulated amortization. 
Proceeds from disposition are credited to accumulated amortization. This effectively credits 
gains, or charges losses on disposition to accumulated amortization. For major disposals, gains 
or losses are included in current earnings. 

For natural gas wells, the successful efforts method is used to account for oil and gas 
exploration and development costs. Under this method, acquisition costs of oil and gas 
properties and costs of drilling and equipping development wells are capitalized. Costs of 
drilling exploratory wells are initially capitalized and, if subsequently determined to be 
unsuccessful, are charged to exploration and development expense. All other exploration costs, 
including geographical and geophysical costs and annual lease rentals, are charged to 
exploration and development expense when incurred. Producing properties and significant 
unproven properties are assessed annually, or more frequently as economic events dictate, for 
potential impairment. Any impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of the asset is 
not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. 

The company has reviewed its long-lived assets and determined there exists no asset retirement 
obligation as of September 30, 2010. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2010 

Amortization: 

Pursuant to the periodic review and approval by the OEB of amortization rates, amortization is 
calculated on the total gross cost of each asset category at the end of the year, rather than on an 
asset specific basis. All categories are amortized using the straight-line method, except for 
computer equipment and computer software which are amortized using the declining-balance 
method, at the following annual rates for the property, plant and equipment categories listed 
below: 

Automotive equipment 17 % 
Buildings 2 % 
Computer equipment 33 % 
Computer software 20 % 
Furniture and fixtures 7 % 
Machinery and equipment 6 %to 9% 
Meters and regulators 3 %to 4% 
Pipeline installations 3 %to 13% 

Amortization of deferred finance costs (related to the issue of debt) is calculated at the annual 
rate of 20% using the straight-line method over the life of the related debt issuance. 

Amortization of franchises and consents is calculated using the straight-line method over the 
term of the applicable franchise and consent. 

Pursuant to the approval of the OEB, the company changes its amortization rates for the various 
categories of property, plant and equipment as well as for franchises and consents based upon 
OEB Rate Case filings. The last change was made at the start of the fiscal 2005 year, and the 
rates were reaffirmed as part of the 2007 Cost of Service Rate filing. Any such changes in 
estimate are applied on a prospective basis. 

Income taxes: 

The liability method of tax allocation is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, 
future tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial 
reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and measured using the substantially enacted tax 
rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. 

Revenue recognition: 

The Company recognizes revenues when gas has been delivered or services have been 
performed. Gas distribution revenues are recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and 
estimates of customer usage since the last meter reading to the end of the reporting period. 

A significant portion of the Company's operations are subject to regulation and accordingly 
there are circumstances where the revenues recognized do not match the amounts billed. 
Revenue is recognized in a manner consistent with the underlying rate setting mechanism as 
mandated by the OEB. This may give rise to regulatory deferral accounts on the balance sheet 
pending disposition by a decision of the OEB. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2010 

Gas commodity costs: 

Gas commodity costs are recorded using prices approved by the OEB in the detennination of 
customers sales rates. Differences between the OEB approved reference prices and those costs 
actually incurred are deferred in accounts receivable or accounts payable for future disposition 
subject to the approval of the OEB, usually within a maximum timeframe of the next fiscal year. 
In a non-regulated environment periodic variances between gas commodity sales rates and costs 
would be reported through the income statement annually without the use of deferral accounts. 

Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the 
reported period. These estimates are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become 
necessary, they are reported in earnings in the period in which they become known. 

1. Accounting policy change: 

Effective October I, 2009, the company adopted changes to Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (CICA) Handbook Section 3465, "Income Taxes", applicable to rate-regulated 
enterprises. The section has been amended to include the requirement for rate-regulated enterprises 
to recognize future income tax assets or liabilities in accordance with the asset and liability method, 
rather than the taxes payable method as the company is currently using, and is effective for year end 
beginning on or after January I, 2009. 

The adoption of this new recommendation resulted in the recognition of $332,000 of previously 
unrecognized future income tax liabilities and an increase in the deficit by the same amount as at 
October I, 2008, the date of retroactive adoption of this section. 

2. Temporary investments: 

Cashable GICs, with interest rates ranging from 
0.35% to 0.59% 

Non-redeemable GIC, earning interest at 1.03%, 
maturing November 30, 2010 

- 10-

$ 

$ 

2010 2009 

766,238 $ 2,751,130 

1,813,062 

2,579,300 $ 2,751,130 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements -continued 

September 30, 2010 

3. Property, plant, and equipment: 

4. 

Land $ 
Buildings 
Furniture and fixtures 
Machinery and equipment 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Automotive equipment 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

$ 

Cost 

71,700 $ 
682,331 

69,176 
2,933,376 

166,636 
196,760 
449,423 

3,394,132 
14,804,617 

22,768,151 $ 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

152,433 
44,880 

1,376,111 
149,621 
142,709 
325,862 

1,827,625 
5,230,822 

9,250,063 

$ 

$ 

2010 

Net Book 
Value 

71,700 
529,898 

24,296 
1,557,265 

17,015 
54,051 

123,561 
1,566,507 
9,573,795 

13,518,088 

$ 

$ 

2009 

Net Book 
Value 

71,700 
545,046 

28,965 
1,579,330 

20,293 
46,461 

184,090 
1,570,637 
9,997,329 

14,043,851 

During the prior year, the company completed construction of a 28.5 kilometre natural gas pipeline 
between London and Aylmer to service a new customer. The company entered into a Pipeline Cost 
Recovery Agreement with the customer, whereby the company and the customer share in the 
construction cost of the pipeline under defined tenns and conditions. 

As of September 30, 2010, a final cost reconciliation has not yet been agreed upon between the two 
parties. While the net cost to the company of the pipeline constructed cannot be determined with 
complete accuracy until a cost reconciliation is agreed upon, it is management's opinion that the 
amount capitalized at September 30, 20 I 0 is a reasonable estimate of the final cost given current 
information available. 

Franchises and consents: 

2010 2009 

Franchises and consents $ 419,254 $ 413,057 
Less: accumulated amortization 255,928 159,282 

$ 163,326 $ 253,775 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2010 

5. Deferred finance costs: 

2010 2009 

Deferred finance costs $ 53,593 $ 53,593 
Less: accumulated amortization 43,014 34,615 

$ 10,579 $ 18,978 

6. Deferred charges: 

2010 2009 

Total deferred charges -other assets $ 213,253 $ 213,253 
Less: accumulated amortization 194,238 149,267 

$ 19,015 $ 63,986 

The company has been given approval by the OEB to recover the above costs already incurred from 
rate payers over future periods. The remaining balance will be recovered over future years as noted 
below: 

2011 $ 19,015 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2010 

7. Related party transactions: 

Due from related company consists of the following: 

Demand promissory note receivable, bearing interest 
at 3.5% payable monthly 

2010 2009 

$ 350,000 $ 

Included in accounts receivable are amounts receivable from related companies of $1,183 as at 
September 30, 2010 (2009 - $544,657). 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts payable to related companies of 
$29,101 as at September 30,2010 (2009- $99,095). 

During the year, management fees of $457,020 (2009 - $457 ,020) were paid to a related company. 

During the year, the company purchased gas in the amount of $706,114 (2009- $1,508,369). 

During the year, maintenance charges of $12,000 (2009 - $12,000) were charged to a related 
company. 

Related companies are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by trusts, where the 
beneficiaries of the trusts are common to both trusts, but the trustee or group of trustees which 
exercise control over any of the related parties are different than the group of trustees of the trust 
which controls Natural Resource Gas Limited. 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, 
which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

8. Operating line of credit: 

The company has credit facilities in the amount of $2,000,000 which it obtained in conjunction with 
the term note, consisting of: 

a) Operating line of credit in the amount of $1,000,000 with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate 
on any advances, and 

b) Revolving line of credit in the amount of $1,000,000 to be used for financing capital 
expenditures with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate plus 0.25% on any advances. 

The continuation of the above credit facilities is subject to annual review by the Bank. These credit 
facilities are secured by the security agreement in place as disclosed in note 9. 

- 13-



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2010 

9. Term notes payable: 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, 7.52% 
interest, repayable in blended monthly 
installments of $48,201, due March 2011 

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, interest at 
bank prime, repayable in monthly payments of 
$43,333 plus interest, due October 2017 

$ 

$ 

2010 2009 

6,027,881 $ 6,146,844 

4,203,333 4,723,333 

10,231,214 $ 10,870,177 

Although the above loans are due on demand, the company expects to make installments as per the 
amortization schedule that forms part of the loan agreement. The aggregate amount of principal 
payments required in each of the next five years to meet minimum retirement provisions is as 
follows: 

2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
Thereafter 

$ 6,547,881 
520,000 
520,000 
520,000 
520,000 

1,603,333 

$ 10,231,214 

The company has pledged the following as security against the term notes payable, the operating 
line of credit, and the revolving line of credit (note 6): 

a) General assignment of book debts 
b) General Security Agreement over all of the present and future personal property and 

undertaking of the company 
c) Security under Section 427 of the Bank Act with appropriate insurance coverage assigned 

to the Bank 
d) Demand Debenture for $15,000,000 secured by a first fixed and floating charge over all 

assets including, but not limited to, the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity 
and all Municipal Franchise Agreements, with replacement cost fire insurance coverage, 
loss if any, payable to the Bank as mortgagee. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements- continued 

September 30, 2010 

10. Capital management: 

The Company defines capital as debt and shareholders' equity. As at September 30, 2010, the 
company had debt consisting of: term notes payable. 

The company's objectives in managing capital are to: 

a) Ensure financial capacity to meet current obligations is maintained and continue as a going 
concern; 

b) Ensure financial capacity to maintain and expand the distribution pipeline infrastructure of 
the utility as determined necessary by the company; and 

c) Ensure financial capacity to execute strategic plan is maintained. 

In order to manage capital, the company regularly identifies and assesses risks that threaten the 
ability to meet the company's capital management objectives, and detennines the appropriate 
strategy to mitigate these risks. 

The Company is subject to externaily imposed capital requirements related to the term note payable 
(note 8). Specifically, the company must meet the following conditions: 

a) maintain a ratio of EBITDA (Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization) to interest expense plus current portion of long term debt of 1.25:1 or better; 

b) maintain a ratio of current assets to current liabilities (excluding term note payable) of 1:1 
or better; and 

c) maintain a ratio of total debt to tangible net worth of less than 3: I. 

At September 30, 2010, the company was not in violation of any of the above conditions. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 20 lO 

11. Share capital: 

Authorized: 
Unlimited Class A shares, non-voting, redeemable 

and retractable at the paid up amount, with non­
cumulative dividends 

Unlimited Class B shares, participating, non-voting, 
with non-cumulative dividends ranking pari passu 
with common shares on dissolution 

Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, with 
preferential 7% non-cumulative dividends 
redeemable and retractable at $100 per share 

Unlimited Class Z shares voting, redeemable and 
retractable at $1 per share, with no dividend 
entitlement 

Unlimited number of common shares 

Issued and outstanding: 

Retractable shares: 
50,000 Class A shares 
I 0 Class B shares 
134,614.18 Class C shares 
10 Class Z shares 

12. Gas imbalances: 

2010 2009 

$ 1 $ I 
10 10 

13,461,418 13,461,418 
10 10 

$ 13,461,439 $ 13,461,439 

The Company, in the normal course of its operations experiences imbalances in the quantity of gas 
purchased and the quantities of gas sold and provides the gas balancing services to customers. The 
company records the net liability (or net asset) associated with gas imbalance volumes. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $909,253 (2009 - $899,509) related to gas 
imbalances. Natural gas volumes owed from the Company are valued at the natural gas reference 
price as approved by the OEB as of the balance sheet dates. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2010 

13. Regulatory matters: 

The Company has rates that are approved by the OEB. The fiscal year 2007 was a one year Cost of 
Service Rate filing. The company received the OEB decision dated September 28, 2006 and the 
rate order was effective September 28, 2006. The company did not make a submission for the fiscal 
years 2008 through 20 I 0 which left rates unchanged since 2007. 

During the year, the company submitted an application for rates for the sale, distribution, 
transmission and storage of natural gas, which would be effective beginning October I, 2010. As 
part of this application, the company is seeking a five year incentive rate mechanism as well. 
Subsequent to year end, the OEB issued a Decision and Order on this matter, which established the 
rates which would be in effect retroactive to October I, 20 I 0. 

Rates for the sale of gas commodity are adjusted quarterly to reflect updated commodity price 
forecasts. The difference between the approved and the actual cost of gas incurred in the current 
period is deferred for future recovery subject to approval by the OEB. These differences are 
directly flowed through to customers and, therefore, no rate of return is earned on the deferred 
balances. The OEB's approval for recovery of these gas purchase costs primarily considers the 
prudence of costs incurred. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements -continued 

September 30, 20 I 0 

14. Financial instruments and risk: 

The carrying values of the company's financial current assets and liabilities, including cash, 
accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their values due to 
their short-term maturity. 

The fair value of the term notes payable is estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that 
uses market interest rates currently charged for similar debt instruments at September 30, 20 I 0 to 
expected maturity dates. Based on the above calculation, the fair value of the term notes payable 
approximates carrying value at September 30, 20 I 0. 

Natural gas prices: 

The Company has entered into several material contracts for the supply of natural gas. The 
Company employs established policies and procedures in order to manage the risk associated with 
the market fluctuations of natural gas prices. The Company, through the rate regulations imposed 
by the OEB, is effectively allowed to fully recover its costs, reasonably incurred, and as such the 
ratepayers, and not the Company, are ultimately exposed to the risk of these market fluctuations. 

!merest rate risk: 

One of the term notes payable bears a fixed interest rate and, as such, the company is exposed to the 
interest rate risk of having a fixed rate, but has the security of a fixed rate for operational 
management purposes. 

The other term note payable and the line of credit (when utilized) bears interest at a fluctuating bank 
prime related interest rate and, as such, the company is exposed to interest rate risk. 

Credit risk: 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a trade customer will fail to pay its account. The company 
is exposed to credit risk from its customers. However, the company has a large number of diverse 
customers, which minimizes concentration of credit risk. 

15. Additional cash flow statement information: 

Interest paid 
Income taxes paid (recoveries received) 
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$ 
$ 

2010 

565,888 $ 
82,564 $ 

2009 

603,854 
(5,785) 



ADDITIONAL COMMENTS OF AUDITORS 

The accompanying schedule of expenses is presented as supplementary information only. In this respect, it does not 
form part of the financial statements of Natural Resource Gas Limited for the year ended September 30, 2010 and 
hence is excluded from the opinion expressed in our auditors' report dated December 03, 2010 to the Directors on 
such financial statements. The information in this schedule has been subject to audit procedures only to the extent 
necessary to express an opinion on the financial statements of the company and, in our opinion, are fairly presented 
in all respects material to those financial statements. 

London, Canada 
December 3, 2010 

NPTLLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Licensed Public Accountants 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Unaudited Schedule of Expenses 

Year ended September 30 

Advertising 
Automotive and maintenance 
Bad debts 
Bank charges and other interest 
Capital tax 
Consulting fees 
Donations and community sponsorships 
Dues and fees 
Employee benefits 
Insurance 
Legal and audit 
Management fees -related company 
Miscellaneous 
Office 
Ontario Energy Board hearings 
Promotional rebates 
Property taxes 
Salaries and wages 
Telephone 
Travel and promotion 
Utilities 
Amortization - Automotive equipment 

Buildings 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Deferred finance costs and charges 
Franchises and consents 
Furniture and Fixtures 
Machinery and equipment 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

Equipment expenses capitalized to pipeline installations 
Interest expense (income) 
Amortization capitalized to pipeline installations 
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$ 

$ 

2010 

1,587 $ 
148,371 

612,648 
21,180 
68,220 
16,888 
25,700 

120,712 
226,872 

80,718 
457,020 

11,939 
121,179 
26,900 
15,955 

404,345 
864,821 

48,736 
1,952 

13,543 
74,604 
15,148 

8,501 
13,515 
53,369 
96,647 

4,669 
53,878 

123,488 
560,884 

4,293,989 

(16,953) 
1,527 

(7,799) 

4,270,764 $ 

2009 

9,873 
195,208 
51,982 

626,316 
36,180 
55,332 
13,953 
19,424 

148,883 
197,396 
63,049 

457,020 
15,324 

154,293 
32,211 
14,437 

390,404 
923,983 

59,776 
3,371 

12,658 
86,566 
15,148 
10,145 
11,615 
49,814 
69,028 
4,669 

52,974 
119,159 
447,341 

4,347,532 

(17,956) 
(6,661) 
(7,418) 

4,315,497 
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1 SUMMARY OF APPLICATION 

2 Need for Application 

3 NRG seeks an Order(s) from the Board permitting it to charge distribution and transmission rates 

4 to its customers from the end of the existing Board Order approving rates (EB-2010-0018), being 

5 September 30,2014, through to September 30,2016. 

6 At NRG's last rates case (EB-2010-0018), the Board approved: 

7 (a) gas distribution rates for NRG's 2011 Test Year (commencing October 1, 2010 

8 and concluding September 30, 2011); and 

9 (b) an IR Plan for setting distribution rates for the subsequent three years (i.e., for the 

10 period through to September 30, 2014). 

11 The Board also approved a transportation rate for local natural gas producers that utilize NRG' s 

12 distribution system to deliver natural gas to the Union Gas Limited distribution system. 

13 Orders Requested 

14 NRG seeks an Order(s): (a) fixing distribution rates for the next two years (i.e., through to 

15 September 30, 2016) based on a continuation of the existing IR Plan for an additional two years; 

16 (b) approving existing transportation rates established in EB-2010-0018 (see Exhibit E, Tab 1, 

17 Schedule 1); (c) requiring IGPC (NRG's largest customer) to provide updated financial 

18 information, as well as updated business plan and security for the undepreciated capital costs (as 

19 set out in the Application); and (d) the creation of a deferral account for demand side 

20 management programs for NRG's customers. 
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22 Requests (a) and (b)- Extension ofiR Plan for Distribution Rates; Transportation Rates 

23 NRG's earnings under the existing IR Plan was within the ROE deadband of± 300 basis points 

24 in Fiscal 2011 (9.98%) and Fiscal 2012 (7.16%), and only slightly below the ROE deadband in 

25 Fiscal 2013 ( 6.29% ). The IR Plan is therefore operating satisfactorily. On the present 

26 information known to NRG, it expects that the IR Plan will continue to operate satisfactorily 

27 during the extension period ending on September 30, 2016. See Exhibit C, Tab I, Schedule I for 

28 further explanation. 

29 NRG does not foresee any exceptional capital projects or operations/maintenance expenses over 

30 the next two years. These facts support the proposal that NRG be granted a two-year extension 

31 rather than file a cost-of-service application at this time . See Exhibit C, Tab 5, Schedule I for a 

32 further explanation. 

33 In the absence of a compelling need to re-base, greatest regulatory efficiency would be achieved 

34 by continuing to operate under the existing IR Plan. NRG, its customers, intervenors, and the 

3 5 Board itself will all benefit by allowing NRG to continue on this basis for two years. See Exhibit 

36 C, Tab 2, Schedule 1 for further explanation. 

37 There are two other rationale for a two-year extension. 

38 First, in NRG's prior rate case (EB-2010-0018), the Board directed NRG to complete system 

3 9 integrity studies (with the involvement of Board Staff). These studies are not yet complete, but 

40 will be finished within the next two years. A full cost-of-service application will be more 

41 effective and efficient if the system integrity studies have been completed, so that any major 
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42 capital expenditures needed to resolve the system integrity issue can be built into NRG's next 

43 cost-of-service rate case and IR Plan. See Exhibit C, Tab 3, Schedule 1 for further explanation. 

44 Second, NRG has concerns about IGPC's ability to continue to purchase gas beyond 2016 (when 

45 its operating grants are set to expire), as detailed below and elsewhere in this pre-filed evidence. 

46 In the absence of better information about IGPC's operations beyond 2016, NRG cannot bring 

47 forward a cost-of-service application together with an IR Plan that extends beyond 2016. A 

48 two-year extension would permit NRG and the Board to get clarity on IGPC's financial position 

49 post-2016 and plan accordingly. See Exhibit C, Tab 4, Schedule 1 and Exhibit D, Tab 1, 

50 Schedule 1 for further explanation. 

51 Request (c)- Discrete Orders Regarding IGPC 

52 IGPC is NRG's largest customer. It produces bio fuels from corn grown in the region. It 

53 receives two operating grants- the first from Natural Resources Canada under the ecoEnergy for 

54 Biofuels Program, and the second from the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural 

55 Affairs. To date, with these grants, IGPC's net income has ranged from $4.7 million to $12.4 

56 million (from fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2012). Without the grants, IGPC would operate at a loss 

57 ranging from $14.7 million to $22.1 million (during that same period). Thus, without the 

58 operating grants or some other radical change to its business plan, IGPC will suffer unsustainable 

59 losses that threaten IGPC's ability to purchase gas from NRG when the operating grants expire 

60 in 2016. 

61 NRG has attempted to understand IGPC's ability to purchase distribution services from NRG 

62 post-2016 at its current minimum annual volume of 33,416,618 m3 (as set out in the Gas 
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63 Delivery Contract) in order for NRG to protect itself and its customers from any unexpected 

64 cessation of purchases, and resulting stranded asset or decommissioning costs. 

65 In addition to the expected expiration of IGPC's operating grants in 2016, there are two 

66 significant milestones affecting NRG and IGPC's relationship during the two-year extension 

67 period. The first is the termination of the Gas Delivery Contract between IGPC and NRG on 

68 April 30, 2015. The second is the annual expiration of a Delivery Letter of Credit on November 

69 30, 2014 (currently set to be extended by one year). In order to provide NRG with assurances 

70 that all undepreciated capital costs of the IGPC Pipeline will be paid (and provision is made for 

71 any decommissioning costs if required) if IGPC were to terminate purchase of NRG's 

72 distribution services, NRG is requesting that the Board require IGPC to provide certain financial 

73 information (as set out in the Application) about IGPC's near-term future viability, IGPC's 

74 future plans to purchase services from NRG, and security for the undepreciated capital costs of 

75 the IGPC Pipeline. 

76 See Exhibit C, Tab 4, Schedule 1 and Exhibit D, Tab 1, Schedule 1 for further information. 

77 Request (d)- Deferral Account for Demand Side Management Program 

78 To date, NRG has been exempted from having to provide demand side management ("DSM") 

79 programs for its customers. By Directive to the Board dated March 26, 2014, the Minister of 

80 Energy directed that all rate-regulated gas utilities (including NRG) provide DSM programs to 

81 their customers. As a result, NRG is proposing that a deferral account be created to track NRG's 

82 DSM costs associated with the new DSM Framework. The deferral account would be cleared at 
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83 NRG's next cost-of-service rate case in two years. See Exhibit D, Tab 2, Schedule I for further 

84 explanation. 
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3 The existing IR Plan is NRG's first time utilizing an incentive regulation or PBR regime. TheIR 

4 Plan adjusted NRG's distribution rates in each fiscal year of the period from October I, 2011 

5 through September 30,2014 according to the following formula: 

6 PCA=I-X+ S 

7 VV11ere: 

8 PCA = Price Cap Adjustment 

I = Inflation Factor (actual year-over-year change in the annualized average 
of four quarters of Statistics Canada's Gross Domestic Product Implicit 
Price Index for Final Domestic Demand ("GDP-IPI"), as calculated by the 
Board and in effect at the time the PCA is made) 

X - Productivity Factor (same as that utilized by Board for electricity 
distributor rate adjustments) 

s = Stretch Factor (0.1% greater than the stretch factor applicable to 
mid-rang_e electricity distributors) 

9 NRG's existing IR Plan also permits NRG to bring forward, for Board approval, costs for 

10 unforeseen events outside of NRG's management control (i.e., Z-factor claims), provided that 

11 such claims meet the following three criteria: 
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Amounts should be directly related to the Z-factor event. The amount must 
be clearly outside of the base upon which rates were derived. 
The amounts must exceed $50,000 (on an individual event basis) and have a 
significant influence on the operation of NRG; otherwise they should be 
expensed in the normal course and addressed through organizational 
productivity improvements. 
The amount must have been prudently incurred. This means that NRG's 
decision to incur the amount must represent the most cost-effective option 
(not necessarily least initial cost) for ratepayers. 

1 The process for bringing forward Z-factor claims under the IR Plan is as follows: 

2 • NRG must record amounts sought to be claimed as a Z-factor in a separate Z-factor 

3 deferral account. Monthly carrying charges would also be recorded (calculated using 

4 simple interest applied to the monthly opening balances in the account and recorded in a 

5 separate sub-account of this account). The rate of interest is the Board-prescribed rates 

6 for deferral and variance accounts for the respective quarterly period published on the 

7 Board's website. 

8 • NRG must notify the Board and interveners in EB-2010-0018 of all Z-factor events 

9 within six months of the Z-factor event. 

I 0 • NRG must apply to the Board for recovery of amounts recorded in the Z-factor deferral 

11 account, and such application shall include: 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 
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eligibility criteria outlined above; 

an explanation of the marmer in which NRG intends to allocate the incremental 

revenue requirements to the various customer classes, the rationale for the 
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1 NRG's IR Plan also includes a trigger mechanism for a regulatory review ifNRG's earnings fall 

2 outside an annual ROE deadband of± 300 basis points, based on NRG's annual audited financial 

3 statements (filed with the Board within 60 days of NRG's receipt of such statements). In the 

4 event that NRG's financial statements show NRG's earnings falling short of or exceeding NRG's 

5 Board-approved ROE by 300 basis points, a review will be carried out by the Board to determine 

6 if further action by the Board is warranted. The review would be prospective in nature and could 

7 result in modifications to NRG's IR Plan (including its termination or continuation). 

8 IR Plan Going Forward 

9 If this two-year extension Application were approved, the adjustment factors for the PCA on 

1 0 October 1, 2014 would be: 

11 I= 1.7% 

12 X=O% 

13 s = 0.4% 

14 NRG's Performance Under IR Plan 

15 In the base year and the initial two years of the three year IR Plan, NRG's ROE (as compared to 

16 the Board-approved ROE) has been as follows: 

Board-Approved ROE(%) ROE Deadband (%) NRG's ROE(%) 

Fiscal2011 9.98 
Fiscal2012 9.85 6.85 to 12.85 7.16 
Fiscal2013 6.29 
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1 This puts NRG's earnings within the ROE deadband, with the exception of Fiscal 2013 when it 

2 was slightly below the deadband. In Fiscal 2013, the difference between 6.29% and 6.85% is 

3 $25,732, which would be classified as an immaterial amount for an electric distributor with the 

4 level of distribution revenue the size of NRG. For an electric distributor with distribution 

5 revenue of$10 million or less, the materiality threshold is $50,000. This is the same materiality 

6 threshold used in NRG's IR Plan for Z-factor claims. 

7 NRG's ROE on its distribution business cannot be calculated using NRG's audited financial 

8 statements alone, since the audited financial statements include NRG' s ancillary business (hot 

9 water tanks). Appropriate adjustments must be made in order to calculate the ROE. The 

10 adjusted earnings (noted in the table on the previous page) are at Exhibit C, Tab 1, Schedule 2. 

11 In addition, NRG has not yet made any Z-factor claims, and no amounts are currently recorded in 

12 the Z-factor deferral account. 
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2 In the absence of a compelling need tore-base, the Board's preference should be to have utilities 

3 remain under a PBR regime, such as NRG's IR Plan. 

4 The Board expressed its preference for the move to PBR rate-setting in its January 18, 2000 

5 Decision (RP-1999-0034), wherein it established PBR for electricity distributors: 

6 ... PBR represents a fundamental shift from the historical cost of service 
7 regulation. It provides the utilities with incentive for behaviour which more 
8 closely resembles that of competitive, cost-minimizing, profit-maximizing 
9 companies. Customers and shareholders alike can gain from efficiency 

1 0 enhancing and cost-minimizing strategies that will ultimately yield lower rates 
11 with appropriate safeguards for service quality. 

12 The current IR Plan is NRG's first experiment with rate-setting under a PBR scheme, and 

13 (notwithstanding the built-in Z-factor and off-ramp safeguards) there may have been some 

14 reticence about establishing a lengthy term for NRG's initial IR Plan. However, as noted in 

15 Exhibit C, Tab 1, Schedules 1 and 2, NRG's earnings have remained within the ROE deadband 

16 in Fiscal2011 and Fiscal2012, and was only slightly below the ROE deadband in Fiscal2013. 

17 The efficiency benefits of NRG remaining under the existing IR Plan (as opposed to filing a new 

18 cost-of-service application) are as follows: 

19 • Standard PBR Efficiencies: NRG will be incented to continue to find cost savings and 

20 

21 

efficiencies in order to improve its earnings. Ultimately, these savings will yield lower 

distribution rates for its customers. This is the basic intent of PBR schemes. 

22 • Board/Intervenor Efficiencies: A re-basing application is not only a burden on NRG, but 

23 also on the Board. This two-year extension Application will require far fewer Board 
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I 

2 

resources. It will also save intervenors the time and money associated with a re-basing 

application. 

3 • Better Use of NRG's Time: Are-basing application is a major burden on the personnel 

4 of any utility, but particularly so for smaller utilities. NRG is a relatively small utility 

5 (approximately 8,000 customers). NRG's last cost-of-service filing (EB-2010-0018) 

6 

7 

8 

9 

consumed months of personnel time (and continues to occupy personnel time on the 

outstanding system integrity gas issue). NRG's personnel time could be better spent on 

customer-focused initiatives- for example, the new DSM regime that NRG will have to 

put in place for January 1, 2015. 

10 • Rate Predictability: A continuation of the existing IR Plan will provide relative rate 

11 stability and predictability for NRG's customers. 

12 The Board has continued to take steps to encourage more efficient utility operation through the 

13 rate-setting process. In its recent Report of the Board: Renewed Regulatory Framework for 

14 Electricity Distributors: A Performance-Based Approach (October 18, 2012), the Board stated: 

15 The Board's approach to rate-setting must continue to support a sustainable, 
16 financially viable and reliable electricity system. It must do so in a manner that 
17 is responsive to customer's concerns about affordability, by promoting increased 
18 efficiency which in turn can lower costs and provide for more predictable rates. 
19 It must also do so in a manner that better accommodates differing circumstances 
20 of distributors (for example, with respect to customer expectations, asset profile 
21 and investment needs) and facilitates the cost-effective and efficient 
22 achievement of expected performance outcomes. Finally, the rate regime must 
23 also recognize the inter-connected nature of the electricity system in Ontario, 
24 promote ongoing productivity improvements, encourage innovation, and support 
25 efficient regulation. 

26 In pursuit of these objectives, the Board established three methods for distributor rate-setting, the 

27 shortest of which has a five-year rate period: 

28 • 4111 Generation IR (rebasing plus four years) 

29 • Custom IR (minimum term of five years) 

30 • Annual IR Index (no fixed term; armual adjustment mechanism) 
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I The approach is clearly to move electricity distributors to long-term PBR where possible (i.e., 

2 five years or more). Although applicable to electricity distributors, NRG is in many ways more 

3 similar to an Ontario electricity distributor. NRG is a small utility, and very small in comparison 

4 to the province's other two rate-regulated natural gas utilities (Enbridge and Union Gas). For 

5 that reason, NRG' s current IR Plan was based on the model used for electricity distributors in the 

6 province. 

7 NRG's approach in this application is consistent with the Board's policy pronouncements 

8 regarding improving regulatory efficiencies via the rate-setting process, and moving to an IR 

9 Plan of five years or more. 

\ 
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1 OUTSTANDING ITEM FROM PREVIOUS RATE CASE 

2 NRG is currently working with a steering committee and two consultants selected VIa a 

3 competitive RFP process, to complete two studies that the Board ordered in Phase 2 of its 

4 EB-2010-0018 decision. The studies are underway but not yet complete. They will be 

5 completed during the proposed two-year IR Plan extension period. 

6 It is NRG's preference to close out this last remaining issue in EB-2010-0018 before embarking 

7 on a full cost-of-service rate proceeding. During the proposed two-year IR Plan extension 

8 period, the two studies can be completed and any resultant capital expenditure proposals (e.g., to 

9 resolve the system integrity issue) can be properly plarmed and captured in NRG's next cost-of-

1 0 service filing. 

11 History of the System Integrity Issue 

12 In NRG's last rate proceeding, the issue of system integrity gas injected into NRG's system by a 

13 non-arm's length company (NRG Corp.) was the subject of lengthy discussion and evaluation by 

14 the Board and Parties to the proceeding. The issue arose in Phase 1 of the EB-2010-0018 

15 proceeding and continued in Phase 2 of that proceeding. 

16 Following Phase 1 of the Board's Decision in EB-2010-0018, NRG filed a System Integrity 

17 Study completed by AUE Utility Engineering ("Original SIS"). That Original SIS ran a 

18 simulation model for a cold (-28 deg. C) day with all ofNRG Corp.'s producing wells (there are 

19 approximately 40 of them) shut in (i.e., producing zero). The simulation results indicated that 
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1 under that scenario, system pressure would drop, the Aylmer regulator stations would cease to 

2 operate and "wide-spread outage will occur". The Original SIS indicated that: "To maintain 

3 adequate system pressures without the benefits of well supplies, alternatives must be looked into 

4 in bringing fresh gas supply to affected areas, i.e.: the Town of Aylmer and the area just south of 

5 Aylmer" (Original SIS, p.9). The Original SIS then went on to look at three alternative 

6 approaches to resolving the system integrity issue. 

7 This Original SIS was the subject of consideration and evaluation during Phase 2 of the 

8 EB-2010-0018 proceeding. In its Phase 2 Decision, the Board acknowledged the conclusion of 

9 the Original SIS, and noted that the system integrity issue was a complex one. As a result, the 

1 0 Board determined that a more detailed independent study was warranted to look at all relevant 

11 alternatives to address the system integrity study, and a more robust sensitivity analysis. The 

12 Board therefore ordered the formation of a steering committee comprised of Board staff, 

13 intervenors and NRG to draft an RFP and terms of reference for an independent study that 

14 would: (a) evaluate NRG's ability to source local supply from third-party suppliers in NRG's 

15 franchise areas (the "Competitive Market Study"); and (b) conduct a robust sensitivity analysis 

16 in order to determine more precisely the quantum of locally-supplied natural gas required to 

17 maintain the integrity ofNRG's distribution system (the "System Integrity Study"). 

18 This steering committee consisted of representatives from NRG (Tony Graat and Bob Cowan), 

19 Board Staff (Khalil Viraney) and the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition ("VECC") (James 

20 Wightman). It has taken longer than anticipated to conclude this work. Ultimately, it was 

21 decided by the steering committee to prepare two separate RFPs (one for the Competitive Market 
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1 Study and one for the System Integrity Study). As the steering committee discovered, there were 

2 not a great deal of potential entities capable of or interested in replying to the RFPs. That having 

3 been said, ultimately RFPs were received, and both the Competitive Market Study and System 

4 Integrity Study are now underway. 

5 Link to Two-Year Extension Application 

6 A two-year extension application will enable these studies to be completed and considered by the 

7 steering committee, and the record in EB-2010-0018 formally closed prior to NRG filing a new 

8 cost-of-service application. It is unknown whether the System Integrity Study will recommend 

9 any material capital projects to resolve the system integrity issue, but to the extent that it does, 

10 the two-year extension period would potentially allow any material capital projects to be built 

11 into NRG's next cost-of-service application. 
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2 IGPC operates an ethanol plant in Aylmer, and is by far NRG's largest distribution customer 

3 (accounting for approximately 25% ofNRG's distribution revenue). As set out below, a lack of 

4 information about IGPC's ability to operate profitably and continue to take natural gas from 

5 NRG beyond 2016 means that NRG could not bring forward a new cost-of-service application 

6 with a multi-year IR Plan. To do so, NRG would need better information about IGPC's 

7 operating grants, and IGPC's plans to operate in the absence of such grants. Consequently, NRG 

8 has brought a two-year extension application based on NRG's continued IR Plan. 

9 IGPC's Reliance on Operating Grants 

I 0 Based on IGPC's financial statements, IGPC appears to be heavily reliant on two operating 

II grants in order to operate profitably: (a) an "ecoEnergy for Biofuels" operating grant, managed 

12 by Natural Resources Canada ("NRCan"); and (b) an operating grant from the Ontario Ministry 

13 of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs ("OMAFRA"). The operating grant amounts vary 

14 modestly from year-to-year (being dependent on production volumes), but both are material to 

15 IGPC' s revenues. The provincial operating grant from OMAFRA appears to be slightly greater 

16 than the NRCan grant. For example, in fiscal 2012, the provincial OMAFRA operating grant 

17 was $14.9 million and the federal NRCan grant was $12.4 million. 

18 IGPC's financial statements indicate that these grants are set to expire in 2016 (see Exhibit C, 

19 Tab 4, Schedules 2 through 5). Moreover, as of February 2013, the federal government appears 

20 to have cancelled the NRCan "ecoEnergy for Biofuels" program, with no further applications 
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1 being received after 2010 and no committed grant money paid out beyond 2017 (see Exhibit C, 

2 Tab 4, Schedule 6). 

3 The loss ofiGPC's operating grants is of significant concern to NRG because IGPC's annual net 

4 income has consistently been far less than the sum of its two annual operating grants (see the 

5 Consolidated Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings/Deficit at Exhibit C, Tab 4, 

6 Schedules 2 through 5 inclusive): 

IGPC's Fiscal Year IGPC's Net Income IGPC's Operating Loss Without 
Ending September 30 Grants Grants 

2009 $4.7 million $26.8 million $22.1 million 

2010 $12.4 million $27.1 million $14.7 million 

2011 $11.7 million $28.7 million $17.0 million 

2012 $11.9 million $27.5 million $15.6 million 

7 In the absence of the operating grants, IGPC would have operated at a loss in every year from 

8 2009 to 2012. Consequently, NRG is concerned about IGPC's post-2016 profitability and its 

9 ability to take gas from NRG beyond 2016. 

I 0 Lack of Financial Information Provided by IGPC 

11 NRG has tried unsuccessfully to obtain more recent financial information for IGPC, as well as 

12 information about IGPC's plans in the event that the operating grants are not renewed (see 

13 correspondence at Exhibit C, Tab 4, Schedule 7). IGPC has refused to provide such information 

14 to NRG. The information in the table above was obtained without IGPC's assistance, and IGPC 

15 has now prevented access to its financial statements by requiring a member password to access 

16 them on the IGPC website. 
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1 In shmi, NRG has a number of information gaps about IGPC and its future operations, including 

2 the following fundamental pieces of information: 

3 • whether IGPC will renew its GDC with NRG and continue to receive gas beyond this 

4 coming April, and if it does, whether it will renew at its current minimum annual volume 

5 (33,416,618 m3
) and whether IGPC will commit to anew GDC term beyond 2016; 

6 • whether IGPC's operating grants have been renewed, and if not when IGPC expects to 

7 find out whether they will be renewed; and, 

8 • if the operating grants are not renewed, or only one is renewed, how IGPC proposes to 

9 operate profitably or at the same gas consumption levels. 

10 This information gap forms the basis for NRG's request to have certain financial and business 

11 information produced by IGPC in this proceeding. The information, of course, can be provided 

12 confidentially if necessary. With respect to any future (post-2016) plans, NRG believes that they 

13 must be more than merely a hopeful business plan. NRG believes this is warranted given the 

14 size of IGPC's distribution revenue in relation to NRG's overall revenues - even a material 

15 decrease in IGPC's consumption would have a material impact on NRG's business that would 

16 have to be accounted for in NRG's next cost-of-service application or (in the absence of any 

17 timely information from IGPC) potentially a Z-factor application. 

18 This lack of information makes bringing forward any new IR Plan beyond 2016 virtually 

19 impossible. A two-year extension to NRG's current IR Plan would provide additional time to 

20 resolve the problem caused by IGPC's refusal to provide relevant financial information to NRG. 
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I This information is needed very soon because in order to file a full cost-of-service application in 

2 time for the Board to process and ultimately render a decision in time for October I, 2016, the 

3 preparation of that application and evidence will need to begin in 2015. 

4 By the time that NRG needs to file its next cost-of-service application (early 2016), IGPC will 

5 have had to renew its Gas Delivery Contract with NRG (set to expire in April 20 15). Of 

6 importance to NRG will be whether IGPC requests to renew at the same volume levels, and 

7 whether IGPC renews for a term beyond 2016. 
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January 13,2010 

Auditors' Report 

To the Shareholders of 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
465 Richmond Street, Suite 300 
London, Ontario 
Canada N6A 5P4 
Telephone +1 519 640 8000 
Facsimile+15196408015 

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet oflntegrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
(the "Co-operative") as at September 30, 2009 and the consolidated statements of operations and 
deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Co-operative's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Co-operative as at September 30, 2009 and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 

"PricewaterhouseCoopers .. refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership, or, as the context requires, the 
PricewaterhouseCoopers global network or other member finns of the network, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Deficit 
For the year ended September 30, 2009 

Net sales 

Cost of goods sold 
Depreciation and amortization 
Net gain on commodity derivative contracts 
Operating grants (note 17) 

Gross profit 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 
Depreciation and amortization 

Operating income (loss) 

Other income (expenses) 
Government grants 
Interest expense (note 18) 
Interest income 
Loss on interest rate swap (note 20) 
Loss on foreign exchange 

Income (loss) before provision for (recovery of) taxes 

Provision for current income taxes 
Provision for (recovery of) future income taxes 

Net income (loss) for the year 

Deficit- Beginning of year 

Deficit- End of year 

2009 2008 
$ $ 

89,382, Ill 

91,209,893 
6,309,950 

(36,746) 
(26,835,865) 

70,647,232 

18,734,879 

3,396,720 2,433,444 
1,948,324 45,902 

5,345,044 2,479,346 

13,389,835 (2,479,346) 

50,000 
(5,622,995) 

48,640 15,340 
(758,096) (I ,284,867) 
(48,847) (16,315) 

(6,381,298) (I ,235,842) 

7,008,537 (3,715,188) 

87,000 
2,190,000 (1,104,074) 

2,277,000 (1,104,074) 

4,731,537 (2,611,114) 

( 4,894,999) (2,283,885) 

~163,4622 ~ 4,894,9992 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended September 30, 2009 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net income (loss) for the year 
Changes (credits) to income not involving cash: 

Depreciation and amortization 
Unrealized gain on commodity derivative contracts 
Loss on interest rate swap contracts 
Interest on research and development fund liability 
Future income taxes 

Net change in non-cash working capital balances (note 21) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Net proceeds and repayments from subordinated debentures and notes 
(note 9) 
Net proceeds and redemptions of share subscriptions (note 12) 
Proceeds from credit facility (note 9) 
Payment of bridge facility (note 9) 
Payment of term debt (note 9) 
Payment of capital lease obligation 
Deferred financing costs (note 9) 
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash (note 3) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property and equipment 
Construction in progress 
Proceeds from OMAFRA capital grant (note 17) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash 

Cash- Beginning of year 

Cash -End of year 

2009 2008 
$ $ 

4,731,537 (2,611,114) 

8,258,274 45,902 
(226,501) 
758,096 1,284,867 
54,579 

2,190,000 (1,104,074) 

15,765,985 (2,384,419) 

(3,748,711) (2,679,914) 

12,017,274 (5,064,333) 

(62,500) 2,447,000 
827,000 5,057,300 

18,711,156 58,988,844 
(14,000,000) 
(9,728,812) 

(404,708) 
(36,368) (917,544) 

2,219,479 ( 4,261' 141) 

(2,474,753) 61,314,459 

(959,121) (789,964) 
(18,315,894) (59,828,979) 
14,000,000 

(5,275,015) (60,618,943) 

4,267,506 ( 4,368,817) 

3,273,263 7,642,080 

7,540,769 3,273,263 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2009 

1 Nature of operations 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. (the "Co-operative") was incorporated on April4, 2002 under the 
Ontario Co-operative Corporations Act. 

The Co-operative produces and sells ethanol and distillers grain through its 150 million litre fuel ethanol 
production facility in south western Ontario, which was completed on October 15, 2008. In the prior year, 
the Co-operative had not commenced operations and was considered to be in the construction phase. 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Co-operative and its wholly­
owned subsidiary, IGPC Ethanol Inc. (the "Subsidiary"). Intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated on consolidation. 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and 
expenses for the year reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Revenue recognition 

The Co-operative recognizes revenue on the sale of ethanol and distillers grains at the time of shipment. 

Government assistance 

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Co-operative has complied with 
the conditions of the grant. Such grants are accounted for as reduction of the related expense or asset, or as 
income, as appropriate. 

Inventories 

Inventories of finished products, feedstock, process chemicals and supplies are valued at the lower of net 
realizable value and average cost. Work in process consists of cost of material and direct labour and is valued 
at the lower of net realizable value and average cost. 

(I) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2009 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Amortization is provided for in the accounts as follows: 

Buildings and site pipelines 
Furniture and fixtures 
Equipment 
Process equipment 
Gas pipeline under capital lease 

5% declining balance 
20% declining balance 
30% declining balance 
10 to 15 years substantially by straight line 
7 years straight line 

In the year of acquisition, amortization is provided for at one-half of the above rates, except in 2009 when the 
cost of the process plant was transferred from construction in progress to the appropriate asset categories and 
amortization was provided for from the date of production. No amortization is provided for in the year of 
disposal or until assets are put into service. 

The total cost of major capital projects includes related interest incurred during the period of construction. 
Capitalization of interest ceased on October 15, 2008 when the capital asset was substantially complete and 
ready for its intended productive use. 

Grants under goverrunent capital assistance programs are deducted from the cost of the assets to which the 
grant relates. 

Intangible asset 

The intangible asset recorded on the balance sheet, relates to the right to use the proprietary design and 
processes to produce ethanol. 

Intangible property is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that it might be impaired. The impairment test consists of a comparison of the expected future 
operating cash flows (on an undiscounted basis) with its carrying amount. When the carrying amount exceeds 
the expected future cash flows, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess. 

Financial instruments 

Under CICA Handbook Section 3855, financial assets and liabilities, including derivative instruments, are 
initially recognized and subsequently measured based on their classification as held-for-trading, available-for­
sale financial assets, held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, or other fmancialliabilities as follows: 

• Held-for-trading financial instruroents are measured at their fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized in net income for the year. 

• Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value and changes in fair value are 
included in other comprehensive income until the asset is removed from the balance sheet. 

• Loans and receivables are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

(2) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2009 

• Other financial liabilities are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method 

• Derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are measured at their fair value with changes 
in fair value recognized in net income for the year unless the instrument is a cash flow hedge and 
hedge accounting applies in which case changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 

The following is a summary of the classification of assets and liabilities of the Co-operative: 

Financial Instrument 
Cash 
Restricted cash 
Accounts receivable 
Fair value of commodity derivative contracts 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Fair value of interest rate swap contracts 
Capital lease obligation 
Subordinated debentures and notes 
Term and bank debt 
Research and development fund liability 

Classification 
Held-for-trading 
Held-for-trading 
Loans and receivables 
Derivative instrument (non-hedge) 
Other financial liabilities 
Derivative instrument (non-hedge) 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 

CICA Handbook Sections 3862 and 3863 place an increased emphasis on disclosure about the nature and extent 
of risks arising from fmancial instruments and how the entity manages those risks. The Co-operative has 
elected not to adopt these accounting standards as a non-public enterprise. 

Deferred financing costs 

Transaction costs related to the credit agreement are netted against the carrying value of the term loan and are 
amortized over the duration of the credit agreement using the effective interest rate method, based on target 
debt levels of the term loan and expect levels of available credit under the revolving term facility. 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Exposure to interest rates on debt is managed through the use of interest rate swap contracts. These swap 
contracts require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amount on 
which the payments are based. Settlement amounts under interest rate swap contracts have been included in 
capitalized interest during the pre-operating period prior to October 15, 2008. Changes in the fair value of the 
interest rate swap contracts have been recorded in the statement of operations. 

Stock options 

Options are accounted for under the fair market method. Stock-based compensation costs, measured at the grant 
date based on the fair value of the options granted and recognized over the service period involved, are 
recorded as expenses on the income statement. The amounts are credited to contributed surplus. The 

(3) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2009 

consideration paid upon exercise of the options and the originally recorded fair value of the options are added 
to share capital. 

Income taxes 

The liability method of accounting for income taxes is used. Under this method, future income tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on the differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and the 
tax cost bases of these assets and liabilities measured using substantially enacted income tax laws and rates. 

New accounting recommendations 

a) Goodwill and intangible assets 

Section 3064, issued in February 2008, provides guidance on the recognition, measurement, presentation 
and disclosure for goodwill and intangible assets, other than initial recognition of goodwill and intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination. The standard is effective for fiscal periods beginning on or 
after October 1, 2008, and requires retroactive application to prior period financial statements. 
The Co-operative adopted this standard regarding asset recognition in the financial statements with no 
changes required. 

b) Inventories 

CICA Handbook Section 3031, issued in June 2007, establishes new standards on the detennination of 
cost and requires inventories to be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of 
inventories includes the cost to purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location. The new standard also requires additional disclosures regarding the accounting policies 
used in measuring the inventories, the carrying value of the inventories, amounts recognized as an expense 
during the period, write-downs and the amount of any reversal of write-downs recognized in the period. 
The standard is effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Adoption of the 
standard did not have any impact on the financial statements. 

c) Intangible assets 

CICA Handbook Section 3064, issued in February 2008, provides guidance on the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure for goodwill and intangible assets, other than initial recognition 
of goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a business combination. The standard is effective for fiscal 
periods beginning on or after October 1, 2008, and requires retroactive application to prior period financial 
statements. Adoption of the standard did not have any impact on the financial statements. 

d) Capital disclosures 

CICA Handbook Section 1535, issued in December 2006, specifies the disclosure of (i) an entity's 
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital; (ii) quantitative data about what the entity regards 
as capital; (iii) whether the entity has complied with any capital requirements and (iv) if it has not 

(4) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2009 

complied, the consequences of such non-compliance. Recommended disclosures from this section have 
been included in note 13 of these fmancial statements. 

e) Going concern 

In April2007, the CICA approved amendments to CICA Handbook Section 1400, General Standards of 
Financial Statement Presentation. These amendments require management to assess an entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern. When management is aware of material uncertainties related to events or 
conditions that may cast doubt on an entity's ability to continue as a going concern, those uncertainties 
must be disclosed. In assessing the appropriateness of the going concern assumption, the standard requires 
management to consider all available information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, 
twelve months from the balance sheet date. The new requirements of the standard are applicable for 
interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2008. 
Adoption of the standard did not have any impact on the financial statements. 

f) Credit risk and the fair value of financial assets and financia1liabilities 

On January 20, 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee ("EIC") of the Accounting Standards Board issued 
ElC Abstract 173, "Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities", which 
establishes guidance requiring an entity to consider its own credit and the credit risk of the counterparty 
when determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivative 
instruments. EIC 173 should be applied retroactively, without restatement of prior periods. The adoption 
of this interpretation did not have a significant impact on the Co-operative's financial statements. 

Future accounting recommendations 

a) Business combinations 

CICA Handbook Section 1582 will improve the relevance, reliability and comparability of the information 
that a reporting entity provides in its fmancial statements about a business combination and its effects. 
This section outlines a variety of changes, including but not limited to the following: an expanded 
definition of a business, a requirement to measure all business combinations and non-controlling interest at 
fair value and a requirement to recognize future income tax assets and liabilities and acquisition and 
related costs as expenses of the period. The standard is effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2011. The Co-operative is currently reviewing the impact of this standard and will adopt the 
standard commencing in fiscal20 12. 

b) Consolidated financial statements and non-controlling interests 

CICA Handbook Sections 1601 and 1602 will replace CICA Handbook- Section 1600, "Consolidated 
Financial Statements". Section 1601 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements and specifically addresses consolidation accounting following a business combination that 
involves the purchase of an equity interest in one company by another. Section 1602 establishes standards 
for accounting for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in consolidated financial statements 
subsequent to a business combination. The standard is effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after 

(5) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2009 

January 1, 2011. The Co-operative is currently reviewing the impact of this standard and will adopt the 
standard commencing in fiscal 2012 

c) International Financial Reporting Standards 

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board requires all publicly accountable enterprises to adopt 
International Financial Reporting Standards (!FRS) for interim and armual financial statements for fiscal 
years beginning on or after January I, 2011. Companies will be required to provide !FRS comparative 
information for the previous fiscal period. The transition from Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles to !FRS will be applicable for the Co-operative's fiscal2012. While the adoption of!FRS 
would impact the financial statements of the Co-operative, the Co-operative is assessing whether it will 
adopt !FRS. 

3 Restricted cash 

Debt service reserve account 
Cash on account - letters of credit 
Post completion account 

2009 
$ 

4,484,689 

214,655 

4 699,344 

2008 
$ 

4,168,720 
2,750,103 

6,918,823 

Under the terms of the credit agreement, as construction funds were obtained, a portion was added to the debt 
service reserve account such that at substantial completion the sum of two principal instalments plus six months 
of interest is available in a separate account to service bank debt. In the event cash flow is insufficient to meet 
the quarterly requirement, these funds may be used but must be replenished. 

Prior to substantial completion and access to the operating line of credit, the Co-operative was required to 
maintain cash in a separate account for certain letters of credit. The primary letters of credit were for security 
for com procurement ($2,500,000) and gas delivery ($232,667). During the year, these funds were released 
and the collateral was replaced with the revolving term facility (note 9). 

4 Accounts receivable 

Trade accounts receivable 
Operating grant receivable (note 17) 
Capital grant receivable (note 17) 
Deposit on account with derivative contract supplier 
Other receivables 

2009 
$ 

1,129,194 
5,891,353 
7,277,514 

647,424 
238,284 

15,183,769 

2008 
$ 

754,782 

754,782 

(6) 
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September 30, 2009 

5 Inventory 

Fuel grade ethanol 
Work in process 
Feedstock, process chemicals and supplies 

6 Property, plant and equipment 

Cost 
$ 

Land 2,923,721 
Building 13,615,335 
Site pipelines 2,287,513 
Furniture and fixtures 70,228 
Equipment 621,364 
Process equipment 64,395,889 
Gas pipeline under capital lease (note 10) 8,472,554 

92,386,604 

Cost 
$ 

Land 2,828,881 
Building 400,000 
Furniture and fixtures 45,559 
Equipment 363,437 
Gas pipe line under capital lease (note I 0) 8,363,454 

12,001,331 

2009 2008 
$ $ 

1,767,813 
533,402 251,464 

1,606,179 3,496,130 

3,907,394 3,747,594 

2009 

Accumulated 
Amortization Net 

$ $ 

2,923,721 
647,412 12,967,923 
129,541 2,157,972 
17,337 52,891 

159,211 462,153 
4,274,748 60,121,141 
1,210,365 7,262,189 

6,438,614 85,947,990 

2008 

Accumulated 
Amortization Net 

$ $ 

2,828,881 
8,000 392,000 
7,197 38,362 

40,741 322,696 
8,363,454 

55,938 11,945,393 

(7) 
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In the current year, the Co-operative has received or recognised capital grants from the Government for plant 
construction costs in the amount of$19,623,593 (2008- $10,710,000), which are netted against the total cost of 
the ethanol plant. 

7 Construction in progress 

8 

9 

Plant equipment and buildings 
Capitalized interest (note 18) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

2009 
$ 

2008 
$ 

95,409,588 
2,687,939 

98,097,527 

The engineering procurement and construction (EPC) company agreed to defer $3,904,712 of the amounts 
owing under the Design/Build Agreement pending Co-operative's receipt of payment under the ecoAgriculture 
Biofuels Capital Initiative agreement (note 17). In return, the payable is interest bearing ($1,701,602 at 8.5% as 
of August 31,2008 and $2,203,100 at 8.0% as ofNovember 30, 2008). In the event that full repayment of 
amounts owing are not repaid by October 15, 2009, EPC has the option to convert $4.00 of debt and accrued 
interest into one Class A Preference Shares of the Co-operative with a par value $5.00. This payable amount 
has been included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Subsequent to year end, the amount owing was 
repaid and the option is no longer effective. 

Bank debt 

2009 2008 
$ $ 

' 

Term debt 53,971,188 
Construction facility 48,360,222 
Bridge facility 10,628,622 

53,971,188 58,988,844 

Less: Current portion (7,337,688) (53,141,426) 

Less: Deferred financing costs (4,008,186) (5,847,418) 

42,625,314 

The Co-operative entered into a credit agreement on June 15, 2007 with a lead bank as Agent for certain 
lenders to initially make the following credit facilities available: 
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a) A seven year non-revolving term loan facility for $63,700,000 to be used for construction of the plant 
with principal payments of$3,822,000 commencing in 2009, due June 27,2014. 

b) Certain non-revolving bridge facilities for construction costs prior to receipt of government funding in 
the amount of$14,000,000. 

c) A seven year revolving term facility for working capital purposes not to exceed lesser of $7,000,000 or 
the borrowing base. Borrowing base uses as collateral85% of eligible receivables and inventory. 

During the year, the Co-operative had drawn the full amount allowed against the seven year non-revolving term 
loan facility. The revolving facility became available after substantial completion of the ethanol plant as 
defined under the credit agreement. 

The credit agreement also provided a short-term bridge facility for $14,000,000 which was repaid in March 
2009 when the Co-operative received the $14,000,000 capital grant from OMAFRA (note 17). 

Deferred financing costs have been allocated to the term loan, revolving term facility and bridge facility. At 
year-end the unamortized balances allocated to these elements of the credit agreement are $3,233,786, 
$744,400 and Nil respectively. 

As at September 30, 2009, the Co-operative had $2,754,481 ofletters of credit drawn against the seven year 
revolving term facility. 

During construction, interest is based on the variable banker's acceptance rate and a stamping fee of3.75%. 
After substantial completion, the debt becomes a term debt with interest at the variable banker's acceptance rate 
and a stamping fee of3.25% which was increased to 4.00% after negotiating the amendment to the credit 
agreement. The aggregate amount of principal payments required in each of the next five years under debt 
facilities are: 

2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 

$ 

7,337,688 
3,822,000 
3,822,000 
3,822,000 

35,167,500 

53,971,188 

Debt repayments made on each repayment date will be the greater: of 70% of excess cash flows; and the 
difference between the outstanding amount and the target outstanding debt to a maximum of 100% of the 
excess cash flows. The target outstanding debt is reduced by $3,033,333 per quarter. If there are no excess cash 
flows, the Company is required to pay 1.5% of the initial debt outstanding for a total of$955,500 per quarter, 
which has been disclosed in the principal payments required and adjusted for the December 2009 payment 
totalling $4,471,188. As at September 30, 2009, the target debt outstanding was $57,633,333. A voluntary 
prepayment feature allows the Company to prepay a minimum of$500,000 with adequate notice to the Agent. 

(9) 
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Under the credit agreement, the Co-operative has provided security to the lenders, the key elements of which 
are as follows: 

a) a fixed and floating charge debenture in the amount of$150 million; 
b) a general security agreement covering all assets of the Co-operative; 
c) an assigrunent of insurance; and 
d) a limited recourse guarantee and a securities pledge agreement. 

10 Capital lease obligation 

As part of the construction of the ethanol plant, it was necessary for the local natural gas distributor to construct 
a 29 km pipeline from a Union Gas trunk pipeline to the town of Aylmer. The costs of the pipeline are fully 
borne by the Co-operative, through 'aid-to-construct' payments, plus certain fixed gas delivery charges over a 7 
year contract period. While the Co-operative has no ownership interest in the pipeline, accounting guidelines 
require that in such instances where the value of the asset is fully recovered by the supplier and the customer 
has exclusive, or virtually exclusive, use of the asset, the arrangement is accounted for as a lease. 

Accordingly, the Co-operative has recorded the capital cost of the pipeline as a capital lease, and the discounted 
value of certain fixed gas delivery charges over the next 7 years as a capital lease obligation, with notional . 
interest of 15%. The details of the capital lease obligation are as follows: 

Future minimum lease payments: 

2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 

Amounts representing interest 

Less: Current portion 

Long-term portion 

$ 

1,066,252 
1,066,252 
1,066,252 
1,066,252 
1,066,252 
1,066,252 

6,397,512 

2,207,026 

4,190,486 

464,433 

3,726,053 

In addition to the foregoing, the Co-operative is obligated to provide a letter of credit to the natural gas 
distributor to ensure performance under the agreement. At year end, a letter of credit in the amount of 
$5,214,173 (2008- $5,214,173) was issued in their favour. 
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11 Subordinated debentures and notes 

Class A debentures maturing on December 31,2013 and bearing 
interest at 8.5% per annum 

Class B debentures maturing on December 31,2013 and bearing 
interest at 7.5% per annum 

Promissory notes maturing on December 31, 20 I 0 and bearing 
interest at 8% per annum 

2009 
$ 

1,070,000 

37,000 

1,277,500 

2,384,500 

2008 
$ 

895,000 

27,000 

1,525,000 

2,447,000 

The redemption of these subordinate debentures at maturity and the payment of interest thereon are subject to 
the prior consent of the lenders to the Co-operative. Subsequent to year end, with the consent of the lenders, 
$545,530 was repaid with respect to the promissory notes. 

12 Capital stock 

Authorized 

100,000 Membership Shares, voting, with a par value of $100 each. 

11,000,000 Class A Preference Shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par 
value of $5 each. 

5,000,000 Class B Preference Shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

5,000,000 Class C Preference Shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

5,000,000 Class D Preference Shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

The Class A and Class B preference shares are redeemable at their par value, plus a premium, if any, 
equivalent to a pro rata share of retained earnings of the Co-operative, calculated at the end of the 
immediately proceeding fiscal year subject to certain conditions. The Class C and D preference shares are 
redeemable at their par value. The preference shares do not carry a retraction right. 

Each of the Class A, B, C, and D preference shares are entitled to non-cumulative preferential dividends to be 
declared at the discretion of the Board. 
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During the year, 30 Membership Shares (2008- 95), 168,000 Class A Preference Shares (2008- 1,004,160) and 
I ,000 Class B Preference Shares (2008 - 5,400) were issued for cash consideration of $3,000 (2008 - $9,500), 
$840,000 (2008- $5,020,800) and $5,000 (2008- $27,000) respectively. 
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Issued and fully paid Membership Class A ClassB 

# s # s # s 

Issued at October 1, 2007 4,140 414,000 9,266,199 45,745,995 189,313 946,565 

New subscriptions 95 9,500 1,004,160 5,020,800 5,400 27,000 

Redemptions 

Balance, September 30, 2008 4,235 423,500 10,270,359 50,766,795 194,713 973,565 

New subscriptions 30 3,000 168,000 840,000 1,000 5,000 

Redemptions (10) (1,000) (4,000) (20,000) 

Balance, September 30, 2009 4,255 425,500 10,438,359 51,606,795 191,713 958,565 

ClassC Class D Total 

# s # s s 

800 4,000 8,420 42,100 47,152,660 

5,057,300 

800 4,000 8,420 42,100 52,209,960 

848,000 

(21,000) 

800 4,000 8,420 42,100 53,036,960 

(13) 
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13 Capital disclosures 

The Co-operative has two primary capital management objectives. The first of which is to raise and maintain a 
capital base to finance the construction and operation of an ethanol manufacturing facility. In compliance with 
the credit agreement, membership and preference shares and subordinate debentures ("securities") have been 
issued. These securities are governed by the Co-operative Corporations Act. Annually, an Offering Statement 
is filed with the Superintendent (Financial Services Corporation of Ontario). 

The second primary capital management objective is to safeguard the Co-operative's ability to continue as a 
going concern so that it can provide returns to its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. In this 
context, management considers capital to be its net worth as defined in the credit agreement as containing 
shareholders' equity and capital grants. The agent for the syndicate of the term debt has imposed certain 
covenants in connection with the term debt and credit facilities. As at September 30, 2009, the Co-operative 
was in compliance with these covenants. 

14 Financial instruments 

Fair value 

The fair value of financial instruments, such as cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities are determined to approximate their recorded value due to their short term maturity. 

Commodity and currency contracts and the interest rate swap contract are carried at fair value. 

The research and development fund liability has been recorded at fair value at the time of recognition and is 
carried at amortized cost (note 17). 

Management has not determined the fair value of its bank debt, capital lease obligations or subordinated 
debentures and notes. 

Credit risk 

The Co-operative's exposure to credit risk relates to its accounts receivable. Due to the exclusive marketing 
arrangements for ethanol and distillers grains, all of the trade accounts receivables are with two customers. 

Interest rate risk 

The Co-operative is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates on its cash, restricted cash, and term debt. A 
portion of this risk due to variable interest rates has been addressed by the use of interest rate swap contracts 
(note 20). 

15 Commodity derivative contracts 

The Co-operative is exposed to the impact of market fluctuations associated with commodity prices. It 
anticipates the use of derivative financial instruments as part of an overall strategy to manage market risk, 

(14) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
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assuming it has sufficient liquidity to manage such a strategy. The Co-operative intends, when able, to use 
cash, futures, swaps, costless collars and option contracts to mitigate against the risk of changes to the 
commodity prices of com, natural gas and ethanol. The Co-operative will not enter into these derivative 
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes, nor will it designate these contracts as cash flow or 
fair value hedges for accounting. These financial instruments are accounted for using the mark-to-market 
method, with any changes in fair value immediately recognized in operations. 

At September 30, 2009, the Co-operative had the following derivative contracts outstanding: 

Average cost/price in USD Expiry 

Com 
Ethanol 
Natural gas 
RBOB* 

$3.34- $3.36/bushel 
$1.61/US gallon 
$5.25- $6.25/MMBtu 
$1.665- $1.945/US gallon 

Dec 2009 -Mar 20 I 0 
Nov 2009 -Jan 2010 
Dec 2009 - Mar 20 I 0 
Nov 2009- Oct 2010 

The net market value of these open positions is an unrealized gain of$226,501 (US$ 211,545). 

(* RBOB -reformulated gasoline blendstock for oxygenate blending) 

J 16 Commitments 

Corn supply agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement for the supply of corn for production of ethanol for 
an initial term of five years from October I, 2008, and it is expected that 350,000 metric tonnes are to be 
supplied each year. The Co-operative is also required under the agreement to provide adequate assurance for 
the com supplier's mark-to-market exposure over a pre-determined threshold. 

Risk management agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an agreement with a risk management services provider to implement an 
integrated price risk management program for an initial term of one year from June 22, 2007 and is 
automatically renewed each year for an additional one year term. 

Ethanol marketing agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement with an ethanol marketer for the marketing of all of 
the ethanol production for an initial term of one year from the first day of production, which was October 15, 
2008, and the agreement has been renewed for an additional two year term. The ethanol marketing company 
has agreed to take and pay for I 00% of the output. 

(15) 
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Distillers grain purchaser agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement with a marketer to market the following by-products 
of ethanol production: dry grains with solubles, wet grains with solubles, and wet modified grains with solubles 
for an initial term of five years from the first day of production, which was October 15, 2008. 

17 Government grants 

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rnral Affairs (OMAFRA) 

The Co-operative has been awarded two grants from OMAFRA. 

a) In March 2009, the Company received a capital grant of$14,000,000 after completion of the project and 
achieving nameplate capacity by establishing the capability of producing 145 million litres of ethanol in a 
calendar year. As a condition precedent to receiving the grant, the Company is committed to contribute 
$2,800,000 over ten years to a future industry related Research and Development Fund, as administered by 
the Agricultural Research Institute of Ontario. The first payment is to be made on April I, 2012, three 
years after the full grant was received. An amount of$1,653,921, representing the present value of these 
payments discounted at 6.6%, was recorded as a research and development fund liability, thus reducing the 
amount of capital grant recognized for the purpose of recording the net cost of capital assets. 

b) An operating grant was activated when the plant began operation in October 2008. Funding is based on 
the actual volume of denatured ethanol produced in a month times the rate of payment for that month (not 
to exceed $0.11 per litre) subject to an annual maximum of 145 million litres. During the year, the Co­
operative reached this maximum and earned $12,700,695 in operating grants ($0.0876 per litre), of which 
$1,895,591 has been accrued in accounts receivable. The agreement is set to expire December 31, 2016. 

If the profitability of the Co-operative reaches or exceeds the threshold of 17.5% as calculated by the 
internal rate of return on a cash flow basis, the grant is reduced by 40%. This reduction increases 
incrementally up to I 00% if profitability remains above 17 .5%. As at September 30, 2009, the Co­
operative's internal rate of return was below the threshold of 17.5%. 

Ethanol Expansion Program contribution 

This capital grant, managed by NRCan (Natural Resources Canada), will reimburse $11,900,000 of 
construction costs for the ethanol facility. The Co-operative has received $10,710,000 of contribution which 
has been netted against construction costs. The balance of$1,190,000 is to be received by the Co-operative 
after the completion of the government's audit process. The balance has been accrued as an amount receivable. 

For each of the calendar years from 2009 to 2016 inclusive or until the grants have been repaid in full, the Co­
operative must repay an amount calculated as of December 31 of each year as follows: 

(Average Gross Income per Litre minus $0.20 per litre) X the total Fuel Ethanol Produced in the previous 
twelve (12) months X .20 
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If the average gross income per litre is $0.20 or less, the repayment will be zero. 

ecoEnergy for Biofuels 

The Company qualified for an operating grant under the Federal Government's ecoEnergy for Biofuels 
program, managed by NRCan. The operating grant is payable quarterly, from 2008 to 2016. The maximum 
incentive rate payable declines from $0.10 per litre of ethanol sold in the first year to $0.04 per litre in the last. 
The maximum eligible sales volume is 162,000,000 litres per year. During the year, the Company earned 
$14,135,170 in operating grants ($0.0957 per litre) of which $3,995,762 has been accrued as an amount 
receivable. 

EcoAgriculture Biofuels Capital Program contribution 

On March 27, 2009, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada signed an amendment to the agreement which increase 
the grant to $6,087,514 (2008- $3,952,412). The grant is based on eligible project costs and maintaining a 
minimum level of investment in its parent by agriculture producers. This grant is to be received by the Co­
operative after the completion of the government's audit process. The balance has been accrued as an amount 
receivable. 

This is a repayable contribution agreement. To retain the grant, agricultural producer investment must be 
maintained until at least the second anniversary date of commissioning. 

18 Interest 

Term debt 
Settlement interest on swap 
Subordinated debentures and notes 
Other 
Capital lease obligation 

Less: Interest income 
Less: Capitalized interest (note 7) 

Net interest expense 

2009 
$ 

3,455,030 
1,104,861 

218,996 
382,052 
666,566 

5,827,505 

204,510 

5,622,995 

2008 
$ 

2,417,197 
255,056 

125,678 

2,797,931 

109,992 
2,687,939 

(17) 
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19 Income taxes 

The Co-operative has non-capital losses available of$1,240,845 (2008- $12,421,888) expiring between 2027 
and 2029 that may only be offset against future taxable income. Non-capital losses can be carried forward for 
20 years. In addition, the Co-operative has capital losses available for carry-forward of$736,539 (2008-
$736,539) that may be offset against future capital gains. These losses have no expiry date. The Co-operative 
has recognized the benefit of the non-capital losses as these are expected to be recovered, while the benefit of 
the capital loss has not been recognized. 

20 Interest rate swap contracts 

Under the terms of the credit agreement, on August 30, 2007, the Co-operative entered into monthly interest 
rate swap contracts to match the construction drawdown and term debt repayment schedule. These swap 
agreements convert a portion of the variable-rate liability into a fixed-rate liability. At September 30, 2009, the 
unrealized loss on these interest rate swap agreements was $2,042,963 (2008- $1,284,867). 

Terms of the agreement at September 30, 2009 are as follows: 

Termination date: 
Notional amount of principal (maximum): 

Fixed paying rate: 

21 Net change in non-cash working capital balances 

(Increase) decrease in -
Accounts receivable 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses 

Increase (decrease) in -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Cash paid (received) during the year for: 
Interest paid 
Interest received 
Income taxes 

June 1, 2014 
$27,506,818 (2008- $31,850,000) 
4.91% 

2009 2008 
$ $ 

(7,151,473) (61,435) 
(159,800) (3,747,594) 
(43,670) (559,203) 

3,606,232 1,688,318 

(3,748,711) (2,679,914) 

4,295,943 3,035,667 
(54,302) (125,332) 
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22 Stock options 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. is authorized to grant certain directors options to purchase Class 
A Preference Shares of the Co-operative. 

The Co-operative has also authorized $99,500 worth of Class A Preference Share options to a non-employee 
for services provided leading up to obtaining financing. When exercised, the fair value of the shares will equal 
cost of the services provided. 

These options vest when exercised and under the Co-operative Corporations Act are exercisable at $5.00 per 
share until they expire on June 24, 2017. They will be deemed to have been automatically exercised 
immediately before any change in control of the Co-operative or before the sale of substantially all of its assets. 

Options granted to acquire 139,060 Class A Preference Shares to 
directors 

Options granted to acquire 19,900 Class A Preference Shares to a 
supplier 

Options granted to acquire 5 Membership shares to a supplier 

Total stock options- end of year 

23 Contingencies 

2009 
$ 

695,300 

99,500 
500 

795,300 

2008 
$ 

695,300 

99,500 
500 

795,300 

The Co-operative has been named as a defendant in a lawsuit arising from the construction of the gas pipeline. 
The outcome of this claim is not currently determinable, however management is of the view that no payments 
will be made, other than defense costs, as a result of the claim. Any settlement that should arise will be 
accounted for in the year that a liability is established. 

24 Comparative financial information 

Certain prior period financial information has been amended to conform to the current period presentation. 
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December 13, 2010 

Auditors' Report 

To the Shareholders of 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 

PrlcewaterbauseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
465 Riclunond Street. Suite 300 
London, Ontario 
Canada N6A 5P4 
Telephone +I 519 640 8000 
Facsimile +1 519 640 sots 

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
(the "Co-operative") as at September 30,2010 and the consolidated statements of operations and 
retained earnings (deficit), and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Co-operative's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An and it also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Co-operative as at September 30, 2010 and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

"PricewaterhouseCoopers" refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership, or, as the context requires, the 
PricewaterhouseCoopers globaJ network or other member finns of the network, each of which is a separate legal entity. 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
As at September 30, 2010 

Assets (note 7) 

Current assets 
Cash 
Restricted cash (note 3) 
Accounts receivable (note 4) 
Inventory (note 5) 
Prepaid expenses and deposits (note 14) 
Fair value of commodity derivative contracts (note 13) 
Future income taxes 

Property, plant and equipment (note 6) 
Intangible assets 
Fntnre income taxes 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Income taxes payable 
Fair value of commodity derivative contracts (note 13) 
Fair value of interest rate swap contracts (note 18) 
Current portion of capital lease obligation (note 8) 
Current portion of subordinated debentures and notes (note 9) 
Current portion ofterm debt (note 7) 

Capital lease obligation (note 8) 
Subordinated debentures and notes (note 9) 
Term debt (note 7) 
Research and development fund liability (note I 5) 
Future income taxes 

Shareholders' Equity 

Capital stock (note 10) 
Contributed surplus (note 20) 
Retained earnings (deficit) 

Ap~d by the B~ic 
Director 

2010 2009 
$ $ 

14,180,256 7,540,769 
3,707,130 4,699,344 

10,534,594 14,536,345 
4,088,165 3,499,728 
3,164,335 1,658,334 

226,501 
628,000 549,000 

36,302,480 32,710,021 

79,829,439 85,947,990 
2,996,803 3,227,324 
1,521,000 336,000 

120,649,722 122,221,335 

3,555,220 6,905,236 
540,517 87,000 
898,991 

1,436,240 2,042,963 
539,670 464,433 
731,544 

5,150,000 7,337,688 

12,852,182 16,837,320 

3,186,383 3,726,053 
1,107,000 2,384,500 

29,336,112 42,625,314 
1,821,261 1,708,500 
6,285,000 1,160,000 

54,587,938 68,441,687 

52,966,860 53,036,960 
806,150 906,150 

12,288,774 (163,462) 

66,061,784 53,779,648 

122.221 35 

Director 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings (Deficit) 
For the year ended September 30, 2010 

2010 
$ 

Net sales 94,572,758 

Cost of goods sold 86,862,984 
Depreciation and amortization 6,584,951 
Net loss (gain) on commodity derivative contracts 1,914,480 
Operating grants (note 15) (27,116,164} 

68,246,251 

Gross profit 26,326,507 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 4,191,364 
Amortization of deferred financing costs and depreciation I 570,667 

5,762,031 

Operating income 20,564,476 

Other income (expenses) 
Interest expense (note 16) (4,184,054) 
Interest income 33,780 
Gain (loss) on interest rate swap (note 18) 606,724 
Loss on foreign exchange (79,690) 

{3,623,240} 

Income before provision for taxes 16,941,236 

Provision for current income taxes 628,000 
Provision for future income taxes 3,861,000 

4,489,000 

Net income for the year 12,452,236 

Deficit- Beginning of year (163,462) 

Retained earnings (deficit)- End of year 12,288,774 

2009 
$ 

89,382, Ill 

91,209,893 
6,309,950 

(36,746) 
(26,835,865) 

70,647,232 

18,734,879 

3,396,720 
1,948,324 

5,345,044 

13,389,835 

(5,622,995) 
48,640 

(758,096) 
(48,84'1) 

(6,381,298) 

7,008,537 

87,000 
2,190,000 

2,277,000 

4,731,537 

(4,894,999) 

~163,462) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended September 30, 2010 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net income for the year 
Changes (credits) to income not involving cash: 

Depreciation and amortization 
Unrealized (gain) loss on commodity derivative contracts 
(Gain) loss on interest rate swap contracts 
Interest on research and development fund liability 
Future income taxes 

Net change in non-cash working capital balances (note 19) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Repayments of subordinated debentures and notes (note 9) 
Net proceeds and redemptions of share subscriptions (note I 0) 
Settlement of stock options (note 20) 
Proceeds from credit facility (note 7) 
Payment of bridge facility (note 7) 
Payment of term debt (note 7) 
Payment of capital lease obligation (note 8) 
Deferred financing costs (note 7) 
Decrease in restricted cash (note 3) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property and equipment 
Construction in progress 
Proceeds from OMAFRA capital grant (note 15) 

Net increase in cash 

Cash " Beginning of year 

Cash- End of year 

2010 
$ 

12,452,236 

8,155,618 
1,125,492 
(606,723) 
112,761 

3,861,000 

25,100,384 

(989,186) 

24 111,198 

(545,956) 
(70, 100) 

(100,000) 

(16,971,188) 
(464,433) 

992,214 

(17,159,463} 

(312,248) 

(312,248} 

6,639,487 

7,540,769 

14,180,256 

2009 
$ 

4,731,537 

8,258,274 
(226,501) 
758,096 

54,579 
2,190,000 

15,765,985 

(3,748,711) 

12,017.274 

(62,500) 
827,000 

18,711,156 
(14,000,000) 
(9,728,812) 

(404,708) 
(36,368) 

2,219,479 

(2,474,753} 

(959,121) 
(18,315,894) 
14,000,000 

(5,275,015} 

4,267,506 

3,273,263 

7,540,769 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2010 

1 Nature of operations 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. (the "Co-operative") was incorporated on April4, 2002 under the 
Ontario Co-operative Corporations Act. 

The Co-operative produces and sells ethanol and distillers grain through its 150 million litre fuel ethanol 
production facility in south western Ontario, which was completed on October 15, 2008. 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Co-operative and its wholly­
owned subsidiary, IGPC Ethanol Inc. (the "Subsidiary"). Intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated on consolidation. 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fmancial statements and revenues and 
expenses for the year reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Revenue recognition 

The Co-operative recognizes revenue on the sale of ethanol and distillers grains at the time of shipment. 

Government assistance 

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Co-operative has complied with 
the conditions of the grant. Such grants are accounted for as reduction of the related expense or asset, or as 
income, as appropriate. 

Inventories 

Inventories of finished products, feedstock, process chemicals and supplies are valued at the lo~er of net 
realizable value and average cost. Work in process consists of cost of material and direct labour and is valued 
at the lower of net realizable value and average cost. 

(I) 
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Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Amortization is provided for in the accounts as follows: 

Buildings and site pipelines 
Furniture and fixtures 
Equipment 
Process equipment 
Gas pipeline under capital lease 

5% declining balance 
20% declining balance 
30% declining balance 
15 years straight line 
7 years straight line 

In the year of acquisition, amortization is provided for at one-half of the above rates, except in 2009 when the 
cost of the process plant was transferred from construction in progress to the appropriate asset categories and 
amortization was provided for from the date of production. No amortization is provided for in the year of 
disposal or until assets are put into service. 

The total cost of major capital projects includes related interest incurred during the period of construction. 
Capitalization of interest ceased on October 15,2008 when the ethanol plant was substantially complete and 
ready for its intended productive use. 

Grants under government capital assistance programs are deducted from the cost of the assets to which the 
grant relates. 

Intangible asset 

The intangible asset recorded on the balance sheet, relates to the right to use the proprietary design and 
processes to produce ethanol. The asset is being amortized over the life of the process equipment of 15 years. 

Financial instruments 

Under CICA Handbook Section 3855- Financial Assets and Liabilities, including derivative instruments, are 
initially recognized and subsequently measured based on their classification as held-for-trading, available-for­
sale financial assets, held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, or other financial liabilities as follows: 

• Held-for-trading financial instruments are measured at their fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized in net income for the year. 

• Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value and changes in fair value are 
included in other comprehensive income until the asset is removed from the balance sheet. 

• Loans and receivables are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

• Other financial liabilities are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method 

• Derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are measured at their fair value with changes 
in fair value recognized in net income for the year unless the instrument is a cash flow hedge and 

~ (2) 
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hedge accounting applies in which case changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 

The following is a summary of the classification of assets and liabilities of the Co-operative: 

Financial Instrument 
Cash 
Restricted cash 
Accounts receivable 
Fair value of commodity derivative contracts 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Fair value of interest rate swap contracts 
Capital lease obligation 
Subordinated debentures and notes 
Term and bank debt 
Research and development fund liability 

Classification 
Held-for-trading 
Held-for-trading 
Loans and receivables 
Derivative instrument (non-hedge) 
Other financial liabilities 
Derivative instrument (non-hedge) 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 

As a co-operative business enterprise, the Co-operative has elected to apply CICA Handbook Section 3861 
-Financial instruments- Disclosures and Presentation, in lieu of CICA Handbook Section 3862 -
Financial instruments -Disclosure, and 3863 -Financial Instruments -Presentation. CICA Handbook 
Section 3861 specifies the presentation of financial instruments and non-financial derivatives, and 
identifies the information that should be disclosed about them. 

Deferred financing costs 

Transaction costs related to the credit agreement are netted against the carrying value of the term loan and are 
amortized over the duration of the credit agreement using the effective interest rate method, based on target 
debt levels of the tenn loan and expected levels of available credit under the revolving term facility. 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Exposure to interest rates on debt is managed through the use of interest rate swap contracts. These swap 
contracts require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amount on 
which the payments are based. Settlement amounts under interest rate swap contracts have been included in 
capitalized interest during the pre-operating period prior to October 15,2008. Changes in the fair value of the 
interest rate swap contracts have been recorded in the statement of operations. 

Stock options 

Options arc accounted for under the fair market method. Stock-based compensation costs, measured at the grant 
date based on the fair value of the options granted and recognized over the service period involved, are 
recorded as expenses on the income statement. The amounts are credited to contributed surplus. The 
consideration paid upon exercise of the options and the originally recorded fair value of the options are added 
to share capital. 

(3) 
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Income taxes 

The liability method of accounting for income taxes is used. Under this method, future income tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on the differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and the 
tax cost bases of these assets and liabilities measured using substantially enacted income tax laws and rates. 

Future accounting recommendations 

Business combinations 

CICA Handbook Section 1582 -Business Combinations, will improve the relevance, reliability and 
comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its financial statements about a business 
combination and its effects. This section outlines a variety of changes, including but not limited to the 
following: an expanded definition of a business, a requirement to measure all business combinations and non­
controlling interest at fair value and a requirement to recognize future income tax assets and liabilities and 
acquisition and related costs as expenses of the period. The standard is effective for fiscal periods beginning on 
or after January I, 2011. The Co-operative is currently reviewing the impact ofthis standard and will adopt the 
standard commencing in fiscal20!2. 

Consolidated financial statements and non-controlling interests 

CICA Handbook Sections 1601 -Consolidated Financial Statements, and 1602- Non-controlling Interests, 
will replace CJCA Handbook Section 1600 - Consolidated Financial Statements. Section 160 I establishes 
standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements and specifically addresses consolidation 
accounting following a business combination that involves the purchase of an equity interest in one company 
by another. Section 1602 establishes standards for accounting for a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary in 
consolidated financial statements subsequent to a business combination. The standard is effective for fiscal 
periods beginning on or after January I, 2011. The Co-operative is currently reviewing the impact of this 
standard and will adopt the standard commencing in fiscal20 12. 

Future accounting standards 

Non-publicly accountable enterprises have the option of adopting International Financial Reporting Standards 
(!FRS) or Accounting Standards for Private Enterprises (ASPE) for annual financial statements for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January I, 2011. Management and the Board of Directors have determined that the Co­
operative will adopt !FRS for its fiscal year ending September 30, 2012. Management is in the process of 
determining the impact of this change on its accounting policies and reporting practices. 
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Restricted cash 

2010 2009 
$ $ 

Debt service reserve account 3,497,575 4,484,689 
Post completion account 209,555 214.655 

3 707,130 4,699,344 

Under the terms of the credit agreement, as construction funds were obtained, a portion was added to the debt 
service reserve account such that at substantial completion the sum of two principal instalments plus six months 
of interest is avallable in a separate account to service bank debt. In the event cash flow is insufficient to meet 
the quarterly requirement, these funds may be used but must be replenished. 

Accounts receivable 

2010 2009 
$ $ 

Trade accounts receivable 2,058,381 1,129,194 
Operating grants receivable (note 15) 8,403,816 5,891,353 
Capital grant receivable (note 15) 7,277,514 
Other receivables 72,397 238,284 

10,534,594 14,536,345 

Inventory 

2010 2009 
$ $ 

Fuel grade ethanol 925,550 1,354,698 
Work in process 1,143,096 946,517 
Feedstock, process chemicals and supplies 2,019,519 1,198,513 

4,088,165 3,499,728 
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6 Property, plant and equipment 

Cost 
$ 

Land 2,923,721 
Buildings 13,648,830 
Site pipelines 2,287,513 
Furniture and fixtures 75,703 
Equipment 715,077 
Process equipment 64,575,452 
Gas pipeline under capital lease (note 8) 8,472,554 

92,698,850 

Cost 
$ 

Land 2,923,721 
Buildings 13,615,335 
Site pipelines 2,287,513 
Furniture and fixtures 70,228 
Equipment 621,364 
Process equipment 64,395,889 
Gas pipe line under capital lease (note 8) 8 472 554 

92,386,604 

2010 

Accumulated 
Amortization Net 

$ $ 

2,923,721 
1,296,645 12,352,185 

237,440 2,050,073 
28,463 47,240 

311,914 403,163 
8,574,220 56,001,232 
2,420,729 6,051,825 

12,869,411 79,829,439 

2009 

Accumulated 
Amortization Net 

$ $ 

2,923,721 
647,412 12,967,923 
129,541 2,157,972 

17,337 52,891 
159,211 462,153 

4,274, 60,121,141 
1,210,364 7,262,189 

6,438,614 85,947,990 

In the prior year, the Co-operative received and recognised capital grants from the Government for plant 
construction costs in the amount of$19,623,593, which are netted against the total cost ofthe ethanol plant. 
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7 Term debt 

2010 2009 
$ $ 

Term debt 37,000,000 53,971,188 
Less: Current portion (5, 150,000) (7,377,688) 
Less: Deferred financing costs (2,5\3,888) (4,008,186) 

29,336,112 42,625,314 

The Co-operative entered into a credit agreement on June 15, 2007 with a lead bank as Agent for certain 
lenders to initially make the following credit facilities available: 

a) A seven year non-revolving term loan facility for $63,700,000 to be used for construction of the plant 
with principal payments of$3,822,000 commencing in 2009, due June 27,2014. 

b) Certain non-revolving bridge facilities for construction costs prior to receipt of government funding in 
the amount of $14,000,000. 

c) A seven year revolving term facility for working capital purposes not to exceed lesser of$7,000,000 or 
the borrowing base. Borrowing base uses as collateral 85% of eligible receivables and inventory. 
Subsequently to year end, the amount has been reduced to $6,000,000. 

In the prior year, the Co-operative had drawn the full amount allowed against the seven year non-revolving 
term loan facility. The revolving facility became available after substantial completion of the ethanol plant as 
defined under the credit agreement. 

The credit agreement also provided a short-term bridge facility for $14,000,000 which was repaid in March 
2009 when the Co-operative received the $14,000,000 capital grant from OMAFRA (note 15). 

Deferred financing costs have been allocated to the term loan, revolving term facility and bridge facility. At 
year-end the unamortized balances allocated to these elements ofthe credit agreement are $1,933,088 (2009-
$3,233,786), $580,800 (2009- $744,400) and Nil (2009- Nil) respectively. 

As at September 30, 2010, the Co-opemtive had $2,754,481 (2009- $2,754,481) ofletters of credit drawn 
against the seven year revolving term facility. 

During construction, interest was based on the variable banker's acceptance rate and a stamping fee of3.75%. 
After substantial completion, the debt became a term debt with interest at the variable banker's acceptance rate 
and a stamping fee of3.25% which was increased to 4.00% after negotiating the amendment to the credit 
agreement. The aggregate amount of principal payments required in each of the next four years under debt 
facilities are: 
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2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 

$ 

5,150,000 
11,581,818 
11,581,818 
8,686,364 

37,000,000 

Debt repayments made on each repayment date has been the greater: of 70% of excess cash flows; and the 
difference between the outstanding amount and the target outstanding debt to a maximum of 100% of the 
excess cash flows. The target outstanding debt is reduced by $2,895,455 per quarter. If there are no excess cash 
flows, the Co-operative is required to pay 1.5% of the initial debt outstanding for a total of$955,500 per 
quarter, which has been disclosed in the principal payments required above and adjusted for the target 
outstanding debt amount. As at September 30, 2010, the target debt outstanding was $43,431,818. A voluntary 
prepayment feature allows the Co-operative to prepay a minimum of $500,000 with adequate notice to the 
Agent. 

Since the inception of the seven year revolving term facility, the Co-operative has made the following principal 
payments: 

Term debt at inception 
Principal payments in 2009 
Principal payments in 2010 

$ 

63,700,000 
(9,728,812) 

(16,971,188) 

37,000,000 

Under the credit agreement, the Co-operative has provided security to the lenders, the key elements of which 
are as follows: 

a) a fixed and floating charge debenture in the amount of$150 million; 
b) a general security agreement covering all assets of the Co-operative; 
c) an assignment of insurance; and 
d) a limited recourse guarantee and a securities pledge agreement. 

8 Capital lease obligation 

As part of the construction of the ethanol plant, it was necessary for the local natural gas distributor to construct 
a29 km pipeline from a Union Gas trunk pipeline to the town of Aylmer. The costs of the pipeline are fully 
borne by the Co-operative, through 'aid-to-construct' payments, plus certain fixed gas delivery charges over a 7 
year contract period. While the Co-operative has no ownership interest in the pipeline, accounting guidelines 
require that in such instances where the value of the asset is fully recovered by the supplier and the customer 
has exclusive, or virtually exclusive, use of the asset, the arrangement is accounted for as a lease. 

(8) 



) 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2010 

Accordingly, the Co-operative has recorded the capital cost of the pipeline as a capital lease, and the discounted 
value of certain fixed gas delivery charges over the next 7 years as a capital lease obligation, with notional 
interest of 15%. The details of the capital lease obligation are as follows: 

Future minimum lease payments: 

2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 

Amounts representing interest 

Less: Current portion 

Long-term portion 

$ 

1,066,252 
1,066,252 
1,066,252 
1,066,252 
1,066,252 

5,331,260 

1,605,207 

3,726,053 

539,670 

3,186,383 

In addition to the foregoing, the Co-operative is obligated to provide a letter of credit to the natural gas 
distributor to ensure performance under the agreement. At year end, a letter of credit in the amount of 
$5,214,173 (2009- $5,214,173) was issued in their favour. 

The fmal cost of the pipeline is currently under review by the Ontario Energy Board. Should the final costs 
differ from costs determined for purposes of calculating the capital lease obligation, the obligation will be 
adjusted accordingly. 

9 Subordinated debentures and notes 

Class A debentures maturing on December 31, 2013 and bearing 
interest at 8.5% per annum 

Class B debentures maturing on December 31, 2013 and bearing 
interest at 7.5% per armum . 

Promissory notes maturing on December 31,2010 and bearing 
interest at 8% per annum 

Less: Current portion 

2010 
$ 

1,070,000 

37,000 

731,544 

1,838,544 

731 544 

1,107,000 

2009 
$ 

1,070,000 

37,000 

1,277,500 

2,384,500 

2,384,500 
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The redemption of these subordinate debentures at maturity and the payment of interest thereon are subject to 
the prior consent of the lenders to the subsidiary. 

10 Capital stock 

Authorized 

Prior to June 8, 2010: 

100,000 membership shares, voting, with a par value of$100 each. 

11 ,000,000 Class A preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par 
value of$5 each. 

5,000,000 Class B preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

5,000,000 Class C preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

5,000,000 Class D preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

The Class A and Class B preference shares are redeemable at their par value, plus a premium, if any, 
equivalent to a pro rata share of retained earnings of the Co-operative, calculated at the end of the 
immediately preceding fiscal year subject to certain Conditions. The Class C and D preference shares are 
redeemable at their par value. The preference shares do not carry a retraction right. 

Each of the Class A, B, C, and D preference shares is entitled to non-cumulative preferential dividends to be 
declared at the discretion of the Board. 

With effect from June 8, 2010: 

100,000 membership shares, voting, with a par value of$100 each. 

20,000,000 Class E preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion ofthe Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

The Class E preference shares are redeemable at their par value, plus a premium, if any, equivalent to a pro 
rata share of retained earnings of the Co-operative, calculated at the end of the immediately preceding fiscal 
year subject to certain conditions, plus a pro rata share pf such premiums as may have been paid upon the 
purchase of any Class E preference shares. The prefer.nce shares do not carry a retraction right. 

Each of the Class E preference shares is entitled to non-cumulative preferential dividends to be declared at 
the discretion of the Board. 
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In the prior year, 30 membership shares, 168,000 Class A preference shares and 1,000 Class B preference 
shares were issued for cash consideration of$3,000, $840,000 and $5,000 respectively. 

During. the year, all Class C and D preference shares were redeemed in full and all Class B preference shares 
were re-designated as Class A preference shares on a one to one basis. After which, all Class A preference 
shares were renamed as Class I} preference shares. The Class A, B. C and D preference shares were deleted in 
the articles of amendment dated June 8,20 10, leaving only the membership shares and Class E preference 
shares authorized and issued at year end. These changes were approved by the· members of the CO-operative at 
the Annual General Meeting on M~rch 25, 2010. 
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Issued and runy paid 

1$1<d at October l,20Q8 

New subscriptions 

Redemptions 

Boloncc, Seplcmber 30, 2009 

New ~.b~iptions 

R~_demptions 

Re-designalion of Class B:shares 
as Cl~ E shares 

Balance, $eptentbcr 30,1010 

Cla$5 E (CJau A prior 
Membnshlp lo June 8, 2010) ClassB 

u s ~ s p s 

4,235 423.~00 10,270.3.~9 50,766,795 194,713 913,565 

30 3.000 168.000 $40,000 1,000 s.ooo 

(10) (I.OOOi ( 4.000) (20.000) 

4;255 425,500 10,438,359 51,606,795 191.713 958,565 

2,000 10,000 

(15) (1,500) (2, 900) ( 14,500) (3.600) (!8,000) 

190,113' 950,565 (190.! 13)(950,565) 

4,240 424,000 10.025.572 52,542.860 

CJassC Class D Tohd 

# s # s s 

800 4.000 8,420 42,100 52.209.%0 

848.000 

(21.000) 

800 4,000 8.420 42,100 53.036.%0 

!0.000 

(800) .(4,000) (8,420) (42.100) (80.100) 

52.966.860 
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11 Capital disclosures 

The Co-operative has two primary capital management objectives. The first of which is to raise and maintain a 
capital base to finance the construction and operation of an ethanol manufacturing facility. In compliance with 
the credit agreement, membership and preference shares and subordinate debentures ("securities") have been 
issued. These securities are governed by the Co-operative Corporations Act. Annually, an Offering Statement 
is filed with the Superintendent (Financial Services Corporation of Ontario). 

The second primary capital management objective is to safeguard the Co-operative's ability to continue as a 
going concern so that it can provide returns to its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. In this 
context, management considers capital to be its net worth as defined in the credit agreement as containing 
shareholders' equity and capital grants. The agent for the syndicate of the term debt has imposed certain 
covenants in connection with the tenn debt and credit facilities. As at September 30, 2010, the Co-operative 
was in compliance with these covenants. 

12 Financial instruments 

Fair value 

The fair value of financial instruments, such as cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities are detennined to approximate their recorded value due to their short tenn maturity. 

Commodity derivative contracts and the interest rate swap contract are carried at fair value. 

The research and development fund liability has been recorded at fair value at the time of recognition and is 
carried at amortized cost (note 15). 

Management has not determined the fair value of its bank debt, capital lease obligations or subordinated 
debentures and notes. 

Credit risk 

The Co-operative's exposure to credit risk relates to its accounts receivable. Due to the exclusive marketing 
arrangements for ethanol and distillers grains, all of the trade accounts receivables are with two customers. 

Interest rate risk 

The Co-operative is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates on its cash, restricted cash, and term debt. A 
portion of this risk due to variable interest rates has been addressed by the use of interest rate swap contracts 
(note 18). 
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13 Commodity derivative contracts 

The Co-operative is exposed to the impact of market fluctuations associated with commodity prices. It 
anticipates the use of derivative financial instruments as part of an overall strategy to manage market risk, 
assuming it has sufficient liquidity to manage such a strategy. The Co-operative intends, when able, to use 
cash, futures, swaps, costless collars and option contracts to mitigate against the risk of changes to the 
commodity prices of corn, natural gas and ethanol. The Co-operative will not enter into t~ese derivative 
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes, nor will it designate these contracts as cash flow or 
fair value hedges for accounting. These financial instruments are accounted for using the mark-to-market 
method, with any changes in fair value immediately recognized in operations. 

At September 30, 2010, the Co-operative had the following derivative contracts outstanding: 

Corn 
Ethanol 
Natural gas 
RBOB* 

Average cost/price in USD Expiry 

$4.02 - $5.22/bushel 
$1.62/US gallon 
$4.50- 6.00/MMBtu 
$1.945/US gallon 

Dec 2010- Mar 2011 
Oct2010-Apr2011 
Nov2010-Mar2011 
Oct2010 

The net market value ofthese open positions is an unrealized loss of$898,991 (2009- gain of$226,501). 

(* RBOB- refonnulated gasoline blendstock for oxygenate blending) 

14 Commitments 

Corn supply agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement for the supply of corn for production of ethanol for 
an initial tenn of five years from October I, 2008, and it is expected that 400,000 metric !annes are to be 
supplied each year. The Co-operative is also required under the agreement to provide adequate assurance for 
the corn supplier's mark-to-market exposure over a pre-detennined threshold. At year end, the Co-operative 
had deposited $500,000 (2009 -$Nil) with the corn supplier with respect to this commitment, and this amount 
is recorded in prepaid expenses and deposits. 

Risk management agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an agreement with a risk management services provider to implement an 
integrated price risk management program for an initial tenn of one year from June 22, 2007 and is 
automatically renewed each year for an additional one year tenn. 

Ethanol marketing agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement with an ethanol marketer for the marketing of all of 
the ethanol production for an initial term of one year from the first day of production, which was October 15, 
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2008, and the agreement has been renewed for an additional two year term. The ethanol marketing company 
has agreed to take and pay for 100% ofthe output. 

Distillers gr~in purchaser agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement with a marketer to market the following by-products 
of ethanol production: dry grains with solubles, wet grains with solubles, and wet modified grains with solubles 
for an initial term of five years from the first day of production, which was October 15,2008. 

15 Government grants 

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) 

The Co-operative has been awarded two grants from OMAFRA: 

a) In March 2009, the Co-operative received a capital grant of $14,000,000 after completion ofthe 
project and achieving nameplate capacity by establishing the capability of producing 145 million litres 
of ethanol in a calendar year. As a condition precedent to receiving the grant, the Co-operative is 
committed to contribute $2,800,000 over ten years to a future industry related Research and 
Development Fund, as administered by the Agricultural Research Institute of Ontario. The first 
payment is to be made on April I, 2012, three years after the full grant was received. An amount of 
$1,653,921, representing the present value of these payments discounted at 6.6%, was recorded as a 
research and development fund liability, thus reducing the amount of capital grant recognized for the 
purpose of recording the net cost of capital assets. At year end, the balance of this obligation was 
$1,821,261 (2009 -$1,708,500). 

b) An operating grant was activated when the plant began operation in October 2008. Funding is based on 
the actual volume of denatured ethanol produced in a month times the rate of payment for that month 
(not to exceed $0.11 per litre) subject to an annual maximum of 145 million litres. During the year, the 
Co-operative reached this maximum and earned $10,822,542 (2009- $12,700,695) in operating grants 
(2010- $0.0746 per litre, 2009-$0.0876 per litre), of which $1,868,872 (2009- $1,895,591) has been 
accrued as an amount receivable. The agreement is set to expire December 31, 2016. 

If the profitability of the Co-operative reaches or exceeds the threshold of 17.5% as calculated by the 
internal rate of return on a cash flow basis, the grant is reduced by 40%. This reduction increases 
incrementally up to 100% if profitability remains above 17.5%. As at September 30, 20 I 0, the Co­
operative's internal rate of return was below the threshold of 17.5%. 

Ethanol Expansion Program contribution 

This capital grant, managed by NRCan (Natural Resources Canada), has reimbursed $11,900,000 of 
construction costs for the ethanol facility. 
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For each of the calendar years from 2009 to 2016 inclusive or until the grants have been repaid in full, the 
company must repay an amount calculated as of December 31 of each year as follows: 

(Average Gross Income per Litre minus $0.20 per litre) X the total Fuel Ethanol Produced in the previous 
twelve (12) months X 0.20 

If the average gross income per litre is $0.20 or less, the repayment will be zero. 

ecoEnergy for Biofuels 

The Co-operative qualified for an operating grant under the Federal Government's ecoEnergy for Biofuels 
program, managed by NRCan. The operating grant is payable quarterly, from 2008 to 2016. The maximum 
incentive rate payable declines from $0.10 per litre of ethanol sold in the first year to $0.04 per litre in the last. 
The maximum eligible sales volume is 162,000,000 litres per year. During the year, the Co-operative earned 
$16,293,622 (2009- $14, 135,170) in operating grants (2010- $0.0957 per litre, 2009- $0.0957 per litre) of 
which $6,534,944 (2009 - $3,995, 762) has been accrued as an amount receivable. 

EcoAgriculture Biofuels Capital Program contribution 

On March 27,2009 Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada signed an amendment to the agreement which increased 
the grant to $6,087,514. The grant is based on eligible project costs and maintaining a minimum level of 
investment in its parent by agriculture producers. This grant was received during the year. 

Interest 

2010 2009 
$ $ 

Term debt 2,122,255 3,455,030 
Settlement interest on swap 1,108,995 1,104,861 
Subordinated debentures and notes 163,755 218,996 
Other 187,232 382,052 
Capital lease obligation 601,817 666,566 

4,184,054 5,827,505 

Less: Capitalized interest 204,510 

Net interest expense 4,184,054 5,622,995 
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17 Income taxes 

The Co-operative has non-capital losses available of$1,398,308 (2009- $1,240,845) expiring between 2027 
and 2030 that may only be offset against future taxable income. Non-capital losses can be carried forward for 
20 years. In addition, the Co-operative has capital losses available for carry-forward of $736,539 (2009-
$736,539) that may be offset against future capital gains. These losses have no expiry date. The Co-operative 
has recognized the benefit of the non-capital losses as these are expected to be recovered, while the benefit of 
the capital loss has not been recognized. 

18 Interest rate swap contracts 

Under the terms of the credit agreement, on August 30,2007, the Co-operative entered into monthly interest 
rate swap contracts to match the construction drawdown and term debt repayment schedule. These swap 
agreements convert a portion of the variable-rate liability into a fixed-rate liability. At September 30,2010, the 
unrealized loss on these interest rate swap agreements was $1,436,240 (2009- $2,042,963). 

Tenns of the agreement at September 30,2010 are as follows: 

Termination date: 
Notional amount of principal (maximum): 

Fixed paying rate: 

19 Net change in non-cash working capital balances 

(Increase) decrease in -
Accounts receivable 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 

Increase (decrease) in-
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Income taxes payable 

Cash paid (received) during the year for: 
Interest paid 
Interest received 
Income taxes 

June l, 2014 
$21,175,909 (2009- $27,506,818) 
4.91% 

2010 2009 
$ $ 

4,001,751 (7,151,473) 
(588,437) (159,800) 

(I ,506,001) (43,670) 

(3,350,0 16) 3,606,232 
453,517 

(989, 186) (3,748,711) 

4,183,568 4,295,943 
(33,780) (54,302) 
87,483 
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20 Stock options 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. is authorized to grant certain directors options to purchase Class 
E (Class A prior to June 8, 2010) preference shares of the Co-operative. The Co-operative, in a prior year, 
authorized $695,300 worth of Class A preference share options to certain directors for services provided prior 
to substantial completion of the ethanol plant which occurred on October 15, 2008. 

These options vest when exercised and under the Co-operative Corporations Act are exercisable at $5.00 per 
share until they expire on June 24, 2017. They will be deemed to have been automatically exercised 
immediately before any change in control of the Co·operative or before the sale of substantially all of its assets. 

The Co-operative had also, in a prior year, authorized $99,500 worth of Class A preference share options and 
$500 worth of membership share options to a non-employee for services provided leading up to obtaining 
financing. During the year, these options were settled with a cash payment of$100,000. 

Options granted to acquire 139,060 Class E (Class A prior to June 8, 
20 10) preference shares to directors 

Options granted to acquire 19,900 Class A preference shares to a 
supplier 

Options granted to acquire 5 membership shares to a supplier 

Total stock options- end of year 

21 Contingencies 

2010 
$ 

695,300 

695 300 

2009 
$ 

695,300 

99,500 
500 

795,300 

The Co-operative has been named as a defendant in a lawsuit arising from the construction of the gas pipeline. 
The outcome ofthis claim is not currently determinable, however management is of the view that no payments 
will be made, other than defense costs, as a result ofthe claim. Any settlement that should arise will be 
accounted for in the year that a liability is established. 

22 Statutory information 

The remuneration of directors, as defined by the Co-operative Corporation Act R.S.O. 1990, Chapter C.35 is 
$223,704 (2009- $258,391). 

23 Comparative financial information 

Certain prior period financial information has been amended to conform to the current period presentation. 
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Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Shareholders of 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
465 Richmond Street, Suite 300 
London, Ontario 
Canada N6A SP4 
Telephone ..,.J 519 640 8000 
Facsimile +1 519 640 8015 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements oflntegrated Grain Processors 
Co-operative Inc. and its subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at September 
30, 2011 and the consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 

Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audit We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

"PricewaterhouseCoopers" refurs to PricewaterftouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. and its subsidiary as at September 
30, 2011 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
As at September 30, 2011 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
As at September 30, 2011 

Net sates 

Cost of goods sold 
Depreciation and amortization 
Net loss on commodity derivative contracts 
Operating grants (note 15) 

Gross profit 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 
Amortization of deferred financing costs and depreciation 

Operating income 

Other income (expenses) 
Interest expense (note 16) 
Interest and other income 
Gain on interest rate swap (note 18) 
Gain (loss) on foreign exchange 

Income before provision for taxes 

Provision for current income taxes 
Provision for future income taxes 

Net income for the year 

Retained earnings (deficit)- Beginning of year 

Retained earnings - End of year 

2011 
$ 

164,6&9,093 

122,812,566 
6,594,380 
1,056,061 

(28.695.041) 

101,767.966 

22.921.127 

3,961,433 
1.306.573 

5.268.006 

17,653,121 

(3,060,457) 
52,207 

491,402 
251.134 

(2.265,714) 

15.387.407 

420,300 
3,236,000 

3 656 300 

11,731,107 

12,288.773 

24,019,880 

) 

2010 
$ 

94.572.758 

86,862,984 
6,584,951 
1,914,480 

(27,116.164) 

68.246.251 

26.326.507 

4,191,364 
-- 1,570,667 -

5.762.031 

20,564.476 

) 
(4,184,o54) 

33,779 
606,724 
(79.690) 

(3,623,241) 

16,941.235 

628,000 
3,861,000 

4.489,000 

12,452,235 

063.462) 

12,288,773 

) 



) 

) 

) 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 II 

Cash provided by (used in) 

Operating activities 
Net income for the year 
Changes (credits) to income not involving cash 

Depreciation and amortization 
Unrealized (gain) loss on commodity derivative contracts 
Gain on interest rate swap contracts 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
Interest on research and development fund liability 
Future income taxes 

Net change in non-cash working capital balances (note 19) 

Financing activities 
Repayments of subordinated debentures and notes 
Net proceeds and redemptions of share subscriptions 
Return of capital 
Settlement of stock options (note 20) 
Payment of term debt (note 7) 
Payment of capital lease obligation 
Repayment of capital grant (note 15) 
Decrease in restricted cash 

Investing activities 
Purchase of property and equipment 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 

Net increase in cash 

Cash - Beginning of year 

Cash - End of year 

2011 2010 
$ $ 

11,731,107 12,452,235 

7,900,953 8,155,618 
(798,329) 1,125,492 
(491,402) (606,723) 

9,296 
120,203 112,761 

3,236,000 3,861,000 

21,707,828 25,100,383 

-~·946.960 _.....(989.J85j_ 

25,654,788 24.111.198 

(731,544) (545,956) 
(8,500) (70, 100) 

(5,247,520) 
(24,844) (100,000) 

(15,500,000) (16,971,188) 
(539,670) (464,433) 
(179,021) 
998,913 992,214 

(21.232, 186) (17, 159.463) 

(988,228) (312,248) 
42000 

(946,228) (312,248) 

3,476,374 6,639,487 

14,180,256 7.540,769 

17,656,630 14,180,256 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended September 30, 2011 

1 Nature of operations 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. (the "Co-operative") was incorporated on April 4, 2002 under the 
Ontario Co-operative Corporations Act. 

The Co-operative produces and sells ethanol and distillers grain through its ISO million litre fuel ethanol 
production facility in south western Ontario, which was completed on October IS, 2008. 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Co-operative and its wholly­
owned subsidiary, IGPC Ethanol Inc. (the "subsidiary"). Intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated on consolidation. 

Use of estimates 

) 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and ) 
expenses for the year reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates. .. ' 

Revenue recognition 

The Co-operative recognizes revenue on the sale of ethanol and distillers grains at the time of shipment. 

Government assistance 

Govermnent grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Co-operative has complied with 
the conditions of the grant. Such grants are accounted for as reduction of the related expense or asset, or as 
income, as appropriate. 

Inventories 

Inventories of finished products, feedstock, process chemicals and supplies are valued at the lower of net 
realizable value and average cost. Work in process consists of cost of material and direct labour and is valued 
at the lower of net realizable value and average cost. 

(I) ~ 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 II 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost Amortization is provided for in the accounts as follows: 

Buildings and site pipelines 
Furniture and fixtures 
Equipment 
Process equipment 
Gas pipeline under capital lease 

5% declining balance 
20% declining balance 
30% declining balance 
15 years straight line 
7 years straight line 

In the year of acquisition, amortization is provided for at one-half of the above rates, except in 2009 when the 
cost of the process plant was transferred from construction in progress to the appropriate asset categories and 
amortization was provided for from the date of production. 

The total cost of major capital projects includes related interest incurred during the period of construction. 
Capitalization of interest ceased on October 15,2008 when the ethanol plant was substantially complete and 
ready for its intended productive use. 

Grants under government capital assistance programs are deducted from the cost of the assets to which the 
grant relates. 

Intangible asset 

The intangible asset recorded on the balance sheet, relates to the right to use the proprietary design and 
processes to produce ethanol. The asset is being amortized over the life of the process equipment of \5 years. 

Financial instruments 

Under CICA Handbook Section 3855 - Financial Assets and Liabilities, including derivative instruments, are 
initially recognized and subsequently measured based on their classification as held-for-trading, available-for­
sale financial assets, held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, or other financial liabilities as follows: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Held-for-trading financial instruments are measured at their fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized in net income for the year. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value and changes in fair value are 
included in other comprehensive income until the asset is removed from the balance sheet. 

Loans and receivables are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective inte,rest rate method . 

Other financial liabilities are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 

(2) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 II 

• Derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are measured at their fair value with changes 
in fair value recognized in net income for the year unless the instrument is a cash flow hedge and 
hedge accounting applies in which case changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 

The following is a summary of the classification of assets and liabilities of the Co-operative: 

Financial Instrument 

Restricted cash 
Accounts receivable 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Fair value of commodity derivative contracts 
Fair value of interest rate swap contracts 
Term and bank debt 
Capital lease obligation 
Shareholder loan 
Research and development fund liability 
Preference shares 

Classification Cash 
Held-for-trading 
Held-for-trading 
Loans and receivables 
Other financial liabilities 
Derivative instrument (non-hedge) 
Derivative instrument (non-hedge) 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities 

As a non-publicly accountable enterprise, the Co-operative has elected to apply CICA Handbook Section 
3861 -Financial Instruments -Disclosure and Presentation, in lieu ofCICA Handbook Section 3862 -
Financial Instruments -Disclosure, and 3863 - Financial Instruments -Presentation C!CA Handbook 
Section 3861 specifies the presentation of financial instruments and non-financial derivatives, and 

, identifies the information that should be disclosed. 

Deferred financing costs 

Transaction costs related to the cradit agreement are netted against the carrying value of the term loan and are 
amortized over the duration of the credit agreement using the effective interest rate method, based on target 
debt levels of the term loan and expect levels of available credit under the revolving term facility. 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Exposure to interest rates on debt is managed through the use of interest rate swap contracts. These swap 
contracts require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amount on 
which the payments are based. Senlement amounts under interest rate swap contracts have been included in 
capitalized interest during the pre-operating period prior to October 15,2008. Changes in the fair value of the 
interest rate swap contracts have been recorded in the statement of operations. 

Stock options 

Options are accounted for under the fair market method. Stock-based compensation costs, measured at the grant 
date based on the fair value of the options granted and recognized over the service period involved, are 
recorded as expenses on the income statement The amounts are credited to contributed surplus. The 
consideration paid upon exercise of the options and the originally recorded fair value of the options are added 
to share capital. 

(3) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 II 

Income taxes 

The liability method of accounting for income taxes is used Under this method, future income tax assets and 
liabilities are detennined based on the differences between the carrying amotmt of assets and liabilities and the 
tax cost bases of these assets and liabilities measured using substantially enacted income tax laws and rates. 

Future accounting changes 

Non-publicly accountable enterprises have the option of adopting International Financial Reporting Standards 
(!FRS) or Accounting Standards for Private Enterprises (ASPE) for annual financial statements for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January I, 20 II. Management and the Board of Directors have detennined that the Co­
operative will adopt !FRS for its fiscal year ending September 30, 2012. Management is in the process of 
detennining the impact of this change on its accotmting policies and reporting practices. 

3 Restricted cash 

Debt service reserve account 
Post completion account 

2011 
$ 

2,708,217 

2,708 217 

2010 
$ 

3,497,575 
209,555 

3 707 130 

Under the tenns of the credit agreement, as construction funds were obtained, a portion was added to the debt 
service reserve account such that at substantial completion the sum of two principal instalments plus six months 
of interest is available in a separate account to service bank debt. In the event cash flow is insufficient to meet 
the quarterly requirement, these funds may be used but must be replenished. 

4 Accounts receivable 

Trade accounts receivable 
Operating grants receivable (note 15) 
Other receivables 

2011 
$ 

2,742,211 
4,016,990 

4 419 

6,763,620 

2010 
$ 

2,058,381 
8,403,816 

72397 

10,534,594 

(4) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc . 

. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

September 30, 20 II 

5 Inventory 

2011 2010 
$ $ 

Fuel grade ethanol 1,903,821 925,550 
Work in process 1,076,700 1,143,096 
Feedstock, process chemicals and supplies 2.595 445 2 019,519 

5,575,966 4,088,165 

6 Property, plant and equipment 

2011 

Accumulated 
Cost Amortization Net 

$ $ $ 

Land 2,923,721 2,923,721 
Buildings 14,313,440 1,930,780 12,382,660 

) Site pipelines 2,287,513 339,944 1,947,569 
Furniture and fixtures 93,703 39,711 53,992 
Equipment 739,630 386,715 352,915 
Process equipment 64,920,588 12,918,415 52,002,173 
Gas pipeline under capital lease (note 8) 8,472,554 3 631,093 4,841.461 

93,751,149 19,246,658 74,504,491 

2010 

Accumulated 
Cost Amortization Net 

$ $ $ 

Land 2,923,721 2,923,721 
Buildings 13,648,830 1,296,645 12,352,185 
Site pipelines 2,287,513 237,440 2,050,073 
Furniture and fixtures 75,703 28,463 47,240 
Equipment 715,077 311,914 403,163 
Process equipment 64,575,452 8,574,220 56,001,232 
Gas pipe line under capital1ease (note 8) 8472 554 2 420 729 6 051 825 

92,698,850 12,869,411 79,829,439 

(5) ) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 I I 

7 Term debt 

2011 2010 
$ $ 

Term debt 21,500,000 37,000,000 
Less: Current portion (3,822,000) (5, 150,000) 
Less: Deferred financing costs (1.284.355) 12.513.888) 

16,393,645 29,336,112 

The Co-operative entered into a credit agreement on June 15,2007 with a lead bank as Agent for certain 
lenders to initially make the following credit facilities available: ' 

a) A seven year non-revolving term loan facility for $63,700,000 to be used for construction of the plant 
with principal payments of$3,822,000 commencing in 2009, due June 27, 2014. 

b) Certain non-revolving bridge facilities for construction costs prior to receipt of government funding in 
the amount of$14,000,000. 

c) A seven year revolving term facility for working capital purposes not to exceed lesser of$7,000,000 or 
the borrowing base. Borrowing base uses as collateral 85% of eligible receivables and inventory. 
During the year, the amount was reduced to $6,000,000. 

In 2009, the Co-operative had drawn the full amount allowed against the seven year non-revolving term loan 
facility. The revolving facility became available after substantial completion of the ethanol plant as defined 
under the credit agreement. 

The credit agreement also provided a short-term bridge facility for $14,000,000 which was repaid in March 
2009 when the Co-operative received the $14,000,000 capital grant from OMAFRA (note 15). 

Deferred fmancing costs have been allocated to the term loan, revolving term facility and bridge facility. At 
year-end the unamortized balances allocated to these elemenis of the credit agreement are $897,155 (2010-
$1,933,088), $387,200 (2010- $580,800) and Nil (2010- Nil) respectively. 

As at September 30,2011, the Co-operative had $2,754,481 (2010- $2,754,481) ofletters of credit drawn 
against the seven year revolving term facility. 

(6) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 ll 

During construction, interest was based on the variable banker's acceptance rate and a stamping fee of3.75%. 
After substantial completion, the debt became a term debt with interest at the variable banker's acceptance rate 
and a stamping fee of3.25% which was increased to 4% after negotiating the amendment to the credit 
agreement. The aggregate amount of principal payments required in each of the next three years under debt 
facilities are: 

2012 
2013 
2014 

$ 

3,822,000 
11,581,818 
6,096,182 

21,500,000 

Debt repayments made on each repayment date has been the greater: of 70% of excess cash flows; and the 
difference between the outstanding amount and the target outstanding debt to a maximum of I 00% of the 
excess cash flows. The target outstanding debt is reduced by $2,895,455 per quarter. If there are no excess cash 
flows, the Co-operative is required to pay !.50% of the initial debt outstanding for a total of $955,500 per 
quarter, which has been disclosed in the principal payments required above and adjusted for the target 
outstanding debt amount. As at September 30, 2011, the target debt outstanding was $31,850,000 (2010-
$43,431,818). A voluntary prepayment feature allows the Co-operative to prepay a minimum of$500,000 with 
adequate notice to the Agent. 

Since the inception of the seven year revolving term facility, the Co-operative has made the following principal 
payments: 

Term debt at inception 
Principal payments in 2009 
Principal payments in 20 10 
Principal payments in 20 II 

$ 

63,700,000 
{9,728,812) 

(16,971,188) 
__LlliQQ.QQ.Ql. 

21,500,000 

Under the credit agreement, the Co-operative has provided security to the lenders, the key elements of which 
are as follows: 

a) a fixed and floating charge debenture in the amount of$150,000,000; 
b) a general security agreement covering all assets of th~ Co-operative; 
c) an assignment of insurance; and 
d) a limited recourse guarantee and a securities pledge agreement 

{7) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2011 

8 Capital lease obligation 

As part of the construction of the ethanol plant, it was necessary for the local natural gas distributor to construct 
a 29 km pipeline from a Union Gas trunk pipeline to the town of Aylmer. The costs of the pipeline are fully 
borne by the Co-operative, through 'aid-to-construct' payments, plus certain fixed gas delivery charges over a 
seven year contract period. While the Co-operative has no ownership interest in the pipeline, accounting 
guidelines require that in such instances where the value of the asset is fully recovered by the supplier and the 
customer has exclusive, or virtually exclusive, use of the asset, the arrangement is accounted for as a lease. 

Accordingly, the Co-operative has recorded the capital cost of the pipeline as a capital lease, and the discounted 
value of certain fixed gas delivery charges over the next four years as a capital lease obligation, with notional 
interest of 15%. The details of the capita11ease obligation are as follows: 

Future minimum lease payments: 

2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 

Amounts representing interest 

Less: Current portion 

Long-term portion 

$ 

1,066,252 
1,066,252 
1,066,252 
1,066,252 

4,265,008 

1,078,625 

3,186,383 

619 905 

2,566,478 

In addition to the foregoing, the Co-operative is obligated to provide a letter of credit to the natural gas 
distributor to ensure performance under the agreement At year end, a letter of credit in the amount of 
$5,214,173 (2010 · $5,214,173) was issued in their favour. 

The final cost of the pipeline is currently under review by the Ontario Energy Board. Should the final costs 
differ from costs determined for purposes of calculating the capital lease obligation, the obligation will be 
adjusted accordingly. 

(8) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2011 

9 Subordinated debentures and notes 

2011 2010 
$ $ 

Class A debentures maturing on December 31, 2013 and bearing 
interest at 8.50% per annum 1,070,000 1,070,000 

Class B debentures maturing on December 31, 2013 and bearing 
interest at 7.50% per annum 37,000 37,000 

Promissory notes maturing on December 31, 20 lO and bearing 
interest at 8% per annum 731.544 

1,107,000 1,838,544 

Less: Current portion 731.544 

I 107 000 I 107 000 

The redemption of these subordinate debentures at maturity and the payment of interest thereon are subject to 
the prior consent ofthe lenders. 

10 Capital stock 

Authorized 

Prior to June 8, 2010: 

I 00,000 membership shares, voting, with a par value of $100 each. 

ll ,000,000 Class A preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par 
value of $5 each. 

5,000,000 Class B preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

5,000,000 Class C preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

5,000,000 Class D preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

The Class A and Class B preference shares were redeemable at their par value, plus a premium, if any, 
equivalent to a pro rata share of retained earnings of the Co-operative, calculated at the end of the 
Immediately preceding fiscal year subject to certain conditions. The Class C and D preference shares were 
redeemable at their par value. The preference shares do not carry a retraction right. 

(9) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 II 

Each of the Class A, B, C, and D preference shares were entitled to non-cumulative preferential dividends to 
be declared at the discretion of the Board. 

With effect from June 8, 2010: 

100,000 membership shares, voting, with a par value of$100 each. 

20,000,000 Class E preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par value 
of$5 each. 

The Class E preference shares are redeemable at their par value, plus a premium, if any, equivalent to a pro 
rata share of retained earnings of the Co-operative, calculated at the end of the inuuediately preceding fiscal 
year subject to certain conditions, plus a pro rata share of such premiums as may have been paid upon the 
purchase of any Class E preference shares. The preference shares do not carry a retraction right 

Each of the Class E preference shares is entitled to non-cumulative preferential dividends to be declared at 
the discretion of the Board. 

In the prior year, all Class C and D preference shares were redeemed in full and all Class B preference shares 
were re-designated as Class A preference shares on a one to one basis. After which, all Class A preference 
shares were renamed as Class E preference shares. The Class A, B, C and D preference shares were deleted in 
the articles of amendment dated June 8, 2010, leaving only the membership shares and Class E preference 
shares authorized and issued at year end. These changes were approved by the members of the Co-operative at 
the Annual General Meeting on March 25, 2010. 

(10) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Integra~fii1H"lldtess9rs C9 9peratin Int. 
Notes to Crumg~ f,ililancial Statements Class E (Class A 

September 30, 2011 prior 10 June 8, 
Membership 2010) Class B 

Issued at October 1, 2009 

New subscriptions 

Redemptions 

Re--designation of Class 8 shares 
as Class E shares 

Ba1ance, September 30, 2010 

New issues 

Exercised stock options 

Share conversions 

Redemptions 

Return of capital 

Balance, September 30, 2011 

# $ # $ $ 

4,135 413,500 10,642,198 51,618,795 191,713 958,565 

2,000 I 0,000 

(IS) (1,500) (2,900) (14,500) (3,600) (18,000) 

190.113 950.565 (!90.113l(950 ~6S) 

4,120 412,000 10,829,411 52,554,860 

5 500 

15,624 78,120 

1,000 5,000 

(140) (14,000) 

- <5.247 52ID 

3,985 398,500 10,846,035 47,390,460 

v 

Class C Class D Total 

# $ # $ $ 

800 4,000 8,420 42,100 53,036,960 

10,000 

(800) (4,000) (8,420) (42,100) (80,100) 

52,966,860 

500 

78,120 

5,000 

(14,000) 

(5 247 520> 

47,788,960 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2011 

11 Capital disclosures 

The Co--operative has two primary capital management objectives. The first of which is to raise and maintain a 
capital base to finance the construction and operation of an ethanol manufacturing facility. In compliance with 
the credit agreement, membership and preference shares and subordinate debentures ("securities") have been 
issued. These securities are governed by the Co-operative Corporations Act Annually, an Offering Statement 
is filed with the Superintendent (Financial Services Corporation of Ontario). 

The second primary capital management objective is to safeguard the Co-operative's ability to continue as a 
going concern so that it can provide returns to its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. In this 
context, management considers capital to be its net worth as defined in the credit agreement as containing 
shareholders' equity and capital grants. The agent for the syndicate of the term debt has imposed certain 
covenants in connection with the term debt and credit facilities. As at September 30, 2011, the Co-operative 
was in compliance with these covenants. 

12 Financial instruments 

Fair value 

The fuir value of financial instruments, such as cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities are determined to approximate their recorded value due to their short term maturity. 

Commodity derivative contracts and the interest rate swap contract are carried at fair value. 

The research and development fund liability has been recorded at fair value at the time of recognition and is 
carried at amortized cost (note 15). 

Management has not determined the fair value of its bank debt, capital lease obligations or subordinated 
debentures and notes. 

Credit risk 

The Co-operative's exposure to credit risk relates to its accounts receivable. Due to the exclusive marketing 
arrangements for ethanol and distillers grains, all of the trade accounts receivables are with two customers. 

Interest rate risk 

The Co-operative is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates on its cash, restricted cash and term debt. A 
portion of this risk due to variable interest rates has been addressed by the use of interest rate swap contracts 
(note 18). 

(12) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2011 

13 Commodity derivative contracts 

The Co-operative is exposed to the impact of market tluctuations associated with commodity prices and uses 
derivative financial instruments as part of an overall strategy to manage market risk, assuming it has sufficient 
liquidity to manage such a strategy. The Co-operative uses cash, futures, swaps, costless collars and option 
contracts to mitigate against the risk of changes to the commodity prices of com, natural gas and ethanol. The 
Co-operative will not enter into these derivative fmancial instruments for trading or speculative purposes, nor 
will it designate these contracts as cash tlow or fair value hedges for accounting. These financial instruments 
are accounted for using the mark-to-market method, with any changes in fair value immediately recognized in 
operations. 

At September 30, 2011, the Co-operative had the following derivative contracts outstanding: 

Average cost/price in USD Expirv 

Natural gas $4.25 • $5.00 I MMBtu November 2011 ·December 2011 

The net market value of these open positions is an unreaiized loss of$100,662 (2010 • $898,991). 

14 Commitments 

Corn supply agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement for the supply of com for production of ethanol for 
an initial term of five years from October !, 2008, and it is expected that 400,000 metric tonnes are to be 
supplied each year. The Co-operative is also required under the agreement to provide adequate assurance for 
the com supplier's mark·to·market exposure over a pre-determined threshold. At year end, the Co-operative 
had deposited $Nil (2010 • $500,000) with the corn supplier with respect to this commitment, and this amount 
is recorded in prepaid expenses and deposits. 

Risk management agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an agreement with a risk management services provider to implement an 
integrated price risk management program for an initial term of one year from June 22, 2007 and is 
automatically renewed each year for an additional one year term. 

Ethanol marketing agreement 

The Co-operative bas entered into an exclusive agreement with an ethanol marketer for the marketing of all of 
the ethanol production for an initial term of one year from the first day of production, which was October 15, 
2008, and the agreement has been renewed for an additional two year term. The ethanol marketing company 
has agreed to take and pay for 100% of the output. 

(13) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2011 

Distillers grain purchaser agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement with a marketer to market the following by-products 
of ethanol production: dry grains with solubles, wet grains with solubles, and wet modified grains with solubles 
for an initial tenn of five years from the first day of production, which was October 15, 2008. 

15 Government grants 

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) 

The Co-operative has been awarded two grants from OMAFRA: 

a) In March 2009, the Co-operative received a capital grant of$14,000,000 after completion ofthe 
project and achieving nameplate capacity by establishing the capability of producing 145,000,000 litres 
of ethanol in a calendar year. As a condition precedent to receiving the grant, the Co-operative is 
committed to contribute $2,800,000 over ten years to a future industry related Research and 
Development Fund, as administered by the Agricultural Research Institute of Ontario. The first 
payment is to be made on April!, 2012, three years after the full grant was received. An amount of 
$1,653,921, representing the present value of these payments discounted at 6.600/o, was recorded as a 
research and development fund liability, thus reducing the amount of capital grant recognized for the 
purpose of recording the net cost of capital assets. At year end, the balance of this obligation was 
$1,941,464 (2010- $1,821,261). 

b) An operating grant was activated when the plant began operation in October 2008. Funding is based on 
the actual volume of denatured ethanol produced in a month times the rate of payment for that month 
(not to exceed $0.11 per litre) subject to an annual maximum of 145,000,000 litres. During the current 
and prior year, the Co-operative reached this maximum and earned $14,918,113 (2010- $10,822,542) 
in operating grants (2011 -$0.1028 per litre, 2010-$0.0746 per litre), of which $1,818,598 (2010-
$1,868,872) has been accrued as an amount receivable. The agreement is set to expire December 31, 
2016. 

If the profitability of the Co-operative reaches or exceeds the threshold of 17.5 0% as calculated by the internal 
rate of return on a cash flow basis, the grant is reduced by 40%. This reduction increases incrementally up to 
100% if profitability remains above 17.50%. As at September 30, 2011, the Co-operative's internal rate of 
return was below the threshold of 17.500/o. 

Ethanol Expansion Program contribution 

This capital grant, managed by NRCan (Natural Resources Canada), has reimbursed $11,900,000 of 
construction costs for the ethanol facility. 

For each of the calendar years from 2009 to 2016 inclusive or until the grants have been repaid in full, the 
Co-operative must repay an amount calculated as of December 31 of each year as follows: 

(Average Gross Income per Litre minus $0.20 per litre) X the total Fuel Ethanol Produced in the previous 
twelve (12) months X 0.20 

(14) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2011 

lfthe average gross income per litre is $0.20 or less, the repayment will be zero. During the year, the 
Co-operative repaid $179,021 (2010 $Nil) of this capital grant as the average gross income per litre exceeded 
$0.20 for calendar year 2010. 

ecoEnergy for Biofuels 

The Co-operative qualified for an operating grant under the Federal Government's ecoEnergy for Biofuels 
program, managed by NRCan. The operating grant is payable quarterly, from 2008 to 2016. The maximum 
incentive rate payable declines from $0.10 per litre of ethanol sold in the first year to $0.04 per litre in the last. 
The maximum eligible sales volume is 162,000,000 litres per year. During the current and prior years, the 
Co-operative reached the maximum eligible sales volume and earned $13,776,928 (2010- $16,293,622) in 
operating grants (2011 -$0.0849 per litre, 2010-$0.0957 per litre) of which $2,198,392 (2010- $6,534,944) 
has been accrued as an amount receivable. 

EcoAgricu1ture Biofuels Capital Program contribution 

On March 27, 2009, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada signed an amendment to the agreement which 
increased the grant to $6,087,514. The grant is based on eligible project costs and maintaining a minimum 
level of investment in its parent by agriculture producers. This grant was received during the fiscal2010 year. 

16 Interest 

Term debt 
Settlement interest on swap 
Subordinated debentures and notes 
Capital lease obligation 
Other 

2011 
$ 

1,577,257 
729,012 
103,365 
526,584 
124,239 

3,060,457 

2010 
$ 

2,122,255 
1,108,995 

163,755 
601,817 
187.232 

4,184 054 

(15) 
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September 30, 2011 

17 Income taxes 

The Co-operative has non-capital losses available for carry forward of$1,577,835 (2010- $1,398,308) that may 
only be offSet against future taxable income. The non-capital losses consist of$1,020,636 (2010- $841, 109) 
which can be carried forward for 20 years and $557,109 (2010- $557,199) which can be carried forward for ten 
years. In addition, the Co-operative has capital losses available for carry-forward of$736,539 (2010-
$736,539) that may be offset against future capital gains. These losses have no expiry date. The Co-operative 
has recognized the benefit of the non-capital losses as these are expected to be recovered, while the benefit of 
the capital losses has not been recognized because the timing of the recovery is unknown. 

18 Interest rate swap contracts 

Under the terms of the credit agreement, on August 30,2007, the Co-operative entered into monthly interest 
rate swap contracts to match the construction drawdown and term debt repayment schedule. These swap 
agreements convert a portion of the variable-rate liability into a fixed-rate liability. At September 30,2011, the 
unrealized loss on these interest rate swap agreements was $944,838 (2010- $1,436,240). 

Terms ofthe agreement at September 30, 20 II are as follows: 

Termination date: 
Notional amount of principal (maximum): 

Fixed paying rate: 

19 Net change in non-cash working capital balances 

(Increase) decrease in: 
Accounts receivable 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 
Income taxes recoverable 

Increase (decrease) in: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Income taxes payable 

Cash paid (received) during the year for: 
Interest paid 
Interest received 
Income taxes paid 

June 1, 2014 
$15,925,000 (2010- $21,175,909) 
4.91% 

2011 2010 
$ $ 

3,770,974 4,001,751 
(1,487,801) (588,437) 
1,608,835 (1,506,001) 
(229,636) 

825,105 (3,350,015) 
(540,517) 453,517 

3,946,960 (989,185) 

2,397,689 4,063,771 
(52,207) (27,803) 

1,195,000 87,483 

(16) 
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20 Stock options 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. is authorized to grant certain directors options to purchase Class 
E (Class A prior to June 8, 2010) preference shares of the Co-operative. The Co-operative, in a prior year, 
authorized $695,300 worth of Class A preference share options to certain directors for services provided prior 
to substantial completion of the ethanol plant which occurred on October 15, 2008. 

These options vest when exercised and under the Co-operative Corporations Act are exercisable at $5.00 per 
share until they expire on June 24,2017. They will be deemed to have been automatically exercised 
immediately before any change in control of the Co-operative or before the sale of substantially all of its assets. 

The Co-operative had also, in a prior year, authorized $124,500 worth of Class A preference share options and 
$500 worth of membership share options to a non-employee for services provided leading up to obtaining 
financing. These options were settled with a cash payment of$25,000 in the current year and $100,000 in the 
prior year. 

During the year, the Co-operative received $I56 from the exercise of 15,624 options at $0.0I per Class E 
preference share. Capital stock and contributed surplus were each adjusted by $78,120 for stock-based 
compensation previously recorded on these exercised stock options. 

2011 
s 

2010 
$ 

Options granted to acquire 139,060 Class E (Class A prior to June 8, 
20 I 0) preference shares to directors 695,300 

(78,120) 

695,300 
Options exercised to acquire 15,624 Class E preference shares by 

directors 

Total stock options - End of year 

21 Contingencies 

617 180 695 300 

The Co-operative has been named as a defendant in a lawsuit arising from the construction of the gas pipeline. 
The outcome of this claim is not currently determinable, however management is of the view that no payments 
will be made, other than defense costs, as a result of the claim. Any settlement that should arise will be 
accounted for in the year that a liability is established. 

22 Statutory information 

The remuneration of directors, as defined by the Co-operative Corporation Act R.S.O. I 990, Chapter C.35 is 
$252,724 (2010- $223,704). 

23 Comparative financial information 

Certain prior period fmancial information has been amended to conform to the current period presentation. 
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N ~ated Financial Statements 
s1JlVC _ll ________________________________ _ 

March 23, 2012 

AUDITOR'S CONSENT 

We have read the offering statement oflntegrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. ("Co-operative") 
dated March 1, 2012 relating to the issue and sale of Membership Shares and Class E Preference Shares of 
the Co-operative. We have complied with Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditor's 
involvement with offering documents. 

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned offering statement of our report to the shareholders of the 
Co-operative on the consolidated balance sheet of the Co-operative as at September 30, 2011, and the 
consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings and cash flows for the year then ended. Our 
report on the consolidated financial statements is dated December 13, 2011. 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

' ................................................................................................... ,._. .......................................................................................... ,. ............................ . 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP js.r .l.js.e.n.c.r.l., Chartered Accountants 
465 Richmond Street, Suite 300, London, Ontario, Canada N6A 5P4 
T: +1 519 640 Booo, F: +1 519 640 8015, www.pwc.comjca 

•p....c- refers to PricewatertlouseCoopers LLPls.r IJs,e n.cr 1., an Ontaio flml!ed r1ablllty partnership, v.tllch Is a member firm of PricewaterhouseCooperslnternanonal Umited, 
each member firm of which Is a separate legal entity 
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December 12, 2012 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the To the Shareholders 
of Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Integrated Grain Processors Co­
operative Inc. and its subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 
September 30, 2012, September 30, 2011 and October 1, 2010 and the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years ended 
September 30, 2012 and September 30 2011, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements .) 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
465 Richmond Str·eet, Suite 300, London, Ontario, Canada N6A 51'4 
T: + 1 519 640 Booo, F: +1 519 640 8015 

'PwC" refers to PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP an Ontano luruted liability partnership 
) 



) _II 

) 

) 

pwc 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. and its subsidiary as at September 30, 2012, 

September 30, 2011 and October 1, 2010 and their financial performance and their cash flows for the years 
ended September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position ) 
(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

September 30, September 30, October 1, 
2012 2011 2010 

$ $ $ 

Assets (note 9) 

Current assets 
Cash 13,653,974 17,656,630 14,180,256 
Cash held in margin accounts (note 17) 31,Q43 607,929 
Restricted cash (note 4) 2,418,264 2,708,217 3,707,130 
Accounts receivable (note 5) 8,320,931 6,763,620 10,534,594 
Inventory (note 6) 5,107,714 5,575,966 4,088,165 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 923,480 1,524,457 2,556,406 
Income taxes recoverable 229,636 

30,424,363 34,489,569 35,674,480 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment (note 7) 75,324,183 75,052,993 80,241,445 
Intangible assets (note 8) 2,679,836 2,766,284 2,996,803 
Deferred income tax assets (note 25) 2,312,000 2,346,000 2,149,000 

110,740,382 114,654,846 121 ,061 '728 ) 

Approved by the Board of Directors 

________________ Director _______________ Director 

) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position ... continued 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

September 30, September 30, October 1, 
2012 2011 2010 

$ $ $ 
Liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,997,591 4,380,326 3,555,221 
Income taxes payable 305,659 540,517 
Fair value of commodity derivative contracts (notes 14 

and 15) 492 100,662 898,991 
Fair value of interest rate swap contracts (notes 14 

and 21) 371,881 944,838 1,436,240 
Current portion of finance lease obligation (note 1 0) 738,210 619,905 539,670 
Current portion of term debt (note 9) 3,822,000 3,822,000 5,150,000 
Current portion of research and development fund 

liability (note 18) 280,000 280,000 
Current portion of subordinated debentures and notes 

(note11) 731,544 

9,515,833 10,147,731 12,852,183 
Non-current liabilities 

) Finance lease obligation (note 1 0) 1,828,268 2,566,478 3,186,383 
Term debt (note 9) 4,299,100 16,393,645 29,336,112 
Research and development fund liability (note 18) 1,509,601 1,661,464 1,821,261 
Subordinate debentures (note 11) 1,107,000 1,107,000 1,107,000 
Deferred income tax liabilities (note 25) 13,080,000 9,857,000 6,390,000 

31,339,802 41,733,318 54,692,939 

Shareholders' Equity 

Capital stock (note 12) 42,348,078 47,788,960 52,966,860 
Contributed surplus (note 23) 673,246 703,186 806,150 
Retained earnings 36,379,256 24,429,382 12,595,779 

79,400,580 72,921,528 66,368,789 

110,740,382 114,654,846 121,061,728 

Commitments (note 17) 
Contingencies (note 24) 

) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income 
For the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Sales 

Cost of goods sold (note 16) 

Gross profit 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (note 19) 

Operating income 

Finance income (loss) 
Interest expense (note 20) 
Interest and other income 
Gain on interest rate swap contracts (note 21) 
Gain (loss) on foreign exchange 
Amortization of deferred financing costs 

Income before provision for taxes 

Current income tax expense 
Deferred income tax expense 

Net income and comprehensive income for the year 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2012 
$ 

130,760,600 

108.903,919 

21,856,681 

3,417.134 

18,439,547 

(1,967.709) 
50,493 

572,957 
(252,359) 
1905,455} 

(2,502,073) 

15,937,474 

730,600 
3,257,000 

3,987,600 

11,949,874 

) 

2011 
$ 

124,689,093 

101,631,470 

23,057,623 

4,038,473 

19,019,150 

(3,060,457) 
52,207 

491,402 
251.134 

(1,229,533} 

(3,495,247) ) 
15,523,903 

420,300 
3,270,000 

3,690.300 

11,833,603 

) 



) 
Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity 
For the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Contributed Retained 
Capital stock surplus earnings Total 

$ $ $ $ 

Balance· October 1, 2010 52,966,860 806,150 12,595,779 66,368,789 

Net income and comprehensive 
Income for the year 11,833,603 11,833,603 

Return of capital (5,247,520) (5,247,520) 
Options exercised and settled 78,120 (102,964) (24,844) 
New share issuances 500 500 
Share conversions 5,000 5,000 
Share redemptions (14,000) {14,000) 

Balance • September 30, 2011 47,788,960 703,186 24,429,382 72,921,528 

Net income and ccmprehensive 
income for the year 11,949,874 11,949,874 

Return of capital (5,456,882) {5,456,882) 
Options exercised and settled 30,000 {29,940) 60 
Share conversions 500 500 

) 
Share redemptions {14,500) (14,500) 

Balance· September 30, 2012 42,348,078 673,246 36,379,256 79,400,580 

) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
') Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 
2012 2011 

$ $ 
Cash provided by (used in) 

Operating activities 
Net income and comprehensive income for the year 11,949,874 11,833,603 
Charges (credits) to income not involving cash 

Depreciation and amortization 4,607,269 7,764.457 
Unrealized gain on commodity derivative contracts (100,170) (798,329) 
Interest on research and development fund liability 128,137 120,203 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9,296 
Gain on interest rate swap contracts (572,957) (491.402) 
Deferred income taxes 3,257,000 3,270,000 

19,269,153 21,707,828 
Net change in non-cash working capital balances (note 22) (335,522) 3,370,074 

18,933,631 25,077,902 
Financing activities 
Repayments from subordinated debentures and notes (731 ,544) 
Net proceeds and redemptions of share subscriptions (14,000) (8,500) 

) Return of capital (5.456,882) (5,247,520) 
Settlement of stock options (note 23) 60 (24,844) 
Payment of term debt (note 9) (13,000,000) (15,500,000) 
Payment of finance lease obligation (619,905) (539,670) 
Payment of research and development fund liability (note 18) (280,000) 
Repayment of capital grant (note 18) (179,021) 
Restricted cash 289,953 998,913 
Cash held in margin accounts 31 ,Q43 576,886 

{19,049,731) 
Investing activities 

(20,655,300) 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,886,556) (988,228) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 42,000 

{3,886,556) (946,228) 
Net (decrease) increase in cash (4,002,656) 3,476,374 

Cash - Beginning of year 17,656,630 14,180,256 

Cash - End of year 13,653,974 17,656,630 

Supplemental operating cash flow information 
Interest paid 1,340,282 2,391,159 
Interest received (38,427) (24,851) 
Income taxes paid 425,000 1,195,000 

The accompMl} ing nvle:) t1fe ci.H integral part of these fir.andd.l ~tttLemcnts. ) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

1 Nature of operations 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. (the Co-operative) was incorporated on April 4, 2002 under the 
Ontario Co-operative Corporations Act. 

The Co-operative produces and sells ethanol and distillers grains through its 150,ooo,ooo litre fuel ethanol 
production facility in Southwestern Ontario, which was completed on October 5, 2008. 

The registered office and principal place of business of the Co-operative is 89 Progress Drive, Aylmer, ON, N5H 
2R9. 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

Statement of compliance 

In 2010, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook was revised to incorporate 
T nternational Financial Reporting Standards (!FRS) effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 
Accordingly, the Co-operative has commenced reporting on this basis in its financial statements. In these 
financial statements, the Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) refers to GAAP before the 
adoption ofiFRS. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with !FRS as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Subject to certain transition elections disclosed in note 3, 
the Co-operative has consistently applied the same accounting policies throughout all periods presented, as if 
these policies had always been in effect. Note 3 discusses the impact of the transition to !FRS on the Co­
operative's reported equity as at October 1, 2010 and September 30, 2011 and comprehensive income for the 
year ended September 30, 2011, including the nature and effect of significant changes in accounting policies 
from those used in the Co-operative's financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2011 prepared 
underGAAP. 

Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost approach on a going concern basis. They 
have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies laid out below. 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Co-operative and its wholly­
owned subsidiary, lGPC Ethanol Inc. (the subsidiary). Intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated on consolidation. 

(1) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and revenues and expenses for the year reported. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Critical accounting estimates 

The useful lives and amortization of depreciable assets, which include primarily property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets, are subject to significant estimate and have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of depreciable assets. See detlriled disclosure of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible asset useful lives noted below. A decrease of the average useful lives of depreciable 
assets by 1 year, would increase depreciation and amortization by $63,099 (2011- $544,089). Management 
has not identified any other critical accounting estimates. 

Presentation of revenue: gross versus net 

When deciding the most appropriate basis for presenting revenue or costs of revenue, both the legal form and 
substance of the agreement between the Co-operative and its business partners are reviewed to determine each ) 
party's respective role in the transaction. 

Where the Co-operative's role in a transaction is that of principal, revenue is recognized on a gross basis. This 
requires revenue to comprise the gross value of the transaction billed to the customer, after trade discounts, 
with any related expenditure charged as an operating cost. 

Where the Co-operative's role in a transaction is that of an agent, revenue is recognized on a net basis with 
revenue representing the margin earned. 

Revenue recognition 

The Co-operative recognizes revenue on the sale of ethanol and distillers grains at the time of shipment. 

Government assistance 

The Co-operative estinlates the timing and amount of assistance it will receive from government funding 
programs. Such estimates are based on past experience of receiving similar funding in the past. 

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Co-operative has complied with 
the conditions of the grant. Sucll grants are accounted for as a reduction of the related expense or asset, or as 
income, on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Co-operative recognizes as expenses the related 
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate as appropriate. Annual assessments are performed as to 
the likelihood of government grants becoming repayable. 

(2) 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Inventories 

Inventories of finished products, feedstock, process chemicals and supplies are valued at the lower of net 
realizable value and average cost. Work in process consists of cost of material and direct labour and is valued at 
the lower of net realizable value and average cost. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Amortization is provided for using the straight-line method 
based on the estimated useful lives of the asset. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Land 
Buildings and site pipelines 
Furniture and fixtures 
Equipment 
Process equipment 

Indefinite 
20 to 35 years 
10 years 
3 to 10 years 
1 0 to 35 years 

The Co-operative reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual 
reporting period. 

Amortization of assets b'Ubj ect to a finance lease is calculated on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

In the year of acquisition, amortization is provided for on a pro-rated period for the number of days the asset is 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Amortization methods and residual values are 
reviewed annually for changes in circumstances that would result in changes in these estimates. A change in 
estimate is accounted for prospectively in the year the change occurred. 

The assets are grouped by significant component and amortized over the period of that specific component. 
Annually long term assets are assessed for impairment by comparing the recoverable amount to the asset's 
carrying value. 

Grants under government capital assistance programs are deducted from the cost of the assets to which the 
grant relates. 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets relate to a license which grants the Co-operative the right to use the proprietary design and 
processes to produce ethanol and the control components of the plant technology. The license is being 
amortized over the esthnated useful life of the significant portion of process equipment of 35 years. 

(3) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Co-operative reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows arc discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Co-operative has a present obligation, based on a legal or constructive 
requirement, resulting from a past event that is probable will result in an outflow of assets from the Co­
operative and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

Leases 

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized as assets of the Co-operative at their fair value at the 
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognized 
immediately in profit or loss, uuless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are 
capitalised in accordance with the Co-operative's general policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are 
recognized as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative ofthetimc pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred. 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at frur value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at frur value through profit or loss are 
recognized immediately in profit or loss. Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: 
financial assets 'at fair value through profit or loss' (FVTPL), 'held-to-maturity' investments, 'avrulable-for-sale' 
(AFS) financial assets and 'loans and receivables'. Financial liabilities are either classified as FVTPL or other 
liabilities. 

• 

• 

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 
recognized in profit or loss. 
Avrulable-for-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value and changes in frur value are 
included in other comprehensive income until the asset is removed from the statement of financial 
position. 
Loans and receivables are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 
Other financial liabilities are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 
Derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are measured at their fair value at the date 
the contract was entered into with changes in fair value recorded at the end of each reporting period 
and recognized in profit or loss for the year unless the instrument is a cash flow hedge and hedge 
accounting applies in which case changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 

(5) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

The following is a summary of the classification of assets and liabilities of the Co-operative: 

Financial Instrument 
Cash 
Restricted cash 
Accounts receivable 
Fair value of commodity derivative contracts 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Fair value of interest rate swap contracts 
Tenn debt 
Finance lease obligation 
Subordinated debentures and notes 
Research and development fund liability 

Stock options 

Classification 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables 
FVTPL 
Other financial liabilities 
FVTPL 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 
other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 

Options are measured at fair value using the guidance in IFRS 2, Share Based Payment (!FRS 2). Stock-based 
compensation costs, measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the options granted and recognized 
over the service period involved, are recorded as expenses on the statement of operations and comprehensive 
loss. The amounts are credited to contributed surplus. An estimate of forfeitures is included in the amounts 
calculated. The consideration paid upon exercise of the options and the originally recorded fair value of the ·), 
options are added to share capital. 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Exposure to interest rates on debt is managed through the use of interest rate swap contracts. These swap 
contracts require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amount on 
which the payments are based. Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap contracts have been recorded 
in the statement of operations and comprehensive income. 

Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency 
transactions and from the translation at exchan)!;e rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recognized in the statement of operations. 

Income taxes 

Taxation on the profit or loss for the year comprises of current and deferred income tax. Taxation is recognized 
in the statement of operations except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which 
case the income tax is recognized in equity. 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Current income tax is the expected income tax payable on the taxable income for the year using rates enacted or 
substantially enacted at the year end, and includes any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred income tax is not provided on the initial 
recognition of goodwill or on the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a 
business combination or affects tax or accounting profit. Where an asset has no deductible or depreciable 
amount for income tax purposes, but has a deductible amount on sale or abandonment for capital gains 
purposes, the amount is included in the determination of temporary differences. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are calculated at tax rates that are expected to apply to their 
respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting 
period. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized 
against future taxable income. Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Co-operative has both the right and the intention to settle its current assets and 
liabilities on a net or simultaneous basis. 

Any changes in deferred income tax assets or liabilities are recognized as part of tax expense or income in profit 
or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income Ooss) or directly 
in equity, in which case the related deferred income tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) 
or equity, respectively. 

Future accounting changes 

Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Ventures and Disclosures 
In May 2011, the IASB issued three standards: IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, !FRS 11, Joint 
Arrangements, IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, and amended two standards: lAS 27, 

Separate Financial Statements, and lAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. Each of the new 
and amended standards has an effective date for annual periods beginnin11 on or after January 1, 2013, with 
earlier application permitted if all the respective standards are simultaneously applied. These standards are 
not expected to have an impact on the Co-operative. 

Fair Value Measurements 
In May 2011, the lASB issued !FRS 13, Fair Value Measurements (IFRS 13). IFRS 13 establishes a single source 
of fair value measurement guidance that was previously provided across standards and sets out fair value 
measurement disclosure requirements. The standard requires information made available to users to be able to 
properly assess the impacts of fair value measurements and the estimates and assumptions used in determining 
those fair values. !FRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Co-operative 
has not yet determined the impact of IFRS 13 on its financial statements. 

(7) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Financial Statement Presentation 
In June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to lAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation. These amendments 
improve how components of other comprehensive income are presented. The new requirements are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. These standards are not expected to have an impact on the 
Co-operative. 

Financial Instruments 
!FRS 9, Financial Instruments (!FRS 9) was issued by the IASB on November 12, 2009 and will replace lAS 39, 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. !FRS 9 removes certain financial instrument 
classifications used to determine the asset measurement and addresses the calculation of impairment on 
financial instrument using a single impairment method. !FRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2015. The Co-operative has not yet determined the impact of!FRS 9 on its financial statements. 

3 Transition to IFRS 

As mentioned in note 2, prior to September 30, 2012 the consolidated financial statements ofthe Co-operative 
were prepared in accordance with GAAP with this set of consolidated financial statements being the first 
prepared in accordance with !FRS. The date of adoption and corresponding opening consolidated statement of 
financial position is October 1, 2010, being the Co-operative's "transition date" to !FRS. The provisions in !FRS 

) 

1 allow for several elective exemptions as well as mandatory exceptions to retrospective application as required )· 
when applying new accounting policies. On transition, there were adjustments made for the following reasons: 

-Application of the components approach where each part of an item of property, plant and 
equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated 
separately in addition to the application of the guidance requiring the use of residual values as 
opposed to the lesser of residual and salvage value required under GAAP. 

-The Co-operative determined there was a resulting deferred tax impact on the above adjustments as 
the accounting cost base changed for the property, plant and equipment with no corresponding 
change in the tax base. 

-Application of the presentation standards under !FRS requires the statements of operations to be 
presented either based upon function or nature of the expense, following only one presentation format 
whereas a mixed format was permitted under GAAP, resulting in reclassification of line items above 
gross profit into cost of goods sold and also line items below gross profit into selling, general and 
administrative expenses and finance income and loss. 

The adjustments were recorded in opening retained earnings on October 1, 2010, the Co-operative's transition 
date, as a transitional adjustment. Depreciation expense and deferred income taxes were adjusted for the year 
ended September 30, 2011 for the differences identified above. There was no impact on the consolidated 
statement of cash flows other than the changes to income not involving cash of the adjusted depreciation 
expense and deferred income tax provision as opposed to the one previously recorded under GAAP. 
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Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

First-time adoption exemptions applied 

!FRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS 1) sets forth guidance for 
the initial adoption of !FRS. Under !FRS 1 the standards are applied retrospectively atthe transitional 
statement of financial position date with all adjustments to assets and liabilities taken to retained earnings 
unless certain exemptions are applied from full retrospective application. The Co-operative has applied the 
following exemptions to its opening consolidated statement of financial position dated October 1, 2010: 

Share-based payment transactions 
IFRS 1 encourages, but does not require, first-time adopters to apply IFRS 2 Share-based Payments to 
equity instruments that were granted subsequent to November 7, 2002, and vested before October 1, 

2010. The Co-operative has elected not to apply IFRS 2 to awards that were granted and vested prior 
to October 1, 2010, which have been accounted for in accordance with GAAP. 

Reconciliations and presentation differences 

IFRS employs a conceptual framework that is similar to GMP. However, significant differences exist in certain 
matters of recoguition, measurement and disclosure. While adoption of !FRS has not changed the Co­
operative's actual cash flows, it has resulted in changes to the Co-operative's reported financial position and 
results of operations. In order to allow the users of the financial statements to better understand these changes, 
the following tables show the total effect of the transition on the Co-operative's GAAP consolidated statements 
of operations and comprehensive income and the consolidated statements of financial position and show 
reconciliations of the comprehensive income and the equity to !FRS, with the resulting differences explained. 

Certain presentation differences between previous GAAP and !FRS have no impact on reported income or total 
equity. As can be seen in the following tables, some line items are descnoed differently (renamed) under !FRS 
compared to GAAP, although the assets and liabilities included in these line items are unaffected. 

The presentation in accordance with !FRS differs from the presentation in accordance with GMP. 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September ao, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of financial position 
September 30, 2011 

GAAP Adjustments IFRS 
$ $ $ 

Assets 

Current cissets 
Cash 17,e5e,e3o 17,656,630 
Cash held in margin 

accounts 31,Q43 31,043 
Restricted cash 2,708,217 2,708,217 
Accounts receivable 6,?63,620 6,763,620 

Inventory 5,575,966 5,575,966 

Prepaid expenses and 

deposits 1,524,457 1,524,457 
Income taxes recoverable 229,636 229,636 
Future income taxes 1,511,000 (1 ,511 ,000) 

36,000,569 (1 ,511 ,000) 34,489,569 
Non-current assets 

Property, plant and 

equipment 74,504,491 548,502 75,052,993 
Intangible assets 2,766,284 2,766,284 
Deferred income tax assets 835,000 1,511,000 2,346,000 

114,106,344 548,502 114,654,846 

GAAP 
$ 

14,180,256 

607,929 
3,707,130 

10,534,594 
4,088,165 

2,556,406 

628,000 

36,302,480 

79,829,439 

2,996,803 
1,521,000 

120,649,722 

) 

October 1, 2010 
Adjustments IFRS 

$ $ 

14,180,256 

607,929 
3,707,130 

10,534,594 
4,088,165 

2,556,406 

(628,000) 

(628,000) 35,674,480 

412,006 80,241,445 ) 
2,996,803 

628,000 2,149,000 

412,006 121,061,728 

) 
(10) 
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(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of financial position .... continued 
September 30, 2011 October 1, 201 0 

GAAP Adjustments I FRS GAAP Adjustments IFRS 
$ $ $ $ $ $ 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities 4,380,326 4,380,326 3,555,221 3,555,221 

Income taxes payable 540,517 540,517 
Fair value of commodity 

derivative contracts 100,662 100,662 898,991 898,991 
Fair value of interest rate 

swap contracts 944,838 944,838 1,436,240 1,436,240 
Current portion of capital 

lease obligation 619,905 619,905 539,670 539,670 
Current portion of term debt 3,822,000 3,822,000 5,150,000 5,150,000 
Current portion of research 

and development fund 
liability 280,000 280,000 

) 
Current portion of 

subordinated debentures 

and notes 731,544 731,544 

10,147,731 10,147,731 12,852,183 12,852,183 
Non-current liabilities 
Capital lease obligation 2,566,478 2,566,478 3,186,383 3,186,383 
Term debt 16,393,645 16,393,645 29,336,112 29,336,112 
Research and development 

fund liability 1,661,464 1,661,464 1,821,261 1,821,261 
Deferred income tax liabilities 9,718,000 139,000 9,857,000 6,285,000 105,000 6,390,000 

Subordinated debentures 1,107,000 1,107,000 1,107,000 1 '1 07,000 

41,594,318 139,000 41,733,318 54,587,939 105,000 54,692,939 

Shareholders' Equity 
Capital stock 47,788,960 47,788,960 52,966,860 52,966,860 
Contributed surplus 703,186 703,186 806,150 806,150 
Retained earnings 24,019,880 409,502 24,429,382 12,288,773 307,006 12,595,779 

72,512,026 409,502 72,921,528 66,061,783 307,006 66,368,789 

114,1 06,344 548,502 114,654,846 120,649,722 412,006 121,061,728 

) 

(11) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income for the year ended 
September 30, 2011. 

GAAP Adjustments I FRS 
$ $ $ 

Net sales 124,689,093 124,689,093 

Cost of goods sold 122,812,566 (21,181,096) 101,631,470 
Depreciation and amortization 6,594,380 (6,594,380) 
Net (gain) loss on commodity derivative 

contracts 1,056,061 (1 ,056,061) 
Operating grants (28,695,041) 28,695,041 

101,767,966 (136,496) 101,631,470 

Gross profit 22,921,127 136,496 23,057,623 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 3,961,433 77,040 4,038,473 
Amortization of deferred finance costs and 

depreciation 1,306,573 (1 ,306,573) 

5,268,006 (1 ,229,533) 4,038,473 

Operating income 17,653,121 1,366,029 19,019,150 

Finance income (loss) 
Interest expense (3,060,457) (3,060,457) 
Interest and other income 52,207 52,207 
Gain on interest rate swap 491,402 491,402 
Gain (loss) on foreign exchange 251,134 251,134 
Amortization of deferred finance costs (1 ,229,533) (1,229,533) 

(2,265, 714) (1 ,229,533) (3,495.247) 

Income before provision for income taxes 15,387,407 136,496 15,523,903 

Current income tax expense 420,300 420,300 
Deferred income tax expense 3,236,000 34,000 3,270,000 

3,656,300 34,000 3,690,300 

Net income for the year 11,731 '1 07 102,496 11,833,603 

(12) 

) 

) 

) 



) 

) 

) 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

4 Restrk1:ed cash 

September 30, 
2012 

$ 

Debt service reserve account 2,418,264 
Post completion account 

2,418,264 

September 30, October 1 
2011 2010 

$ $ 

2,708,217 3,497,575 
209,555 

2,708,217 3,707,130 

Under the terms of the credit agreement, as construction funds were obtained, a portion was added to the debt 
service reserve account such that at substantial completion the sum of two principal instalments plus six 
months of interest is available in a separate account to service bank debt. In the event cash flow is insufficient 
to meet the quarterly requirement, these funds may be used but must be replenished. 

5 Accounts receivable 

September 30, September 30, October 1 
2012 2011 2010 

$ $ $ 

Trade accounts receivable 4,866,437 2,742,211 2,058,381 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 
Operating grants receivable (note 18) 3,454,394 4,016,990 8,403,816 
Other receivables 100 4,419 72,397 

8,320,931 6,763,620 10,534,594 

All of the Co-operative's trade accounts receivable balances were aged less than 30 days as at the year end dates. 

6 Inventory 

September 30, September 30, October 1, 
2012 2011 2010 

$ $ $ 

Fuel grade ethanol 448,879 1,903,821 925,550 
Work in process 1,260,717 1,076,700 1,143,096 

Feedstock, process chemicals and supplies 3,398,118 2,595,445 2,019,519 

5,107,714 5,575,966 4,088,165 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
~eptember 30, 2012 and September 30, :z.ou 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

7 Property, plant and equipment 

Furniture 
Site "'d 

Cost Land Buildings pipelines fixtures 

Balance • October 1, 
2010 2,923,721 13,761,022 2,287,513 97,452 

Additions 664,609 18,000 
Repayment of capital 

grants 
Disposals 
Balance· September-

30,2011 2,923,721 14,425,631 2,287,513 115,452 

Gas pipeline 
under 

Process finance lease Construction 
Equipment equipment (note 10) In progress Total 

698,933 64,457,656 8,472,554 92,698,851 
139,515 166,104 988,228 

179,021 179,021 
114.950 

723,498 64,802,781 8,472,554 93,751,150 
Additions 10,063 . 9.740 --~---·-4~----·····---·-···--:_ __ -·- __ lli2.A~--- - 3, 8§_6_&2,1!.. 
Balance • September 

30,2012 2.923.721 14.435,694 2,287,513 125.192 803,953 64,946,656 8.472,554 3,642.423 97,637.706 

Gas pipeline 
Accumulatad Furniture under finance 
depreciation and Site and Process lease (note Construction 
Impairment Land Buildings pipelines fixtures Equipment equipment 10) in progreu Total 

Balance· October 1, 
2010 1,298,589 228.752 14,954 115,105 8,379,276 2.420,730 12.457,406 

Depreclallon expense ------- 666.sn 114,376 9,693 100.965 4,138,775 1,210,36~ ··-·--·-·-·----~·240, ~~ 
Balance· September 

30,2011 1,965,166 343,128 24,647 216,070 12,518,051 3,631,095 18,698,157 
Depreciation expense 368.982 55,551 10,768 89.154 1,880 546 1,210 365 ________ ,......: ___ ~:_1!~5.3§§. 
Balance • September 

30,2012 2,334,148 398,679 35.415 305,224 14,398,597 4,841,460 22,313,523 

{14) 
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(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

The following is a reconciliation of the net book value for property, plant and equipment: 

Balance - October 1, 2010 
Additions 
Repayments of capital grants 
Disposals 
Depreciation expense 

Balance - September 30, 2011 
Additions 
Depreciation expense 

Balance - September 30, 2012 

Cost 
$ 

92,698,851 
988,228 
179,021 

(114,950) 

93,751,150 
3,886,556 

97,637,706 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

$ 

12,457,406 

6,240,751 

18,698,157 

3,615,366 

22,313,523 

Net book 
value 

$ 

80,241,445 
988,228 
179,021 

(114,950) 
(6,240, 751) 

75,052,993 
3,886,556 

(3,615,366) 

75,324,183 

The maturing ethanol industry, in addition to the details provided by the Co-operative's rigorous maintenance 
program, presented management with supportable information justifying a change in estimated useful life. The 
estimated useful life was increased beyond that of a 1st generation dry mill ethanol manufacturing facility, 
conservatively used previously, to a longer period indicative of the construction materials utilized as well as the 
results of the maintenance and inspection over the past 4 years of operation. Consequently, the Co-operative 
prospectively revised the useful lives of property, plant and equipment effective October 1, 2011, which affected 
tlte useful lives of a number of assets, primarily buildings and process equipment. The revision results in the 
following change in the original trend of depreciation: 

2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
After 2015 

$ 

(2, 775,049) 
(2,704,101) 
(2,658,328) 
(2,618,590) 
10,756,068 

(15) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

8 Intangible assets 

September 30, 
2012 

$ 

Cost 3,227,324 
Accumulated amortization (547,488) 

Net book value 2,679,836 

September 30, 
2011 

$ 

3,227,324 
(461,040) 

2,766,284 

The following is a reconciliation of the net book value for the intangible asset: 

Balance - October 1, 2010 
Amortization 

Balance - September 30, 2011 
Amortization 

Balance- September 30, 2012 

$ 

2,996,803 
(230,519) 

2,766,284 
(86,448) 

2,679,836 

October 1, 
2010 

$ 

3,227,324 
(230,521) 

2,996,803 

During the current year, the Co-operative reviewed and revised the useful life of the intangible asset resulting in 
the following change in the original trend of amortization: 

2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
After2015 

9 Termdebt 

Term debt 
Less: Current portion 
Less: Deferred financing costs 

September 30, 
2012 

$ 

8,500,000 
(3,822,000) 

(378,900) 

4,299,100 

$ 

(144,072) 
(144,072) 
(144,072) 
(144,072) 
576,288 

September 30, 
2011 

$ 

21,500,000 
(3,822,000) 
(1,284,355) 

16,393,645 

October 1, 
2010 

$ 

37,000,000 
(5,150,000) 
(2,513,888L 

29,336,112 

(16) 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

The Co-operative entered into a credit agreement on June 15, 2007 with a lead bank as Agent for certain lenders 
to initially make the following credit facilities available: 

a) A seven year non-revolving term loan facility for $63,70o,ooo to be used for construction ofthe plant 
with principal payments of $3,822,000 commencing in 2009, due June 27, 2014. 

b) A seven year revolving term facility for working capital purposes not to exceed lesser of $7,000,000 or 
the borrowing base. Borrowing base uses as collateral 85% of eligible receivables and inventory. 
Subsequently to year end, the amount has been reduced to $6,ooo,ooo. 

In 2009, the Co-operative had drawn the full amount allowed against the seven year non-revolving term loan 
facility. The revolving facility became available after substantial completion of the ethanol plant as defined 
under the credit agreement. 

Deferred financing costs have been allocated to the term loan, revolving term facility and bridge facility. At 
year-end the unamortized balances allocated to these elements of the credit agreement are $185,300 
(September 30, 2011- $897,155; October 1, 2010- $1,933,088), $193,600 (September 30, 2011- $387,200; 
October 1, 2010- $58o,8oo) and $Nil (September 30,2011- $Nil; October 1, 2010- $Nil) respectively. 

As at September 30, 2012, the Co-operative had $2,754,481 (September 30, 2011- $2,754,481; October 1 2010-
$2,754,481) of letters of credit drawn against the seven year revolving term facility. 

During construction, interest was based on the variable banker's acceptance rate and a stamping fee of 3.75%. 
After substantial completion, the debt became a term debt with interest at the variable banker's acceptance rate 
and a stamping fee of 3.25% which was increased to 3. 75% after negotiating the amendment to the credit 
agreement. The aggregate amount of minimum principal payments required in each of the next two years 
under debt facilities are: 

2013 
2014 

$ 

3,822,000 
4,678,000 

8,500,000 

Debt repayments made on each repayment date have been the greater: of 70% of excess cash flows; and the 
difference between the outstanding amount and the target outstanding debt to a maximum of 100% of the 
excess cash flows. The target outstanding debt is reduced by $2,895,455 per quarter. If there are no excess cash 
flows, the Co-operative is required to pay 1.5% of the initial debt outstanding for a total of $955,500 per 
quarter, which has been disclosed in the principal payments required above and adjusted for the target 
outstanding debt amount. As at September 30, 2012, the target debt outstanding was $20,268,175 (September 
30, 2011-$31,850,ooo; October 1, 2010- $43.431,818). A voluntary prepayment feature allows the Co­
operative to prepay a minimum of $soo,ooo with adequate notice to the Agent. 
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Since the inception of the seven year revolving term facility, the Co-operative has made the following principal 
payments: 

Term debt at inception 
Principal payments in 2009 
Principal payments in 2010 
Principal payments in 2011 
Principal payments in 2012 

$ 

63,700,000 
(9, 728,812) 

(16,971 '188) 
(15,500,000) 
(13,000,000) 

8,500,000 

Under the credit agreement, the Co-operative has provided security to the lenders, the key elements of which 
are as follows: 

a) a fixed and floating charge debenture in the amount of $tso,ooo,ooo; 

b) a general security agreement covering all assets of the Co-operative; 

c) an assignment of insurance; and 

d) a limited recourse guarantee and a securities pledge agreement. 

10 Finance lease obligation 

As part of the construction of the ethanol plant, it was necessary for the local natural gas distributor to 
construct a 29km pipeline from a Union Gas trunk pipeline to the town of Aylmer. The costs ofthe pipeline are 
fully borne by the Co-operative, through 'aid-to-construct' payments, plus certain fixed gas delivery charges 
over a 7 year contract period. While the Co-operative has no ownership interest in the pipeline, accounting 
standards require that in such instances where the value of the asset is fully recovered by the supplier and the 
customer has exclusive, or virtually exclusive, use of the asset, the arrangement is accounted for as a lease. 
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Accordingly, the Co-operative has recorded the capital cost of the pipeline as a finance lease, and the discounted 
value of certain fixed gas delivery charges over the next 4 years as a finance lease obligation, with notional 
interest of 15%. The details of the finance lease obligation are as follows: 

Gross finance lease liabilities- minimum 
lease payments: 

No laterthan 1 year 
Later than 1 year and no later 

than 5 years 

Future interest charges on finance leases 

Present value of finance lease liabilities 

The present value of finance lease 
liabilities is repayable as follows: 

No later than 1 year 
Later than 1 year and no later 

than 5 years 

September 30, 
2012 

$ 

1,066,248 

2,132,496 

3,198,744 
(632,266) 

2,566,478 

738,210 

1 828,268 

2,566,478 

September 30, 
2011 

$ 

1,066,248 

3,198,744 

4,264,992 
(1,078,609) 

3,186,383 

619,905 

2,566,478 

3,186,383 

October 1, 
2010 

$ 

1,066,248 

4,264,992 

5,331,240 
(1,605,187) 

3,726,053 

539,670 

3,186,383 

3,726,053 

In addition to the foregoing, the Co-operative is obligated to provide a letter of credit to the natural gas 
distributor to ensure performance under the agreement. At year end, a letter of credit in the amount of 
$5,214,173 (September 30, 2011- $5,214,173; October 1, 2010- $5,214,173) was issued in their favour. 

The final cost of the pipeline is currently under review by the Ontario Energy Board. Should the final costs 
differ from costs determined for purposes of calculating the finance lease obligation, the obligation will be 
adjusted accordingly. 

(19) 
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11 Subordinated debentures and notes 

Class A debentures maturing on December 31, 
2013 and bearing interest at 8.5% per 
annum 

Class B debentures maturing on December 31, 
2013 and bearing interest at 7.5% per 
annum 

Promissory notes maturtng on December 31, 
2010 and bearing interest at 8.0% per 
annum 

Less: Current portion 

September 30, 
2012 

$ 

1,070,000 

37,000 

1,107,000 

1,107,000 

September 30, 
2011 

$ 

1,070,000 

37,000 

1,107,000 

1,107,000 

October 1, 
2010 

$ 

1,070,000 

37,000 

731,544 

1,838,544 

731,544 

1.107,000 

The redemption of these subordinate debentures at maturity and the payment of interest thereon are subject to .) 
the prior consent of the lenders. 

) 
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12 Capital stock 

Authorized 

too,ooo membership shares, voting, with a par value of $too each. 

2o,ooo,ooo Class E preference shares, non-voting, redeemable at the discretion of the Board, with a par 
value of $5 each. 

The Class E preference shares are redeemable at their par value, plus a premium, if any, equivalent to a pro 
rata share of retained earnings of the Co-operative, calculated at the end of the immediately preceding fiscal 
year subject to certain conditions, plus a pro rata share of such premiums as may have been paid upon the 
purchase of aoy Class E preference shares. The preference shares do not carry a retraction right. 

Each of the Class E preference shares is entitled to non-cumulative preferential dividends to be declared at 
the discretion of the Board. 

Membership Class E Total 
# $ # $ $ 

Balance- October 1, 2010 4,120 412,000 10,831,931 52,554,860 52,966,860 

New share issuances 5 500 500 

Exercised stock options 15,624 78,120 78,120 

Share conversions 1,000 5,000 5,000 

Share redemptions (140) (14,000) (14,000) 

Return of capital (5,247,520) (5,247,520) 

Balance· September 30, 2011 3,985 398,500 10,848,555 47,390,460 47,788,960 

Exercised stock options 6,000 30,000 30,000 

Share conversions 100 500 500 

Share redemptions (145) (14,500) (14,500) 

Return of capital (5,456,882) (5,456,882) 

Balance· September 30, 2012 3,840 384,000 10,854,655 41,964,078 42,348,078 

(21) 
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13 Capital disclosures 

The Co-operative has two primary capital management objectives. The first of which is to raise and maintain a 
capital base to finance the construction and operation of the ethanol manufacturing facility. In compliance with 
the credit agreement, membership and preference shares and subordinate debentures (securities) have been 
issued. These securities are governed by the Co-operative Corporations Act. Annually, an Offering Statement is 
filed with the Financial Services Corporation of Ontario (the Superintendent). 

The second primary capital management objective is to safeguard the Co-operative's ability to continue as a 
going concern so that it can provide returns to its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. In this 
context, management considers capital to be its consolidated net worth as defined in the credit agreement as 
containing shareholders' equity and capital grants. The Co-operative has no regulatory requirements with 
respect to capital; however, the agent for the syndicate of the term debt has imposed certain covenants in 
connection with the term debt and credit facilities. As at September 30, 2012, the Co-operative was in 
compliance with these covenants. 

14 Financial instruments 

Fair value 

The fair value of financial instruments recorded as current, including cash, cash held in margin accounts, 
restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are determined to 
approximate their recorded value due to their short term matnrity. 

Commodity derivative contracts and the interest rate swap contracts are carried at fair value. 

The research and development fund liability has been recorded at fair value at the time of recognition and is 
carried at amortized cost (note 18). 

Management has determined that the carrying value of its term debt, finance lease obligations and 
subordinated debentures and notes approximates fair value. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss because a counter party to a financial instrument fails to discharge its 
contractual obligations. The Co-operative's exposure to credit risk relates to its cash, cash held in margin 
accounts, restricted cash and accounts receivable. Due to the exclusive marketing arrangements for ethanol 
and distillers grains, all of the trade accounts receivables are with two customers. 

(22) 

) 

) 



) 

) 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Liquidity risk 

The Co-operative's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
financial obligations when due through periodic monitoring of working capital balances. All of the Co­
operative's current financial liabilities have contractual maturities that range between 30 and 90 days and are 
subject to normal trade terms excluding finance lease obligations (note 10), term debt (note 9), subordinated 
debentures and notes (note n) and the research and development fund liability (note 18). 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in 
the interest rates. L'hanges in market interest rates may have an effect on the cash flows associated with some 
financial assets and liabilities, known as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or 
liabilities, known as price risk. The Co-operative is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates on its cash, 
restriL1:ed cash, and notes payable from parent and term debt. A portion of this risk due to variable interest 
rates has been addressed by the use of interest rate swap contracts (note 21). 

Thcfo!lowing table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. 

• Levell fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Levell that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices). 

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

Level1 Level2 Level3 Total 
September 30, 2012 $ $ $ $ 

Fair value of commodity 
derivative contracts 492 492 

Fair value of Interest rate 
swap contracts 371,881 371,881 

372,373 372,373 
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September 30, 2011 

Fair value of commodity 
derivative contracts 

Fair value of interest rate 
swap contracts 

October 1, 2010 

Fair value of commodity 
derivative contracts 

Fair value of interest rate 
swap contracts 

Level1 
$ 

Level 1 
$ 

Level2 
$ 

100,662 

944,838 

1,045,500 

Level2 
$ 

898,991 

1,436,240 

2,335,231 

There were no transfers between Levell and 2 in the year. 

15 Commodity derivative contracts 

Level3 
$ 

Level3 
$ 

Total 
$ 

100,662 

944,838 

1,045,500 

Total 
$ 

898,991 

1,436,240 

2,335,231 

The Co-operative is exposed to the impact of market fluctuations associated with commodity prices and uses 
derivative financial instruments as part of an overall strategy to manage market risk, assuming it has sufficient 
liquidity to manage such a strategy. The Co-operative uses cash, futures, swaps, costless collars and option 
contracts to mitigate against the risk of changes to the commodity prices of com, natural gas and ethanol. The 
Co-operative will not enter into these derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes, nor 
will it designate these contracts as cash flow or fair value hedges for accounting. These financial instruments 
are accounted for using the mark-to-market method, with any changes in fair value immediately recognized in 
operations. 
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At year end, the Co-operative had the following derivative contracts outstanding: 

September 30, 2012 

Corn 

September 30, 2011 

Natural gas 

October 1, 2010 

Corn 
Ethanol 
Natural gas 
RBOB* 

Average cost/price in USD 

$8.00- $8.07 /bushel 

Average cost/price in USD 

$4.25 - $5.00 /MMBtu 

Average cost/price in USD 

$4.02 - $5.22/ bushel 
$1.62/ US gallon 
$4.50 - 6.00 I MMBtu 
$1.945 I US gallon 

Expiry 

December 2012- March 2013 

Expiry 

November 2011 - December 2011 

Expiry 

December 2010- March 2011 
October 2010- April2011 
November 2010- March 2011 
October 201 0 

The net market value of these open positions is an unrealized loss of $492 (September 30, 201 t - $100,662; 
October 1, 2010- $898,991) 

(*RBOB -reformulated gasoline blendstock for oxygenate blending) 

16 Cost of goods sold 

Feedstock 
Chemicals, enzymes, yeast and denaturant 
Natural gas, electricity and water 
Labour 
Maintenance 
Other production costs 
Insurance 
Property taxes 
Depreciation and amortization 
Net (gain) loss on commodity derivative contracts 
Operating grants (note 18) 

2012 
$ 

111,363,665 
6,279,664 
9,071,907 
3,323,925 
1,782,404 

495,899 
536,918 
268,125 

3,625,131 
(378,217) 

(27,465,502) 

108,903,919 

2011 
$ 

101,907,548 
5,795,448 
8,749,724 
3,501,061 
1,467,673 

477,787 
638,429 
274,896 

6,457,884 
1,056,061 

(28,695,041) 

101,631,470 
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17 Commitments 

Corn supply agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement for the supply of corn for production of ethanol for 
an initial term oftive years from October 1, 2008, and it is expected that 400,000 metric tonnes are to be 
supplied each year. The Co-operative is also required under the agreement to provide adequate assurance for 
the corn supplier's mark-to-market exposure over a pre-determined threshold. At year end, the Co-operative 
had deposited $Nil (September 30, 2011 - $Nil; October 1, 2010 - $437,529) with the corn supplier with respect 
to this commitment, and this amount is recorded in cash held in margin accounts in the statement of financial 
position. 

Risk management agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an agreement with a risk management services provider to implement an 
integrated price risk management program for an initial term of one year from June 22, 2007 and is 
automatically renewed each year for an additional one year term. 

Ethanol marketing agreement 

The Co-operative has entered iota an exclusive agreement with an ethanol marketer for the marketing of all of 
the ethanol production for an initial term of one year from the first day of production, which was October 15, 
2008, and the agreement has been renewed for a second additional two year term. The ethanol marketing 
company has agreed to take and pay for too% of the output. 

Distillers grain purchaser agreement 

The Co-operative has entered into an exclusive agreement with a marketer to market the following by-products 
of ethanol production: dry grains with solubles, wet graios with solubles, and wet modified grains with solubles 
for an initial term of five years from the first day of production, which was October 15, 2008. 

18 Government grants 

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) 

The Co-operative has been awarded two grants from OMAFRA: 

a) In March 2009, the Co-operative received a capital grant of $14,ooo,ooo after completion of the 
project and achieving nameplate capacity by establishing the capability of producing 145 million litres 
of ethanol in a calendar year. As a condition precedent to receiving the grant, the Co-operative is 
committed to contribute $2,8oo,ooo over ten years to a future iodustry related Research and 
Development Fund, as administered by the Agricultural Research Institute of Ontario. The first 
payment was made on April1, 2012, three years after the full grant was received. An amount of 
$1,653,921, representing the present value of these payments discounted at 6.60%, was recorded as a 
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research and development fund liability, thus reducing the amount of capital grant recognized for the 
purpose of recording the net cost of property, plant and equipment. At year end, the balance of this 
obligation was $1,789,601 (September 30, 2011- $1,941,464; October 1, 2010- $1,821,261). 

b) An operating grant was activated when the plant began operation in October 2008. Funding is based 
on the actual volume of denatured ethanol produced in a month times the rate of payment for that 
month (not to exceed $0.11 per litre) subject to an annual maximum of 145 million litres. During the 
current and prior year, the Co-operative reached this maximum and earned $14,989,921 (2011 -
$14,918,113) in operating grants earned at $0.1029 per litre (2011- $0.1028 per litre), of which 
$1,374,816 (September 30, 2011- $1,818,598; October 1, 2010 - $1,868,872) has been accrued as an 
amount receivable. The agreement is set to expire December 31, 2016. 

If the profitability of the Co-operative reaches or exceeds the threshold of17.50% as calculated by the 
internal rate of return on a cash flow basis, the grant is reduced by 40%. This reduction increases 
incrementally up to 100% if profitability remains above 17.50%. As at September 30, 2012 and September 
30, 2011, the Co-operative's internal rate of return was below the threshold of 17.50%. 

Ethanol Expansion Program contribution 

This capital grant, managed by Natural Resources Canada (NRCan), has reimbursed $11,goo,ooo of 
construction costs for the ethanol facility. 

For each of the calendar years from 2009 to 2016 inclusive or until the grants have been repaid in full, the Co­
operative must repay an amount calculated as of December 31 of each year as follows: 

(Average Gross Income per Litre minus $0.20 per litre) X (the total Fuel Ethanol Produced in the previous 
twelve (12) months) X (0.20). 

If the average gross income per litre is $0.20 or less, the repayment will be zero. During the year, the Co­
operative repaid $Nil (2011- $179,021) of this capital grant. 

ecoEnergy for Biofueis 

The Co-operative qualified for an operating grant under the Federal Government's ecoEnergy for Biofuels 
program, managed by NRCan. The operating grant is payable quarterly, from 2008 to 2016. The maximum 
incentive rate payable declines from $0.10 per litre of ethanol sold in the first year to $0.04 per litre in the last. 
The maximum eligible sales volume is 162,00o,ooo litres per year. During the current and prior years, the Co­
operative reached the maximum eligible sales volume and earned $12,475,581 (2011- $13,776,928) in operating 
grants earned at $0.077 per litre (2011- $0.0849 per litre) of which$ 2,079,578 (September 30, 2011-
$2,198,392; October 1, 2010 - $6,534,944) has been accrued as an amount receivable. 
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19 Selling, general and administrative expenses 

Short-term compensation expense 
Bank fees and related charges 
Consulting and professional fees 
Memberships 
Office and administration 
Risk management 
Travel 
Co-operative administration 
Depreciation 

20 Interest expense 

Term debt 
Settlement interest on swap 
Capital lease obligation 
Interest on research and development fund liability 
Subordinated debentures and notes 
Other 

21 Interest rate swap contracts 

2012 2011 
$ $ 

1,281,192 1,257,690 
498,557 604,898 
558,960 877,110 
254,175 253,889 
369,273 448,929 

69,647 82,833 
63,705 63,197 

244,940 372,887 
76,685 77,040 

3,417,134 4,038,473 

2012 2011 
$ $ 

785,247 1,577,257 
514,072 729,012 
446,343 526,584 
128,137 120,203 

93,910 103,365 
4,036 

1,967,709 3,060,457 

Under the terms of the credit agreement, on August 30, 2007, the Co-operative entered into monthly interest 
rate swap contracts to match the construction drawdown and term debt repayment schedule. These swap 
agreements convert a portion of the variable-rate liability into a fixed-rate liability. At September 30, 2012, the 
unrealized loss on these interest rate swap agreements was $371,881 (September 30, 2011- $944,838; October 
1, 2010- $1,436,240). 

Terms of the agreement at September 30, 2012 are as follows: 

Tenmination date: 
Notional amount of principal (maximum): 

Fixed paying rate: 

June 1, 2014 
September 30, 2012 - $10,134,091 
September 30, 2011- $15,925,000 
October 1, 2010-$21,175,909 
4.91% 
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22 Net change in non-cash working capital balances 

(Increase) decrease in 
Accounts receivable 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 
Income taxes recoverable 

Increase (decrease) in 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Income taxes payable 

23 Stock options 

2012 
$ 

(1,557,311) 
468,252 
600,977 
229,636 

(382,735) 
305,659 

(335,522) 

2011 
$ 

3,770,974 
(1,487,801) 
1,031,949 

(229,636) 

825,105 
(540,517) 

3,370,074 

The Co-operative is authorized to grant certain directors options to purchase Class E preference shares of the 
Co-operative. The Co-operative, in a prior year, authorized $695,300 worth of Class E preference share options 
to certain directors for services provided prior to substantial completion of the ethanol plant which occurred on 
October 15, 2008. 

These options vest when issued and under the Co-operative Corporations Act are exercisable at $5.00 per share 
until they expire on June 24, 2017. They will be deemed to have been automatically exercised immediately 
before any change in control of the Co-operative or before the sale of substantially all of its assets. 

The Co-operative had also, in a prior year, authorized $124,500 worth of Class E preference share options and 
$soo worth of membership share options to a non-employee for services provided leading up to obtaining 
financing. These options were settled with a cash payment of $25,000 in the prior year and $100,000 in a prior 
year. 

During the year, the Co-operative received $6o (2011- $156) from the exercise of 6,ooo (2011- 15,624) options 
at $0.01 per Class E preference share. Additionally, contributed surplus was adjusted by $29,940 (2011-
$77.964) for stock-based compensation previously recorded on these exercised stock options. 

September 30, 2012 
# $ 

Total stock options -
beginning of year 123,436 617,336 

Options exercised 
during year 6,000 (29,940) 

Total stock options-
end of year 117,436 587,396 

September 30, 2011 
# $ 

139,060 695,300 

15,624 (77,964) 

123,436 617,336 

October 1, 2010 
# $ 

139,060 695,300 

139,060 695,300 

(2g) 
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24 Contingencies 

The Co-operative has been named as a defendant in a lawsuit arising from the construction of the gas pipeline. 
The outcome of this claim is not currently determinable, however management is of the view that no payments 
will be made, other than defense costs, as a result of the claim. Any settlement that should arise will be 
accounted for in the year that a liability is established. 

25 Income tax 

The income tax on the Co-operative's income before tax differs from the amount that would result using the 
theoretically applicable tax rate of the Co-operative as follows: 

2012 2011 

$ % $ % 

Income before income tax 15,937,474 15,523,903 

Income tax calculated at applicable 
tax rate 4,044,625 25.3 4,172,825 26.9 

Expenses not deductible for tax 
purposes 11,969 0.1 21,823 0.1 

Effect on deferred tax expense 
from changes in tax rates (118,624) (0.7) (445,969) (2.8) 

Other 49,630 0.3 (58,379) (0.4) 

3,987,600 25.0 3,690,300 23.8 
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Deferred income taxes 

Tax liabilities by types of temporary differences: 

September 30, September 30, October1, 
2012 2011 2010 

$ $ $ 

Deferred income tax assets 
Unrealized gain on contracts 93,000 265,000 628,000 
Investment tax credit carryforward 65,000 
Research and development fund liability 447,000 485,000 455,000 
Credit carryforward corporate minimum tax 1,338,000 1,136,000 716,000 
Non-capital loss carryforward 434,000 395 000 350,000 

Total deferred income tax assets 2,312,000 2,346,000 2,149,000 

Deferred income tax liabilities 
Property, plant and equipment 12,638,000 9,224,000 5,561,000 
Intangible assets 97,000 83,000 93,000 

) 
Gas pipeline 266,000 414,000 582,000 
Deferred financing costs 79,000 136,000 154,000 

Total deferred Income tax liabilities 13,080,000 9,857,000 6,390,000 

September 30, September 30, October1, 
2012 2011 2010 

$ $ $ 

Deferred income tax assets to be 
recovered within one year 1,431,000 1,466,000 628,000 

Deferred income tax assets to be 
recovered after more than one year 881,000 880,000 1,521,000 

2,312,000 2,346,000 2,149,000 

Deferred income tax liabilities to be 
recovered within one year 

Deferred income tax liabilities to be 
recovered after more than one year 13,080,000 9,857,000 6,390,000 

13,080,000 9,857,000 6,390,000 

) 

(31) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

The movements on the deferred income tax balances arc as follows: 

Balance at October 1, 201 0 
Deferred income tax expense (recovery) 

Balance at September 30, 2011 
Deferred income tax expense 

Balance at September 30, 2012 

26 Compensation of key management personnel 

Deferred Deferred 
income tax income tax 

assets liabilities 
$ $ 

2,149,000 6,390,000 
(197,000) 3,467,000 

2,346,000 9,857,000 
34,000 3,223,000 

2,312,000 13,080,000 

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel during the year was as 
follows: 

Short-term compensation expense 

27 Approval of financial statements 

2012 
$ 

1,758,766 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on December 12, 2012. 

2011 
$ 

1,801,334 

(32) 

) 

) 
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March 15, 2013 

AUDITOR'S CONSENT 

We have read the offering statement oflntegrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. ("Co-operative") 
dated March 1, 2013 relating to the issue and sale of Membership Shares and Class E Preference Shares of 
the Co-operative. We have complied with Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditor's 
involvement with offering documents. 

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned offering statement of our report to the shareholders of the 
Co-operative on the consolidated balance sheets of the Co-operative as at September 30, 2012, September 
30, 2011 and October 1, 2010, and the consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings and 
cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2012 and September 30, 2011. Our report on the 
consolidated financial statements is dated December 12, 2012. 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

PT'icewaterhouseCoopers LLP/s.r.l.js.e.n.c.r.l.1 Chartered Accountants 
46.5 Richmond Street. Suite 800, London, Ontario, Canada N6A 5P4 
T: +I 519 640 Booo, F: +1 519 640 8015, www.pwc.comjca 

P,vc -srers :c ?,.,o;e.vaterhouseCoopers ..... ?·s r . sa ., c · ao ()ntarrc 'rf'!lru::d r~oun;. par111ersn.p, Nm:.' .sa ..-.arr.De, or:r ;: ?• .;;awa;e,,c .. sawc.-a~ rrtarnaoon.:u !.. rr: .. ,;a, 
ench member firm of wlm::h rs a separate legal entity 



lntearatH Gnlln ~rs eo.operattw Inc 
Conliolclated Statement• of Financial Position 
(Unauditad) 

"""' 
...... 
cumm!Haetoo: 

C•"' 
cash held In margtn occounts 
Restrlc;le<lcash 
Aeo:<l~ls re<:elvable 
tnvanlofy 
Propald ""pon&llll and aepoGili 

fllif mGIQI Yd>.R Ql C>li!'!TC!dl!ydatlviJWel 

Non·c:Umontaaset. 
lnvQstments 

Property, plant and equ!pment 
Intangible asset 
Deferred tncome taxasnl!s 

Curnnt Uabllltlu: 
Accounts payable ~nd ee<:rued llab\lilles 
tncoma lax&~~ payable 
current portron of larm debt 

current portion of subon:llnatc O'ebentures 
Current portion of 1111arn:a lease obUgatlon 
C111'1'8nl portion ol research and clevelopment lund liability 
Fc.l~ mB11111l Ylillue of commodity dtlrivattve conlracts 

f'lll~mark"t 01aluc of Interest roto swap 

Non-currtnt llab1Yl1n 
Finan...: •eue obllgdoo 
Subatdinata debenture!l 
Tarmdabt 
Resee.n:h end developrnlllll fund ~ability 
Oeforre<J int<lmc lax llabll~es 
Preference shara11 

capital sleek 
Contnbutad SurplUs 

D11CerniMir31,:l01Z 

• 

13,314,1o4$ 
)67,103 

a,442.«t 
11,i47,111 

5,247,022 
1,n5,3n 

tU,N7 
3bi#,Sli 

135,001] 

74,455,430 
2.658,224 
1,!64.000 

114,54D.I30 

4,135,217 
1,1!12,103 
3,822,1100 
1,107,000 

854,041 
210,000 

Ulnt 
H:«Uii 

1,537,148 

3,308,4:14 
1,!14t,4:1t 

12,9152,080 

31,016.006 

42,304,478 
1173.248 

114.54(1.630 

September 30, 2012 

' 

13,653,97" 

2A111,2~ 

6,320,931 

5,107,71" 
92:!,481) 

Jd.•W:.§ib 

75,324,183 
2,679,636 
2.312.000 

110.740.392 

3,997,591 

) 
305,65!1 

3,022,000 

738.210 
280,000 

"' Jtua1 
\i.i)t{'jH"" 

1,828,268 
1,107,000 

4,299,100 
1,509.601 

13,080,000 

31.339.802 

42,341J.07B 
A73,246 

110.740382 

) 
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lntegratH Onln Proc.uora Co.ope...ttve Inc 
Consolldattd Slat•l!lanb of Cpemlona tnd com;rellantl"' Income 
(UnaiJdltad) 

Quarter 1 ended Ya ... toDate YGarto Date 

Dec:amber31, 2012 Dacllftlbar 31, :ZDt% OecDmbor 31,2011 

• • • 
Saln 33,676AOO ».li'i6.dil 34032221 

Co.t of goads told 34.270,219 3-4,270,211 
OlltiCo:dat!on and nmoi\imtlon 123,017 
Net toss (gain) on commodity derlval.lve contraca 

Groaa'llrofll 6.694,1:.10 s.n..no 9,7DI;i,181 

Selling,lfen=l and admlnl!tratlve e~penscs 1,013,000 1,013,000 693,912 
AmortlzaUonaoo dcDI'eti<l~on 14,001 14 001 19.171 

1,021,001 1 027.001 713.063 

) 
o,. .. u~tncoma 5,6117,110 5,887,119 8,992,098 

l'inancu on~cme jlm;s) 

tnternt Ol<!lense (358,317) {3!8,317) (590,466) 
Interest alld olhl!l" in1;0me 251.163 251,163 13,669 
Gain on lnt~rest rele swap ecntraclll 95,956 95,151 182,413 

Gain (loss) an fOil!lillfl lll!d>ange 20,912 20,1112 (183,908) 

Amortl~atlon of dclorred rnooee costs (109 334) j10t.33-t} j270356) 
99 8:1.0 IN 820 848 448 

lnc:oma before provlslan fOI' tmcms 5,5117499 S,SU,o&99 8,143,650 

Current rncoma !all BJpei'ISII 1,<167.854 1~17,1,. 373,318 
Oalerred inCOrr>l!l W BXDBniB (recoY"!J!l j68,000l j61,000} 1.664.245 

1 3SS 854 1.399.85-4 2,037 564 

Nallncn""' ;~.~~d e<~n~Ma•tva lneoe~n~ {gt" the $111rlod 4 167,645 <11HI71U5 B 106086 
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lntegrahd Grain PNCHHra Co-operative Inc 
c;:onaolld.ted St*m...tll of Chan11u In Sharthold.,..' Equity 
(Una~d!ted) 

&ala nee· S.,.l..nb•3fi,ZOf1 

Nallncoma and comprehenslva lncama far !he ~ 
Ratum ol C8plla! 

OpUcns oxorde.ad and senled 
SharD conversion 
Sha" t<ld~IQIIS 

Nat In coma and ccmprahenslve Jncame for tho year 
Retum ol C&PI!al 
Sharo r&damoUons 

Balance • Dactmbllr 31, 2DtZ 

[6,456,862) 
30,000 

500 
(1<1,600} 

42,348,0711 

(42,100) 
1,500) 

42...304.478 

Contributed 
surplus 

• 
703,166 

(29,!WO] 

613.246 

673,246 

Rehlined Eamlngs 

24.429.382 

11,949,874 

J6,31il,251:1 

4,167,645 

40,54fi,001 

72,U1,$U 

1f,Ut,l7" 
(5,451,812) .. ... 

""·500) 
T&,.400.SIO 

"'·117,645 
(~2,100) 

11.!00) 

13,52-4,6:15 

) 

) 
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lntegr.tltd Gnln Proceuon Co-operatiW Inc 
Cansalldattd Staternentl Cll CUll Flawt 
(Un91.1dlted) 

Ouar1er 1 ended YurtoDat• YoartoOato 

Dec..mber31,2012 Dtcambtr31, 20U OC~Umbor31,2011 

s • • 
Cnh provided by (used In) 

Op&r.~Uno aetNIUes 

Nel Income end CQIIIlllllhenslvell'lccme ror lha period 4,167,645 4.167,645 a,tae.oaa 
CMrges {cn:dlts) to J\COI!IO nol orrecllng cash 

Depreaalion and amortization 1,045,35Z 1,~52 1,195,810 
Unlllellzed gain on eommodlly derivative ccntl'llel5 {164,459) (164,459] {6913,690) 
G9rn on lnlllflllll rale sw2p Q)!ltracls (95,956} {96.UGJ (162,4131 
lnlarast on research and diiYelopment fund r<ilbDity 31,1336 31,138 J2,034 
Dalel18d Income ta~es 230,000 :uoooo 1,6!14,245 

5,215.420 5,216,420 6,116,873 

Change In non-cash working capital blli11nces (3,951,200) {3,951,200) (2,924,016) 

1.?64,220 1 264,220 5,192,657 

) 
Financing adlvltlea: 
Sharoslssuod and rodoemed {1,501)) f1,:SOO) 
Payment of tann debt (1,000,000) (1,000,1100) (5,000,000) 
Ralum of Capital {42,100) {4Z.100) (60.187) 
P>!ymenl ol fmenca leaae obl!gellon {174,591) {114,591) (146.195) 
Payment Of doferrud n11anca co~IS (100,000) {tiXI,aao) 
Reslricted r.ash [24,205! j2~2051 (18671 

1 342396 134 l9& 5.208869 

lnvulfng actfvltllft 

Purr.l'laae of p11,1pcrty and equipment (46,653) (<46,653) {70,820) 
Olhar•nvo~lmanls (135,000 t35,0DO 

tat.GS3 1111U3 1)820 

Netdeclllna In enh {259,&29) 1258,129) (86,832) 

Cuh, b-alnnlng of parlod 13,653,974 t3,!5l,974 17,656,630 

Cuh. end of parlad 13.3Q4.145 13,314.145 17.569.796 

) 



Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative 

September 30, 2012 

Sales Reconciliation 

Sales per Audited • Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive income 

2012 2011 

Sales 130,760,600 124,689,093 

Sales by Product 

2012 2011 

Ethanol 108,821,228 105,813,256 
DOG 17,375,238 16,015,439 

) WDG 4,441,858 2,683,681 
CDS 122,276 .176,717 

130,760,600 124,689,093 

) 
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The Globe and Mail: Ottawa ending biofuels subsidy over unfulfilled industry promises Page I of2 

THE GLOBE AND MAIL 

February 22, 2013 

Ottawa ending biofuels subsidy over unfulfilled industry . 
promises 
By Shawn McCarthy 

The biodiesel industry has been unable to produce as much renewable fuel as had been 
promised, Natural Resources Minister Joe Oliver said in a letter 

The Conservative government is formally shutting down its controversial biofuels subsidy program, saying companies 
producing biodiesel have failed to meet ambitious production targets. 

In a letter sent Thursday, Natural Resources Minister Joe Oliver rejected calls from the industry to provide new money 
under Ottawa's ecoEnergy program to ethanol or biodiesel firms looking to build plants. Existing commitments, 
however, will be met until the program expires in 2017. A copy of the letter was obtained by The Globe and Mail. 

"The government will not redesign or reopen the ecoEnergy for biofuels programs to new applicants," Mr. Oliver said. 
"During this time of fiscal restraint and challenging global fiscal realities, our government has committed to ensuring 
that we balance our budget." 

Ottawa has already paid out $672-million to companies that have built plants to make grain-based ethanol and 
biodiesel, which has created 800 jobs and a new market for farmers. It expects to spend $1-bitlion on biofuels 
subsidies when the last payments are made in 2017, though the program was initially promoted as a $1.5-billion 
effort. 

The government stopped taking applications under the program in 2010, but several companies have announced 
plans to build new biodiesel plants and the industry has been urging the government since then to continue the 
subsidy program. In November, 2011, U.S. agrifood giant Archer Daniels Midland announced plans to build a 265-
mil\ion-titre-a-year biodiesel plant in Lloydminster, Alta., next to its canola crushing plant. 

"Our members are ready to build new plants today," said Scott Thurlow, president of the Canadian Renewable Fuels 
Association. "They have shovel-ready projects which if the programs was reopened, they could absolutely make good 
on the Prime Minister's commitment to have 600 million litres of domestic biodiesel production in place." 

Mr. Thurlow said the decision was "incredibly disappointing," and he questioned the timing of the announcement, 
given the escalating pressure on Ottawa to make more progress on combatting climate change. 

In his letter, Mr. Oliver praised the ethanol industry, which is now producing virtually all the renewable fuel needed for 
Canada to meet its target of 5 per cent ethanol in the gasoline supply. But there are no ethanol producers with 
proposals for plants that would depend on the subsidy program. 

In his tetter to the industry, the minister noted the biodiesel industry has been unable to produce as much renewable 
fuel as had been promised. Critics have complained that biofuels from grain represent more of a subsidy to farmers 

http://license.icopyright.net/user/viewFreeUse.act?fuid=MTgxMTkONTE%3D 5/22/2014 



The Globe and Mail: Ottawa ending biofuels subsidy over unfulfilled industry promises Page 2 of2 

than an environmental program, though Ottawa insists the growth of renewable fuel production has helped reduce 
greenhouse gases in the transportation sector. 

But the minister added that the Canadian biodiesel industry "has not been able to produce and sell the large 
quantities of fuel that were forecasted." And Canadian refiners complained that the renewable diesel often did not 
meet their specifications and could not be easily blended with diesel. 

As a result, much of the biodiesel produced in Canada has been exported, while refiners in some regions have been 
forced to import the renewable fuel to meet the 2-per-cent diesel target. 

The ecoEnergy biofuels program came under fire last fall when The Globe and Mail revealed that one company, 
Great Lakes Biodiesellnc., was in line for $65-million in subsidies for a plant it is building in St. Catharines, despite 
being investigated for improper shipments of American fuel to Europe. Great Lakes received a commitment for 
payments from Ottawa, but must actually produce biodiesel in order to collect. 

What the industry wants 

Re-opening of the ecoEnergy Biofuels program. Cost: $190-million over five years. 
Direct unused ethanol money in the ecoEnergy fund to support nextcgeneration biofuels made from agricultural 
and municipal waste. Provide incentive for those next-generation biofuel producers. Cost: $50-million. 
Preserve the $500-million NextGen Biofuels Fund which is used to subsidize construction of cellulosic ethanol 
and biodiesel-from-waste plants. 

What Ottawa is doing 

Ending ecoEnergy Biofuels program to new applicants, but it will provide subsidies to ethanol and biodiesel 
producers under existing commitments until 2017 for total cost of $1-billion. 
Maintaining fuel regulations that require a 5-per-cent ethanol mix in gasoline and a 2-per-cent biodiesel 
component in the diesel supply, with exemptions to Atlantic Canada heating oil suppliers. 
Preserving the NextGen Biofuels fund, but it has made no commitment to provide incentive to producers . 

With a report from Daniel Leblanc 

The Globe and Mail, Inc . 

.b._ The Globe and Mail Inc. All Rights Reserved .. Permission granted for up to 5 copies. All rights reserved. 
~You may forward this article or get additional permissions by typing http: I I license. icopyright. net/ 3. 8425? icx _ id=S 983024 into any 

web browser. The Globe and Mail, Inc. and The Globe and Mail logos are registered trademarks of The Globe and Mail, Inc. The iCopyright logo is a 
registered trademark of iCopyright, Inc. 

http://license.icopyright.net/user/viewFreeUse.act?fuid=MTgxMTkONTE%3D 5/22/2014 



February 6th, 2013 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 
C/o Ayerswood Development 
Anthony H. Graat, President 
1299 Oxford Street East 
London, ON 
NSV4WS 

Dear Mr. Graat, 

IGPC Ethanol Inc. 

Thank you for your letter of January 24th, 2013. 

EB-2014-·~:-:-:-:--=­
Exhibit C 
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I find your concerns regarding IGPC's financial viability puzzling. To the best of my knowledge, 
IGPC has always promptly paid our bill and regardless, you have security on those payments. 

We have also fully met our obligations under Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement (PCRA) and 
once again you hold ample security on those obligations. 

I would be happy to meet with you to discuss future plans of IGPC, and how NRG can support 
one of its largest customers. Prior to that however, I would ask that NRG honour its obligations 
as dictated by the PCRA agreement. 

I look forward to your response. 

!Dc..L- Jim Grey, CEO 
r IGPC Ethanol Inc. 

89 Progress Drive, P.O. Box 205, Aylmer ON NSH 2R9 ·Tel. 519.765.2575 • 866.211.0435. • Fax 519.765.2775 



) 

VIA COURIER 

February 6, 2013 

IGPC 
89 Progress Drive 
P.O. 205 
Aylmer, ON NSH 2R9 

Attention: Mr. Jim Grey 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 
39 Beech St. E., PO Box 307, Aylmer On N5H 2S1 

Chief Executive Officer 

Dear Mr. Grey, 

Please find enclosed the Notice of Sale for an Ethanol facility In Collingwood, which I 
assume you are familiar with. 

As per our previous request, please forward the requested Information 

Regards, 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 

... ·-··-··-----.. ·---.b ..... · ....... ?=>--&-:---·- 55 
'Anthony H. Graat 
President 
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January 29, 2013 

IGPC 
89 Progres Drive 
P.O. 205 
Aylmer, ON N 2R9 

Attention: Mr. Jim y 

,.... __ 
IIIJi' i 
- ·-· "--= 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 
39 Beech St. E., PO Box 307, Aylmer On N5H 251 

Chief Exec ive Offlt::er 

Dear Mr. Grey, 

Further to NRG's recent corr pondence, NRG has not received a response from IGPC 
regarding NRG's request for fi ncial information. 

NRG must take the steps necess to protect its' rate payers from credit and other 
risks. NRG would prefer to resolv Its' concerns about IGPC's credit risk without a 
formal proceeding with the OEB. owever, If we do not receive a satisfactory 
response from IGPC, NRG will have n choice but to proceed before the OEB. NRG 
hopes this will not be necessary. 

Regard.s, 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 

Anthony H. Graat 
President 
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VIA COURIER 

January 24, 2013 

IGPC 
89 Progress Drive 
P.O. 205 
Aylmer, ON NSH 2R9 

Attention: Mr. Jim Grey 

Natural Resource Gas Umlted 
39 Beech St. E., PO Sox 307, Aylmer On N5H 2S1 

Chief Executive Officer 

Dear Mr. Grey, 

Thank you for your letter of January 18, 2013. 

I am currently out of town, but will be returning next week. As you well know, NRG 
has serious concerns as to IGPC's financial viability. Please call me to arrange a 
meeting with you to alleviate these concerns. 

Regards, 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 

c7fb~,aev 
Anthony H. Graat 
President 



) 
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January 181h, 2013 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 
c/o Ayerswood Development 
Anthony H. Graat, President 
1299 Oxford Street East 
london, ON 
NSY 4WS 

Dear Mr. Graat, 

IGPC 
IGPC Ethanol Inc. 

Thank you for your letter of January 111h, 2013. · 

I would be available to meet with you to discuss any open topics. However, as a precursor to 
any meeting, I would insist that NRG conform to its obligations that are identified within the 
Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement (PCRA), specifically but not exclusively in reference to our 
Letter of Credit. 

Based on earlier correspondence, you seem to have the impression that the amount of the 
letter of Credit concerning the pipeline is subject to negotiation. Rather, it is dearly dictated by 
the PCRA. 

I look forward to your res'ponse. 

89 Progress Drive, P.O. Box 205, Aylmer ON N5H 2R9 ·Tel. 519.765.2575 • 866.211.0435 ·Fax 519.765.2775 



) 

) 

SENT BY COURIER 

January 11, 2013 

IGPC Ethanol Inc. 
89 Progress Dr. 
Aylmer, ON N5H 2R9 

Attention: Mr. Jim Grey 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 
39 Beech St E., PO Box.307, Aylmer On NSH 2$1 

Chief Executive Officer 

Dear Mr. Grey: 

Further to our previous correspondence, we have not heard from you with regards to 
getting together to meet to address our concerns. Feel free to contact me at my cell 
number 519-709-7577. 

Regards, 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 

~cJY~~ 
Anthony H. Graat, 
President 
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SENT BY COURIER 

December 21, 2012 

IGPC Ethanol Inc, 
89 Progress Dr. 
Aylmer, ON N5H 2R9 

Attention: Mr. Jim Grey 

nRo 
Natural Resource Gas Limited 

39 Beech St. E., PO Box 307, Aylmer On N5H 2S1 

Chief Executive Officer 

Dear Mr. Grey: 

In response to your recent correspondence, as you know NRG has the duty and right to 
properly assess the financial viability of its' customers. Our concern over the financial 
viability ofiGPC remains, as there is such a resistance from IGPC to provide any 
financial information to the contrary. 

Regards, 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 

Anthony H. Graat, 
President 



December 19, 2012 

Natural Resource Gas Ltd. 
c/o Ayerswood Development 

1299 Oxford Street East 

london, ON 

N5Y2W5 

Dear Mr. Graat, 

( 

IGPC Ethanol Inc. 

On December 17, 2012, we received your letter dated December 11, 2012 indicating that IGPC 

had not responded to your first letter dated December 11, 2012. As such, it is necessary to set 

the record straight once again. 

) As you will recall, we contacted your solicitor, Mr. Thacker, on December 10, 2012 indicating 

that we had not had a response to our letter of December 3, 2012. In response, Mr. Thacker 

requested draft copies of the letters of Credit. Following Mr. Thacker's request, IGPC received 

your first letter dated December 11, 2012. Upon receiving.your letter, we forwarded it to Mr. 

Thacker to request that he speak with you. A copy of this email is attached to this letter. As 

we have not heard from either Mr. Thacker or yourself prior to your second letter received 

December 17; 2012 it is.unclear whether you have spoken with Mr. Thacker. 

J 

We provided the two draft letters of Credit from the Royal Bank of Canada to Mr. Thacker on 

December 12, 2012 and, as previously indicated, such Letters of Credit were identical to the 

Letters of Credit from Societe Generate that IGPC provided to NRG. The two Letters of Credit 

were even in the same amounts as originally provided in 2008 as NRG has in the past refused to 

permit IGPCto reduce the amount as specified in the Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement. 

Despite the Letters of Credit being identical, we have received no response from NRG. 

As such, IGPC found it necessary to expend significant additional resources to work around your 

intransigence. Every other entityfrolli whom IGPC made a similar request to replace a letter 

of Credit as part of the refinancing was co-operative and readily agreed to the replacement. 

The demand for confidential financial information to which you are not entitled in your prior 

89 Progress Drive, P.O. Box 205, Aylmer ON N5H 2R9 ·Tel. 519,765.2575 • 866.211.0435 ·Fax 519.765.2775 
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letter and your silence regarding what should be the routine replacement of two Letters of 

Credit continue NRG's pattern of obstructionist behaviour. 

We will be forwarding this correspondence to the Ontario Energy Board as further evidence 

that NRG does not intend to adhere to the terms of the Pipeline Cost Recovery Agreement or 

Gas Delivery Contract and NRG's refusal to provide distribution service to IGPC. 

1m Grey, C 

IGPC Ethanol inc., 

cc: Mr. L. Thacker 
Mr. M. Millar, OEB 
Ms. K. Walli, OEB 

2 
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SENT BY COURIER 

December 17,2012 

IGPC Ethanol Inc. 
89 Progress Dr. 
Aylmer, ON NSH 2R9 

Attention: Mr. Jim Grey 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 
39 Beech St. E., PO Box 307, Aylmer On N5H 251 

Chief Executive Officer 

Dear Mr. Grey: 

We have received no response to our letter dated December 11,2012 to you regarding 
your refinancing with the Royal Bank of Canada. 

We assume that the matter is no longer urgent and you will be in touch with us in due 
course to set up a meeting to discuss the matter. 

We have enclosed a copy of your solicitors email for your reference. 

Regards,' 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 

c:};_ 9::?> 
Anthony H. Graat, 
President 

Encl. 

5 
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Natural Resource Gas Umited 
39 Beech Sl E., PO Box 307, Aylmer On NSH 2S1 

SENT BY COURIER 

.......... __________ D.ecembetl!,.2012._. ______ ·--·--- ··-···-·· -----------------····-···-----------· -··· ·-·····- .. ---·-·· 

IGPC Ethanol Inc. 
89 Progress Dr. 
Aylmer, ON N5H 2R9. 

Attention: Mr. Jim Grey 
Cbief Executive Officer 

Dear Mr. Grey: 

We are in receipt of your request to exchange NRG Letter of Credit to a new lender Royal 
Bank of Canada. As you may know the Christmas season is a busy time of year for 
everyone, including our professional advisors and others. 

NRG has been unable in the past to obtain an accurate assessment ofiGPC financing. As 
you may understand that is not an acceptable position for NRG to be in. We would ask 
you and or your financial advisors to meet with our people to better understand IGPC' s 
fmancial position. 

It was not last week that IGPC would have started negotiations to review their banking 
arrangement but, as they have done in the past, they leave it until the last minute then 
attempts to blame NRG for delays. 

IGPC states in their letter of credit that the amount of the letter of credit is not correct but 
· · we will deal with that Iater and maybe just another lawsuit · · · 

As always, IGPC final position is "not let's sort this out and discuss the issues it is 
rather, do it now and IGPC is not interested whether NRG has any questions or 
concerns." 



) 

Amongst other .issues is. "Who .. will pay for the review cost of.laWYers and accountants?" 
IGPC obviously chooses when dealing with NRG not to have to explain anything, to 
anyone, at anytime for ail.y reason 

It appears that IGPC believes that NRG works for IGPC only. The fact is that IGPC is 
NRG's customer and NRG operates it business within normal business practices to 
protect its other customer s and shareholders. 

It is NRG's position, that it has a duty to protect its customers and shareholders and when 
··-·-···--·----NR.Clhas.a fi1l] ''nderstanding_oflGEC.'.s.fmancial.p.osition,.iLw.i!Lc.ertainly_c.o.::op.emte_in .. ____________ _ 

any way possible to accommodate IGPC. 

Regards, 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 

Anthony H. Graat, 
President 
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I NO ANOMALOUS CAPITAL/O&M EXPENDITURES FORESEEN 

2 NRG has no major capital expenditures planned in the next two years, and does not foresee any 

3 anomalous operations and maintenance ("O&M") expenses. In addition, NRG is not aware of 

4 any major customer additions or losses. Given the anticipated "steady state" ofNRG at least for 

5 the next two years, extending NRG's existing IR Plan is appropriate. 

6 Board's Stated Conditions for Annual IR Adjustments 

7 At Exhibit C, Tab 2, Schedule I of this pre-filed evidence, the three alternative rate options 

8 created by the Board as part of its Renewed Regulatory Framework are briefly outlined (4th 

9 Generation IR, Custom IR, Annual IR Index). 

I 0 The Annual IR Index alternative, if selected by a distributor, involves the distributor simply 

11 adjusting rates by an Annual Adjustment Mechanism (without a cost-of-service application). As 

12 stated by the Board: 

13 The Annual lR Index will be appropriate for distributors with primarily 
14 sustainment investment needs. The Annual IR Index is intended to provide a 
15 rate-setting approach that is simpler and more streamlined than the other two. 
16 Among other things, there is no forecast cost of service review under this 
17 method. . .. The annual rate adjustments are designed to reflect 'steady-state 
18 mode' operations- that is, rate adjustments will be comparatively minor. 

19 Distributors, who apply under this method for 2014 rates or later, must have had 
20 a cost of service hearing in 2008 or later. The Board also expects that a 
21 distributor applying under this method will not be exceeding its approved annual 
22 ROE by more than 300 basis points .... 

23 (OEB, Report of the Board: Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity 
24 Distributors: A Performance-Based Approach, October 18,2012, pp. 20-21) 
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2 (a) General 

EB-2014-____ _ 
Exhibit C 

TabS 
Schedule 1 
Page 2 of3 

3 As of September 30, 2013, the net book value ("NBV", based on averages) of NRG's 

4 distribution system (without the dedicated IGPC Pipeline) was within $5,600 ofNRG's NBV for 

5 the Test Year used in NRG's last cost-of-service proceeding (EB-2010-0018). As of March 31, 

6 2014, the NBV figure was within $9,000 of that Test Year. So NRG's rate base today is 

7 virtually identical what it was four years ago when it filed its pre-filed evidence in EB-2010-

8 0018. 

9 The depreciation ofNRG's system (again, without the IGPC Pipeline) is approximately $70,000 

10 monthly. This means that NRG could make approximately $960,000 of capital expenditures 

11 annually and remain in a relatively steady state from a rate base perspective. NRG believes this 

12 to be sufficient for the next two years. Of course, any material changes to NRG' s expectations in 

13 respect of capital expenditures in the next two years could be safeguarded by the Z-factor and 

14 off-ramp. 

15 (b) Rate 6 CIGPC) Rate Base 

16 In previous proceedings, IGPC had mentioned that it would expect its Rate 6 to decrease at 

17 NRG's next cost-of-service, given that the dedicated IGPC Pipeline (which only IGPC uses) will 

18 depreciate over time. This would reduce the cost of capital associated with the IGPC Pipeline, 

19 and potentially the allocation of certain expenses and taxes (e.g., insurance, O&M, and property 
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1 taxes) as between the Rate 6 assets (i.e., the IGPC Pipeline) and NRG's integrated distribution 

2 system (serving all other rate classes). 

3 NRG has calculated the distribution cost savings flowing from a decreased rate base, and those 

4 amount to $71,000 per year (or $142,000 for the two-year extension period covered by this 

5 application), which NRG considers immaterial to IGPC's operating expenses. As for the 

6 reduction in other costs, in the absence of a full blown cost-of-service proceeding with a cost 

7 allocation study, it is very difficult to estimate whether these other costs would be and how their 

8 allocation would impact the costs to IGPC. 

9 In addition to being immaterial, NRG is making this Application on the basis that the current IR 

1 0 Plan is operating in a way that is providing NRG with sufficient revenues to cover its costs 

11 (capital and O&M) and provide it with a fair return. NRG will continue to manage its capital 

12 and O&M expenditures on an "envelope" basis. The only way for this Application to proceed in 

13 a reasonable manner is to refrain from examining individual rate base/capital items (such as Rate 

14 6's declining rate base) or individual O&M line items (see section below). 

15 Steady-State O&M Expenses/Revenues Anticipated 

16 As with its capital expenditures, NRG is not expecting any anomalous O&M expenditures or 

17 revenue fluctuations (i.e., loss or gain of material new customer load). 

18 As noted above, NRG will continue to manage its O&M expenses on a global basis, with 

19 individual O&M line items varying from year-to-year. 
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1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION/SECURITY FROM IGPC 

2 IGPC operates an ethanol plant in Aylmer, and is by far NRG's largest distribution customer 

3 (accounting for approximately 25% ofNRG's distribution revenue). NRG has concerns about 

4 IGPC's ability to operate profitably and continue to take natural gas from NRG beyond 2016. 

5 As a result, NRG is seeking information and security from IGPC to ensure that NRG's other 

6 ratepayers are not responsible for any undepreciated capital cost associated with the IGPC 

7 Pipeline. 

8 IGPC's Reliance on Operating Grants 

9 Based on IGPC' s financial statements, IGPC appears to be heavily reliant on two operating 

10 grants in order to operate profitably: (a) an "ecoEnergy for Biofuels" operating grant, managed 

11 by Natural Resources Canada ("NRCan"); and (b) an operating grant from the Ontario Ministry 

12 of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs ("OMAFRA"). The operating grant amounts vary 

13 modestly from year-to-year (being dependent on production volumes), but both are material to 

14 IGPC's revenues. The provincial operating grant from OMAFRA appears to be slightly greater 

15 than the NRCan grant. For example, in fiscal 2012, the provincial OMAFRA operating grant 

16 was $14.9 million and the federal NRCan grant was $12.4 million. 

17 IGPC's financial statements indicate that these grants are set to expire in 2016 (see Exhibit C, 

18 Tab 4, Schedules 2 through 5). Specifically: (a) the provincial operating grant expires at the 

19 calendar year end of2016; and (b) the federal operating grant appears to also expire at calendar 

20 year end, but the notes to IGPC's financial statements are not as precise (see note 15 of IGPC's 

21 2011 financial statements at Exhibit C, Tab 4, Schedule 4). Moreover, as of February 2013, the 
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1 federal government appears to have cancelled the NRCan "ecoEnergy for Biofuels" program, 

2 with no further applications being received after 2010 and no committed grant money paid out 

3 beyond 2017 (see Exhibit C, Tab 4, Schedule 6). 

4 The loss ofiGPC's operating grants is of significant concern to NRG because IGPC's armual net 

5 income has consistently been far less than the sum of its two annual operating grants (see the 

6 Consolidated Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings/Deficit at Exhibit C, Tab 4, 

7 Schedules 2 through 5 inclusive): 

IGPC's Fiscal Year IGPC's Net IGPC's Operating Loss Without 
Ending September 30 Income Grants Grant 

2009 $4.7 million $26.8 million $22.1 million 

2010 $12.4 million $27.1 million $14.7 million 

2011 $11.7 million $28.7 million $17.0 million 

2012 $11.9 million $27.5 million $15.6 million 

8 In the absence of the operating grants, IGPC would have operated at a loss in every year from 

9 2009 to 2012. Consequently, NRG is concerned about IGPC's profitability and its ability to take 

10 gas from NRG post-2016 (when the operating grants expire). 

11 Milestone Events Pre-2016 

12 Between now and the expiry ofiGPC's operating grants in 2016, there are two milestone dates: 

13 • April 2015 (Gas Delivery Contract Termination): The Gas Delivery Contract ("GDC") 

14 between IGPC and NRG terminates on April 30, 2015 (see Exhibit D, Tab I, Schedule 

15 2). Under the GDC, IGPC is required to deliver a minimum armual volume of 
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I 33,416,618 m3 of natural gas to NRG. IGPC has not provided NRG with any indication 

2 as to whether it will renew the GDC, and if so at what minimum annual volume, and for 

3 howlong. 

4 • November 2015 (Letter of Credit Expiry): IGPC's Delivery Letter of Credit for the 

5 current undepreciated capital cost of the IGPC Pipeline expires on November 30, 2014, 

6 although it will be deemed to automatically extend to November 30, 2015 unless 30 days 

7 notice is provided to NRG (see Exhibit D, Tab I, Schedule 4). IGPC has agreed to 

8 provide NRG with a new letter of credit (expiring November 30, 2015). Beyond 

9 November 30, 2015, NRG has no information from IGPC as to its operational plans. 

I 0 Cost Responsibility for Undepreciated Capital Costs 

II It is imperative that NRG' s other ratepayers are protected from bearing the cost of any 

12 undepreciated capital cost/net book value of the IGPC Pipeline (the "Pipeline NBV") in the 

13 worst-case scenario where IGPC is not able to purchase distribution services from NRG after 

14 2016, but before the IGPC Pipeline is fully depreciated in 2028. 

15 As the Board knows, the IGPC Pipeline is not integrated with NRG's existing system. The IGPC 

16 Pipeline is a dedicated steel pipeline that was constructed solely to serve IGPC. It is an 

17 expensive asset, and any cost shifting resulting from stranding that asset would be a significant 

18 cost to NRG's other 8,000 customers. 
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I The starting point for ensuring that NRG's other ratepayers are protected is to require IGPC to 

2 provide NRG with the following information: 

3 • updated financial statements; 

4 • information as to the status and likely renewal ofiGPC's operating grants; 

5 • information about IGPC's business plans if the operating grants are not extended or 

6 renewed beyond 2016; and, 

7 • information about IGPC's natural gas requirements (volume and term) upon expiration of 

8 the current Gas Delivery Contract in April 2015. 

9 Based on this information, and the expiration of the letter of credit ~s of November 2015, the 

I 0 Board will then have sufficient information to order security in a form that fully protects NRG 

11 and its other customers from bearing any undepreciated capital costs associated with the IGPC 

12 Pipeline beyond November 2015. 
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TYPE OF SERVICE: 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

GAS DELIVERY CONTRACf 

X Fin1t Demand and Commodity 
InteiTUptible Demand and Commo(\ity 
Combined Firm and Interruptible Demand and Commodity 

DATE OF CONTRACf: January 30, 2007 

RATECLASS: 3 

PARTIES TO CONTRACT: 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED, (the "Utility"), 

and 

INTEGRA TED QRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATIVE INC. (the "Customer"), 

PART 1 -PURCHASE AND SALE 

EB-2014-
"""E"'"x-:h-:ib:-:i~t =n-

Tab 1 
Schedule 2 

The Customer agrees that it will receive from the Utility all of the gas that it uses for the 
processes described below and which is delivered at the Deliyery Points (except during periods 
of curtailment, discontinuance or force majeure as set out In this Contract) up to the maximum 
daily and hourly maximum volumes set out in Part 2. This gas supply will be delivered in 
accordance with Rate BTl (a copy of which is attached) for the Customer's share of the 
.transportation costs associated with supplying its own ~as. 

Subject . to the provisions of this Contract and the Rate 3 schedule In Schedule A and any 
subsequent amendments approved by the Ontario Energy Board during the term of this Contract, 
the Customer shall purchase its own gas to be delivered by the Customer to Union Gas Limited, 
by Union Gas Limited to the Utility, and by the Utility to the Customer (including any gas in 
excess of the Customer's minimum annual volume which the Customer requests and which the 
Utility has agreed to deliver) and the Utility shall deliver such gas to the Customer. 

' 

Delivery Point (to Customer) - Ethanol Facility, Aylmer Industrial Park 

Processes: Ethanol production, grain drying and space heating 
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Gas Quality: 

The gas received by the Utility and delivered to the Customer (at prevailing pressure and 
temperature in the Utility's pipeline at the Point of Receipt) shall be commercially free from 
sand, dust, gums, crude oils, lubricating oils, liquids, chemicals or compounds used in the 
production, treatment, compression or dehydration of1he gas or any other substance in sufficient 
quantity so as to render the gas toxic, unmerchantable or cause injury to or interference with the 
proper operation of the lines, regulators, meters or other appliance& through which it flows. 

PART 2 ·MAXIMUM DAILY VOLUME AND MINIMUM ANNUAL VOLUME 

The maximum volume of firm gas the Utnity Is required to deliver to the Customer in any day 
(which shall be a 24 hour period commencing 10:00 a.m. Eastern Standard Time) shall not 
exceed 108,188 m3 (the ''Firin Contract Demand") and in any hour shall not exceed 4507.83 m3

, 

being 11241h of the Finn Contract Demand. Should the Customer consume more than 
4,S08m31hour during any hour and such excess consumption . is adversely impacting the Utility's 
ability to operate its distribution system, the Utility may curtail service to a volume of 4,508 
m3 !hour. Consumption in excess of 4,508 m31hour by the Customer shall not be considered to be 
a breach of this Contract. · 

Should the Customer exceed the Finn Contract Demand in any day during the contract year, then 
this higher number will be the new Firm Contract Demand for the entire year and any months 
billed previously at the lower amount will be rebilled using the higher Firm Contract Demand. 
In the event the Customer exceeds the Firm Contract Demand and the Utility, pursuant to ·this 
section, increases the Finn Contract Demand then the Utility shall be obligated to deliver such 
higher volume on a firm basis, and the hourly volume specilfied herein shall be adjusted 
accordfugly, subject to being able to make any arrangements with Union Gas that may be 
required. · · · 

The Minimum Annual Volume of gas the Customer is required to accept and pay for in any 
.. contract year or any anniversary thereofshall be 33,41~,618 m3

• 

PART3-RATE 

Subject to the provisions of the paragraph 1.2 of the General Terms and Conditions attached as 
Schedule B, the Customer shall pay for all natural gas delivered under this Contract at such rates 
and charges (including, withbut limitation, any applicable administration charge, ntinimum bill 
per month, penalty for late payment and unauthorized overrun gas rate) and as are applicable to 
or for such service in accordance with the prOvisions of the Utility's Rate 3 schedule in effect at 
any time during the term of this Contract. 

Monthly Customer Charge: $150.00 

Firm Delivery Rate: $ 0.037310 per m3 
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Firm Demand Rate: $ 0.255904 per m3 of Firm Contract Demand 

If the Utility, pursuant to Part 5 of this Contract, or due to Force Majeure as described in the 
General Terms and Conditions, fails or is unable to deliver the amount of firm gas which the 
Customer desires to take during any one or more days in a month, up to the Customer's Firm 
Contract Demand in effect on such days, then the minimum bill for that month shall be reduced 
by an amount equal to the Firm Delivery Rate applied to the volume by which the Firm Contract 
Demand exceeds the volume of gas delivered to the Delivery Point on such a day, for each day in 
the month· in which the inability to deliver continues. 

· , : The Utility acknowledges that the volumes in this agreement are significantly greater than the 
volumes delivered to existing Rate 3 customers and that a new rate may be more appropriate for 
the Utility and the Customer. The Utility has committed to developing a new rate for the 
Customer, to be included in the Utility's Fiscal 2008 rate application which is anticipated to be 
filed with the Ontario Energy Board in April 2007. 

PART 4 ·POINT OF DELIVERY 

The point of delivery of all gas by the Utility is at the outlet of the Utility7s metering equipment 
at the Customer's Ethanol Facility. The Utility shall at no time assume title to the gas that the 
Customer is supplying into the Utility's distribution system. The Utility agrees to'deliver gas at 
the outlet of its metering equipment at a minimum pressure of 60 psig or 420 kPa. 

PART 5- PRIORITY OF SERVICE 

In the' event of actual or threatened shortage of natural ga8 due to circumstances beyond the 
control of the Utility, or when curtailment or discontinuance of supply is ordered by an 
authorized government agency, th~ Customer shall at the direction of the Utility, curtail or 
discontinue use of gas during the period specified by the Utility so as to safegulll'4 the health and 

·.safety of the public. Such curtailment or discontinuance shall be made on a prorated basis as 
may· be ordered by a government agency among all industrial Rate 3 customers. The Utility shall 
not be liable for any loss of production or for any damages whatsoever by reason of any such 
curtailment or discontin,uance or because of the length of advance notice giv!ln directing such 
curtailment or discontinuance. 

PART 6- CURTAILMENT OR DISCONUNUANCE OF SERVICE 

Firm service under this Contract will be provided up to the Firm Contract Demand. 

Notice of curtailment or discontinuance of service may be conveyed by telc:phone, in person, by 
mail, facsimile or email. If notice is conveyed by telephone or in person then the Utility shall at 
the earlie~t possible time thereafter confum in writing the defllils of notice and provide the . . 
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reasons for the curtailment or discontinuance and the anticipated duration of the curtailme,nr 
the curtailment or discontinuance is continuing at the time of the written notice. 

Service will be resumed·as·soon as possible when these conditions cease to be operative. 

PART7-TERM 

Unless deemed to commence otherwise, this Contract shall commence upon Commercial 
Operation of the Customer's ethanol facility (the "Commencement Date") and terminate the day 
immediately prior to the seventh IIIll!iversary of t)le Commencement Date. ' 

Commercial Operation shall mean the date upon which a professional engineer duly qualified to 
practice engineering in Ontario procured by the Customer provides a certificate that the 
Customer's ethanol facility has been completed in all material respects excepting punch list 
items that do not materially and adversely affect the ability of the Customer to operate the 
ethanol facility. In the event that Commercial Operation has not been achieved prior May 1, 
2008 then the Commencement Date shall be deemed to be May 1, 2008. In the event 
Commercial Operation is prior to April!, 2007, the Commencement Date shall be deemed to be 
April 1, 2007. 

The Customer shall notify the Utility of the Commencement Date at least 30 days in advance of 
the Commencement Date. 

The Utility's Rate 1 shall apply to any gas volumes delivered prior to the Commencement Date, 

PART 8 -RE-OPENER 

In the \'Vent the market for ethanol or dried distillers grains is .materially and adversely impacted 
the Customer may give written notice to Utility that it wishes to renegotiate this Contract. Upon 

·. the written request of the Customer, the Parties shall, within ten ;(1 0) Business Days enter into 
good faith negotiations to amend this agreement to preserve the qriginal intent of the bargain of 
providing economical delivery service to the Customer without undue burden or risk to the 
Utility or the oUter ratepayers of the Utility and recognizing the need for the Customer to 
main~in satisfactory fmancial assurances with the Utility~ The term of· any renegotiated 
agreement would only commence on an IIIllliV'ltsary date of this Contract, unless otherwise 
agreed. · 

PART 9 ·GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

The General Terms and Conditions attached as Schedule B form part of this Contrect. 

PART 10 -SECURITY DEPOSIT 
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fl' Prior to the commencement of delivery of gas pursuant to this Agreement, the Customer ~ 
provide a security deposit to the Utility in the amount of one month's delivery charge using the 
applicable Rate at the Commencement Date. The security deposit may be in the form of a letter 
of credit, guarantee or other mutually agreeable method pf providing financial assurance. The 
amount of any security deposit shall .be subject to acljustment on an annual basis on the 
anniversary of the Commencement Date using the applicable rate on such date. 

''. 

The maximum amount of the security deposit will be equal to: · 

Security Deposit m Monthly Customer Charge + Demand Charge+ Delivery Charge 

Where: 

Monthly Customer Charge =. amount specified in Part 3 

Demand Charge = Firm Contract Demand x Firm Demand Rate 

Delivery Charge = Firm Delivery Rate x Firm Contract Demand x 48 

The Utility shall not be entitled to draw upon the security deposit while the Customer is in 
compliance with the terms of this Agreement and shall not be entitled to draw upon security 
deposit during any dispute, unless such dispute has "been finally resolved and the Buyer has not 
made payment with ten ( 1 0) Business Days of the fmal resolution of such dispute. . . 

PART 11- INVOICING & PAYMENT 

: \ All invoices from Utility to Buyer will delivered to Customer's address as noted below. Monthly 
invoices will be prepared and in accordance with the General Terms and Conditions and the 
Customer shall pay such invoices within the time frames provided in the General T~s and 
Conditions. . . 

. In the event the Customer does not pay the invoice. within the timeframes provided, then the 
· Utility shall provide notice to .the Customer that the Customer is not in compliance and the 

Customer shall have three (3) Business Days to remedy such non-payment. In the event the 
Customer does not make payment within three (3) Bl,lSiness Days of receiving notice then Utility 
shall be entitled to draw upon the security deposit for the amount owed. 

. . 
In the event of a dispute regarding the amount of any invoice delivered by the Utility to the 
Customer, the Customer sha}l pay the undisputed portion within the time required ~ the General 
Tenns and Conditions. The Customer shall at the tjme of payment of the undisputed portion of 
the invoice give notice to the Utility of the :dispute and the reasons it is disputing such amount. 
Upon receipt of such notice of disputed- amount, the Parties shall enter into good faith 
discussions to resolve the dispute. In the event the Parties are unable to resolve the dispute 
within fifteen (IS) Business Days then the Customer may refer the matter for dispute resolution. 
Disputes relating to metering will be subject to the dispute resolution mechanisms established 
pursuant to the Electricity and Gas Inspection Act. Disputes within the jurisdiction of the 
Ontario Energy Board will be referred to the Ontario Energy Board for resolution. The 
Customer may refer all other disputes for aititration under the Arbitration Act 1991 (Ontario) 
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before a single arbitrator. ·If the Customer has not given written notice that the Custom~ li! 
referring the dispute for resolution within five (5) Business Days, the Customer wlll be deemed 
to have abandoned the dispute and shall pay any amount still owing within three (3) Business 
Days. 

Monies found to be owing to the Utility at the resolution of the matter shall be paid by the 
Customer within five Business Days of such fmal resolution. If upon resolution of the matter, 
the amount owed by the Customer is less t1lan the amount originally withheld by the Customer, 
then interest will not be calculated during the time period prior to the resolution of the dispute. 

The Utility shall also be entitled to recover its Ontario Energy Board approved late payment 
charge for any late payment, including any payment that is unsuccessfully disputed by the 
Customer. · 

This Agreement is subject to the consent of the Customer's Lenders. The Customer agrees to 
use reasonable efforts to secure such consent in a timely manner. This paragraph-is entirely for 
the benefit of the Customer. The Customer shall waive this condition in writing. 

PART 12- NOTICE OF COMMUNICATION 

Except for the notice for curtailment of service set out in Part 6 above, any notice or other 
comm\Ulication required to be given by either party to this Contract to the other shall be deemed 
to have been given 72 hours after such notice of communication shall have been mailed in a 
postage prepaid envelope addressed, in the case of notice to the Utility, to it at: 

Natural Resource Gas Ltd. 
39 Beech St. E., 
P.O. Box 307, 

· Aylmer, Ontario N5H 281 

Telephone: 519-773-5321 

Or in the case of notice to the Customer, to it at: 

Facsimile: 519-773-5335 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
701 Powerline Rba<l 
Brantford, Ontario N3T SL8 

Telephone: (519) 752-0447 Facsimile: (519) 752-1887 

or in each case to such other address as the particular party may furnish to the other from time to 
time duripg the tenn of this Contract, provided that any such no~ce or other conun\Ulication may 
be given by delivery at the above addresses and shall be deemed to have been given at the time 
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fl" of such delivery. All invoices from Utility to Customer will be hand delivered to Custol'JlCW~ 
address as noted above. · 

· ; IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Contract. 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

By: 

Name: Mark J. Bristoll 
Title: President • • 
I have authority to bind the corporation. 

INTEGRATED GRAIN' PROCESSORS CO· 
OPERATIVE LTD .. 

Per: 

Name: Tom Cox 
Title: 
I have authority to bind the corporation. 

INTEGRA Tim GRAIN PROCESSORS 
CO-OPERATIVE INC. 

Per: 

. . 
Name: Brent McBlain 
Title: 
I have authority to bind the corporation. 
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of such delivery. All invoices from Utility to Customer will be hand delivered to Custom(!!;'~ 
address as noted above. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Contract. 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

By: 

Name: Mark J. Bristoll 
Title: President 
I have authority to bind the corporation. 

INTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO­
OPERATIVE LTD •• 

Per: 

Name: Tom Cox 
Title: 
I have authority to bind the corporation. 

INTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS 
CO-OPERATIVE INC. 

Per: 

Name: Brent McBiain 
Title: 
I have authority to bind the corporation. 
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Schedule A 

OED APPROVED RATE SCHEDULE 

[TO BE INSERTED] 

. ' 

'; 
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IbteAvailabWtv 
RA# 3 - s?Ma! Lam Voln!!!!l Contraet Rate 

Entire service area of the company. · 

EHg!I!Wtf . . . 
A customer who enters into ·a contract with the compo~l}' for the purobase or traiJsport&tion of gas: 

a) for a minjmnm term of one year; · . 
b) · tb!.t speoi.fies a ccmbined dailY conlracted demand for fum and interruptible Service of atleest 700 m'; and 
c) a (plalifying anrwaf volume of at leest 113,000 rrl: 

.Rate 
1. F)Uls wi!\ pe rendered montlily 11!14 shall be t)le!Qtal of: 

a) A Monthly CUslori\ei Charge: 

A Monthly CUstomer cbai:ge of $150.00 for firm or interruptible customets; or · · 
A Monthly CUstomer Charge of$175.00 forcombined (fum·and interruptible) oustociers. 

. . 
b)· . AMI>nthly Deniandcliarge: 

A Monlhly Denilind Charge ·of 25.5904 tents peri!J.' f<ir each m3 of daily ci>ntraoted fmn deriland.' 

c) A Monthly Delivery Charge: 

(i~. · AMOOth!Y Finn Delivery clwgefori.ll firmvolumesof3.7310 oentsperrrl, 
" ' . . ' 

(ii) A ~y Interrupiible Oelivory cqa,ge for all ~ptible volll3;lllis to be ilegoliated betweim tbe 
... oOrilpeey,and the cilsto"""rilit!O.~oee<! 9.7249:~~ pe-nn' andliotto be\o~ ~<\-9))92 per '!I'. 

d) Gas Supply Charge (if applicable) 

See ·Sciredll!e A 

e) Overrun Gis Charges: 

~gas i~avrilable without pelia!ty pr~'vi~f!!Rtitiil'auth6rized by !be oi>mpany in advance.· 'lJte company 
will J\ot lliJreilsOiiably \Vitlihold atithoiiza1i011- . 

rr; ori any iiay. ib, customer should take', Without' the company's approva:l in advance, a volumo of gas irl exoeas 
ofibemsxinmm qu..,uty of gas which the OOlllplllzy is oblig8ted to deliver tO the customer on such day, or if,' on 
any day, the c?"loiner fails to ~ly with any crirtaUmerit ootico reducing the custoiner's take of gas, then, 

(i). 
. . . . . 

the voluine i;>f gas take'n in el<OO'!S of tl!o OOIIIJlSW'~.Il!8Xinn!m delivery obligation fQI' sqoh day, or 

thevoilliiiO:~f S.s take'nin the JiO.!iOd on sWih day ooyeted by illbhouniilmmtnotioe (as det.Ormined by 
tbe~pony ib:~ with its usual praotice):ine?'~ of tho yolume of gas~ to be talooli 
in. '!""h J;>Oriod by SUilh curtailment notice, · 

a's the case may be, Shall constitute unautborizOd overrUn volume. · 
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Any unauthorized interruptible ovemm.~ tOken in any montli shall be paid for at the Rate I Deli'fery C~ 
effect at tbe"timetbe ovemm occurs plus any_Gas Supply Cw~ applicable. 

For any ~uthoxizOd ovemm gas tal=, the customlr sball, in Bddition, indemnify the oompiny in~t of any 
pemlti-. or ad4itional oosiS in)posedon the QQijlpiny by theOO!JlMilY's suppliers, any additional gas oo,.t inouned 
or any sa)es margins lost as a oonseqUenoe of the customer takjng the ·una~ ovemm volume_. 

2. In negotiating the Monthly lnteiiU¢ble Coiiillllidity Chatge refetted to in l(c)(li). above, the matters to be oonsidered 
include: · · · · 

a) The volumio of-gwi for which the customer is willicg"to oontrsct; · 
b) The loadfac1or of the customer's anticipated gas~ the pattern of annual use, and the minimum annual 

quantity of gas which the OllBtomer is willing to oon!ract to take or in imy event pay for; · 
. c) Inter:iu¢ble or. ~pi"C?visions> · . . · 
d) Competition: · · 

.. . 
3. In each con1rabtyear, the customer shall take delivery from the compi.ey' or in any event pay .forit if available and not 
accepted by the customer, a minimum volume of gas as specifiOd m ibe oon!raot betWeen the psrtles. oVerrun volumes will ruit 
contiibute to the minili:!umvolume. ThO rate applicable to the shortfall frim this minianun shall be 3,3853 oentsJ>er -d for fum gas 
and 5.7536' oen!B.permH!>l" intelTJlptible gas. . ·.. · · . · . · · : 

4. . . The oonjract mayj,r<>Vide that the M>nthly ~ Giwge ~ifiedin'Rab> Section I aboveshall.I)Ot apply on all orpoit . 
of the c;l8jly con1raoted _t:liin ~ used by the oustomer-dbriilg the"testiilg. Ccii:J!mis:sioning. phasing iii, deool!liili.Ssioning and 
phasing out of gas-using equipment for a period not to ·exceed oDt _yoir (the 1IIlnsiti0Ji period). In SUilh event. the oolllraot will 
provide for a Monthly Finn Delivery Commodity Charga·to be applied on such volume duringthe1ransitionof6.3515 cents per -d 
and a gas supply commodity charge as· set Out in Schedule A, if applicable. G8s purohsseil.underthis clause will not contnbute to 
the minimum Voluroo.' ' ' ' . ' · 

Bundled Direct Pu~ De!!yery . . . . . . . 
· . . · : ~.a custO!ll"!' elects under this rate sc!>-edule to directly pli:chase its gas from-~ supplierofi!ei ~N!l-G, the cUStomer 
ot their agent.. must Olltet into a Bundled T -Selvioe Receipt~ with NRG fill: deliV"Y of. gas to ~G. Bundled T -Service 
Receipt Con1raotrates are described in rate schedule BTl. The gas SUW,Iy <>hsrj!e will not be11pplicable to custom~~:~ Vlho elect said 
Bundled T transportation service. . : : . : . : . . 

Un!ess'otherwiScautho~·byNRG,customoci~aredeliveriiJiigasto:NR.Gunder~purohaseilrrangoments·xmist 
· obligali tQ ~liyer_sai,4 gas at a point acqepjable to NRG, and must acquire an4~fum 1ransPortation on all pipeline systems 
· upslre~ of ontario_. . · . · : .. 

Dela,ied b..Dient Pega!ty · . . . · . . 
. ·When payment is not made in full by the due date notl>d on the bill, which date shallmt be less than 16 calender days after 

the date.ofmailing,.haiui delivery or eleo1ronio.1ransmission'offue bill, the bolanoe owmgwill be increased by 1.5%. Any balaDile 
remaiiDng unpaid in subsequent"titoo.ths will be inoreasOdby a further 1.5%per month. The minimum delayed paymm>t penelty 
shall be:one: di>llaf ($1".00). · · · .. . 

Effeo~v'e": April_ 01,-2007 . 
fJ:uplei:Dbntiltion: All bills rendered on or llflar Aprjl 01, 2097 . 
E!3-2007-0048 · 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED GAS DELIVERY CONTRACT 

SCHEDULE B- GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

PART 1-RATES 

1.1 Bills are issued monthly, being due when rendered in accordance with the provisions of 
the gas delivery contract and the approved rate schedule. If payment in full is not 
received within 15 days of rendering the bill, any amount owing shall be increased by 
1.5% on the next bill. 

1.2 In the event of any increase, 

(a) in the cost of gas to the Utility under its gas purchase contracts; 

(b) in the cost of gas to the Utility resulting from the application of any valid law, 
order, rule or regulation of any legislative body or duly constituted authority now 
or hereafter having jurisdiction; 

(c) in the costs of the Utility resulting from any changes in, or the imposition of any 
taxes, excises or duties by any governmental authority during the lifetime of this 
contract, on the importation, transmission, storage, purchase or sale of gas; or 

(d) in the charges or rates approved or fixed by the Ontario Energy Board for the 
delivery or sale of gas by the Utility to the Customer, including retroactive rate 

· increases authorized by the Ontario Energy Board. 

then to the extent that such increases in the case of (a), (b) or (c) above are paid by the 
Utility on the gas delivered to the Customer, or such increase in the case of (d) above is 
ordered by the Ontario Energy Board to be charged to the Customer, the rates to be paid 
by the Customer to the Utility, pursuant to the gas delivery contract, shall be increased 
accordingly for all gas delivered subsequent to that increase in costs or charges, provided 
that the increased rates shall not exceed rates fixed by order of the Ontario Energy Board 
from time to time. 

1.3 In the event the terms and conditions of the agreement between Utility and Customer are 
changed by Order of the Ontario Energy Board, such changed terms and conditions shall 
be deemed to be in effect between the Utility and the Customer. 
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PART 2- UNAUTHORIZED OVER-RUN GAS PENALTY 

If, on any day, the Customer takes without the Utility's advance approval, a volume of 
gas in excess of the maximum hourly or daily quantity of firm or interruptible gas which 
the Utility is obligated to deliver to the Customer on such day, or if, on any day, the 
Customer fails to comply with any curtailment order of the Utility reducing either the 
Customer's hourly or daily take of gas, the volume of gas taken in excess of the Utility's 
maximum delivery obligation or curtailed maximum delivery obligation shall constitute 
unauthorized over-run gas. 

2.2 In the event the Customer on any day takes a volume of gas constituting unauthorized 
over-run gas: 

3.1 

(a) the Utility may curtail gas service to the Customer during such a day when 
required to avoid adverse impacts to the Utility's distribution system; 

(b) the Customer shall pay the Utility a penalty as stipulated in the Rate 3 rate 
schedule. 

PART 3- METERING AND SERVICE 

The Utility agrees to install, opera,te and maintain measurement equipment of suitable 
capacity and design to measure the gas supplied. 

3.2 The measurement and regulating equipment shall be installed on the Customer's premises 
at a site located as near as possible to the point of utilization in accordance with safety 
regulations. 

3.3 Each party shall have the right to enter the measurement and regulating location at any 
reasonable time and shall have the right to be present at the time of installing, reading, 
cleaning, changing, repairing, inspecting, testing, calibrating or adjusting of measurement 
equipment. 

3.4 The Utility's measurement equipment shall be examiried by the Utility at least once every 
nine months and, if requested, in the presence of a representative of the Customer, but the 
Utility shall not be required as a matter of routine to examine such equipment more 
frequently than once in any nine month period. 

3.5 All natural gas delivered to the Customer shall be measured utilizing equipment and 
procedures that conform to the Electricity and Gas Inspection Act and regulations, and 
specifications authorized by the Act and regulations. 
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PART 4- EQUIPMENT 

4.1 The title to all service pipes, meters, regulators, attachments and equipment placed on the 
Customer's premises and not sold to the Customer shall· remain with the Utility, with 
right of removal, and no charge shall be made by the Customer for use of premises 
occupied thereby, and the Customer agrees to be responsible for any loss or damage 
thereto resulting from wilful or negligent acts of the Customer or its agents or employees 
or persons acting under the authority of or with the permission of the Customer. 

PART 5- FORCE MAJEURE 

5.1 In the event that either the Customer or the Utility is rendered unable, in whole or in part, 
by Force Majeure, to perform or comply with any obligation or condition of this 
Contract, then the obligations (other than the obligations to make payment of money then 
due) of both parties so far as they are directly related to and affected by such Force 
Majeure, shall be suspended during the continuance of the Force Majeure. 

5.2 The party claiming Force Majeure shall give Notice, with full particulars, to the other 
party as soon as possible after the occurrence ofF orce Majeure. 

5.3 The party claiming Force Majeure shall also give Notice to the other party as soon as 
possible after the Force Majeure is remedied in whole or part. 

5.4 Force Majeure means: 

(a) Acts of God, landslides, lightning, earthquakes, fires, storms, floods, washouts, 
explosions, breakage or accident to its machinery or equipment or lines of pipe; 

(b) freezing or failure of wells or lines of pipe; curtailment of firm transportation or 
firm storage by other natural gas service providers; 

(c) strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances, riots, sabotage, insurrections, 
civil disturbance, acts of terrorism, wars, arrests or restraint of governments and 
people; 

(d) any laws, orders, rules, regulations, acts of any government body or authority, 
civil or military; 

(e) any act or omission by parties not controlled by the party claiming Force Majeure; 
and 

(f) any other similar causes not within the control of the party claiming Force 
Majeure· 

which by the exercise of due diligence such party is unable to prevent or overcome. The party 
claiming Force Majeure shall make reasonable efforts to avoid, or correct the Force Majeure and 
to remedy the Force Majeure once it has occurred in order to resume performance. 
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5.5 Neither party shall be entitled to claim force majeure if any of the folloW!rig· 
circumstances prevail: 

5.6 

(a) the failure resulting in a condition offorce majeure was caused by the negligence 
of the party claiming suspension; 

(b) the failure was caused by the party claiming suspension where such party failed to 
remedy the condition by making all reasonable efforts (short of litigation, if such 
remedy would require litigation); 

(c) the party claiming suspension failed to resume the performance of such conditions 
or obligations with reasonable dispatch; 

(d) the failure was caused by lack of funds; and 

(e) the party claiming suspension did not give to the other party the required notice as 
soon as possible after determining or within a period within which it should have 
determined, acting reasonably, that the occurrence was in the nature of force 
majeure and would affect its ability to observe or perform any of its conditions or 
obligations under the Contract. 

During a Force Majeure declared by the Utility, the Customer will be responsible for any 
commodity charges and will only be relieved of the demand charges applicable to that 
part of the services not available to the Customer. as a result of the Force Majeure. The 
Utility will not be responsible for any charges by any other natural gas service providers. 

5.7 During a Force Majeure declared by the Customer, all demand charges and all 
commodity charges otherwise payable under this Contract will continue to be payable. 
The Minimum Annual Volume shall be reduced in the same proportion as the number of 
days of Force Majeure the number of days in a contract year. 

5.8 The term of the Gas Delivery Contract shall be extended by the length of any Force 
Majeure event. 

PART 6- AGREEMENTS OF INDEMNITY 

6.1 The Utility and the Customer shall save harmless and indemnify the other from any 
injury, loss or damages to persons or property caused by its• negligence or wilful 
misconduct or by the negligence or wilful misconduct of its agents or employees or 
persons. acting under its authority or with its permission. 
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PART 7- MISCELLANEOUS 

7.1 No waiver by either party of any one or more defaults by the other in the performance of 
any provisions of the contract shall operate or be construed as a waiver of any future 
default or defaults, whether of a like or different character. 

7.2 . This contract shall be interpreted, performed and enforced in accordance with the laws of 
the Province of Ontario. 

7.3 No additions, deletions or modification ofthe terms and provisions of this contract shall 
be effective except by the execution of a new contract. 

7.4 This contract shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and assigns but shall not be assigned or be assignable by the 
Customer without the prior written consent of the Utility. The Utility agrees that such 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. For greater certainty an assignment by way 
of security to the Customer's lenders shall be considered reasonable. 

7.5 Any gas purchased by the Customer hereunder shall not be resold or otherwise used by a 
third party. 
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Exhibit D 

Tab 1 
Schedule 3 

This PIPELINE COST RECOVERY AGREEMENT ("Agreement"), made as of the 31st day 
of January, 2007. 

BETWEEN: 

RECITALS: 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED, 
a corpomtion formed under the laws of Ontario. 

(the "Utility") 
-and-

INTEGRA TED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATIVE INC., 
a co-operative corporation formed under the laws of Ontario. 

(the "Customer'') 
(collectively the "Parties") 

WHEREAS the Customer is developing an ethanol facility (the "Customer Facility") in the 
Town of Aylmer, Ontario; 

AND WHEREAS the Utility must expand its current natural gas distribution infrastructure to 
deliver natural gas to the Customer Facility to meet the volume, pressure and delivery 
requirements of the Customer; 

AND WHEREAS the Utility has a franchise agreement to distribute natural gas in the Town of 
Aylmer; 

AND WHEREAS the Utility has entered or will enter into an agreement with Union Gas 
Limited to install new facilities or modify existing facilities to supply the Utility with natural gas, 
such that Union Gas Limited will be capable of meeting the total supply requirements of the 
Utility, including the supply needs of the Customer; 

AND WHEREAS the Utility and Union Gas Limited have reached an understanding regarding 
the Utility Connection Facilities crossing the Union Gas Limited franchise area; 

AND WHEREAS the Customer has paid to the Utility a deposit of $130,000.00 against any 
Aid-to-Construct that may be owed to the Utility; 

AND WHEREAS the Utility and the Customer have entered into an agreement dated January 
31, 2007, as the same may be amended, modified, supplemented or restatoo (the "Gas Delivery 
Contract") providing for the Utility to deliver natural gas to the Customer Facility, among other 
things; 

AND WHEREAS the Customer, or its representative, will be purchasing the Customer's gas 
directly and arranging for transportation, and the Utility and the Customer will enter into a 
Bundled T -Service Receipt Contract; 
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AND WHEREAS the Utility has determined that approximately 28.53km of NPS 6 steel 
pipeline and related facilities are required to be installed to deliver natural gas to the Customer 
Facility; 

AND WHEREAS the Customer has requested and the Utility has agreed to construct 
approximately 28.53km of NPS 6 steel pipeline and related facilities (the "Utility Connection 
Facilities") and to arrange with Union Gas Limited for the construction by Union for facilities 
required to complete the connection between the Utility Connection Facilities and the Union Gas 
Limited system (the "Union Gas Connection Facilities"), to deliver natural gas from the Union 
Gas Limited system to the Customer Facility, on the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement; and 

IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants contained herein, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which is hereby acknowledged and accepted, the Parties to this Agreement agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I- ATTACHMENTS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 The following are hereby incorporated into and form part of this Agreement: 

(a) Schedule A- Pipeline Work 

(b) Schedule B -Project Map 

1.2 For the purpose of this Agreement: 

(a) "Actual Aid-To-Construct" means the Aid-To-Construct calculated by the Utility 
using the Actual Capital Cost, as provided for in Article III; 

(b) "Actual Capital Cost" means the reasonable actual Capital Cost, as provided for 
in Article III; 

(c) "Aecon" means Aecon Utilities -A Division of Aecon Construction Inc., or any 
successor thereto; 

(d) "Aid-to-Construct" means the amount by which the Capital Cost exceeds the 
revenue recovered by the Utility through rates, as calculated in accordance with 
EBO 188; 

(e) "Applicable Law" means all federal, provincial, county, municipal or local laws, 
by-laws, statutes, rules, regulations ordinances, directives, or any decisions of a 
Governmental Authority. 

(f) "Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday or statutory holiday 
in the Province of Ontario or any other day on which banking institutions in 
Ontario are not open for the transaction of business; 
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(g) "Capital Cost" means the total capital cost of the Utility Connection Facilities and 
the Union Gas Aid-to-Construct; 

(h) "Construction" means construction and installation of the Utility Connection 
Facilities; 

(i) "Construction Agreement" means the agreement between the Utility and a 
contractor for the completion of the Construction; 

(j) "Cubic metres" or "m3
" means the volume of gas which at a temperature of 15 

degrees Celsius and at an absolute pressure of 101.325 kilopascals ("kPa") 
occupies one cubic metre; 

(k) "Customer Facility" means the ethanol facility proposed to be built and operated 
by the Customer in the Town of Aylmer with an output capacity of approximately 
!50 million litres of ethanol annually; 

(I) "Customer Meter Facility'' means the Utility's equipment to measure the gas 
consumed by the Custumer, located at the Customer Facility, and ·includes but is 
not limited to all meters, pressure regulators, valves, fittings and communications 
equipment, and fonns part of the Utility Connection Facilities; 

(m) "EBO 188" means the Final Report of the Board, dated January 30, 1998 
regarding the economic evaluation of the expansion of natural gas systems; 

(n) "Event of Default" means either a Customer Event of Default or a Utility Event of 
Default; 

(o) "Governmental Authority'' means any federal, provincial, municipal or local 
government, parliament or legislature, or any regulatory authority, agency or 
tribunal, commission, board or department of any such government, parliament or 
legislature or any court or other law, regulation or rule-making entity having 
jurisdiction in the relevant circumstances; 

(p) "GST" means the goods and service tax exigible pursuant to the Excise Tax Act 
(Canada) as amended from time to time; 

(q) "Initial Estimated Aid-To-Construct" means the Aid-To-Construct calculated in 
accordance with EBO 188 using the Initial Estimated Capital Cost; 

(r) "Initial Estimated Capital Cost'' means the estimated Capital Cost provided by 
Aecon, including the Union Gas Aid-to-Construct; 

(s) "In-Service Date" means the later of November 1, 2007 and the date on which the 
pipeline is able to deliver the full amount of the gas contemplated by the Gas 
Delivery Contract; 

(t) "Insolvency Legislation" means the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada), the 
Winding Up and Restructuring Act (Canada) and the Companies' Creditors 
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Arrangement Act (Canada) and the banlcruptcy, insolvency, creditor protection or 
similar laws of any other jurisdiction (regardless of the jurisdiction of such 
application or competence of such law), as they may be amended from time to 
time. 

(u) "Leave-to-Construct" means the application, decision, order or approval as the 
context requires pursuant' to section 90 of 'the Ontario Energy Act, 1998 as 
amended; 

(v) "MMBTU" means one million British Thermal Units; 

(w) "NPS" means nominal pipe size; 

(x) "OEB" means the Ontario Energy Board or any successor organization; 

(y) "Overhead" shall, to the extent not included in other consulting costs, include the 
reasonable engineering, supervision, administrative salaries and expenses, 
construction engineering and supervision, legal expenses, taxes and other similar 
items allocated to the Utility Connection Facilities; 

(z) "Pipeline Work" means the work required to plan, design, construct, install, test 
and commission the Utility Connection Facilities and the Union Gas Connection 
Facilities; 

(aa) "Prime Rate" means the prime rate of interest of the Bank of Nova Scotia; 

(bb) "Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct" means the estimated Aid-To-Construct 
calculated in accordance with EBO 188 using the Revised Estimated Capital Cost; 

( cc) "Revised Estimated Capital Cost" means the estimated Capital Cost, using the 
most cufreflt information available, in accordance with Article III; 

(dd) "Utility Connection Facilities" .means the pipeline and ancillary facilities to be 
completed by the Utility to serve the Customer; 

(ee) "Union Gas Aid-To-Construct" means the Aid-To-Construct payable to Union 
Gas Ltd. by the Utility in respect of the Union Gas Connection Facilities, 
calculated in accordance with EBO 188; 

(ff) "Union Gas Connection Facilities" means the pipeline and ancillary facilities to 
be completed by Union Gas Limited upstream of the Utility Connection Facilities, 
that are necessary to serve the Customer. 

ARTICLE II- REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

2.1 The Customer represents and warrants to the Utility that: 

(a) it is duly incorporated, formed or registered (as applicable) under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of incorporation, formation or registration (as applicable); 
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(d) 

(e) 

(f) 

PageS 

it bas all the necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to enter into this 
Agreement and to perform its obligations under it; 

the execution, delivery and performance of the Agreement by it has been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate action and does not result in a violation, a 
breach or a default under: (i) its charter or by-laws; (li) -any contracts or 
instruments to which it is bound; or (iii) any Applicable Law; 

any individual executing this Agreement, and any document in connection 
herewith, on its behalf has been duly authorized by it to execute this Agreement 
and bas the full power and authority to bind it; 

this Agreement constitutes a legal and binding obligation on it, enforceable 
against it in accordance with its terms; and, 

no proceedings have been instituted by or against it with respect to bankruptcy, 
insolvency, liquidation or dissolution. 

2.2 The Utility represents and warrants to the Customer that: 

(a) it is duly incorporated, formed or registered (as applicable) under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of incorporation, formation or registration (as applicable); 

(b) it has all the necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to enter into this 
Agreement and to perform its obligations under it; 

(c) the execution, delivery and.performance of this Agreement by it bas been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate action and does not result in a violation, a 
breach or a default under: (i) its charter or by-laws; (ii) .any contracts or 
instruments to which it is bound; or (iii) any Applicable Law; 

(d) any individual executing this Agreement, and any document in connection 
herewith, on its behalf has been duly authorized by it to execute this Agreement 
and has the full power and authority to bind it; 

(e) this Agreement constitutes a legal and binding obligation on it, enforceable 
against it in accordance with its terms; 

(f) no proceedings have been instituted by or against it with respect to bankruptcy, 
insolvency,Iiquidation or dissolution; and, 

(g) the calculation of the Initial Estimated Aid-To-Construct has been completed in 
accordance with EBO 188. 
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ARTICLE III- CAPITAL COST AND AID-TO-cONSTRUCT 

3.1 The Initial Estitiiated Capital Cost is estimated at $9,100,000.00, comprised of 
approximately $8,920,000.00 for the Utility Connection Facilities and $180,000.00 for 
the Union Gas Aid-To-Construct. The Ioitial Estimated Capital Cost is included in the 
Leave-to-Construct application filed by the Utility with the OEB. 

3.2 Based upon the Initial Estimated Capital Cost and applying the Utility's current OEB­
approved Rate 3 to a minimum annual volume of 33,416,618 m3 and a firm contract 
demand of 108,188 m3/day over a seven year period, the Initial Estimated Aid-to­
Construct is $3,790,000.00, to be paid by the Customer. 

3.3 The Customer shall make payments toward the Initial Estimated Aid-to-Construct, as 
follows: 

(a) $130,000.00 on or before October 16, 2006, payment of which has been received 
and acknowledged; 

(b) Prior to the award of the Construction Agreement, the amount of the monthly 
invoices provided by the Utility for reasonable internal, consulting and third party 
expenses incurred in the prior calendar month within fifteen (IS) Business Days 
of receiving such invoice; and 

(c) Payment, in advance as required by the Utility, of an amount equal to any 
requireQ. p~yment to be made by Utility for procuring the station material and 
pipe; 

the total of which payments shall not exceed the Initial Estimated Aid-to-Construct. 

3.4 Prior to the execution of the Construction Agreement, the Utility shall provide the 
Customer with a Revised Estimated Capital Cost and a Revised Estimated Aid-to­
Construct, based on the most current information available at the time, including the 
successful bid for the Construction Agreement, calculated in accordance with EBO 188, 
and: 

(a) The Customer shall pay the Utility an amount equal to the amount, if any, by 
which the Revised Aid-To-Construct exceeds the total of all payments made by 
the Customer to the Utility under Section 3.3. In the event that the amount paid 
by the Customer pursuant to Section 3.3 exceeds the Revised Estimated Aid-To­
Construct then the Utility shall forthwith pay to Customer an amount equal to the 
payments made less the Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct; and 

(b) The Utility shall provide the Customer with a detailed written breakdown of the 
Revised Estimated Capital Cost including, but not limited to Overhead, 
engineering, surveying, consultant, legal, major materials (pipe, meters, major 
equipment, heating equipment costs), easement, internal and external construction 
and commissioning costs when it is available to the Utility and a copy of the cost 
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breakdown for the Union Gas Connection Facilities as provided to the Utility by 
Union Gas Limited. 

3.5 In the event that the Commencement Date under the Gas Delivery Contract is later than 
the In-Service Date, the Utility shall invoice and the Customer shall pay an amount equal 
to the Utility's reasonable debt fmancing costs incurred in each month between the In­
Service Date and the Commencement Date under the Gas Delivery Contract. 

3.6 The contingency amount to be included in the Revised Estimated Capital Cost shall be 
limited to a maximum often percent of the Construction Agreement-cost. 

3. 7 The Utility, in its sole discretion, may elect not to proceed any further with any of its 
obligations under this Agreement if the Customer fails to make any payment or provide 
any letter of credit required under this agreement until such payment or letter of credit is 
delivered by the Customer to the Utility and the Utility shall not be liable for any 
liabilities, damages, losses, payments, costs, or expense that may be incurred by the 
Customer as a result. 

3.8 From the date required for any payment required by this Agreement, all unpaid amounts 
will bear interest at the rate of the Prime Rate plus 1.00% per annum,payable quarterly on 
the last day of each calendar quarter. 

3.9 The Utility shall use best efforts to minimize the actual Capital Cost, and shall advise the 
Customer of actual costs as incurred, in accordance with Article IV. At a minimum, the 
Utility shall ensure the award of the Construction Agreement is completed through a 
competitive tender process unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Customer. The 
Utility shall ensure that the procurement of pipe, major equipment and appliances is done 
using a competitive quotation process wherever possible. The Utility shall inform the 
Customer where a competitive process is not utilized and provide an explanation as to 
why a competitive process is not required. Prior to committing to any expenditure in 
excess of $100,000.00, the Utility shall obtain the written consent of the Customer, such 
consent not to be unreasonably withheld. . . 

3.10 The Utility shall request Union Gas Limited to provide it with the actual capital cost of 
the Union Gas Connection Facilities and the actual Union Gas Aid-to-Construct within 
30 Business Days or other mutually agreeable timeframe of the pipeline being put into 
service. 

3.11 The Customer and the Utility acknowledge that the Initial Estimated Capital Cost and the 
Revised Estimated Capital Cost may be different from the Actual Capital Cost incurred 
and the parties agree that the Actual Aid-to-Construct and Delivery Letter of Credit (as 
defmed in Article VII) shall be adjusted based on an economic evaluation carried out in 
accordance with EBO 188. 

3.12 The Customer reserves its rights to dispute the reasonableness of costs incurred in 
completing the Pipeline Work, provided that the Customer does so within 5 Business 
Days when such costs are provided by the Utility to the Customer. 
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3.13 Within forty-five (45) Business Days or some other mutually agreeable timeframe of the 
pipeline being put into service, the Utility shall provide the Customer with the Actual 
Capital Cost and Actual Aid-To-Construct, along with a summary of the information 
provided pursuant to Section 4.3 and copies of any invoices and supporting 
documentation not previously provided to Customer. If the Customer agrees with the 
Actual Capital Cost and Actual Aid-To-Construct, and 

(a) if the Actual Aid-To-Construct is greater than the Revised Estimated Aid-To­
Construct, then the Customer shall pay to the Utility the difference between the 
Actual Aid-To-Construct and the Revised Aid-To-Construct within five (5) 
Business Days; and 

(b) if the Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct exceeds the Actual Aid-To-Construct 
then the Utility shall pay to the Customer the difference between the Actual Aid­
To-Construct and the Revised Aid-To-Construct within five (5) Business Days. 

3.14 If the Customer does not agree with the Actual Capital Cost and Actual Aid-To­
Construct, the Patties shall negotiate in good faith for a period of 20 Business days to 
establish an Actual Capital Cost. If the Parties are unable to agree after such negotiations 
then either party may refer the matter to the OEB for resolution. In determining 
reasonable costs attributable to the Capital Cost, the following considerations will be 
taken into account: 

(a) Legal costs will include the reasonable legal costs of the Utility to establish gas 
distribution service for the Customer, including the reasonable legal cost to 
prepare and obtain the Leave to Construct from the OEB; acquire any temporary 
or permanent land rights required to complete the Pipeline Work; review any 
procurement or tendering documentation, and draft and negotiate this Agreement 
and any other agreement required to provide gas distribution service to the 
Customer; 

(b) Consultant costs will include the reasonable cost of consultants incurred by the 
Utility to provide gas distribution service to the Customer, including the 
reasonable cost to complete the economic analysis to determine the Initial 
Estimated Aid-to-Construct, the Revised Estimated Aid-to-Construct and the 
Actual Aid-to-Construct; to carry out title searches to identifY adjacent 
landowners and others with interesis in adjacent lands that may be impacted by 
the Utility Connection Facilities; and the estimated cost of a Surveyor in the 
amount of $52,400; 

(c) The Caphai Cost will include the cost of services provided to the Utility by Aecon 
and any sub-contractors to Aecon, to complete the design of the Utility 
Connection Facilities, obtain all permits and approvals, , prepare and complete the 
request for quotation documents for the Construction Agreement and all other 
competitive processes for services and materials, and the cost estimated by Aecon 
to be in the range of $30,000 to $50,000 for the third party borehole drilling sub­
contractor for the completion of boreholes used in the preparation of the Tender 
Package; 
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Utility costs shall include the reasonable cost of interest during construction 
calculated in accordance with the OEB approved methodology and Overhead 
related to the Pipeline Work. Internal utility costs will include reasonable 
administrative and supervisory costs; and technician and field personnel required 
for the testing and commissioning of the Utility Connection Facilities. 

The reasonable costs of non-destructive testing of the welds and third party 
inspection of the Construction. 

The reasonable cost of the completion of as-built drawings for the Utility 
Connection Facilities. 

All consulting and third party costs include reasonable disbursements made by the 
third party or consultant unless such disbursements are inGiuded in a fixed fee 
quotation. 

3.15 The Utility shall calculate and provide a partial refund of the Actual Aid-To-Construct, 
using the same methodology used to calculate the Actual Aid-To-Construct, if available 
capacity is assigned to another customer within seven years of the date on which the 
Utility Connection Facilities come into service, provided that the Utility is permitted by 
the Board to obtain any fmancial contribution that might be required from the subsequent 
customer to cover the amount of the refund. The calculation will be carried out once a 
year, based on the aggregate customer additions for the year. The calculation for the 
refund will be based on the same inputs used for the original calculation of the Actual 
Aid-To-Construct, except for the Capital Cost of the facilities which shall be prorated on 
the basis of the total capacity of the Utility Connection Facilities minus the capacity 
assigned to any subsequent customers. 

ARTICLE IV- CONSTRUCTION 

4.1 Prior to awarding of the Construction Contract, the Customer shall enter into a seven year 
gas delivery agreement as mutually agreed to by the Parties with a minimum annual 
volume of 33,416,618 m3 and a firm contract demand of 108,188 m3/day (Gas Delivery 
Agreement). 

4.2 The timely completion of the Utility Connection Facilities is in the interest of the Parties. 
As part of the Construction Agreement, the Utility shall require .the contractor to post a 
performance bond, including a liquidated damages provision, or other performance 
assurance measures acceptable to the Customer acting in a reasonable manner. 

4.3 Prior to the termination of this Agreement, the Utility shall provide the Customer with 
weekly updates in writing as to costs incurred, costs committed to but not yet incurred 
and projected costs associated with the Pipeline Work. The Utility shall provide all 
supporting documentation (quotations, estimates, invoices, bills of lading, receipts, 
timesheets, etc.) for all costs incurred. As part of the updates, the Utility shall provide the 
Customer with a description of upcoming work; the anticipated procurement method and 
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a recommended course of action. The Customer and the Utility shall discuss significant 
upcoming expenditures prior to committing to such expenditures and shall work co­
operatively to meet all timelines and to minimize the costs in the circumstances. The 
Customer shall consent to such significant expenditures prior to the Utility committing to 
such expenditures, such consent to be given in a timely manner and not to be 
unreasonably withheld. 

4.4 The Parties acknowledge that any change in the scope of the Pipeline Work may result in 
a change to the Capital Cost, the Aid-to-Construct, the Customer Letter of Credit and the 
Construction schedule. A change in scope of the Pipeline Work may come about as a 
result of any of the following: 

(a) a Customer-initiated scope change; 

(b) a requirement or condition imposed by a Governmental Authority, including 
without limitation, the OEB; 

(c) unplanned delays on the part of the Customer or Subcontractor; or 

(d) an event of Force Majeure (as determined in accordance with Article VI). 

4.5 In the event of a change in the scope of the Pipeline Work, as contemplated in Section 
4.4, in excess of$25,000, the Utility shall inform the Customer immediately of the nature 
of the change and the corresponding impact on the cost of the Pipeline Works. In the 
event such change will cause an increase in the Actual Capital Cost, the Utility shall 
obtain the Customer's consent to such increase prior to incurring such cost, such consent 
not to be unreasonably withheld and to be provided within 3 Business Days of receiving 
the information. In the event the Customer's consent has not been given within 3 
Business Days, the Customer shall be deemed to have given consent to complete such 
work. 

4.6 The Utility shall use all reasonable efforts to have the Pipeline Work (as described in 
Schedule A) completed by November I, 2007 provided that: 

(a) the Customer executes and returns this Agreement to the Utility by no later than 
February I, 2007 (the "Execution Date"); 

(b) the Pipeline Work is completed in accordance with Schedule A of this 
Agreement; 

(c) the Customer is in compliance with its obligations under this Agreement; 

(d) there are no delays associated with third parties, including but not limited to 
Union Gas Limited, the Utility's lender and any companies selected to carry out 
Construction; 

(e) the Utility is granted Leave-to-Construct by March I, 2007; and, 
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the Utility does not have to use its employees, agents and contractors performing 
the Pipeline Work elsewhere on its system due to an emergency, or an event of 
Force Majeure. For the purposes of this paragraph, an emergency means a line­
break, leak, fire or similar event requiring an immediate response from the Utility. 

4. 7 As soon as the Utility becomes aware of any delay that may prevent the Utility from 
achieving the November I, 2007 deadline, the Utility shall provide the Customer with 
notice in writing of such potential delay, the length of the anticipated delay and the 
reasons for such potential delay. 

ARTICLE V -DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

5.1 Each of the following will constitute an Event of Default by the Customer ("Customer 
Event of Default"): 

(a) The Customer fails to make any payment when due, if such failure is not 
remedied within ten (I 0) Business Days after written notice of such failure from 
the Utility. 

(b) The Customer fails to deliver or maintain the Customer Letter of Credit or the 
Delivery Letter of Credit when due. 

(c) The Customer fails to perform any material covenant or obligation set forth in this 
Agreement if such failure is not remedied within fifteen (15) Business Days after 
written notice of such failure from the Utility. 

(d) Any representation made by the Customer in this Agreement is not true or correct 
in any material respect when made and is not made true or correct in all material 
respects within thirty (30) Business Days after receipt by the Customer of written 
notice of such fact from the Utility. 

(e) An effective resolution is passed or documents are filed in an office of public 
record in respect of, or a judgment or order is issued by a court of competent 
jurisdiction ordering, the dissolution, termination of existence, liquidation or 
winding up of the Customer, unless such filed documents are immediately 
revoked or otheiWise rendered inapplicable, or unless there has been a permitted 
and valid assignment of this Agreement by the Customer under this Agreement to 
a person which is not dissolving, terminating its existence, liquidating or winding 
up and such person has assumed all of the Customer's obligations under this 
Agreement. 

(f) The Customer makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors generally under 
any Insolvency Legislation, or consents to the appointment of a receiver, 
manager, receiver-manager, monitor, trustee in bankruptcy, or liquidator for all or 
part of its propertY or files a petition or proposal to declare bankruptcy or to 
reorganize pursuant to the provision of any Insolvency Legislation, or otheiWise 
seeks the protection of Insolvency Legislation regardless of whether a proposal or 
plan is proposed. 
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(g) A receiver, manager, receiver-manager, liquidator, monitor or trustee in 
bankruptcy of the Customer or of any of the Customer's property is appointed by 
a Governmental Authority or pursuant to the terms of a debenture or a similar 
instrument, and such receiver, manager, receiver-manager, liquidator, monitor or 
trustee in bankruptcy is not discharged or such appointment is not revoked or 
withdrawn within thirty (30) days of the appointment. 

(h) By decree, judgment or order of a Governmental Authority, the Customer is 
adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent or any substantial part of the Customer's 
property is"sequestered, and such decree continues undischarged and unstayed for 
a period of thirty (30) days after the entry thereof. 

(i) A petition, proceeding or filing is made against the Customer seeking to have the 
Customer declared bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking adjustment or composition of 
any of their respective debts pursuant to the provisions of any Insolvency 
Legislation, and such petition, proceeding or filing is not dismissed or withdrawn 
within thirty (30) days. 

5.2 Each of the following will constitute an Event of Default by the Utility ("Utility Event of 
Default"): 

(a) The Utility fails to perform any material covenant or obligation set forth in this 
Agreement if such failure is not remedied within fifteen (15) Business Days after 
written notice of such failure from the Customer. 

(h) Any representation made by the Utility in this Agreement is not true or correct in 
any material respect when made and is not made true or correct in all material 
respects within thirty (30) Business Days after receipt by the Utility of written 
notice of such fact from the Customer. 

(c) An effective resolution is passed or documents are filed in an office of public 
record in respect of, or a judgment or order is issued by a court of competent 
jurisdicfion ordering, the dissolution, termination of existence, liquidation or 
winding up of the Utility, unless such filed documents are immediately revoked or 
otherwise rendered inapplicable, or unless there has been a permitted and valid 
assignment of this Agreement by the Utility under this Agreement to a person 
which is not dissolving, terminating its existence, liquidating or winding up and 
such person has assumed all of the Utility's obligations under this Agreement. 

(d) The Utility makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors generally under 
any Insolvency Legislation, or consents to the appointment of a receiver, 
manager, receiver-manager, monitor, trustee in bankruptcy, or liquidator for all or 
part of its property or files a petition or proposal to declare bankruptcy or to 
reorganize pursuant to the provision of any Insolvency Legislation, or otherwise 
seeks the protection oflnsolvency Legislation regardless of whether a proposal or 
plan is proposed. 
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A receiver, manager, receiver-manager, liquidator, monitor or trustee in 
bankruptcy of the Utility or of any of the Utility's property is appointed by a 
Governmental Authority or pursuant to the terms of a debenture or a similar 
instrument, and such receiver, manager, receiver-manager, liquidator, monitor or 
trustee in bankruptcy is not discharged or such appointment is not revoked or 
withdrawn within thirty (30) days of the appointment. 

By decree, judgment or order of a Governmental Authority, the Utility is 
adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent or any substantial part of the Utility's property 
is sequestered, and such decree continues undischarged and unstayed for a period 
of thirty (30) days after the entry thereof. 

A petition, proceeding or filing is made against the Utility seeking to have the 
Utility declared bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking adjustment or composition of 
any of their respective debts pursuant to the provisions of any Insolvency 
Legislation, or such petition, proceeding or filing is not dismissed or withdrawn 
within thirty (30) days. 

A failure to maintain in good standing any franchise agreement or any other 
approval, permit or license from any Governmental Authority reqlrired for the 
construction and operation of the Pipeline Works and the supply of natural gas to 
the Customer Facility. 

ARTICLE VI- FORCE MAJEURE 

In the event that either the Customer or the Utility is rendered unable, in whole or in part, 
by Force Majeure, to perform or comply with any obligation or condition of this 
Agreement, then the obligations (other than the obligations to make payment of money 
then due and to provide or maintain any letter of credit) of both parties so far as they are 
directly related to and affected by such Force Majeure, shall be suspended during the 
continuance of the Force Majeure. 

6.2 The party claiming Force Majeure shall give notice in writing, with full particulars, to 
the other party as soon as possible after the occurrence of Force Majeure. 

6.3 The party claiming Force Majeure shall also give notice to the other party as soon as 
possible after the Force Majeure is remedied in whole or part. 

6.4 Force Majeure means: 

(a) Acts of God, landslides, lightning, earthquakes, fires, storms, floods, washouts, 
explosions, breakage or accident to its machinery or equipment or lines of pipe; 

(b) freezing or failure of wells or lines of pipe; curtailment of firm transportation or 
firm storage by other natural gas service providers; 

(c) strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances, riots, sabotage, insurrections, 
civil disturbance, acts of terrorism, wars, arrests or restraint" of governments and 
people; 
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(d) any laws, orders, rules, regulations, acts of any government body or authority, 
civil or military; 

(e) any act pr pmission by parties not controlled by the party claiming Force Majeure; 
and 

(f) any other similar causes not within the control of the party claiming Force 
Majeure 

which by the exercise of due diligence such party is unable to prevent or overcome. The party 
claiming Force Majeure shall make reasonable efforts to avoid, or correct the Force Majeure and 
to remedy the Force Majeure once it has occurred in order to resume performance. 

6.5 Neither party shall be entitled to claim Force Majeure if any of the following 
circumstances prevail: 

(a) the failure resulting in Force Majeure was caused by the negligence of the party 
claiming suspension; 

(b) the failure was caused by the party claiming suspension where such party failed to 
remedy the condition by making all reasonable efforts (short of litigation, if such 
remedy would require litigation); 

(c) the party claiming suspension failed to resume the performance of such conditions 
or obligations with reasonable dispatch; 

(d) the failure l\'as caused by lack of funds; and 

(e) the party claiming suspension did not give to the other party the required notice as 
soon as possible after determining or within a period within which it should have 
determined, acting reasonably, that the occurrence was in the natore of Force 
Majeure and would affect its ability to observe or perform any of its conditions or 
obligations under the Agreement. 
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ARTICLE VII- SECURITY AND PERFORMANCE ASSURANCE 

7 .I Prior to the Utility ordering the pipe and the stations, the Customer shall provide to the 
Utility an irrevocable letter or letters of credit ("Customer Letter of Credit") in an amount 
equal to the quoted cost of the pipe and the stations minus any payments made by the 
Customer to the Utility in respect of the pipe and the stations. The Customer shall be 
entitled to reduce the Customer Letter of Credit by the amount of any subsequent 
payments by the Customer to the Utility in respect of the pipe and the stations, upon 
making such payments. The Utility shall be entitled to draw upon the Gustomer Letter of 
Credit in the following circumstances: 

(a) Subject to {b), if the Customer fails to make a payment of the Aid-to-Construct in 
accordance with Article lll, such draw not to exceed the amount owed by the 
Customer to the Utility. 

(b) Notwithstanding (a) the Utility shall not be entitled to draw upon the Customer 
Letter of Credit within any cure periods established in Article V, in which the 
Customer may make payment to the Utility. 

7.2 The Utility shall return the Customer Letter of Credit upon receipt of any payment 
required from the Customer in accordance with section 3.4 and delivery of the Delivery 
Letter of Credit required under section 7.3. 

7.3 Prior to the award of the Construction Agreement by the Utility, the Customer shall 
provide to the Utility an irrevocable letter of credit ("Delivery Letter of Credit") in an 
amount equal to the difference between the Revised Estimated Capital Cost and the 
Revised Estimated Aid-to-Construct. 

7.4 The Utility shall be entitled to draw upon the Delivery Letter of Credit if: 

(a) The Customer terminates this Agreement prior to the In-Service Date and fails to 
pay any amount owing to the Utility within 30 Business Days of receiving the 
invoice for monies owed for actual reasonable costs incurred prior to 
Termination; or 

(b) The Customer terminates this Agreement and the Gas Delivery Contract after the 
In-Service Date but prior to the seventh anniversary of the Commencement Date 
under the Gas Delivery Contract; 

(c) For any year, the Customer fails to take receipt of the Minimum Annual Volume 
under the Gas Delivery Contract and the Customer fails to pay the invoice for 
such failure to take the Minimum Annual Volume within 15 days of receiving 
such invoice; 

(d) For reasons other than Force Majeure, the Customer ceases taking service for a 
period of 30 days during the term of the Gas Delivery Contract or at any time 
after that where service has continued past the end of the term of the Gas Delivery 
Contract; 
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(e) the Delivery Letter of Credit will not be maintained and the Customer fails to 
provide a substitute acceptable to the Utility and its lender; or 

(f) The Customer commits a Customer Event of Default listed in 5.1 (e), (f), (g), (h) 
and (i). 

(g) The Customer fails to restore the balance of the Delivery Letter of Credit as 
required by 7.5. 

7.5 The Customer shall maintain the Delivery Letter of Credit for as long as the Customer 
continues to receive service from the Utility. In the event that the Utility draws on the 
Delivery Letter of Credit pursuant to 7.4(c), the Customer shall restore the Delivery 
Letter of Credit to the balance that existed immediately prior to the draw, within I 0 
Business Days from the date of the draw. 

7.6 Subject to section 7.7, the Customer shall be entitled to reduce the amount of the 
Delivery Letter of Credit on each anniversary of the commencement of deliveries under 
the Gas Delivery Agreement to an amount equal to the net book value of the Utility 
Connection Facilities allocated to the Customer at the time, as determined by the Utility 
in accordance with ORB-approved methodology. 

7. 7 Any letter of credit shall be in a form acceptable to the Utility and its lender. The Utility 
shall have its lender provide a draft form of letter of credit for review and comment by 
the Customer's lender. · 

7.8 The costs and expenses of establishing, renewing, substituting, cancelling, increasing and 
reducing the amount of (as the case may be) any letter of credit required under this 
Agreement shall be borne by the Customer. 

7.9 The Utility shall return any letter of credit held by the Utility to the Customer, if the 
Customer is substituting a letter of credit with another letter of credit or such other 
financial assurance, where that substitute is acceptable to the Utility and its lender. 

ARTICLE VIII- TERMINATION 

8.1 This Agreement terminates upon the placing into service of the Utility Connection 
Facilities and the Union Gas Connection Facilities and the commencement of the delivery 
of natural gas to the Customer Facility. All payment obligations and ail obligations in 
relation to the Customer Letter of Credit and Delivery Letter of Credit shall survive 
termination of this Agreement until they are fulfilled. 
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In the event that the Utility is unable to secure all necessary permits, approvals, licenses 
certificates necessary to complete the Pipeline Work and supply natural gas to the 
Customer Facility, or obtains such permits, approvals, licenses or certificates on terms 
and conditions that are unacceptable to the Customer, acting in a commercially 
reasonable manner, then the Customer has the option to terminate this Agreement. The 
Customer shall, however, be responsible for all actual or committed to costs incurred by 
the Utility and Union Gas Limited up to and including the date of termination. 

The Utility may terminate this Agreement if a Customer Event of Default has occurred 
and the Utility has given notice to the Customer of such Customer Event of Default and 
such default is not remedied within the applicable cure period upon receiving such notice 
of default. Termination pursuant to this section shall not be permitted where such default 
has been submitted to a dispute resolution process under Article IX. 

Subject to Section 8.5, in the event the Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct has been 
paid, in full or in part, by the Customer to the Utility and the Agreement is terminated 
prior to completion of the Pipeline Work, then the Utility shall return to the Customer any 
amount of the Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct paid by the Customer that is in 
excess.ofthe actual reasonable cost incurred by the Utility up to and including the date of 
termination. In the event the actual reasonable cost incurred by the Utility exceed the 
amount of the Revised Estimated Aid-To-Construct, the Customer shall pay that amount, 
upon receipt of which the Utility shall forthwith return the Delivery Letter of Credit. 

In the event Utility invokes Force Majeure and the event of Force Majeure or the 
aggregate duration of all such Utility events of Force Majeure exceeds 60 days in any 12 
consecutive month period, then the Customer shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement upon fifteen (15) Business Days written notice. Upon termination of this 
Agreement pursuant to this section, the Utility shall return all security and financial 
assurance provided by Customer, and an amount, if any, equal to any Aid-To-Construct 
paid by the Customer to the Utility less the Utility's reasonable costs incurred prior to the 
event of Force Majeure. 

ARTICLE IX- DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

9.1 In the event of any dispute arising between the Parties regarding the subject matter of this 
Agreement, then the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to resolve such matters. 

9.2 In the event the Parties are unable to resolve a dispute, then either Party may refer the 
matter to the OEB for resolution. 

ARTICLE X- INDEMNIFICATION 

I 0.1 The Utility agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Customer in respect of all 
actions, causes of action, suits, proceedings, claims, demands, losses, damages, penalties, 
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fines, costs, obligations and liabilities ("Damages") arising out of the construction, 
installation, testing, commissioning and operation of the Utility Connection Facilities, 
other than any Damages caused by the negligence or wilful misconduct of the Customer. 

10.2 The Customer agrees to i!Jdemnify, defend and hold harmless the Utility in respect of all 
Damages arising out of the construction, installation, testing, commissioning and 
operation of the Utility Connection Facilities caused by the negligence or wilful 
misconduct of the Customer. 

ARTICLE XI- GENERAL 

11.1 Any written notice required by this Agreement shall be deemed properly given only if 
either mailed or delivered to: 

(a) To the Utility: 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 
P.O. Box 307 
39 Beech Street East 
Aylmer, Ontario N5H 2S1 

Tel: (519) 773-5321 
Fax: (519) 773-5335 

Attention: Steve Millar, General Manager 
c.c. Mark Bristoll, President 

(b) To the Customer: 

Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative Inc. 
701 Powerline Road 
Brantford, Ontario N3T 5L8 

Tel: (519) 752-0447 
Fax: (519) 752-1887 

Attention: Chair 

A faxed notice will be deemed to be received on the date of the fax if received before 4 
p.m. or on the next Business Day if received after 4 p.m. Notices sent by courier or 
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registered mail shall be deemed to have been received on the date indicated on the 
delivery receipt. The designation of the person to be so notified or the address of such 
person may be changed at any time by either party by written notice. 

11.2 This Agreement: 

(a) constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter of this Agreement and supersedes all prior oral or written representations 
and agreements concerning the subject matter of this Agreement; 

(b) shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights of the parties 
shall be governed by, the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada 
applicable therein, and the courts of Ontario shall have exclusive jurisdiction to 
determine all disputes arising out of this Agreement; 

(c) may be executed in counterparts, including facsimile counterparts, each of which 
shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall together constitute one and the 
same agreement; and 

(d) shall not be assigned without the prior written consent of the other party, such 
consent not to be unreasonably withheld. For greater certainty an assignment by 
way of security to the Customer's lenders shall be considered reasonable. 

11.3 No modification of or amendment to this Agreement will be valid or binding unless set 
forth in writing and duly executed by both of the parties hereto and no waiver of any 
breach of any term or provision of this Agreement will be effective or binding unless 
made in writing and signed by the party purporting to give the same and, unless otherwise 
provided, will be limited to the specific breach waived. 

11.4 If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable or in 
breach of any Applicable Law in whole or in part, such invalidity or unenforceability will 
attach only to such provision or part thereof which provision or part shall be severed from 
the Agreement and the remaining part of such provision and all other provisions hereof 
will continue in full force and effect. 
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II .5 Notwithstanding the termination or expiration oftlris Agreement: 

(a) Section 3. 15 shall survive for the period of time provided in which a refund is to 
be calculated. 

(b) The obligation to make any payment shall survive until all such payments are 
determined and paid. 

(c) Article 7 shall survive until the Utility no longer requires fmancial assurance from 
the Cusfonier. 

(d) Article IX shall survive until the final resolution, including all appeals, of any 
dispute arising out of this Agreement. 

II .6 Each Party shall from time to time execute and deliver all such further documents and 
instruments and do all acts and things as the other party may reasonably require to 
effectively carry out or better evidence or perfect the full intent and meaning of this 
Agreement. 

II. 7 This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the respective 
successors and permitted assigns of the Parties hereto. 

11.8 Time is of the essence in the performance of the Parties' respective obligations under this 
Agreement. 

II .9 Any reference to funds is a reference to Canadian currency. 

II. I 0 This Agreement is subject to the consent of the Customer's Lenders. The Customer 
agrees to use reasonable efforts to secure such consent in a timely manner. This 
paragraph is entirely for the benefit of the Customer. The Customer shall waive this 
condition in writing. 

II. 11 This Agreement iS subject to the consent of the Utility's Lenders. The Utility agrees to 
use reasonable efforts to secure such consent in a timely manner, This paragraph is 
entirely for the benefit of the Utility. The Utility shall waive this condition in writing. 

11.12 In the event of a change of law affecting any of the rights or obligations of one Party to 
the other Party, the Utility shall continue to deliver gas and the Customer shall continue 
to pay for the delivery of gas as if the change had not occurred unless prohibited by law. 
In such event the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to preserve the original intent of this 
Agreement. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by 
the signatures of their proper officers, as of the day and year first written above. 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Per: Mark Bristoll 
Title: President 

I have authority to bind the corporation. 

INTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATIVE INC. 

Per: Tom Cox 
Title: 

I have authority to bind the corporation. 

Per: Brent McBlain 
Title: 

I have authority to bind the corporation. 

DOCSTOR: 117450018 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by 
the signatures of their proper officers, as of the day and year first written above. 

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Per: Mark Bristoll 
Title: President 

I have authority to bind the corporation. 

INTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATIVE INC. 

Per: Tom Cox 
Title: 

I have authority to bind the corporation. 

Per: Brent McB lain 
Title: 

I have authority to bind the corporation. 
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Schedule A- Pipeline Work 

In carrying out the Pipeline Work (as depicted in the figure attached as Schedule B to this 
Agreement), the Utility or a subcontractor to the Utility will need to complete the follo~ing: 

Pipeline Work Planning 

Utility Connection Facilities 

1. The Utility shall design, construct, install, comm1ss1on and "operate the Utility 
Connection Facilities in accordance with all Applicable Laws and good utility practice. 

2. The Utility shall be responsible for making applications to all Governmental Authorities 
for all permits, approvals, licenses and certificates necessary to undertake and complete 
the Utility Connection Facilities, including without limiting the foregoing, the Leave-to­
Construct from the OEB. The Utility shall be responsible for maintaining all such 
permits, approvals, licenses in good standing. 

3. The Utility shall only contract with suppliers and contractors competent to perform their 
tasks and shall undertake to secure competitive bids from competent suppliers and 
contractors for the Utility Connection Facilities. 

4. The Utility and the Customer shall agree to a suitable location at the Customer Facility 
for the Customer Meter Facility. 

5. The Utility shall coordinate the design, construction, testing and operation of the Utility 
Connection Facilities with Union Gas Limited such that Union Gas Limited will be able 
to supply the Utility with sufficient quantities of natural gas to meet the Customer's 
requirements by the In-Service Date. 

6. The Utility shall furnish the Customer with a complete set of engineered stamped 
drawings of the Utility Connection Facilities before tendering for. the Construction 
Agreement. The engineer shall be qualified to practice engineering in Ontario . 

7. The Utility shall provide a flanged connection at the outlet of the Customer Meter 
Facility to which the Customer may connect the house-piping for the Customer Facility. 
In the event the Customer installs the house-piping with flanged connection prior to the 
Utility, the Utility shall be responsible for completing the connections. The flanged 
connection shall be adequately protected to prevent the entry of dirt, water or other 
extraneous materials from entering the Customer Meter Facility or the house-piping. 

8. The Utility shall ensure the Customer Meter Facility is properly insulated from the 
Customer Facility. 

9. The Utility shall furnish the Customer the required communications specifications for 
the Customer Meter Facility with the stamped drawings. 
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Access To Customer Facility 

l 0. The Customer shall provide the Utility and its contractor with reasonable access to the 
Customer Facility to construct, install, test, commission and operate the Customer Meter 
Facility. 

ll. The Utility shall ensure that all employees of the Utility or its contractor obey all safety 
requirements of the Customer while on the Customer Facility. 

Pipeline Work Testing and Commissioning 

12. The Utility shall coordinate hydrotesting or any other testing, including non-destructive 
testing of welds, of the Utility Connection Facilities with the Customer and the Utility 
shall not interfere with the construction, installation, testing or commissioning of the 
Customer Facility. 

13. The Utility shall ensure that the Utility Connection Facility is completely dewatered. 
Dewatering shall not occur on the Customer Facility. 

Union Gas Connection Facilities 

14. The Utility shall coordinate the construction of the Utility Connection Facilities with 
Union Gas Ltd. to facilitate the completion of the Union Gas Connection Facilities by or 
before November I, 2007. 
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SCHEDULE B- PROJECT MAP 

[To be inserted] 
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Proposed NRG Ltd. Gas Pipeline Route 
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RBC Royal Bank 

INT'L TRADE CENTRE - ONTARIO 
180 WELLINGTON ST WEST 
4TH FLOOR 
TORONTO, ONTARIO, M5J 1J1 
CANADA 

PAGE: 1 

AMENDMENT TO IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT 

DATE: APRIL 25, 2014 

BENEFICIARY: 
NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
39 BEECH ST. 
AYLMER, ON N5H 2S1 

OUR REFERENCE NO.: P436645T04117 

CURRENCY AND AMOUNT: CAD 5,214,173.00 

APPLICANT: 
IGPC ETHANOL INC. 
89 PROGRESS DRIVE, PO BOX 205 
AYLMER ON 
N5H 2R9 

KINDLY NOTE THAT THE ABOVE MENTIONED IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT IS 
AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

THE AMOUNT OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT SHALL BE REDUCED BY CAD.1,722,442.00 TO A 
NEW TOTAL AMOUNT OF CAD.3,491,731.00 (THREE MILLION FOUR HUNDRED NINETY ONE 
THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED THIRTY ONE AND 00/100'S CANADIAN DOLLARS). 

PLEASE CONFIRM YOUR ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AMENDMENT BY SIGNING BELOW AND FAX BACK 
TO US THE COMPLETE AMENDMENT PAGES 1 AND 2 AT 1-800-450-7774. 



RBC Royal Bank 

c:= ~~ <-c...--:~: ,---~= 

AUTHORIZED SIGNATORY OF 
NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

P436645T04117 PAGE: 2 

THIS AMENDMENT IS TO BE CONSIDERED AS PART OF THE ABOVE IRREVOCABLE STANDBY 
LETTER OF CREDIT AND MUST BE ATTACHED THERETO. 

ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS REMAIN UNCHANGED. 

ROYAL BANK OF CANADA 

~- KfNG MMOI~~ 

__ (~~~~' ' ______________ _ 
AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE 

~onZhu --~------- --=----- ----­
AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE 



I RBC Royal Bani< 

DATE OF ISSUE: NOVEMBER 4, 2013 

BENEFICIARY: 
NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
39 BEECH ST. 
AYLMER, ON NSH 2S1 

INT'L TRADE CENTRE - ONTARIO 
180 WELLINGTON ST WEST 
4TH FLOOR 
TORONTO, ONTARIO, MSJ 1J1 
CANADA 

OUR REFERENCE NUMBER: 
P436645T04117 

PAGE: 1 

DATE OF EXPIRY: NOVEMBER 30, 2014 
PLACE OF EXPIRY: TORONTO, ONTARIO 

APPLICANT: 
IGPC ETHANOL INC. 
89 PROGRESS DRIVE, PO BOX 205 
AYLMER ON 
NSH 2R9 · 

AMOUNT: CAD 5,214,173.00 
FIVE MILLION TWO HUNDRED FOURTEEN 
THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED SEVENTY THREE AND 
00/100'S CANADIAN DOLLARS 

IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT NO. P43664ST04117 

PURSUANT TO THE REQUEST OF THE APPLICANT, WE, ROYAL BANK OF CANADA 
INTERNATIONAL TRADE CENTRE-ONTARIO, 4TH FLOOR, 180 WELLINGTON STREET WEST, 
TORONTO, ONTARIO, CANADA, MSJ 1J1 (THE "BANK"), HEREBY ESTABLISH IN FAVOR OF 
THE BENEFICIARY AND GIVE THE BENEFICIARY THIS IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF 
CREDIT NO. P436645T04117 (THIS "LETTER OF CREDIT") IN THE AMOUNT OF. 
CAD.5,214,173.00 (FIVE MILLION TWO HUNDRED FOURTEEN THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED 
SEVENTY THREE AND 00/1QO'S CANADIAN DOLLARS ONLY). 

WE ARE INFORMED BY THE APPLICANT THAT THIS LETTER OF CREDIT IS ISSUED PURSUANT 
'1'0 SECTION 7. 3 Of' THAT CERTAIN PIPELINE COST RECOVERY AGREE~lENT DATED AS OF' 



I RBC Royal Bank 

P436645T04117 PAGE: 2 

JANUARY 31, 2007 BETWEEN INTEGRATED GRAIN PROCESSORS CO-OPERATIVE INC. 
( "IGPC") AND THE BENEFICIARY, AS ASSIGNED TO THE APPLICANT PURSUANT TO AN 

ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT DATED AS OF MARCH 30, 2007 BETWEEN IGPC, THE APPLICANT AND 
THE BENEFICIARY. 

THE BENEFICIARY MAY DRAW ON THIS LETTER OF CREDIT AT ANY TIME AND FROM TIME TO 
TIME PRIOR TO THE EXPIRY OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT UPON WRITTEN DEMAND IN THE 
FORM OF SCHEDULE 2 ATTACHED (THE "DEMAND") COMPLETED AND PURPORTEDLY SIGNED BY 
AN AUTHORIZED OFFICER OF THE BENEFICIARY ACCOM·PANIED BY THE ORIGINAL OF THIS 
LETTER OF CREDIT AND ALL AMENDMENTS HERETO (IF ANY). WE SHALL PAY TO THE 
BENEFICIARY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DEMAND THE LESSER OF (I) THE AMOUNT OF THE 
DEMAND, AND (II) THE MAXIMUM LIABILITY (AS DEFINED IN SCHEDULE 1 ATTACHED). WE 
SHALL HONOR A DEMAND WITHN 3 (THREE) BUSINESS DAYS (AS DEFINED IN SCHEDULE 1 
ATTACHED) OF RECEIPT OF THE DEMAND, WITHOUT INQUIRING WHETHER THE BENEFICIARY 
HAS THE RIGHT AS BETWEEN THE BENEFICIARY AND THE APPLICANT TO MAKE SUCH DEMAND, 
AND WITHOUT RECOGNIZING ANY CLAIM OF THE APPLICANT. WE SHALL ENDORSE THE 
ORIGINAL OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT WITH THE AMOUNT OF THE DEMAND UPON OUR 
PAYMENT AND RETURN THE ORIGINAL OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT TO THE BENEFICIARY. 

THIS LETTER OF CREDIT WILL CONTINUE FROM 1 DECEMBER, 2013 AND WILL EXPIRE AT 
OUR COUNTERS ON 30 NOVEMBER 2014 AND THE BENEFICIARY MAY CALL FOR PAYMENT OF 
THE FULL AMOUNT OUTSTANDING UNDER THIS LETTER OF CREDIT AT ANY TIME UP TO THE 
CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON THAT DATE OR ANY FUTURE EXPIRY DATE. THIS LETTER OF CREDIT 
SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE AUTOMATICALLY EXTENDED FOR ONE YEAR FROM THE PRESENT OR 
ANY FUTURE EXPIRATION DATE HEREOF, UNLESS AT LEAST THIRTY (30) DAYS PRIOR TO 
ANY SUCH DATE, WE SHALL NOTIFY THE BENEFICIARY IN WRITING BY REGISTERED MAIL 
OR COURIER SENT TO: 39 BEECH ST. AYLMER, ON., NSH 2S1 OR SUCH OTHER ADDRESS AS 
THE BENEFICIARY MAY DESIGNATE IN WRITING, THAT WE ELECT NOT TO CONSIDER THIS 
LETTER OF CREDIT EXTENDED FOR ANY SUCH ADDITIONAL PERIOD. UPON AND AT ANY TIME 
FOLLOWING THE BENEFICIARY'S RECEIPT OF SUCH NOTICE, BUT PRIOR TO THE EXPIRY OF 
THIS LETTER OF CREDIT, THE BENEFICIARY MAY DRAW HEREUNDER. 

PARTIAL OR MULTIPLE DRAWINGS ARE PERMITTED. 

THE AMOUNT OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT MAY BE REDUCED AT ANY TIME BY NOTICE TO THE 
BANK SIGNED BY THE BENEFICIARY ACCOMPANIED BY THE ORIGINAL OF THIS LETTER OF 
CREDIT AND ALL AMENDMENTS HERETO (IF ANY) (EACH A "REDUCTION"). WE SHALL 
ENDORSE THE ORIGINAL OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT WITH THE AMOUNT OF THE REDUCTION 
AND RETURN THE ORIGINAL OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT TO THE BENEFICIAIRY. 

THIS LETTER OF CREDI'l' IS NO'l' TRANSFERABLE. 

/'. 
{· 

' --\ 
!. ·, 



I RBC Royal Bank 

P436645T04ll7 PAGE: 3 

THE BENEFICIARY MAY ASSIGN THE PROCEEDS OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT TO ANY LENDER 
TO THE BENEFICIARY FROM TIME TO TIME, PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT WE ARE NOT 
OBLIGED TO GIVE EFFECT TO SUCH ASSIGNMENT EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THAT WE HAVE 
ACKNOWLEDGED SUCH ASSIGNMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH UCP 600 (AS DEFINED BELOW) . 

ALL PAYMENTS TO BE MADE BY US UNDER THIS LETTER OF CREDIT SHALL BE MADE WITHOUT 
ANY DEDUCTION OF TAXES, LEVIES, CHARGES, FEES, DEDUCTIONS OR WITHHOLDINGS OF 
ANY NATURE AND SHALL BE MADE WITHOUT ANY SET-OFF OR COUNTERCLAIM. 

ALL AMENDMENTS UNDER THIS LETTER OF CREDIT WILL BE EFFECTIVE ONLY ON.THE BANK'S 
RECEIPT OF THE WRITTEN ACCEPTANCE OF SUCH AMENDMENT BY THE BENEFICIARY; 

THIS LETTER OF CREDIT IS SUBJECT TO THE UNIFORM CUSTO~lS AND PRACTICE FOR 
DOCUMENTARY CREDITS, 2007 REVISION, INTERNATIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE, PARIS, 
FRANCE, PUBLICATION NO. 60U (THE "UCP 600"), EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THAT THE 
UCP 600 IS INCONSISTENT WITH AN EXPRESS TERM OF THIS LETTER OF CREDIT. 

AS TO MATTERS NOT COVERED BY THE UCP 600, THIS LETTER OF CREDIT SHALL BE 
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO AND THE FEDERAL LAWS OF CANADA 
APPLICABLE THEREIN. 

SCHEDULE l - DEFINITIONS 

"BUSINESS DAY" MEANS A DAY (OTHER THAN A SATURDAY OR SUNDAY) ON WHICH BANKS ARE 
OPEN FOR GENERAL BUSINESS IN TORONTO, ONTARIO AND MONTREAL, QUEBEC. 

"MAXIMUM LIABILITY" MEANS AT ANY TIME, THE UNDRAWN BALANCE OF THIS LETTER OF 
CREDIT CALCULATED AS FIVE MILLION TWO HUNDRED FOURTEEN THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED 
SEVENTY THREE CANADIAN DOLLARS (CAD5,214,173.00) ·LESS ANY REDUCTIONS AND LESS 
ANY DRAWINGS WHICH WE HAVE PAID UNDER THIS LETTER OF CREDIT. 

:1 
~ .\ /' 
'. "l' v ' 

' ! 



I RBC Royal Bank 

P436645T04117 PAGE: 4 

SCHEDULE 2 (TO BE COMPLETED ON BENEFICIARY'S LETTERHEAD IN THE FOLLOWING FORMAT) 

ROYAL BANK OF CANADA 
INTERNATIONAL TRADE CENTRE-ONTARIO 

.180 WELLINGTON STREET WEST, 4TH FLOOR, 
TORONTO, ONTARIO MSJ lJl 

DEMAND FOR PAYMENT 

DATE: ...... . 

RE: IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT NUMBER ........ , ("LETTER OF CREDIT") 
DATED ..... . 

AMOUNT: .. , ..... . 

WE REFER TO THE ABOVE REFERENCED LETTER OF CREDIT. 

WE HEREBY DEMAND PAYMENT OF THE SUM OF , .... , , .. CANADIAN DOLLARS ffiiDER THE 
ABOVE REFERENCED LETTER OF CREDIT. 

WE REQUEST PAYMENT OF SUCH AMOUNT TO BE MADE BY ELECTRONIC TRANSFER TO THE 
FOLLOWING ACCOUNT: 

BANK: 
ADDRESS: 
SORT CODE: 
ACCOUNT NAME: 
ACCOUNT NUMBER: 

WE CONFIRM THAT PURSUANT TO THE PIPELINE COST RECOVERY AGREEMENT (AS DEFINED IN 
THE LETTER OF CREDIT) WE HAVE THE RIGHT TO DRAW SUCH AMOllliT. 

YOURS FAITHFULLY, 
BY: .... , , 
AUTHORIZED SIGNATORY 
NAME: 
TITLE·. 



I RBC Royal Bank 

P436645T04117 PAGE: 5 

ROYAL BANK OF CANADA 

l.;t(:_{"1:C;~y___d_' 11. K!JIJG RAM DIN ----------------- ............... ____ ---
AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE 

, .... ,_:'\ . ''. 
. ! 1.1 1 : I! 

-----J J~<Y(v':l-~-~~,~~f~-c _ 
OTHI~:R '\SIGNATURE 

I• ; \ 

THIS DOCUMENT CONSISTS OF 5 PAGE (S) , --;, M. PI CACHE 
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Toronto 

Montreal 

Oltawa 

Calgary 

New York 

Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP 
Box 50, 1 First Canadian Place 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada MSX 188 
416.362.2111 MAIN 

416.862.6666 FACSIMILE 

May 8, 2014 

SENT BY EMAIL 

Mr. Scott Stoll 
Aird & Berlis LLP 

sstoll@airdberlis.com 

Brookfield Place, 181 Bay Street 
Suite 1800, Box 754 
Toronto, ON M5J 2T9 

Dear Scott: 

NRG-IGPC (Amendment to Letter of Credit) 

OSLER 

Richard King 
Direct Dial: 416.862.6626 
rking®osler.com 
Our Matter Number: 1144234 

We acknowledge receipt of the Amendment to the Letter of Credit (''LIC") from Royal 
Bank. and have signed and returned it to the Royal Bank. We further acknowledge that: 
(a) the amended LIC is effective now; (b) the amended (reduced) amount of the LIC 
represents the amount of the undeprcciated capital cost of the pipeline as at 
September 30. 2014; and (c) the next amendment will occur September 30,2015. 

Yours very truly, 

f f) ~
,.. .. 

R ing \ 
RK:rk \ 

\ 

c: Jim Grey (IGPC Ethanol Inc.) 
L. O'Meara (Natural Resource Gas) 
T. Graat (Natural Resource Gas) 

LEGAL_,1:.10~85~-I~_I 

osler.com 
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I DEFERRAL ACCOUNT FOR NEW DSM FRAMEWORK 

2 On March 26, 2014, the Minister of Energy issued a Directive to the Ontario Energy Board 

3 instructing the Board to take a variety of steps to promote electricity conservation and demand 

4 management ("CDM") and natural gas DSM (see Exhibit E, Tab I, Schedule 2). 

5 With respect to natural gas DSM, the Directive requires the Board to establish a DSM 

6 Framework for "natural gas distributors whose rates are regulated by the Board" (i.e., Union Gas, 

7 Enbridge and NRG). This DSM Framework would cover the six-year period from January I, 

8 2015 to December 31, 2020, and will require these natural gas distributors to coordinate and 

9 integrate their DSM Framework with the CDM programs of electricity distributors in the same 

10 service area. As a first step towards implementing the DSM Framework, on ApriliO, 2014, the 

II Board gave notice (the "April I 0 Notice") of a consultation process among natural gas 

12 distributors, electricity distributors and other interested parties pursuant to which the Board will 

13 develop a new DSM Framework (see Exhibit E, Tab I, Schedule 3). 

14 Historically, NRG has not been required to offer DSM programs to its customers. Many years 

15 ago, when DSM was initiated in Ontario's natural gas sector, NRG began to offer DSM 

16 programs. However, after a period of time during which there was very little up-take by NRG 

17 customers, the Board agreed that given the costs associated with offering such programs, in 

18 conjunction with the negligible uptake, NRG would not be required to offer DSM programs. 

LEGAL_l :30714280.2 
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I It appears that based on the Minister's Directive, the Apri!IO Notice from the Board, and the 

2 integration of gas and electricity conservation initiatives, that NRG will be required to offer 

3 DSM programs to its customers. Given that NRG does not currently offer these programs, NRG 

4 is proposing that a deferral account be created to track NRG's DSM costs over the next two 

5 years, for clearance at NRG's next cost-of-service rate case. 

LEGAL_\;30714280.2 
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Order in Council 
Decret 

Ontario 
Executive Council 
Consell executif 

On the recommendation of the undersigned, the 
Lieutenant Governor, by and with the advice and 
concurrence of the Executive Council, orders that: 

Sur Ia recommandation de Ia personne soussignee, 
le lieutenant-gouverneur, sur !'avis et avec le 
consentement du Conseil executif, decreta ce 
qui suit: 

WHEREAS the government adopted.a policy of putting conservation first in its 2013 Long-Term 
Energy Plan, Achieving Balance. 

AND WHEREAS it Is desirable to achieve reductions in electricity consumption and natural gas 
consumption to assist consumers In managing their energy bills, mitigating upward pressure on 
energy rates and reducing air pollutants, including greenhouse gas emissions, and to establish 
an updated electricity conservation policy framework ("Conservation First Framework") and a 
natural gas conservation policy framework. 

AND WHEREAS the Minister of Energy intends to issue a direction to the Ontario Power 
Authority to require that it undertake activities to support the Conservation First Framework, 
including the funding of electricity distributor conservation and demand management programs. 

AND WHEREAS the Minister of Energy may, with the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in 
Council, issue directives under section 27.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 in order to 
direct the Board to take steps to promote energy conservation, energy efficiency, load 
management or the use of cleaner energy sources, including alternative and renewable energy 
sources. 

AND WHEREAS the Minister of Energy may, with the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in 
Council, issue directives under section 27.2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 in order to 
direct the Board to take steps to establish conservation and demand management targets to be 
met by electricity distributors and other licensees. 

NOW THEREFORE the Directive attached hereto is approved and s 
the date hereof. 

Recommended _:::=:;~~~~:::::==·:::__ 
Minister of Energy 

Approved 
and Ordered MAR 2 6 2014 

Date 

O.C./Decret 4 6 'f / 2 0 1 4 



MINISTER'S DIRECTIVE 

TO: THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD 

I, Bob Chiarelli, Minister of Energy, hereby direct the Ontario Energy Board (the "Board") 
pursuant to my authority under sections 27.1 and 27.2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 
(the "Acf') to take the following steps to promote electricity conservation and demand 
management ("CDM") and natural gas demand side management ("DSM"): 

1. The Board shall, in accordance with the requirements of this Directive and without holding a 
hearing, amend the licence of each licensed electricity distributor ("Distributor") to establish 
the following as the CDM target to be met by the Distributor: 

i. add a condition that specifies that the Distributor shall, between January 1, 2015 
and December 31, 2020, make CDM programs available to customers in its 
licensed service area and shall, as far as is appropriate and reasonable having 
regard to the composition of the Distributor's customer base, do so in relation to 
each customer segment in its service area ("CDM Requirement"); 

ii. add a condition that specifies that such CDM programs shall be designed to 
achieve reductions in electricity consumption; · 

iii. add a condition that specifies that the Distributor shall meet its CDM Requirement 
by: 

a) making Province-Wide Distributor CDM Programs, funded by the Ontario 
Power Authority (the "OPA"), available to customers' in its licensed service 
area; 

b) making Local Distributor CDM Programs, funded by the OPA, available to 
customers in its licensed service area; or 

c) a ·combination of (a) and (b); and 

iv. add a condition that specifies the Distributor shall, as far as possible having 
regard to any confidentiality or privacy constraints, make the details and 
results of Local Distributor CDM Programs available to other Distributors upon 

· request. 

2. Despite paragraph 1, the Board shall not amend the licence of any Distributor that 
meets the conditions set out below: 

i . with the exception of embedded distributors, the Distributor is not connected to the 
Independent Electricity System Operator ("IESO")- controlled grid; or 

i i. the Distributor's rates are not regulated by the Board. 

3. The Board shall establish CDM Requirement guidelines. In establishing such guidelines, 
the Board shall have regard to the following objectives of the government in addition to such 
other factors as the Board considers appropriate: 

1 



i. that the Board shall annually review and publish the verified results of each 
Distributor's Province-Wide Distributor COM Programs and local Distributor COM 
Programs and report on the progress of Distributors in meeting their COM 
Requirement; 

ii. that COM shall be considered to be inclusive of activities aimed at reducing 
electricity consumption and reducing the draw from the electricity grid, such as 
geothermal heating and cooling, solar heating and small scale (i.e., <10MW) 
behind the meter customer generation. However, COM should be considered to 
exclude those activities and programs related to a Distributor's investment in new 
infrastructure or replacement of existing infrastructure, any measures a Distributor 
uses to maximize the efficiency of its new or existing infrastructure, activities 
promoted through a different program or initiative undertaken by the Government 
of Ontario or the OPA, such as the OPA Feed-in Tariff {FIT) Program and micro­
FIT Program and activities related to the price of electricity or general economic 
activity; and · 

iii. that lost revenues that result from Province-Wide Distributor COM Programs or· 
local Distributor COM Programs shoUld not act as a disi.ncentive to Distributors in 
meeting their COM Requirement. 

4. The Board shall establish a DSM policy framework ("DSM Framework") for natural gas 
distributors whose rates are regulated by the Board ("Gas Distributors"). In establishing the 
DSM Framework, the Board shall have regard to the following objectives of the government 
in addition to such other factors as the Board considers appropriate: 

i. that the DSM Framework shall span a period of six years, commencing on January 
1, 2015, and shall include a mid-term review to align with the mid-term review of 
the Conservation First Framework; 

ii. that the DSM Framework shall enable the achievement of all cost-effective DSM 
and more closely align DSM efforts with COM efforts, as far as is appropriate and 
reasonable having regard to the respective characteristics of the natural gas and 
electricity sectors; 

iii. that Gas Distributors shall, where appropriate, coordinate and integrate DSM 
programs with Province-Wide Distributor COM Programs and Local Distributor 
COM Programs to achieve efficiencies and convenient integrated programs for 
electricity and natural gas customers; 

iv. that Gas Distributors shall, where appropriate, coordimite and integrate low-income 
DSM Programs with low-income Province-Wide Distributor COM Programs or 
local Distributor COM Programs; · 

v. that the Board shall annually review and publish the verified or audited results of 
each Gas Distributor's DSM programs; 

vi. that an achievable potential study for natural gas efficiency in Ontario should be 
conducted every three-years, with the first study completed by June 1 2016, to 
infomn natural gas efficiency planning and programs. The achievabl.e potential 

2 



study should, as far as is appropriate and reasonable having regard to the 
respective characteristics of the natural gas and electriCity sectors, be coordinated 
with the OPA with regard to the OPA's requirement to conduct an electricity 
efficiency achievable potential study every three-years; 

vii. that DSM shall be considered to be inclusive of activities aimed at reducing natural 
gas consumption, including financial incentive programs and education programs; 
and 

viii. that lost revenues resulting from DSM programs should not act as a disincentive to 
Gas Distributors in undertaking DSM activities. 

5. By January 1, 2015, the Board shall have considered and taken such steps as considered 
appropriate by the Board towards implementing the government's policy of putting 
conservation first in Distributor and Gas Distributor infrastructure planning processes at the 
regional and local levels, where cost-effective and consistent with maintaining appropriate 
levels of reliability. 

6. Nothing in this Directive shall be construed as directing the manner in which the Board 
determines, under the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, rates for Gas Distributors or for 
Distributors, including in relation to applications regarding regional or local electricity 
demand response initiatives or infrastructure deferral investments. 

3 
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Ontario Energy 
Board 
P.O. Box 2319 
2300 Yonge Street 
27th Floor 
Toronto ON M4P 1 E4 
Telephone: 416-481-1967 
Facsimile: 416-440-7656 
Toll free: 1-888-632-6273 

Commission de 1'8nergle 
de !'Ontario 
C.P. 2319 
2300, rue Yonge 
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Toronto ON M4P 1 E4 
Telephone: 416-481-1967 
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Numero sans frais: 1-888-632-6273 

EB-20 14-----,-_,....,::o-­
Exhibit E 

Tab 1 
Schedule3 

BY E-MAIL AND WEB POSTING 

April 10, 2014 

To: All Rate-regulated Natural Gas Distributors 
All Licensed Electricity Distributors 
All Members of Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.'s and Union Gas 
Limited's DSM Consultative Groups 

Re: Consultation Process for Developing a New Demand Side 
Management Framework for Natural Gas Distributors 
EB-2014-0134 

This letter outlines the consultation process by which the Board will develop a 
new Demand Side Management (DSM) Framework for rate-regulated natural gas 
distributors for the period January 2015 to December 2020. It also provides 
information on the next steps the Board will take to support the conservation and 
demand management (COM) activities of licensed electricity distributors for the 
same period. 

Background 

The DSM Guidelines for natural gas distributors, issued by the Board on June 30, 
2011, provides for a three-year term ending December 31, 2014. As the current 
DSM term is nearing its conclusion, the Board is initiating a consultation process 
to review the current DSM Guidelines and develop a new DSM Framework to be 
used for the development of the next generation of DSM plans. 

On March 31, 2014, the Minister of Energy issued a Directive to the Board (the 
"DSM/CDM Directive") that among other things requires the Board to establish a 
DSM policy framework and to do so having regard to the following Government 
objectives: 

That the DSM Framework shall span a period of six years, commencing 
on January 1, 2015, and shall include a mid-term review to align with the 
mid-terrn review of the Conservation First Framework; 
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- That the DSM Framework shall enable the achievement of all cost­
effective DSM and more closely align DSM efforts with COM efforts, as far 
as is appropriate and reasonable having regard to the respective 
characteristics of the natural gas and electricity sectors; 

- That Gas Distributors shall, where appropriate, coordinate and integrate 
DSM programs with Province-Wide Distributor COM Programs and Local 
Distributor COM Programs to achieve efficiencies and convenient 
integrated programs for electricity and natural gas customers; 

- That Gas Distributors shall, where appropriate, coordinate and integrate 
low-income DSM Programs with low-income Province-Wide Distributor 
COM Programs or Local Distributor COM Programs; 

- That the Board shall annually review and publish the verified or audited 
results of each Gas Distributor's DSM programs; 

- That an achievable potential study for natural gas efficiency in Ontario 
should be conducted every three-years, with the first study completed by 
June 1, 2016, to inform natural gas efficiency planning and programs. The 
achievable potential study should, as far as is appropriate and reasonable 
having regard to the respective characteristics of the natural gas and 
electricity sectors, be coordinated with the OPA with regard to the OPA's 
requirement to conduct an electricity efficiency achievable potential study 
every three-years; 

- That DSM shall be considered to be inclusive of activities aimed at 
reducing natural gas consumption, including financial incentive programs 
and education programs; and 

- That lost revenues resulting from DSM Programs should not act as a 
disincentive to Gas Distributors in undertaking DSM activities. 

Also, the DSM/CDM Directive states that by January 1, 2015, the Board shall 
have considered and taken such steps as considered appropriate by the Board 
towards implementing the government's policy of putting conservation first in 
Distributor and Gas Distributor infrastructure planning processes at the regional 
and local levels, where cost-effective and consistent with maintaining appropriate 
levels of reliability. 

DSM Framework for Natural Gas Distributors 

Given the evolving policy environment, the Board intends to undertake a 
comprehensive review of the framework governing gas distributors' DSM 
activities. In developing the new DSM Framework, the Board will consult broadly 
with stakeholders. 
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For the first phase of this consultation, the Board has determined that it would be 
beneficial to form a DSM Working Group to provide initial input and advice to 
Board staff on the development of a draft DSM Framework. The draft framework 
will then be the subject of broader consultation with all interested stakeholders. 
The composition of the DSM Working Group is described further below. 

During the course of the consultation, the Board will specifically consider what 
elements of the current DSM Framework remain appropriate, and which need to 
be modified, including: budget levels; program types; targets and incentives; the 
approval process for DSM plans; and, how to integrate DSM and COM programs. 

To expedite the consultation process, the Board has selected the following 
organizations to participate on the DSM Working Group: 

• Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. 
• Union Gas Limited 
• Ontario Power Authority 
• Members of the Electricity Distributors Association 
• Consumers Council of Canada (CCC) 
• Environmental Defence 
• Industrial Gas Users Association (IGUA) 
• Low Income Energy Network (LIEN) 
• Ontario Sustainable Energy Association (OSEA) 
• School Energy Coalition (SEC) 

The composition of the DSM Working Group was selected to achieve an 
appropriate representation of consumer, environmental, and utility perspectives. 
Representatives of the electricity sector have been included on the DSM Working 
Group given that a number of the Government's objectives, as set out in the 
DSM/CDM Directive, call for integration or cooperation between the gas and 
electricity sectors. 

The DSM Working Group is expected to meet over the next two months. 
Materials related to the DSM Working Group, including agendas, meeting 
schedules, presentations, and meeting minutes will be posted on the Board's 
website as they become available. 

Next steps 

DSM Framework for Natural Gas Distributors 

As noted above, input from the DSM Working Group will inform the development 
of a draft DSM Framework. All interested stakeholders will have an opportunity 
to comment on the draft DSM Framework. 
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With respect to electricity COM, the Board will amend the licences of electricity 
distributors in the manner set out in the DSM/CDM Directive, and will do so 
without a hearing as required by the DSM/CDM Directive. The Board will also 
review what amendments should be made to other regulatory instruments to 
support the implementation of the COM Framework. 

Cost Awards 

Cost awards will be available under section 30 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 
1998 to eligible persons in relation to their participation in the development of the 
new DSM Framework. Costs awarded will be recovered from all rate-regulated 
natural gas distributors based on their respective distribution revenues. 

Appendix A contains information regarding cost awards for this consultation, 
including eligibility requests and objections. In order to facilitate a timely decision 
on cost eligibility, the deadlines for filing cost eligibility requests and objections 
will be strictly enforced. 

Filing Instructions 

All filings made in this consultation process must be made in accordance with the 
instructions set out in Appendix B. 

All material related to this consultation will be posted on the "Policy Initiatives & 
Consultations" portion of the Board's website at www.ontarioenerqyboard.ca. The 
material will also be available for public inspection at the Board's office during 
normal business hours. 

If you have any questions regarding this DSM Framework consultation process, 
please contact Josh Wasylyk at Josh.Wasylyk@OntarioEnerqyBoard.ca or at 
416-440-7723. 

The Board's toll free number is 1-888-632-6273. 

Yours truly, 

Original Signed By 

Kirsten Walli 
Board Secretary 
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Cost Awards 

Consultation Process for the DSM Framework 

Cost Award Eligibility 

The Board will determine eligibility for costs in accordance with its Practice 
Direction on Cost Awards. Any person intending to request an award of costs 
must file with the Board a written submission to that effect by May 1, 2014 
identifying the grounds on which the person believes that it is eligible for an 
award of costs (addressing the Board's cost eligibility criteria as set out in section 
3 of the Board's Practice Direction on Cost Awards). An explanation of any other 
funding to which the person has access must also be provided, as should the 
name and credentials of any lawyer, analyst or consultant that the person intends 
to retain, if known. All requests for cost eligibility will be posted on the Board's 
website. 

If a rate-regulated natural gas distributor has any objections to any of the 
requests for cost eligibility, such objections must be filed with the Board by May 
15, 2014. All objections will be posted on the Board's website. The Board will 
then make a final determination on the cost eligibility requests. 

The Board has invited a number of stakeholders to participate on the DSM 
Working Group, including CCC, Environmental Defence, JGUA, LIEN, OSEA and 
SEC. With the exception of OSEA, all of these DSM Working Group members 
would generally be considered prima facie eligible for an award of costs under 
the Board's Practice Direction on Cost Awards. While OSEA would generally be 
considered prima facie ineligible, the Board's decision to invite OSEA to 
participate on the Working Group constitutes special circumstances. Therefore, 
the Board considers it appropriate in the circumstances to waive the following in 
relation to all of these Working Group participants: (a) the requirement to submit 
a request for cost award eligibility; and (b) the process for objections which would 
otherwise have applied in accordance with the Board's Practice Direction on Cost 
Awards. 

Eligible Activities 

Cost awards will be available in relation to participation on the DSM Working 
Group, to a maximum equal to actual meeting time multiplied by 1.5 to account 
for preparation and reporting. Participants will also be eligible to claim costs for 
other eligible activities that may arise as part of this consultation process. 

Cost awards will also be available for additional activities in this consultation 
process. Details will be provided at the appropriate time. 
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When determining the amount of the cost awards, the Board will apply the 
principles set out in section 5 of its Practice Direction on Cost Awards. The 
maximum hourly rates set out in the Board's Cost Awards Tariff will also be 
applied. The Board expects that groups representing the same interests or class 
of persons will make every effort to communicate and co-ordinate their 
participation in this process. 

The Board will use the process set out in section 12 of its Practice Direction on 
Cost Awards to implement the payment of the cost awards. Therefore, the Board 
will act as a clearing house for all payments of cost awards in this process. 
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Filing Instructions 

Consultation Process for the DSM Framework 

Filing Instructions 

Three (3) paper copies of each filing must be provided, and should be sent to: 

Kirsten Walli 
Board Secretary 
Ontario Energy Board 
P.O. Box 2319 
2300 Yonge Street, Suite 2700 
Toronto Ontario M4P 1 E4 

The Board requests that interested parties make every effort to provide electronic 
copies of their filings in searchable/unrestricted Adobe Acrobat (PDF) format, and 
to submit their filings through the Board's web portal at 
https://www.pes.ontarioenergyboard.ca/eservice/. A user ID is required to submit 
documents through the Board's web portal. If you do not have a user ID, please 
visit the "e-filings services" webpage on the Board's website at 
www.ontarioenergyboard.ca, and fill out a user ID password request. 
Additionally, interested parties are requested to follow the document naming 
conventions and document submission standards outlined in the document 
entitled "RESS Document Preparation- A Quick Guide" also found on thee-filing 
services web page. If the Board's web portal is not available, electronic copies of 
filings may be filed by e-mail at boardsec@ontarioenergyboard.ca. 
Those that do not have internet access should provide a CD containing their filing 
in PDF format. 

Filings to the Board must be received by the Board Secretary by 4:45 p.m. on 
the required date. They must quote file number EB-2014-0134 and include your 
name, address, telephone number and, where available, your e-mail address and 
fax number. 

If the filing is from a private citizen (i.e., not a lawyer representing a client, not a 
consultant representing a client or organization, not an individual in an 
organization that represents the interests of consumers or other groups, and not 
an individual from a regulated entity), before making the filing available for 
viewing at the Board's offices or placing the filing on the Board's website, the 
Board will remove any personal (i.e., not business) contact information from the 
filing (i.e., the address, fax number, phone number, and e-mail address of the 
individual). However, the name of the individual and the content of the filing will 
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be available for viewing at the Board's offices and will be placed on the Board's 
website. 
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1 MAINTENANCE OF EXISTING TRANSPORTATION RATES 

----
Exhibit F 

Tab 1 
Schedule 1 
Page 1 of1 

2 In EB-2010-0018, the Board established two transportation rates for NRG, to be levied on any 

3 natural gas producer within NRG' s service area that utilizes NRG' s distribution system to move 

4 gas to the Union Gas system (i.e., akin to an electricity transmission "wheeling" charge). The 

5 transportation rates approved by the Board were: 

6 • Volumetric: $0.95 per mcf of gas shipped over NRG's distribution system. 

7 • Fixed: $250 per month administration charge for every month NRG's system is used by 

8 the producer to transport natural gas to the Union Gas system. 

9 The transportation rates would apply equally to NRG Corp. (a non-arm's length company to 

10 NRG) and any arm's length third party producer. 

11 A deferral account was established by NRG to track any revenues that would ultimately accrue 

12 to the benefit of NRG's ratepayers. To date, there have been no transportation rate revenues 

13 recorded in the deferral account. Since being established by the Board in EB-2010-0018, there 

14 have been no producers delivering to Union Gas. 

15 NRG is proposing to leave the existing transportation rates in place for the two-year extension 

16 period. 

LEGAL_l :30731629.2 
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